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ABSTRACT

It scarcely needs saying that few men, if any, have so
dominated the history of their own times as has Alexander the
Great; his is a curious hybrid of history and biography. In
1925/26 Helmut Berve took the first step in "decentralising"
the history of Alexander by publishing his all-embracing
study, Das Alexanderreiéh auf prosopographischer Grundlage,
in two volumes, perhaps the most workable and thorough such
study in the field of ancient Greek history. But we have not
advanced far beyond that first step in the intervening fifty-
one years; rather than a stimulus for further study, Berve's
‘work - possibly on account of its thoroughness - has become
a crutch for Alexander-scholars, a convenient catalogue of
names and facts, too often a substitute for the testimony of
the original sources.

When we consider minor individuals, about whom 1ittle>is'
known and less has been written, we shall not go far wrong by
consulting Berve's reference work; though, it should be noted,
even here his interpretations are often marred by poor judgment
(see footnotes passim). But for the most important figures,
the most powerful men in Alexander's empire, we must ask if their
careers and characters can be adequately summarised in a mere

three to five pages. Clearly they cannot be.
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In the cases of the four individuals with whom this study
is concerned, Berve's vitge are particularly unsatisfactory.

Only Hephaistion, who died in 324 B.C., is treated from beginning
to end; Leonnatos, Krateros and Perdikkas, who outlived the King,
leave much to be commented on. This is especially true of Per-
dikkas, whose role in the events of 323-321 B.C. was far more
brilliant and controversial than his career up to Alexander's
death. There are of course the articles of G. Plaumann (RE VIII.1
[1912] 291-296, s.v. "Hephaistion £3]") and Fr. Geyer (RE XII.2
[1925] 2035-2038, siv. "Leonnatos [1]"; XIX.1 [1937] 604-614, s.v.
"Perdikkas [4]"; and Supplbd IV [1924] 1038-1048, s.v. Krateros
[1a]"), but these are more compressed and, consequently, less
inclined toward interpretation; they are also more prone to error
than Berve's incomplete entries.

Other modern scholars shed more light on the "marshals of the
Alexanderreich" - most notably E, Badian, F. Schachermeyr, A.B.
Bosworth, R.M. Errington and G. Wirth -, but their works often
rely heavily on the material adduced by Berve. Many others are
content with mere generalisations: Hence Hephaistion is at one
time Alexander's foremost commander, at another his incompetent
minion; Perdikkas is both middle-aged and in the bloom of youth;
Krateros high in Alexander's esteem or a man neglected by Alexander,
the generals, even the troops.

Only a fresh study of the primary evidence will help to un-
ravel the mysteries of these men who laboured in the shadow of

Alexander and continue to do so in the pages of his historians.
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I focus attention on the marshals of Alexander's empire:
Hephaistion, Leonnatos, Krateros and Perdikkas. The evidence,
subjected to careful scrutiny, yields many new interpretations;
often it is baffling. Not all new interpretations are signi-
ficant, nor every re-interpretation original. But, if T have
produced four biographical studies that are internally consistent
and - what is more important - based on the evidence rather than
on misleading preconceptions, then I have shed new light on

Alexander himself.
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INTRODUCTION

In spring or summer 337 Philip IT teok a new wife, Kleopatra,
the niece of Attalos.l There had been other wives, before and af-
ter Olympias, but this marriage was different. It was not merely
because Philip married Kleopatra as a matter of policy, on which
basis he teok all his wives, according to Satyros.2 Nor was it
because Kleopatra was Macedonian; for there had been Phila the
Elimiot.3 According to Plutarch,4 Philip ioved the girl, but this
will scarcely have dishonoured Olympias; possessive and jealous
though she was, she had long since transferred her affections to
her son. Yet now Philip had taken a wife, young and of noble,
Macedonian, descent; the household, the Court, indeed the very

State, were thrown into turmoil.

1 Satyros ap. Athen. 13.557D-E = FHG III, fr. 5; Athen. 13.560C;
Arr. 3.6.5; Plut. Alex. 9.6-7; Diod. 16.93.9; 17.2.3; Justin
9.5.8-9; 9.7.12; Ps.-Kall. 1.20-21; Jul. Val. 1.13., TFor the
date see, most recently, J.R. Ellis, Philip II 302, notes 3
and 4., P. Green, 87ff., believes the marriage took place in
338 (autumn), for he proposes two children by Philip and Kleo-
patra, Europe (so Satyros agp. Athen. 13.557E) and Karanos (Jus-
tin 9.7.3; 11.2.3; seemingly corroborated by Paus..8.7.7). This
date cannot be correct since (1) Philip probably did not return
to Macedonia until spring 337, so C.A. Roebuck, "The Settlements
of Philip II with the Greek States in 338 B.C.," CP 43 (1948) 73-
92; cf. A. Schaefer, Demosthenes I1I.37ff., esp. 62-65; see also
T.T.B. Ryder, Koine Eirene, London, 1965, 150-162; (2) Karanos
certainly did not exist, so Tarn 2.260-262; cf. A.R, Burn's re-
view of Tarn's book in JHS 67 (1947) 143.

2 Satyros ap. Athen.’ 13.557B: 0 6& &CAunmog alel #atd néiepov éydpet.

3 Possibly the aunt of Alexander's friend and treasurer, Harpalos;
cf. Berve 2.440. -

4

Plut. Alex. 9.6; Satyros ap. Athen. 13.557D.



Philip was serious about the girl, this is certain. He
changed her name to Eurydike, in the fashion of Macedonian queens,
and he undoubtedly expressed a desire to have a son by her. But
as for Olympias, her power at Court was not harmed, even if her ego.
This power she owed not to the fact that she was Philip's wife -
there had been five others, now a sixth--pbut to her position as
mother of Philip's only possible heir; that is to exclude, as must
be done, Philine's son, the mentally defective Arrhidaios.6 That
Philip should desire another son was not unreasonable, either from
a personal or political standpoint. But that he intended to sup-
plant Alexander, who had proven himself able and in many respects

his father's son, with an infant son of Kleopatra is unlikely.

> Arr. 3.6.5 is the only source to call her Eurydike. But this will
not mean, as Berve 2.213 (citing R. Schneider, Olympias, die Mutter
Alexanders des Grossen, Zwiekau, 1886, 18, 1; the work is inaccessible
to me) suggests, that her name was Eurydike before marriage; for this
view cf. also Kornemann, Die Alexandergeschichte 129, n.83; Hamilton,
PA 243 but Tarn 2.262, n.l thinks this is an error on Arrian's part.
Eurydike developed into a dynastic name, so-G. Macurdy, Hellenistic
Queens 23-25. It was the name of Philip's Illyrian mother, Eurydike

I (Plut. de liberis educandis 20 = p.l4B; Suda s.v. Kdpoavog; Libanios,
Argumentum orationum Demosthenicarum 18); Philip's first wife, Audata,
also Illyrian, took the name; see J. Kaerst, REF VI.1 (1907) 1326, s.v.
"Eurydike (15)"; cf. Arr. Suce. 1.22; Ailian, VH 13.36. The name was
also given to Adea (or Hadea; Berve 2.12-13, no. 23, s.v. 'A&éa),
daughter of Kynnane (Audata-Eurydike's daughter) and Amyntas Perdikka,
when she married Philip Arrhidaios; see Polyainos 8.60; Kaerst, loc.
ett., s8.v. "Eurydike (13)"; Douris, FGrHist 76 F52 = Athen. 13,560C;
the name-change is recorded by Arr. Suce. 1.23.-

See Berve.2.385-386, no. 781, s.v. ®CAummnos Appudalos; Kaerst, FE
ITI.1 (1895) 1248-1249, s.v. "Arridaios (4)." -For his mental state,
Plut. de fort. Al. 2.5 = Mor. 337D; Justin 13.12.11; 14.5.2; App.

Syr. 52 (oVn €ugpova); Porphyr. Tyr. = FHG III, fr. 4; the Heidel-
berg Epitome 1 calls him énuAnntixds, see the comments of G. Bauer,

Die Heidelberger Epitome: Eine Quelle zur Diadochengeschichte, Leipzig,
1914, 26-27.



Philip was an astute politician: he could not have considered
leaving Macedonia without a mature heir to the throme. So much,
at ‘least, will have been apparent to Philip. -

The Macedonian aristocracy saw it quite differently. They
will have made no secret of their disapproval of Olympias, this
Epeirot Medea who had been Philip's wife of twenty years.7 And
thus it is significant that the cause of the estrangement of
Philip from Alexander and Olympias was not his act of marrying
Kleopatra but the manner in which the nobility interpreted its
meaning. At the wedding-feast it was Attalos, not Philip, who
prayed for "legitimate heirs for the Macedonians."8 And it was
surely only when Alexander, justifjably offended by the remark,
disrupted the banquet and withdrew into exile, together with his
mother, that Philip became truly alienated from wife and son. ' That
the drunken bridegroom turned upon his son in a fit of rage is under-
standable, especially in the Macedonian context. A sober Philip was
awake to the political realities of the situation, and all his actions

thereafter, until the time of his assassination, reflect a determination

/ Alexander was born about July 356; cf. Hamilton, -PA 7; thus the
marriage dates to 357. For Olympias see Berve 2.283-288, no. 581,
s.v. 'Olvumids; H. Strasburger, RE -XVIII.1 (1939) 177-182, s.v.
"Olympias (5)"; Macurdy, Hellenistic Queens 22-46; Tritsch, Olympias.
Die Mutter Alexanders des Grossen, Frankfurt, 1936, aims at the general
reader. Cf. also F. Reuss, '"Kbnig Arybbas von Epeiros," Rh. Mus. 36
(1881) 161ff.; R.M. Errington, "Arybbas the Molossian," GRBS 16 (1975)
41, n.l. On the parallel with Medea, Plut. Alex. 10.7, quoting Euripides,
Medea 288; cf. H. Willrich's apt description: ''Dies Teufelsweib hat hin-
14nglich gezeigt, dass sie zu allem fhlhig war..." (Hermes 34 [1899] 175).

Athen. 13.557D; the story cannot be traced to a source earlier than
Satyros; cf. Ellis, Philip IT 214-215; Plut. Alex. 9.7; Ps.-Kall. 1.20-2];
Jul. Val. 1.13 speaks of Lysias, clearly a mistake for Attalos.



to achieve stability at home beforevhis departure for Asia.
Philip could have foreseen the dangers of alienating his son,
and for this reason alone we may suspect that he had had no in-
tention of doing so. But he had not reckoned - or at least not
fully - with the attitudes of the Macedonian nobility and
Alexander's own feelings of insecurity.

At this time the Macedonian nobles closed their ranks in
response to Philip's union with Kleopatra; this amounted to a
realignment of the existing network of affiliations. What these
were at the time of Philip's accession, we cannot say, for want
of evidence. But Philip undoubtedly owed his position to the
support of a powerful and interrelated faction ofirthe aristo-
cracy. Now Attalos himself took té wife one of Parmenion's
daughters,10 the old general no doubt thinking that associations
with Attalos would prove beneficial. Another of his daughters
Parmenion married to Koinos, son of Polemokrates, later one of

Alexander's leading generals.11 Philip's commander, Antipatros,

9 Cf. E. Badian, "The Death of Philip II," Phoeniz 17 (1963) 245-

246; Hamilton, "Alexander's Early Life," G & R 12 (1965) 120-121.
See also U. KBhler, "Uber das VerhYltniss Alexander's des Grossen
zu seinem Vater Philipp," S2t2b. d. Akademie der Wissenschaften,
Berlin, 1892, 497-514.

10'Curt. 6.9.18. J. Rufus Fears, '"Pausanias, The Assassin of Philip II,"

Athenaewn 53 (1975) 133, n.77, believes that "the alleged marriage of
Philotas' sister to Attalus, found in no other source, is...an in-
vention." I find Curtius' information more likely to be true than
not, especially in view of the extensive Macedonian marriage-alliances.
His evidence about Koinos is corroborated by Arrian; see n.1ll below.

1 Curt. 6.9.30.  We are.told by Arr. 1.24.1 that Koinos, himself a newly-

wed, led the vedyauou back to Macedonia in winter 334/3 and rejoined -
Alexander at Gordion in spring (Arr. 1.29.4). For Koinos see Berve 2.215-

218, no. 439, s.v. Kotvog.



wed his daughter to Alexandros, son of Alropos, of the Lynkestian
royal house, possibly also at this time.12 Perdikkas, of the

royal family of Orestis, was the brother-in-law of Attalos, son

of Andromenes; both took vengeance on Philip's assassin Pausanias.
Another of Andromenes' sons, Amyntas, was intimate with Parmenion's

son, Philotas, who in turn was a contemporary and friend of the

deposed heir to the Macedonian throne, Amyntas Perdikka.14 His

allegiance Philip had already secured through marriage to his
eldest daughter (Amyntas' cousin) Kynnane.15

This formidable system of affiliations, which was likely more
extensive than our sources indicate, must have reinforced Alexander's
feelings of isolation; his own personai friends, as far as we can

tell, do not appear to have been adherents of this powerful faction.l6

12 Curt. 7.1.7; Justin 11.7.1; 12.14.1. The name of Antipatros'.

daughter is not known. See Berve 2.17-19, no. 37, s.v.-  AA€Eavbpos..

13 Diod. 16.94.4; cf. Fears, op. cit., n.10; see Berve 2.90, no. 177,

s.v. 'Ataddvin; the fact that she was with the fleet in 321/o0 could
imply, however, that the marriage took place only shortly before.that
date. See also Berve 2.92-93, no. 181, s.v.  "Attodog; 2.308-309,

no. 614, s.v. Tovoavias; and 2.313-316, no. 627, s.v. lepdlunag,

and my “Chapter 4. :

14 On the relationship of the sons of Andromenes to Philotas, Curt.

#7.1.10-11; see Berve nos. 57,ﬁ181; 644, 704; see also Berve 2.393-
397, no. 802, s.v. dLAdtog. For Amyntas Perdikka and Philotas, Curt.
6.10.24; cf. Berve 2.30-31, no. 61, s.v.  AudvTtas.

'15'Berve 2,229, no. 456, s.v. Kvvvdun; Arr. Succe. 1.22 (where the form

Kuvdvn occurs); Polyainos 8.60- (KSvva): For the name O. Hoffmann,
Die Makedonen 219. Macurdy, Hellenistic Queens 48-49, dates the
marriage to 340, when Kynnane was about 17-18 years old. Ellis,
Philip IT 217, assumes that the marriage belongs to 337/6. But see
also Beloch GG2 3.2.69.

6 Hamilton, G & R 12 (1965) 120.



And, although recalled from exile through the agency of Demaratos
of Korinth, Alexander will have felt even more threatened by his
father's intention of wedding Arrhidaios to a Karian princess and
by the banishment of his companions.'17

To an extent, Alexander must have been encouraged by the
departure of Attalos and Parmenion for Asia in the spring of 336,
and by the impending marriage of his sister, Kleopatra, to her
uncle Alexandros of Epeiros;18 Kleopatra-Eurydike, now several
months pregnant, was nevertheless a cause of anxiety. But when,
at the actual wedding-ceremony at Aigai in summer 336; Pausanias
struck down Philip, at the instigation either of the Lynkestians
or of the brooding Olympias herself;19 Alekander found himself in
a precarious situation, entirely dependent upon the whim of this

powerful noble faction. It was indeed fortunate for Alexander that

17 Plut. Alex. 10.1-4; Arr. 3.6.5 is less specific. See A.B. Bosworth,

JHS 93 (1973)f258; Ellis, Philip II 218; Badianm, Phoenix 17 (1963)
2453 Hamilton, G & R 12 (1965) 121; PA 25. See also Berve 2.320,
no. 640, s.v. NMuEhdaposy KBhler, op. cit., n.9, 502-503.

18 hiod. 16.91.4; Justin 9.6.1; 13.6.4. See Berve 2.19-21, no. 38,

g.v. “AA€Eav6pog; 2.212-213, no. 433, s.v. Kieondtpo; Kaerst, RE

T.1 (1893) 1409-1410, s.v. "Alexandros (6)"; F. StHhelin, RF XI.1
(1921) 735-738, s.v. "Kleopatra (13)"; Macurdy, Hellenistic Queens
22ff., esp. 30-31. P. Green's (97) view of Alexandros' attitude,

i.e., that "this recalcitrant young man,...impervious to claims of
nepotism and paederasty,...might...find some attraction in an in-
cestuous marriage," is the product of an over-fertile imagination.

19 H. Willrich, "Wer liess Kbnig Philipp von Makedonien ermorden?"

Hermes 34 (1899) 174-182, concludes that Persian gold induced the
sons of AHropos to instigate the murder of Philip. Badian, Phoenix

17 (1963) 244-250, argues that Alexander had every reason to procure
Philip's assassination; his arguments are, as Fox (505) points out,
Niebuhr's revived (Niebwhr's Lectures on Ancient History, tr. Dr.



Attalos and Parmenion happened to be in Asia, and that Kleopatra's
child had in fact turned out to be a girl.zo But the nation might
very well, as Plutarch says, have looked to the Lynkestians and to
Amyntas Perdikka.21 Antipatros' action at this moment appears,
therefore, somewhat difficult to explain. He presented Alexander
to the army, by whom he was acclaimed "King of the Macedonians.™
Antipatros, however, neither averted suspicion from.the sons of

ABropos nor saved them from a trumped-up charge, if such it was;2

Leonard Schmitz, vol. 2, London, 1852, 307-311); Badian's case

for Alexander's guilt is certainly not "conclusive," despite
Hamilton's claims (G & R 12 [1965] 120, n.6). That Pausanias

acted from a purely personal motive is argued by K. Kraft, Der
'pationale' Alexander, Frankfurter Althistorische Studien, Heft

5, Frankfurt, 1971; see the reviews by Bosworth, JHS 93 (1973)
256~258, and Badian, Gnomon 47 (1975) 48-58. J. Rufus Fears,
Athenaeum 53 (1975) 111-135, also believes that Pausanias acted

from a personal motive. Bosworth, "Philip II and Upper Macedonia,"
CQ n.s. 21 (1971) 93-105, revives the charges against the Lynkestians.

20 Satyros ap. Athen. 13.557E; the filia of Justin 9.7.12.

2L piut. de fort. AL. 1.3 = Mor. 327C: ndoa &' bmovdos fv MaxeSovla

1p0c Audvtov &moBidmouvca ol ToVUs ~Aepdmouv matbag. See J.R. Ellis,
"Amyntas Perdikka, Philip II and Alexander the Great: A Study in
Conspiracy," JHS 91 (1971) 15-24. This otherwise stimulating dis-
cussion is marred by a chronological error: Ellis suggests that

"Amyntas Perdikka was captured and executed (not, as we now see,

because Alexander was simply insecure, but on a genuine charge of
treason), and his execution fell, as Justin's order of presentation
implies, between the fall of Thebes in October 335 and the beginning

of the Persian expedition in Spring 334" (21). Now the date given

by Arrian (Suce. 1.22) for Amyntas' death is vague, and perhaps due to
the epitomator, but it is clear from Arrian's Anabasis (1.5.4-5) that
Amyntas perished probably during the winter 336/5 (as we should expect);
for Kynnane, Amyntas' wife, was offered by Alexander to Langaros, King
of the Agriani, in late spring or summer 335, at which time she must have
been widowed (Green's theory, 141, about Alexander's ''macabre sense of
humour" is pure gibberish). See Berve 2.230, no. 460, s.v. Adyyapos.
Cf. Schaefer, Demosthenes III1.101, n.3; Macurdy, Hellenistic Queens

493 Bosworth, CQ n.s. 21 (1971) 103, n.4.

22
For the theory that the Lynkestians were in fact guilty see Bosworth,

op. ¢it., n.19; cf. earlier view of Willrich, op. c¢it., n.19.



yet, in this manner, he may in fact have been serving his own
interests. Perhaps he did not feel secure in promoting the cause
of the Lynkestians against a powerful faction from Lower Macedonia;
his own position could better be served by Alexander, who had the
confidence of the army and who would undoubtedly take vengeance
on Attalos. As for Alexandros of Lynkestis, he was spared (doubt-
less through the coaching of his father-in-law) by being the
first to hail his namesake as the new King.23
The Macedonians were realists: marriages were largely
political alliances, the purges that accompanied throne-disputes
a deadly game. Hasty realignment followed, and Antipatros abandoned
the sons of Alropos, with the exception of Alexandros, while Par-
menion sacrificed his son-in-law, Attalos, at Alexander's behest.24
.Support of Alexander became a necessity; but it was not without a
certain reluctance; to this, at least, the rumblings of discontent
throughout Alexander's campaigns bear witness;
In spite of the purge that followed the assassination of Philip,
in which Amyntas Perdikka; Alexander's most dangerous rival, was mur-
dered; the established nobility still occupied key positions in the

‘ . . ‘ 2
Macedonian army, especially the adherents of the house of Parmenion. >

'23‘Arr. 1.25.2; Curt. 7.1.6-7; Justin 11.2.2,

24'Thrt)‘ugh the .agency of Hekataios, according to Diod. 17.2.5-6; 17.5.2.
See Berve 2.148, no. 292, s.v. ‘EnotaCos. But for a different view
see Curt. 7.1.3: (sc. Parmentio) ...amicus et ipsi Alexandro tam
fidus, ut occidendi Attalum non alio ministro uti mallet.  See .also
L. Edmunds, "The Religiosity of Alexander," GRBS 12 (1971) 367.

25"‘See'Berve nos. 295, 554, 802, 's.vv. ‘Entwp, Nundvwp, SLAdtos.
Also Badian, "The Death of Parmenio," TAPA 91 (1960). 327-329,
and E.D. Carney, Alexander the Great and the Macedonian Avristocracy,

Diss. Duke Univ., 1975.



These could mount a formidable opposition to Alexander, given
the opportunity and the motive. But they also represented an
obstacle to the young commanders and friends of Alexander, who
are the subjects of this study. Alexander was unfettered by the
events and the outcome of the Philotas-affair; it was an "acknow-
ledged turning-point" in his career.26 But, as it represented
the decline of the established nobility, it marked the emergence
of a new group of ambitious nobles, who were closely associated
with Alexander himself. These men had their grievances against
the house of Parmenion and its affiliates, and they played no
small part in bringing about its destruction. For this -reason
it is profitable to examine (i) the family of Kleopatra-Eurydike

and (ii) the fall of Parmenion's faction.

() The Family of Kleopatra~Eurydike.

The ancient sources tell us little about Kleopatra-Eurydike
or her origins. She was the niece of a certain Attalos, who be-

longed to the Macedonian nobility;27 this is frequently attested.

26'lBadia:n, op. eit., n.25, 324; Edmunds., op. cit., n.24, 363.

‘27'P1ut.'AZex. 9.7; Satyros ap. Athen, 13.557D; Paus. 8.7.7; the

relationship is confused by Diodoros-(17.2.3) and Justin (9.5.8-9)

L]

who make Attalos Kleopatra's brother, though Diod. 16.93.9 says he.
was her nephew. -Jul. Val. 1.13 has Kleopatra as Attalos' daughter,

while Ps.-Kall. 1.20-21 names Lysias (clearly Attalos is meant)
as Kleopatra's brother. P. Green's stemma (587) attempts, un-
wisely, to reconcile the variants by postulating a brother, as
well as an uncle, of Kleopatra, named Attalos; but this defeats

the purpose of source-criticism. See also Hoffmann, Die Makedonen

157.
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But there is only-one further reference to her origin: Satyros
informs us that she was the sister of a certain Hippostratos, as
well as Attalos' niece. There is no other explicit statement about
her family, though there is much that can be deduced from evidence
hitherto disregarded. The clue to the family of Kleopatra-Eurydike
rests, I believe, with the identity of a certain Hegelochos, the
admiral of Alexander's fleet.28
Quintus Curtius,29 recounting the trial and torture of Philotas,
claims that Hegelochos conspired with Parmenion in Egypt, but that
Parmenion was opposed to taking action against Alexander while
Dareios III was still alive; the incident is generally held to
be fictitious. E. Badian, for example, writes: "Curtius...has a
story of a plot between Parmenio and Hegelochus (then dead), which
Philotas is said to have divulged under torture. Since no charge
was in fact brought against Parmenio, it is almost certain that
none could be: the plot with Hegelochus must be an effort of later

apoZogia."30 Other modern scholars have ignored the story as well,

or simply dismissed it out of hand.31 But who invented this con-

28'See'Berve 1.160-161 and 2.164-165, no. 341, s.v. ‘Hyéloxos; Sundwall,

RE VII.2 (1912). 2594, s.v. "Hegelochos (1)," is of little use. See
Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 183, with n.91. On his command of the fleet
see H. Hauben, "The Command Structure in Alexander's Mediterranean
Fleets," Ane. Soe. 3 (1972) 55-65, esp. 56-58; "The Expansion of
Macedonian Sea-Power under Alexander the Great," Anc. Soec. 7 (1976)

' 82-87; and also A. Baumbach, Kleinasien unter Alexander dem Grossen,
Diss. Jena, publ. Weida, 1911, 49ff.

29'Curt. 6.11,22~29,

30 padian, TAPA 91 (1960). 332,

31 e
Rejected by J. Rufus Fears, Athenaeum 53 (1975) 133, n.77, it is
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spiracy and why? What reason for naming Hegelochos as Parmenion's
fellow-conspirator? When Hegelochos is ideﬁtified, an answer will
emerge.

We first encounter Hegelochos as a commander of oudnov at
the Granikos River (Arr. 1.12.7; 13.1), where he is subordinate
to Amyntas (Berve, no.59), sbn of Arrhabaios (the executed brother

of Lynkestian Alexandros). This connexion is, as I shall demon-

strate, more than coincidental in view of the "stranglehbld"32

that the established nobility had on principal commands in the

army. When Alexander left Gordion in spring 333, he sent Hegelochos
to the coast with orders to build a new fleet at the Hellespont
(Arr. 2.3.4).33 After a successful campaign with the fleet, he
appears to have handed over naval affairs to Amphoterbs; the
brother of Krateros, and rejoined Aleﬁander'in Egypt in the winter

of 332/1.34 He reappears, for the last time, at Gaugamela (Arr.3.11.8),

ignored by the recent monographs of Green, Schachérmeyr and
Hamilton; Fox mentions Hegelochos (289), inaccurately and with-
‘out a judgment on the historicity of the incident. Berve treats -
the matter with caution (2.165).

32 Badian, TAPA 91 (1960) 329.

33 cure. 3.1.19: Amphoterum classi ad oram Hellesponti, copiis -

autem praefecit Hegelochum, Lesbium et Chium Coumque prae-

sidiis hostium liberaturos. The apparent contradiction of

Arr. 3.2.6 (seen by Berve 1.161 and 2.32, no. 68, s.v.  Augotepds)
is perhaps explained by Hauben, Ame. Soc. 3 (1972) 57, who sees”
this as "a diarchic fleet command', in which "the head of the
marines also functioned as the supreme commander of the whole
formation." Thus Amphoteros controlled the purely mnaval matters,
under Hegelochos' direction.

34 Arr. 3.2.3.
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an tligrch in Philotas' Companion Cavalry. There it seems he

may have lost his life; Arrian says nothing further about him,
Curtius speaks of him as having died in battle before the Philotas-
affair took place (6.11.22: {llum dico Hegelochum qui in acie ce-
cidit). |

It was in Egypt, Curtius says, that Hegelochos conspired
with Parmenion. This charge against him warrants investigation.
Curtius reports that, through the urging of Koinos, Krateros and
Hephaistion, Philotas was tortured in order to gain a confession
(6.11.10), though it is clear that the action was intended to
extort an admission of Parmenion's complicity in the Dimnos-
affair.35 Of Dimnos' crime Philotas, at first, denied all know-
ledge (quod ad Dymnum pertinet nihil 'scio,. 6.11.30), although he
admitted that a certain Hegelochos, incensed by Alexander's Ammons-
sohnschaft (cum primum Iovis filium se salutari iussit rex, 6.11.23),
conspired with Parmenion to murder Alexander. Parmenion, however,
approved the measure only if Dareios were dead (6.11.29), and the
actual conspiracy came to naught.

Whether Philotas did in fact confess to the Hegelochos-affair
or whether it was merely so reported by Alekander's‘agents, the
charge was made: it had equal value for Alexander whether it was
exacted under duress or merely invented. But, if Aleéander's_agents
presented a fabricated charge, then they must have known something
about Hegelochos that made his participation in such a conspiracy

plausible. Now Badian alleges that "no charge was in fact brought’

35 See Berve 2.,142~143, no. 269, s.v. Aluvog. For the name see

Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 206.
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against Parmenio" (supra), but this is not so; for undoubtedly,

in the version of Curtius, the charges brought against Parmenion
included his alleged dealings with Hegelochos. And charges were
clearly brought against him. To Polydamas, the bearer of Par-
menion's writ of execution, Alexander says: scelere...Parmenionis
‘ommes pariter appetiti (7.2.13). More explicitly, we are told that
charges of some sort were used to justify Parmenion's murder by
Kleandros and his associates: Cleander primores eorum (Parmenion's
troops) intromitti iubet litterasque regis scriptas ad milites
recitat, quibus insidiae Parmenionis in regem...continebantur (7.2.30).
It follows that the charges extorted from Philotas were used in
condemnation of Parmenion.

The story appears to have some substance; we are reminded of
the epiboule of Philotas; related by Arrian and Plutarch,36.whiCh
also took place in Egypt and was the result of the same grievances.
It is clear that Alexander's journey to the oasis of Siwah and his
rejection of Philip as his father’ekacerbated'an already uneasy
feeling in the Macedonian army:37v:But the existence of a hostile

faction antedates’ the Ammonssohnschaft and - as is certainly true

% Arr. 3.26.1; Plut. Alew. 48.1-49.2; de fort. AL. 2.7 = Mor.

~ 339E-F.

37

Berve 2.165 concludes that Hegelochos' naming as a conspirator -
with Parmenion made him "ein TrHger der philippischen Tradition."

. The matter is brought to a head by the affair of Kleitos; cf.
Berve 2.206-208, no. 427, s.v. KieCtos; also F. Cauer, Philotas,
Kleitos, Kallisthenes: Beitrldge zur Geschichte Alexanders des
Grossen, Jahrblicher fllr kl. Philologie, Supplbd 20 (1894).38-58;

R. Schubert, "Der Tod des Kleitos," Rh. Mus. 53 (1898) 98-120;
the conflict between old and new is .clear from the primary sources:
Plut. Alex. 50.1-52,2; Arr. 4.8.1-9.4; Curt. 8.1.19-52.
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in Philotas' case - we ought to look for the seeds of Hegelochos'
discontent in some earlier event. We must ask, who was Hegelochos?

Arrian (3.11.8) tells us that Hegelochos was the son of
Hippostratos. The latter name appears only twice in accounts
of the period before 336 (Alexander's accession): Marsyas (ap.
Didymos, Demosth. col. 13.2) names a certain Hippostratos, son
of Amyntas, who died in Philip's Illyrian campaign, while Satyros
(ap. Athen. 13.557D) says that Hippostratos was the brother of
Kleopatra—Eurydike.38 The three references to Hippostratos may
very well be to one man, the father of Hegelochos; thus ﬁege—
lochos' importance to the history of Alexander lies in his re-
lationship to Kleopatra-Eurydike (his aunt). But there are three
major objections; none is insurmountable.

The most serious objection is that of K.J. Beloch: "Ein
fHYékoxog tInnochoﬁ'ou befeﬁligte bei Arbela eine Ile der Hetaeren-
reiterei (Arr. 4nab. III 11,8); aber Kleopatras Bruder kann nicht-
wohl einen Sohn gehabt haben, der in 331 alt genug gewesen wiHre,

ein solches Kommando zu‘f’dhren...."39

But is this actually the
case? We have two approximate ages that can be used in the con-
struction of a stemma for the family of Kleopatra. According to
Plutarch (4lex. 9.6), Kleopatra was still very young when she
married Philip in 337: [Kkeon&fpa]; ﬁv o @Ckbnnoé.ﬁY&Yefo ndp%évov,

épacdets mop nAivxlov this uépng. Berve's estimate that she was

8 Marsyas = FGrHist 135/136 Fl7; Satyros = MUller, FHG III, fr.5.

| o
3 Beloch 657 3.2.70.
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born cea 353 appears to suit Plutarch's description; she'may,
however, have been considered young in comparison with Olympias,
who was now in her late thirties. 355-353 B.C. provides a good,
conservative, date for Kleqpatra's birth. Berve assumes that
Attalos, Kleopatra's uncle, was born ca 380, thus being a con-
temporary of Philip II; he could have been considerably older.

If we assume, therefore, that Berve's dates are correct (allowing
for some slight adjustments) and that Hippostratos was the son of

Amyntas (so Marsyas ap. Didymos), then the following stemma emerges.

thher'(ca 430 - ?)40

Amyltaé (ca 405 - Attalos (ca 385-336/5) = d. of Parmenion
died before 337)

[
Hippostratos (ca 380-344/3) |
: Kleopatra (355/3-335/4) = Philip II

Hegelochos (eca 360-331)
Europe (b.336)

40 This cannot be, as Beloch GGZ3.2.70-71 (followed tentatively by

Green, 587) suggests, Antiochos, for Amyntas, son of Antiochos,
was still alive and active at the time of Alexander's Asian cam-—
paign (see Berve 2.28-29, no. 58, s.v. 'Afidvrag); it is unlikely
that all the sources would have failed to mention that he was
Kleopatra's father, especially Arrian, who records the reasons
for his flight: ’Apdvtog O “Avtudyou, Oc €ouyev éx Manedoviag
"AAéEavbpov, maddv pEv o068V mpeds AreEdvdpouv, Suovolq.SE Tf
1pos ~AAEEaVSpov nal ovTds dnafidoos TL madeTv mpdc avTol axapL
(1.17.9). No source records that Amyntas, son of Antiochos, was:
Attalos' brother; instead it is deduced that Amyntas, the father
of Kleopatra, was dead and that she was the ward of Attalos (Berve
2.94, 213). These are, I believe, more serious objections than
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I consider next the arguments of Felix StHhelin. Speaking
of the Hippostratos who died in the Illyrian campaign, StH¥helin
argues: '"'man kYnnte ebensogut an Hippostratos, den Bruder Philipps
zweiter Gemahlin Kleopatra denken, den Satyros...in einer Weise
erwdhnt, die uns vermuten 14sst, das der Mann sich irgendwie besonders
hervorgétan haben mﬁss."4l Yet, he concludes: "In keinem Falle ist
Hippostratos, der Vater des Hegelochos, mit Hippostratos, dem Bruder
der Kleopatra, identisch, denn wir wissen, dass Alexander bei seinem
Ubergange nach Asien die sYmtlichen Verwandten seiner Stiefmutter
umbringen liess (Justin 11,5,1)."42

Now, it need not be argued strenuously that Justin should
not and need not be taken literally. What he says is precisely
this: Proficiséens ad Persicum bellum omes novercae suae cognatos,
quos Philippus in excelsiorem dignitatis locum provehens imperiis
praefecerat, interfecit. But Justin paints a very black picture &f
Alexander, one of whose chief faults was that non in hostem, sed in

suos saeviebat (9.8.15). Justin's method of denigrating Alexander

Berve's (2.28, n.2) claim that the name is too common. Nor
is Arrian's testimony (supra) easily reconciled with Justin's
claim that Alexander murdered all Kleopatra's male relatives
(11.5.1); this remark is probably false, but we might expect
that Kleopatra's father, if anyone, would have been foremost
among Alexander's enemies.

41 F. StHhelin, "Die griechischen Historikerfragmente bei

Didymos," KlZo 5 (1905) 151.

42 4.
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is one that employs generalisations and exaggerations: where
Justin clearly knows of only one incident or one victim of
Alexander's cruelty, he speaks of many. Thus he alludes to

the murder of Kleitos in the following manner: hic [sc. Alexander]
amicorum interfector convivio frequenter excessit (9.8.16).43

He speaks of many sons of Philip IT, though he can name only one
(to except, momentarily, the fictitious Karanos): Genuit ex
Larissaea saltrice filium Arrhidaeum, qui post Alexandrum regnavit.
Habuit et multos alios filios ex variis matrimoniis regio more
susceptos, qui partim fato, partim ferro periere (9.8.2-3). Like-
wise, although he names only one brother (the fictitious Karanos,
whose existence is contradicted by Justin himself at 9.7.12),

whom Alexander put to death, he speaks of fratres interfecti
(12.6.14).44 Thus, when he says nec suts, qui apti regno
videbantur, pepercit, ne qua materia seditionis procul se agente
in Macedonia remaneret (11.5.2), he has one specific victim in
mind, Amyntas Perdikka (tunc Amyntas consobrinus...interfect|us],
12.6.14). And, there is only one relative of Alexander's noverca
(= Kleopatra) who might be described as [quem] Philippus in ex-

- celsiorem dignitatis locum provehens imperiis praefecerat (11.5.1);
and he is Attalos (cf. again 12.6.14); omnes novercae suae cognatos

...interfecti must be another generalisation. There are numerous

43 Cf. the note of Rev. John Selby Watson, Justin, Cornelius Nepos -
and Eutropius, London, 1910, foot of p.88.

4'Fratres;'a rhetorical plural, so R. Lane Fox, 504..



18 -

other examples of generalisations and exaggerations for effect;

the above-mentioned are, I believe, sufficient to make the point.

, . 46
I say nothing about the numerous errors in fact.

We need not base our argument solely on the text (and the
method) of Justin. According to all the sources that record her
death (and these include Justin), Kleopatra and her daughter were

the victims not of Alexander but of Olympias.47 On Attalos, however,

45 Although one might mention the 115 sons of Artaxerxes or the

600,000 Persians at the Granikos (10.1.1; 11.6.11); to say
nothing of the fates of the fifty brothers of Dareios, to-
~gether with their wives and children (10.1.4f££.)

46 Justin's description (9.5.9) of Attalos as Kleopatra's brother

is the most blatant example; only a textual emendation saves
Lynkestian Alexandros from -becoming a brother of Alexander the
Great (11.2.2); and for the error involving the sending of
Parmenion ad occupandam Persicam classem (11.10.4) see Berve
2.301, n.3. These are selected virtually at random, but they

are representative of the nature of Justin's account of Alexgnder.

47 Plut. Alex. 10.7; it was done against Alexander's wishes; Justin

9.7.12 says that she was forced by Olympias to hang herself;

Paus. 8.7.7 says that both mother and son were forced onto a

fiery vessel. Karanos, as son of Philip and a wife other than
Olympias, has again been resurrected. Tarn rightly did away

with him (2.260-262, Appendix 9, 'Caranus"); he was followed by

A.R. Burn, JHS 67 (1947) 143. But Karanos has been-accepted as

the son of Kleopatra (denying, therefore, the existence of Europe)
by Niebuhr, op. cit., n.19, 309; Grote 12.8; Droysen, Hellenismus
1.70; C. Bradford Welles, Alexander and the Hellenistic World,
Toronto, 1970, 15; and as Kleopatra's second child by Fox, 503-

504, and P. Green, 108ff. and 523-524. That he was the son of an-
other wife, most likely Phila the Elimiot, is proposed by Willrich,
Hermes 34 (1899) 177; St¥helin, RE XI.1, s.v. "Kleopatra," 734-

735; Berve 2.199-200, no. 411, s.v. Kdpavos, and 2.213-214; Wilcken,
62; Macurdy, Hellenistic Queens 54; Niese 1.52; Schachermeyr, Ingenium
und Macht 84ff.; Alexander der Grosse 102, with n.84, 104; Milns, 18;
K. Kraft, op. ctt., n.19, 24,n.30. Most recently, Ellis, Philip IT
306, n.54, correctly supports Tarn. The child is clearly meant to
be Kleopatra's (the noverca of Justin 11.2.3 must be Kleopatra, as
Tarn has proved conclusively). The son mentioned by Pausanias is -
the same child referred to as filia by Justin 9.7.12, and this is
Europe, so Satyros ap. Athen. 13.557E. See also n.l supra.
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Alexander did take vengeance, through the agency of a cer-

tain Hekataios, and with the acquiescence of Parmenion.

There is no mention of any other male relatives of Kleopatra.

Her father and her brother were already dead before she married
Philip in 337, and this will explain why Kleopatra is consistently
identified not as the daughter of Amyntas but as the niece of
Attalos. At this point, we may consider the third objection to
the equating of the individuals named Hippostratos. Befve writes:
"Foucart...und Beloch...vermuten eine IdentitHt mit dem von Didy-
mos...erwhnten, im Illyrerkriege...gefallenen H., doch scheint
Satyros...ihn 337 als noch lebend vorauszuSetzen."49 This ob-
jection cannot be allowed to stand. Satyros gives no indication
about the brother of Kleopatra, whether he was still alive or had
already died; nor can any inference be drawn. But the evidence

of Satyros may well tell us something about Kleopatra's family-
history. Amyntas may have died before his son, Hippostratos, and
Kleopatra (and possibly her mother) would therefore have passed
into the custody of her brother until his death in 344/3. At that
time Kleopatra, now between nine and eleven years of age, became
the ward of her uncle, Attalos. Thus her only two known male re-

latives who still lived in 337 were the prominent Attalos and

48'Diod.'17.2.5—6;v17.5.2;,.Curt. 7.1.3; see Berve 2.148, no.292,

s.v. 'Enatalog. Badian, TAPA 91 (1960). 327; Green 119-120.

49'Ber've 2.185, no.390, s.v. ‘Inndotpatos. For this Illyrian
campaign see F. Wilst, Philip II. von Makedonien und Griechen-
land in den Jahren von '346.bis 338 (Minchener historische. Ab-.
handlungen, Heft 14, 1938) 54-58.
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Kleopatra's nephew Hegelochos, who had only begun his career in
the army.

Only a literal interpretation of Justin stands in opposition
to equating Hegelochos with the nephew of Kleopatra; I believe
that the testimony has been shown to be unreliable. The career
of Hegelochos, therefore, proves instructive. When Alexander set
out for Asia, he left many enemies, potentially dangerous, alive
both in Macedonia and within the army; the series of intrigues
and conspiracies that followed the death of Philip II is an adequate
testimony to this. Alexander could, and did, eliminate his most
dangerous political rivals, but he was forced to adopt a policy
of conciliation; for the very basis of his power were the Mace-
donian nobles, who had supported Philip and who had now realigned
themselves in accordance with the needs of the new regime. There
were some casualties, but Alexander will have been anxious to limit
the slaughter. Peace had been made with Parmenion, but Attalos was
the price. Nevertheless; numerous members of the "Attalos—faction"
remained alive and in positions of power. Aleﬁandros of Lynkestis
came to no harm at this time, though he was later arrested for his
intrigues. Yet Alexander could have been ekpected to fear him on
account of the eﬁecution of Heromenes'and’Arrhabaios.SO"Amyntas;
the nephew of Lynkestian Alekandros and the son of the'éiecuted
Arrhabaios, also retained his fank until the arrest of his unclé
led, apparently, to his own'fall;Sl' And so it comes as no sur-

prise that Hegelochos was also left unharmed. Hippostratos had

20 see Berve 2.80, 169, nos. 144, 355, s.vv.  ApdpaBalos, "Hpouévng.

1 Berve 2.30.
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been Kleopatra's brother, but he was long dead and for-

gotten by the time that the purge took place. Hegelochos

presented no challenge to Alexander'g sovereignty and the

King could ill afford to extend his feud with Attalos to in-

clude even Kleopatra's nephew. The Macedonian nobility were

too numerbus,-tod influential and too much interrelated to

make such an action feasible. We are reminded of Badian's

salutary observation that "Alexander could not afford (and

had hardly intended) to engage in wholesale slaughter of the

Macedonian nobility."52
Opposition to Alexander, resulting from the problems

of the succession of 336, continued until the death of Alexandros

of Lynkestis, the denouement of the Philotas-affair. Friction

continued throughout Alexander's reign between the supporters

of Alekander and those whom Schachermeyr terms "altmakedonisch

gesinnt."53 lIn the course of this struggle there were many

casualties, and, while Hegelochos appears to have died in battle,

there is no reason to suspect thathhewwas not hostile to Alexander and

_ not; at least capable of plotting_against him. If he was in fact

the nephew of Kleopatra, the murder of his ‘aunt will have been

fresh in his mind in 332/1. Curtius (or his source) did not in-

- vent the incident; if Hegelochos was not Kleopatra's nephew; why

did he conspire (or rather why was he charge with conspiring) with

Parmenion? Vexation at the Ammonssohnschaft alone is not an

32 Badian, TAPA 91 (1960).335.

3 Schachermeyr, Alexander der Grosse 363.
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adequate incentive. Now that we have some clue concerning
the family of Hegelochos a more plausible motive for his
hitherto disregarded conspiracy emerges. Parmenion ex-
tricated Philotas from the dangers brought on by his trea-
sonous grumBlings in Egypt; very likely, he dissuaded an
angry Hegelochos at that time as Well.54

The scattered references to Hippostratos, as well as
the enigmatic conspiracy of Hegelochos, which Curtius did
not invent, provide a valuable insight into the origins of
Kleopatra-Eurydike. They also add a new dimension to the
political circumstances in which the Philotas-affair stands

out as the decisive event, and from which there developed

a new power-structure within the Macedonian army.

(i4) The Fall of Parmemion's Faction. >

From the era of Philip II, Parmenion emerged as Macedon's
foremost general; powekrful within the army, where his family and
its adherents held major commands, he was no less influential at

56 : .57 . L . :
the Court. Born ca 400 B.C., Parmenion was a mature commander

already when Philip came to the throne in 359. We do not know -

>4 Arr. 3.26.1; cf. Plut. Alex. 48.4.

23 See W. Heckel, "The Conspiracy Against Philotas," Phoenix 31 (1977)

9-21.

6 plut. Apophth. Phil. 2 = Mor. 177C. See Berve 2.298-306, 5.v.

NapuevCwv; also Berve, RE XVIIT.4 (1949) 1559-1565, s.v. "Parmenion (1) "

37 Curt. 6,11.32; cf. 7.2.33.
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exactly what hi; connexions were with the aristocratic factions
and families of Macedon before Philip's marriage to Kleopatra-
Eurydike, but it appears that his son, Philotas, was brought

up at the Court with Philip's nephew, Amyntas Perdikka; for thev
two appear to have been very close in age.58 What connexions
Parmenion had with Alexander and Olympias and their supporters,
we cannot say; Philotas is portrayed as one of Alexander's friends,
vet his actions will scarcely have endeared him to Alexander.5
Undoubtedly, Parmenion, who could not aspire to the kingship him-
self, supported Philip politically with the samecenthusiasm as he
did militarily. Thus, when Philip married Kleopatra, Parmenion
brought himself into closer alignment with the King by marrying

one of his daughters to Attalos; this union will date to summer

or autumn 337, that is, shortly after Philip's own Wedding.60

Probably before Parmenion's departure for Asia in spring 336,

>8 See Berve 2.393-397, no. 802, s.v. dLAdtog; there is, as yet,

no article in EFE. Berve (393) assumes that Philotas was Par-
menion's eldest son, as he commanded the Companions, and that
he was born "nicht lange vor 360, da er anscheinend zu den
Jugendfreunden Al.s gehBrte.'" But both his younger brothers,
Hektor and Nikanor, held major commands, and thus his birth-
date fell more likely between 365-360, which would make him
roughly contemporary with Amyntas Perdikka. Probably they
were syntrophot at the Court, where they became close friends
(cf. Curt. 6.9.17; 6.10.24). See Berve 2.30-31, no.61, s.v.
"AudvTac.

39 Plut. Alex. 10.3: the Pixodaros-affair. Whether Philotas was

brought in to shame Alexander or whether he was Philip's in-
formant (so Hamilton, G & R 12 [1965] 121, with n.4, trans-
lating moparoBdv as "taking as witness'), he must have earned
Alexander's ill-will. '

60 Curt. 6.9.18, and see n.10 supra.
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Koinos sought and obtained the hand of one of Parmenion's
younger daughters (possibly the youngest, in view of Par-
menion's)age).61 But Parmenion understood that political
marriages are not made in heaven: these served his advantage,
and he repudiated his relationship with Attalos soon after-
ward, again to his advantage.

Wheﬁ Philip's assassination brought with it the downfall
of Kleopatra-Eurydike and her faction, Parmenion reacted accord-
ingly. Now it was politically exPédiehtL to sacrifice his new
son-in-law to Alexander's vengeance. This was Parmenion's token
of loyalty, and there is no reason to doubt that Alexander was
satisfied.62 Hostile factions remained within the Macedonian
army, but assassination had been an all-too-convenient means
of deposing a Macedonian king; nothing could ensure complete
security for the new monarch. Alexander had to secure his position
by a careful process of liquidation and conciliation; in the case
of Parmenion, in the light of his power within the army, he pre-
ferred to opt for conciliation.

Six years later there occurred an incident that has been a
vexation to historians, ancient and modern: Philotas was tried

and executed on a charge of conspiracy, Parmenion was subsequently

1 Curt. 6.9.30; Arr. 1.24.1; 1.29.4; see n.ll supra. -The pro-
duct of this union was a son named Perdikkas; see W. Ditten-
berger,- Sylloge Inscriptionum Graecarum I3 (Leipzig 1915) 552-
553, no. 332; Berve 2.312-313, no. 626, s.v. lepdCunog.

62 Diod. 17.2.5-6; 17.5.2; Curt..7.1.3; see n.24 supra. Cf. L. Edmunds,

"The Religiosity of Alexander," GRBS 12 (1971) 367.
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murdered by Alexander's agents.63 Though Alexander's apologists
have been, quite understandably, eager to exculpate him, neither
Ptolemy, Aristoboulos, nor even Tarn could escape the conclusion

that Parmenion's death was "plain murder and leaves a deep stain

on Alexander's reputation."64 C.A. Robinson Jr. attempted to

attach a certain degree of legality to Parmenion's murder,
basing his arguments on an alleged Macedonian lex, of which
Curtius speaks, but his efforts were so futile that even Tarn
could not accept his conclusions.65 The standard treatment of
the affair is now that of E. Badian: a prosopographic study re-
veals that Alexander had been steadily "undermining Parmenio's
reputation" and "extricating himself from the stranglehold of

Parmenio's family and adherents,"66 and that "Philotas' 'treason'

63 For these events see F. Cauer, Jahrbllcher flir k1. Philologie,

Supplbd 20 (1894) 8-38; C.A. Robinson Jr. "Alexander the
Great and Parmenio," AJA 49 (1945) 422ff.; Tarn 2.270-272,
App. 12: "The Murder of Parmenion'; Badian, ''The Death of
Parmenio," TAPA 91 (1960) 324-338; Hamilton, PA 134-135;
Schachermeyr, Alexander der Grosse 326-336; J. Rufus Fears,
Athenaeum 53 (1975) 132-134; E.D. Carney, Macedonian Aristo-

cracy 84ff., but especially "The Destruction of the Parmenion
Faction," 111-137; and, for a survey of the major views, J.
Seibert, Alexander der Grosse: ErtrHge der Forschung, Darm—
stadt, 1972, 140-141.

64 Tarn 1.64; cf. Ptolemy and Aristoboulos, FGrHist 138 F13;

139 F22.

65 Robinson, 4JP 58 (1937) 109, based on Curt. 6.11.20:...legem

Macedonum veriti, qua cautum erat ut propinqui eorum qui regi
insidiati essent cum ipsis necarentur.... These arguments were
reiterated in "Alexander's Brutality," AJA 56 (1952) 169-170.

66 Badian, TAPA 91 (1960) 329.
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was a transparent fabrication."67 Badian concludes, therefore,

that Parmenion's murder 'was not a panic-stricken reaction to

an unforeseen emergency; it must be regarded as an integral

part of the same scheme, and indeed, in view of Parmenio's

position, as its culmination."68 Now this "scheme" of which

Badian speaks is the calculated "framing" of Philotas by

Alexander; in this process, Hephaistion, Krateros, Koinos and

Perdikkas "had shéwn themselves 'Alexander's men' in the decisive

test."69
A study of the individuals involved in the affair reveals,

I believe, something quite different, and Badian demonstrates

a reluctance to reach the obvious conclusion: Philotas was the

victim of a faction of young commanders who worked for his eiimin—

ation. They did not acquiesce in Alexander's calculated scheme

to destroy Philotas and Parmenion but, rather, they prevailed

upon Alexander, with a view to their own advantage, to show no

mercy to Philotas. 1In order to demonstrate this, I take up each

of Badianis$ points.

(1) Alexander had been "undermiviing Parmenio's reputation."

Certainly there are stories that cast Parmenion in an un-

favourable 1ight,70 but they do so for two obvious reasons: pro-

7 1pid., 333.

68 11id., 333.

9 mid., 337.

70 Arr. 1.13.2ff.; Plut. Alex. 16.3; Curt...3.5.1ff. and. .6.10.34f.;

Plut. Alex. 19; Arr. 2.4.9-10; Diod. 17.54.4; Arr. 2.25.2; Plut.
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Alexander propaganda and apologia. To say that some of these

stories "go back to good sources (Ptolemy and Callisthenes)"71

does not mean that they are true and, unless they can be proved

to derive from Kallisthenes, they were surely written after
Parmenion's death. Furthermore, any such story that derives from
Kallisthenes (and only one‘can be assigned to him with certainty72)
need not be attributed to a deliberate attempt to undermine Par-
menion's reputation. Kallisthenes was the official historian of
the Panhellenic crusade (Alexander's salesman to the League of

Korinth73) and he wrote with the aim of enhancing the reputation

Alex. 33; Arr. 3.18.11. There are cases in which Parmenion's
advice is accepted, or in which Parmenion gives good advice:

Diod. 17.16; Curt. 3.7.8-10; Plut. Alex. 21.9; Curt. 4.10.16-
17; Arr. 3.18.11; or cases in which Parmenion performs loyal

service: Arr. 1.25.4ff.; Curt. 7.1.3.

71 Badian, TAPA 91 (1960) 328,

72 Plut. Alex. 33 = FGrHist 124 F37. Kallisthenes charges that

Parmenion managed affairs badly (deliberately) at Gaugamela.
On this see Hamilton, P4 89, and Jacoby IID 429-430, who assert,
quite rightly as I think, that this passage (indeed the entire
hostile portrait of Parmenion) was written after Parmenion's
“death. Note also L. Pearson, LHA 47, who suggests that the
evidence that links Kallisthenes with this hostile portrait

is questionable. Undoubtedly, he is correct to assume that
the stories were "elaborated by later writers." Beloch's

(IV2 2.290-306: Abschnitt XV, "Alexander und Parmenion") at-
tempt to see Parmenion as the military master-mind behind

all Alexander's major victories is totally unconvincing. C¥.
also A.M. Devine, "Grand Tactics at Gaugamela," Phoenix 29
(1975) 381,.n.21.

73

W.K. Prentice, "Calllsthenes, the Original Historian of. Alexander "

TAPA 54 (1923) 74ff.; T.S. Brown, '"'Callisthenes and Alexander,"
AJP 70 (1949) 233f. on the importance of Greek public opiniomn;

Pearson, LHA 22ff,; Jacoby IID 411; and most recently M. Plezia,
"Der Titel und der Zweck von Kallisthenes Alexandergeschichte,"

Eos 60 (1972) 263-268, and G. Dobesch, "Alexander der Grosse und
der korinthische Bund," Graszer Be%trdge 3 (1975) 73-149.



28

of a young and ambitious king who was eager to win credit
for himself and not appear to be Winning battles through

the brilliance of his father's general. Kallisthenes was
writing for a Greek audience, moreover for Greeks at home;
in order to "undermine" effectively the reputation of Par-
menion, he ought to have been writing for the Macedonian sol-
diery to whom alone this was a major concern. Nor would the
Macedonian army have tolerated such criticisms, as Kleitos'
anger at the poem of Pranichos74 or that of Alexander at
Kallisthenes' "blame of the Macedonians" demonstrates.75
More likely, any notable propaganda.hostile to Parmenion

was written after his death. Apologia and the history of
Alexander are inseparable; the apologists felt a great need

to justify Parmenion's murder.

(2) "Alexander had also made considerable progress in extricating

himself from the stranglehold of Parmenio's family and adherents.'

There is an evident decline in the power of Parmenion's

house in the years that followed the crossing into Asia. But we

74 Plut. Alex. 50.8; see Berve 2.327, no. 657, s.v. Ipdvixog and

2.320, no. 639, s.v. HuepCuwv.

& Plut. Alex. 53.4-6; see Berve 2.191-199, no. 408, s.v. Kadiio9€vng.

Cf. also P. Merlan, "Isocrates, Aristotle and Alexamder the Great,"
Historia 3 (1954-1955) 76-77.

76 . - . .
As T argue, the effective undermining of Parmenion's reputation

during his own lifetime could not have been easily accomplished;
certainly Kallisthenes' writings had no effect on the attitudes
of the Macedonians toward their commander. The stories must be
intended as apologia.
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cannot fairly attach the blame for this to Alexander. Par-
menion's power was somewhat limited by the death of Attalos;

and this was done with Parmenion's approval.77 Already the
monopoly of the Attalos-faction was broken. Another affiliate,
Amyntas, son of Arrhabaios, vanishes after the arrest of Alexandros
of Lynkestis; this too was done through the agency of Parmenion.78
His own sons, Hektor and Nikanor, had died of natural causes be-
fore the Philotas-affair took place.79 This can hardly have been
part of a scheme to weaken Parmenion's power inrtthe army. In fact,
if Berve is corre'ct,80 Alexander may even have increased Parmenion's
power at the beginning of the campaign by appointing Philotas com-
mander of the Companion Cavalry. As for Asandros, he is somewhat

. . . 81
of an enigma, but we cannot be sure that he was Parmenion's brother.

7 See n.24 supra.

78 Arr. 1.25.4fF.

79 Berve nos. 295, 554; for a dramatised version of Hektor's drowning

in Egypt, Curt. 4.8.7-9; Nikanor's death, Arr. 3.25.4; Curt. 6.6.18-
19.

80 Berve 2.393.

81 Berve 2.87, no. 165, s.v. "Acovépog; J. Kaerst, EE II.2 (1896)

1515, s.v. "Asandros (2)"; C. Bradford Welles, Alexander and the
Hellenistic World 39, erroneously calls him Parmenion's cousin.

There are four references to him (though Curt. 7.10.12 reads
aelexander or alexander in the MSS.; Schmieder restores Asander),

but only one identifies him: "Acavépog & ®duAdta (Arr. 1.17.7), But
Philotas is a common name and Berve, who is normally cautious (2.
397-399: "Gleichsetzung mit einem der anderen TrHger des Namens

ist bei dessen HHufigkeit zu unsicher"), describes Asandros as "an-
scheinend Bruder Parmenions" (2.87). The case for the identification
is,.in fact, very weak. Moreover, if Asandros was Parmenion's brother,
Alexander's act of recalling him from Sardeis to the main camp in
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(3) "Philotas' 'treason' was a transparent fabrication."

We are told by the sources that a certain Dimmos, for an
unknown reason, plotted with several others against Alexander.82
He divulged the details of his plot, and the names of his fellow-
conspirators, to Nikomachos, his lover. But Nikomachos, in alarm,
reported what he had heard to his brother Kebalinos, who in turn
attempted to inform Alexander. Kebalinos conveyed the message to
Philotas, but Philotas failed to inform the King. Seeing that
Philotas would not act, Kebalinos disclosed the information to a

. 8
Royal Page, Metron, who brought the matter to Alexander's attention. 3

order to have him eliminated cannot have been politically astute.
This could only have revived unpleasant memories and accentuated
the sufferings of the house of Parmenion. It is.remarkable that
his arrival created no recorded sensation in Alexander's camp,
although there was a dissident faction in the army, which dis-
approved of Parmenion's murder (Diod. 17.80.4; Justin 12.5.4ff.;
Curt. 7.2.35ff.). Even in Hegelochos' case, which bears only a
superficial similarity, there is evidence of discontent. If we

make Asandros Parmenion's brother, we create a historical situation

that the sources must have suppressed, Z.e., the reaction of
Alexander's camp to Asandros' arrival.

82 These are named by Curt. 6.7.15: Amyntas, Archepolis, Aphobetos,

Demetrios, Theoxenus (= Dioxenos, see Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 207),

Iolaos, Nikanor, Peukolaos; Berve nos. 64, 161, 190, 260 387, 558,
637; these are Arrlan s (3.26.3) Goou akkou uereoxov avtw tfig énu-
BouAfic. See W. Heckel, GEBS 16 (1975) 393-398.

83 Berve 2.142-143, no. 269, s.v. ACuvog; cf. Hoffmann, Die Makedonen

206, who rejects Curtius' form, Dymnus (6.7.1ff.), on linguistic
grounds; Berve 2.143 believes Plutarch's (Alex.49) Aluvog is a
scribal error, A written for A, thofigh Ziegler's Teubner text,
retains Limnos; that form is also preferred by Schachermeyr,
Alexander der Grosse 328ff.; cf. Kirchner, RF V.1 (1903) 648,
s.v. "Dimnos"; Hamilton, PA 135. See also Berve 2.279-280, no.

569, s.v. Nunéuuxog, Kroll, RE XVII.1 (1936) 459, s.v. "Nikomachos
(6)"; Berve 2,203, no. 418, s.v. KeBallvog; Hoffmann Die Makedonen

209; in Plut. AZex. 49.4 the mss. ‘read BoAlvy or: Bakeuvw Kroll,
RE XI.1.(1903) 101, s.v. "Kebalinos"; Berve 2 260-261, no. 520,
s.v. Métpwv; cf. RE XV.2 (1932) 1485, s.v. "Metron (2)."
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Because Dimnos '"conveniently killed himself (or was killed
while resisting arrest)"84 and because Philotas' guilt could not
be proved, Badian concludes that the Dimnos-affair was actually
a "fabrication" aimed at implicating Philotas, a plot that was
hatched while he was attending to ‘the funeral rites of his brother,
Nikanor, who had only recently died in Areia.85 Badian reminds us
that Plutarch speaks of a conspiracy against Philotas. But Plutarch
does not say that this conspiracy consisted dﬁ the "framing" of
Philotas in the Dimmos-affair, as Badian's skilful manipulations
of the evidence lead us to believe.86 That the Dimnos-affair was
meant to "frame'" Philotas is unlikely. I consider J.R. Hamilton's
refutation simple and adequate: "how could Alexander know that
Philotas would fail to pass on the information?"87 There are, of
course, other objectiéns; the complexity of the plot would have
made its successful execution extremely difficult.88 But the
strongest argument against the "fabricated conspiracy" is the

understanding of the true conspiracy against Philotas. This will,

84 Badian, TAPA 91 (1960) 331.

85 Ibid., 330; Curt. 6.6.19; Arr. 3.25.4.

86 Badian does not say so explicitly, but between pages 326 and 330

he carefully leads the reader to believe that, because Plutarch
speaks of a conspiracy against Philotas, we ought to look for one
in the form of a "fabricated" conspiracy in the Dimmos-affair. Cf.
T.P. Wiseman, Phoenzx 27 (1973) 191: "Badian is a master of the
controlled 1nfe rence.

87 Hamilton, PA 134-135.

88 The news of Dimnos' plot, had Philotas not favoured it, would have
given him an opportunity to prove his loyalty, so Fox, 289,
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I believe, answer the last question raised by Badian's inter-

pretation.

(4) Was the murder of Parmenion the culmination of a well-

planned scheme or a reaction to an unforeseen emergency?

Fortune had indeed taken two of Parmenion's sons, but the
most critical move, as fdr as Philotas was concerned, was dictated
by military sense. The events that followed Gaugamela made it
clear that the nature of the war was to take a drastic change;
the pursuit of Dareios and Bessos would require vigour and mobility.
Since Parmenion, now seventy years of age, was ill-suited for this
type o6f warfare and since a younger and extremely capable Krateros
had been groomed by a series of commands of ever-increasing im-
portance as Parmenion's eventual successor, Parmenion was sent to
Ekbatana with the imperial treasures.89 On account of the nature
of the campaign, he was never recalled and took what we might today
call a "desk-job" at Ekbatana, entrusted with the securing of east-
west communications. The appointment, while not a demotion, meant
a considerable "loss of power"go in relation to the army, but at
Parmenion's age such a change of position was inevitable. While
he may have resented the change, just as any commander, after a
life of ser¥ice, resents removal from active duty, it was his son,

Philotas, who was to suffer most from it.

89 Arr. 3.19.7; Hamilton, Alexander the Great 90, is one 6f the few

scholars to point out the obvious reason for Parmenion's removal:
his age, see n.57. See also Justin. 12.1.3.

20 Badian's words, TAPA 91 (1960) 329, n.l16.
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Philotas suddenly found himself isolated within the Mace-
donian army. As a young man he had risen to his position of
prominence, no doubt, through the influence of his father.91
His prestige gave rise in turn to arrogance and licence in
speech.92 He is portrayed as a friend ofAAlexander, but pro-
bably he was somewhat older, likely a syntrophos of Amyntas
Perdikka.93 In the Pixodaros-affair, Philip brought Philotas
along in an effort to shame Alexander on account of his dealings
with the Karian prince; this will scarcely have raised Philotas
in Alexander's estimation.94 Nor was Philotas among those who
were banished by Philip on account of Alexander's intrigues with
Pixodaros.95 Nevertheless both Ptolemy and Aristoboulos relate
that it was on account oftthe friendship and honour in which Alexander
held both Parmenion and Philotas that Alexander overlooked the

latter's epiboule in Egypt.96

1 So Fox, 287. One wonders if the death of Attalos and the

promotion of Philotas were in any way related.

9 Themistios, Or. 19.229C-D; Plut. Alex. 48.

93 See n.58 supra.

%% See n.59 supra.

95 Plut. Alex. 10.3; Badian, TAPA 91 (1960) 327, makes much of

this.

96 Arr. 3.26.1; FGrHist 138 F13 (Ptolemy); 139 F22 (Aristoboulos).
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The existence of this so-called conspiracy in Egypt has
not been seriously questioned. This epiboule, related by
Arrian (3.26.1), must be the subject of the first part of
Plutarch's account of the Philotas-affair (Z.e., chap. 48.4-
49.2).97 It is at this point that Plutarch speaks of a con-
spiracy against Philotas. Krateros had suborned Philotas'
mistress Antigone to inform against her lovér; for Philotas
had been foolishly arrogant and outspoken.98 Krateros, on his
part, was motivated by his strong seﬁse of loyalty, for which
he came to be termed philobasileus, and by his own personal
ambition.99 But this prolonged espionageloo revealed little
that was not already known: thathhilotas had been voicing
his objections to the King's orientalisms, particularly the
recent Ammonssohnschaft, and that he claimed a greater share
of the credit for his own military achievements and those of
his fathér. Very likely, he was incited by the resentful
Hegelochos, whose grievances have already been discussed. But,
while Philotas was acquitted of charges of treason through his
father's influence, two points become clear from this disaffection

in Egypt: Philotas' enemies were already active and eager to ruin

7 As Ziegler's Teubner text indicates and Badian, op. cit.,

331, implies.

98 Plut. Alex. 48.4-49.2; Mor. 339E-F; cf. Curt. 6.8.3; Berve

2.42, no. 86, s.v. 'Avtiydvn; cf. 2.222 and 2.394. See further
“Chapter 3: Krateros. '

99 Philobasileus: Plut. Alex. 47.10; Diod. 17.114.2; cf. Curt. 6.8.2.

100 p.dian, op. cit., 331.
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him, and Philotas himself was, in many ways, the author of
his own misfortune.

Philotas' activities at the time of Pixodaros-affair will
have earned him the enmity of many  of Alexander's friends. But
he was arrogaﬁt as well. The prestigious command that he held
was coveted by the younger commanders, who through their con-
nexions with Alexander hoped for greater power. Their envy
and the obvious short-comings of Philotas' personality (Themistios
uses him as an exemplum of aﬁ%déeua)lOI gave rise to a ''conspiracy"
against him. The situation is ironic. While Parmenion, through
his rejection of the party of Attalos - and this will include
the arrest of Alexandros &f Lynkestis - and his loyalty, had won
the goodwill of Alexander, his son, Philotas, through his own folly
and unpopularity, was to bring on their downfall. Opposition was
to come from another quarter. When the news of Dimnos' conspiracy
broke, the cards were stacked against Philotas; his licence in
speech and the suspicion of earlier treason made his complicity
in the affair all the more credible. It appears that Philotas
himself did not fully understand his own predicament at the time
when the events of the Philotas-affair began to unfold. Certainly
his foolish disregard of his father's advice,102 his arrogance, and
his general unpopularity made his ultimate deposition only a matter

of time. His political enemies, who had long before begun to work

101 Themistios, loe. eit. n.92,

102 p1ut. 4lex. 48.3: Vvmo¢lav elye noal 99¥dvov, dote nal NMapueviwvd

s ? ~ - 9 Id ~ ’ ’
TOT €ELTELVY MPOS QUTOV, K) oL, XELPWVY LlOL{ YLVOU.
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for his elimination, seized the opportunity presented by the

news of Dimnos' conspiracy. Deep-rooted animosities manifested

themselves in the form of vigorous prosecution and;;in the face

of adversity, Parmenion, through whose influence Philotas had

escaped an earlier charge of treason, was not there to help.him.
When Philotas was confronted with the charge of complicity

in the Dimnos-affair, he replied that he had not passed on the

information because he had not taken it seriously, a peculiar

attitude in a Court where intrigues were common and always potentially

dangerous. At another time Parmenion's mere presence might have

commuted theccharge from treason to negligence. And yet it appears

that Alexander was still willing to pardon Philotas on the very

ground that the crime had, in fact, been one of negligence.lO

But at this point his political enemies intervened.

Alexander's young commanders, Krateros, Hephaistion, Leon-
natos, Perdikkas and Koinos, saw the implication of Philotas in
the conspiracy as the perfect opportunity for;securing his elimin-
ation.104 Krateros, who had earlier investigéted'Philotas' |
activities, now led the assault. He became tﬂe spokesman of this
hostile faction, and his words will represent the thinking of his
associates. Alexander ought to have consulted them on this matter;

he said. Philotas would continue to plot against him, but Alexander

103 Curt. 6.7.32ff.

104 Curt. 6.8.4: Non aliam premendi inimici occasionem aptiorem
futuram ratus (sc. Craterus)....
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could not excuse Philotas time after time. Nor would Philotas
be mellowed by his kindness. Alexander must guard himself against
the enemy Within.lo5 All Philotas' enemies were convinced that
he was involved in the Dimmos-conspiracy, or at least so they said;
and now they urged that Philotas should be tortured.106 When
Alexander allowed himself to be persuaded that Philotas must be
removed he was not acting entirely against his will. Schachermeyr
is quite right to point out that the drastic steps that were taken
after Philotas' arrest need not have been taken.107 But, had
Alexander not been strongly influenced by his group of companions,
he might well have been content to take less stringent measures
and allow the house of Parmenion to lapse into the state.of ob-
scurity for which it was destined.l

Philotas, at any rate, knew who his enemies were when the
critical moment came. He pronounced that the bitterness of his
enemies had overcome Alexander's goodwill (vietit...bonitatem tuam,
rex, inimicorum meorum acerbitas: Curt. 6.8.22). And Curtius makes
it clear who these inimici were: Secunda deinde vigilia, luminibus
extinetis, cum paucis in regiam coeunt Hephaestio et Craterus et

Coenus et Erigyius, hi ex amicis, ex armigeris autem Perdiccas et

Leonnatus (6.8.17). These gained most from Philotas' execution,

105 core. 6.8.9.

106 Curt. 6.8.15.

107 Schachermeyr, Alexander der Grosse 334-335.

108 . -
One cannot over-emphasise the state of decline of the house of
Parmenion already before the Philotas—affair.
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especially Krateros and Hephaistion, the former being most
vigorous‘in arousing Alexander's hostility toward Philotas,
the latter the most vehement of his tormentors.109 They
had all hated Philotas for a long time; Plutarch (Alex. 49.8)
calls them toUg mdlau uuooOvtag adTtédv. But since Hephatstion
and Krateros had the most influence with Alexander, and emerged
as the chief beneficiaries of the affair, we may justly consider
them the chief enemies of Philotas. What parts Perdikkas,
Leonnatos and Erigyios played in destroying Philotas, we cannot
say; nor are their benefits as immediately obvious.

Krateros' opposition to Philotas can be easily understood;
he was loyal and ambitious, and in both respects he proved a
natural enemy of Philotas. From the time of the epiboule in
Egypt, he appears to have actively opposed Philotas. Hephaistion,
on the other hand, made use of a more subtle power, his personal
influence with Alexander. H#$ relationship with Alexander, which
grew more intimate as the campaign progressed, made him a rather
sinister figure; this I shall demonstrate in my discussion of him.
Certainly his unprecedented rise after Philétas' ekecution is very
suspicious.

Two other individuals exemplify the opportunism for which
Macedonian politics are famous, Koinos and Amyntas.: Both stood
to lose more than they‘could gain; But they turned a potentially

disastrous situation to their advantage. In Koinos' case, we

109 Cf. E.D. Carney, Macedonian Aristocracy 124, 127.
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cannot be sure if he was reacting to an emergency, or if he had
merely shifted his loyalties. Koinos was Philotas' brother-in-
law, but he did not support him. It appears that he too plotted
against Philotas. When Philotas came to trial before the Mace-
donian army, Koinos was his most outspoken prosecutor (Coenus,
quamquam Philotae sororem matrimonio secum coniunxerat, tamen
acrius quam quisquam in Philotan invectus est: Curt. 6.9.30).
Koinos would gain from Philotas' ruin, but he also knew that
his family-connexions with him could prove disastrous; Similarly,
Amyntas, son of Andromenes, averted danger by repudiating his re-
lationship with Philotas, who had been his friend.llo

When Alexander personally called for the death-penalty be- -
fore the Macedonian army, the enemies of Philotas won the'day;
Their efforts secured for them commands of major importance;
positions that were to bring them into conflict with one another
shortly afterward; for the success of their conspiracy against
Philotas only helped to encourage further rivalry. Parmenion was
eliminated in fearful haste, a '"regrettable neceSSity";lll in
the denouement of the affair, Aleﬁandros of Lynkestis perished
and Demetrios the Bodyguard, suspected of complicity; was replaced

by Ptolemy, son of Lagos.112 The "old-Macedonian' attitudes were

110 Curt. 7.1.18£ff.; see F. Helmreich, Die Reden beti Curtius, Rhetorische

Studien 14, Paderborn, 1927, 168-183; F. Granier, Die makedonische
Heeresversammlung 42-46; W. Heckel, -GRBS 16 (1975) 393-398: the
regius praetor of Curtius (Berve no. 65) is the son of Andromenes.

111 Badian, TAPA 91 (1960) 332, paraphrasing Tarn.

112 Arr. 3.27.5.
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no longer strongly represented in the higher ranks, for the
commanders were now largely companions of Alexander, or at least
men of his temperament. But the old-fashioned element continued
to exist in the army; these Alexander suppressed by the formation
of a disciplinary squadron after the Philotas-affair, by means of the
psychological effects of the Kleites-affair. Yet mutinies at the
Hyphasis and at Opis reminded Alexander that friction between the
old and the new was very real.113

As for Alexander's new strong-men, they form a curious group.
They are a group with exceptional abilities and ambitioms, coupled
with certain vices and deficiencies. They belong to the short-lived
generation of Alexander, for they did not outlive him by more than
two years. It was left to lesser lights to build the Hellenistic
kingdoms, while Alexander's closest friends and most brilliant
commanders were the victims of the initial succession-struggle.
During their lifetimes they were, to a great extent, hidden from
view by the shadow of the great man. In this study, I shed some

new light on four of them: Hephaistion, Leonnatos, Krateros, Perdikkas.

113 | . . o , -
13 See E.D. Carney, Macedonign Aristocracy, passim.
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Chapter 1

HEPHAISTION: ommium amicorum carissimusl

In October of 324 B.C. Hephaistion died at Ekbatana of a
fever aggravated by immoderétion in food and drink.2 He ended
his life the dearest of Alexander's friends, the most influential
man in the newly-won empire. For Alexander himself, the untimely
death triggered an almost boundless display of grief, reminiscent,
as he was doubtless aware, of Achilles' sorrow at the fate of
Patroklos. Whatever the source of the parallel of Patroklos and
Hephaistion, and the claim tﬁat Alexander consciously emulated
Achilles, who had been his hero éu nduédg,B there is no reason to
doubt that the grief was genuine. The accounts of Alexander's

reaction to Hephaistion's death were many and varied, as Arrian

1 Curt. 3.12.15. The basic works are G. Plaumann, RE VIII.1 (1912)
291-296, s.v. "Hephaistion (3)'"; Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 170-171;
Berve 2.169-175, no. 357, s.v. "HgaiotCwv, to which T suggest the.
following revisions: on p.169 read Justin 12.12.11 instead of XII,
12,1 (the same misprint occurs on p.174); p.169, n.3, read Diog.
Laert. 5.1.27 for V,1,12; on p.172 add Diod. 17.96.1; p.173 add
Curt. 9.10.6; p.173 refers to Arr. VII,3,2. This should direct
the reader to Arr. 7.12.7, where an inopportune lacuna occurs. P.
174 implies that the reading of Justin 12.12.12 is 10,000 talents;
it is duddecim milium talentum. 1 am unable to find a passage that
corresponds to the faulty reference Ps.-Kall. 3.17 (p.1l71, n.2).
Berve also omits Pliny's (WH 34.64) mention of a Lysippean statue
of Hephaistion. See also Berve's brief discussion in 1.81-84: ''C)
Die grossen Helfer Alexanders"; for Hephaistion in Arrian-Ptolémy
see Kornemann, Die Alexandergeschichte 242-243; see also Schacher-
meyr, Alexander der Grosse 511-515 and passim; cf. Alexander in
Babylon 31-37.

Arr, 7.14.1; Plut. Alex. 72; Diod. 17.110.8; Poly. 4.3.31; Beloch
III2 2,321-322.

3 Arr. 7.14.4,
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tells us, and in each case strongly prejudiced by the phthonos

or eunoila that each author felt for Hephaistion or for Alexander
himself.4 Alexander's actions wére unusual, indeed controversial:
these manifestations of grief were not only typical of the oriental
despot that he had shown increasing signs of becoming,5 but were
clear indications that fthe relationship between Hephaistion and
Alexander was, to use one modern scholar's phrase, "not purely

Platonic."6

Hephaistion, son of Amynter, came from Pella7 and, according
. - . 8
to Curtius (3.12.15), was éducated with Alexander. But, apart
from Curtius' testimony, the tradition that the two were close

friends from boyhood is not substantiated by any reliable source;

In spite of this statement (Arr. 7.14.2), the surviving accounts
of Hephaistion's character and career are surprisingly consistent
and do not reflect a great divergence of opinion.

Cf. Plut. Pelopidas 34.3.
Hamilton, Alexander the Great 31.

Arr. 6.28.4; Ind. 18.3; P. Oxy. 2520, an . epic poem-on- Philip of
Macedon, fr.l, line 15, reads: ] uvowvvrtopog-oXrl.i..Jout[. Lobel's
commentary reads. "If poo could be read, which I.doubt, there would
emerge the possibility of a reference to Amyntor, father of Alexander's
companion, Hephaestion...," Oxyrhynchus Papyri XXX, ed. E. Lobel, London,
Egyptian Exploration Society, Graeco-Roman Mémozrs, No. 44, 1964, 46,

cum ipso. [sc. Alexandro] pariter educatus [est].
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nor can it be traced to a primary author of any worth.9 Al-

most all modern scholars acéept this boyhood relationship,

with the exception of W.W. Tarn, who drew attention to Plutarch's
(Alex. 10.4) failure to mention Hephaistion among the list of
friends who were exiled from Philip's Court in consequence of
Alexander's intrigues with the Karian Pixodaros.lO Tarn also
rejected, on the ground that it was a Adyog, Arrian's (1.12.1)
remark that Hephaistion crowned the tomb of Patroklos at Ilion,
often interpreted as evidence for a long-standing intimate

friendship between Alexander and Hephaistion, which was common

knowledge already at the time of the crossing into Asia.ll As

? Ps.-Kall., 1.18 and Jul. Val. 1.10 relate that Alexander and Hephaistion
sailed to Olympia together as adolescents; Diog. Laert. 5.1.27 mentions
letters from Aristotle to Hephaistion. P. Oxy. 2520, were it complete,
might provide valuable information (see n.7 supra).

10 Tarn 2.57. The passage is considered by Badian, "The Death of Par-

menio," TAPA 91 (1960) 327, as significant for Philotas' position

at the time of Alexander's exile ("...he clearly placed good re-
lations with the king above excessive loyalty to a discredited crown
prince"). Arr. 3.6.5 adds Laomedon, the brother of Erigyios, but also
omits Hephaistion (and Philotas). Those who accept the boyhood re-
lationship as a matter of faith assume that both Alexander and Hephai-
stion were educated by Aristotle (as Curt. 3.12.15 and Diog. Laert.
5.1.27 imply); so Berve 2.169; and recently R.D. Milns 23; Fox 56;
Green 553 but against the view that Aristotle was Alexander's Gchief
preceptor see A.H. Chroust, Aristotle, Notre Dame, Indiana, 1973,
1.125-132, and notes on pp.358-364.

1 Cf. Ailian, VH 12,7. R. Lane Fox (113) serves as an excellent example:

"Already the two were intimate, Achilles and Patroclus even to those
around them; the comparison would remain to the .end of their days and

is proof [my emphasis] of their life as lovers....'" More credible is
the.generally overlooked work of B. Perrin ("Genesis and Growth of an
Alexander-myth," TAPA 26 [1895] 56568), where it is pointed out that
"the romantic attachment in which the two friends were delighted to

pose as Achilles and Patroklos evidently dates from the last years of
this period [Z.e., after Gaugamela]. But romantic tradition confidently,
and in a very telling way, transposes this relatlonshlp to the earller
perlods (58). -
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political propaganda Alexander's visit to the site of Troy will
have had great appeal for the Gree# city-states; one thinks of
Agesilaos' abortive sacrifice at Aulis.12 But, if Alexander made
use of the incident to promote his Panhellenic crusade, he did so
through his official historian, Kallisthenes, and Kallisthenes,
itaappears, did not make Hephaistion the new Patroklos.13 Tarn's
objections were not well received; they do reveal a need to re-—
examine the problem,

Tarn drew attention to the work of a certain Choirilos of
Iasos, who accompanied Alexander on the expedition and recorded
his achievements in the form of an epic poem, in which Alexander
appeared as Achilles.14 Tarn has argued convincingly that the en-

, . . . 1
tire portrait of the Achillean Alexander derives from the poetasters, >

12 Xen. Hell. 3.4.3; Plut. A4ges. 6.6-11., Cf. G.L. Cawkwell, "Agesilaus

and Sparta,” CQ n.s...26 (1976) 66-67: "Agesilaus sought, by sacri-
ficing at Aulis as Agamemnon had done..., to give the campaign a
grandiose significance, to open as it were a new chapter in the

great conflict of East and West." Cf. also J. Rehork, "Homer,
Herodot und Alexander," Beitrlge zur alten Geschichte und deren
Nachleben, Festschrift fllr Franz Altheim zum 6.10.1968, Berlin,

1969, 257-258; G. Dobesch, "Alexander der Grosse und der korinthische
Bund," Grazer BeitrHdge 3 (1975) 88, n.34.

13 For Kallisthenes see Jacoby, FGrHist TIIB, no. 124; also IID 411-432;

Pearson, LHA 22-49; on the propaganda-value see W.K. Prentice,
"Callisthenes, The Original Historian of Alexander," TAPA 54 (1923)
74-85; T.S. Brown, "Callisthenes and Alexander," AJP 70 (1949) 233-
234 = Griffith, Main Problems 37-38.

14 FGrHist 153 Fl0a = Porphyrios, Horat. AP 357; cf. Berve 2.408-409,

no. 829, s.v. XoCpilog; Crusius, RE III.2 (1899) 2361-2363, s.v.
"Choirilos (5)"; Tarn 2.57-58.

15 rarn 2.55-62 and 265-270.
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and it is not impossible that this fourth-century Eumolpos,

whom Porphyrios labelled poeta pessimus,16 and his kind were
responsible for the parallel Hephaistion-Patroklos. There can

be notthought of Alexander consciously emulating Achilles at

this point.:17 Arrian's deog very likely Belongs to tﬁe later
tradition, which drew the parallel of Patroklos and Hephaistion

from the circumstances of the latter's death. Certainly, Alexander's
extravagant grief on that occasion must have been more striking in
its éimilarity to events described in the Iliad than any other aspect
of his (or Hephaistion's)cecareer. Alexander may well have been con-
scious of his role as Achilles when Hephaistion died - and this need
not imply insincerity on his part -, but in 334 neither Alexander nor
his official historian regarded Hephaistion as Patroklos; this parallel
belongs to a later romantic tradition.18

Hephaistion's activities before his wounding at Gaugamela are

® Pocta pessimus fuit Choerilus, qui Alexandrum secutus opera
etus descripsit...cul Alexander dixisse fertur, multum malle
se Thersiten iam Homeri esse quam Choerili Achillen; see n.l4
supra.

17 B. Perrin, op. cit.; but see A.R. Anderson, "Heracles and his

Successors," HSCP 39 (1928) 13-14, who thinks that Alexander

began his expedition with Achilles as his hero, but that he

soon converted to Herakles. In the light of the evidence and

the strong romantic elements, I suspect that Alexander's emulation

of Achilles is fictitious, though he did consciously imitate Herakles.

18 Perrin, op.ceit., 59-60.
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111 attested and derive primarily from the vulgate.19 We are

not told when he became somatophylax, but it appears that he

replaced the obscure, but not unimportant, Ptolemaios (Berve,

no.

672), who died at Halikarnassos in the first year of the

campaign (see Appendix 1). If this is true, then his early

activities are somewhat easier to explain. Loukian provides

the first reference to Hephaistion after Arrian's Adyog; he

. X s . 20
claims as his source a letter of Eumenes of Kardia to Antipatros.

According to this, Hephaistion gave Alexander an auspicious

(though embarrassing for Hephaistion) greeting on the morning

of

the battle of Issos. He appears next, on the day after the

battle, in one of the most popular anecdotes about Alexander.21

Among the captives taken after the Persian disaster at Issos

were the wife and mother of Dareies III. Hearing that they mourned

. . 22 .
Dareios as already dead, Alexander sent to them Leonnatos, who in-

19

20

21

22

The evidence of Ps.-Kall. and Jul. Valarl.1l0 can carry little
wéight, nor is there any way to determine  the truth about an

alleged relationship between Hephaistionrand Aristotle (Diog.

Laert. 5.1.27). The source of Curt. 3.12.15 is possibly Kleit-
archos; Diod. 17.114.1, 3 mentions Alexander's love for Hephaistion
and Olympias' jealousy; cf. Loukian, dial. mort. 12.4, where Philip
is said to disapprove of Alexander's devotion to Hephaistion; cf.
also Athen. 10.435A where Alexander's indifference to women prompted
Olympias and Philip to send the Thessalian courtesan Kallixeina to
their son; see Berve 2.190-191, no. 406, s.v. KaAluEelvo, and Berve
1.10; Plut. Alex. 28.3 mentions a gift of little fishes from Alexander
to Hephaistion; he read Alexander's letters from Olympias and shared
his secrets: Plut. Alex. 39.5; apophth. Al. 14 = Mor. 180D; de fort.
Al. 1.1 = Mor. 332F), but these may refer to late in the campaign.

Loukian, Pro Lepsu 8.

Arr.-2,12,6-7; Diod. 17.37.5; 114,2; Curt. 3.12.15ff.; Val. Max. 4.7
ext 2; Itiner. 37; Suda s.v. ‘Hearotlwv.

Arr.2.12.5; Curt. 3.12.7-12; Diod. 17.37.3; Plut. Alex. 21.2,
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formed them that Dareies had in fact escaped from_the battlefield

of Issos and that Alexander would see to their own safety. On

the folloﬁing morning, Alexander, accordingly, went to visit the
Persian women, taking with him Hephaistion, Wwho was taller and

more striking in appearance than Alexander himself.23 The Queen-
mother, mistaking Hephaistion for Alexander, prostrated herself

in the Persian manner of showing reverence (mpooudvnoig). Informed

of the error, she feared Alexander's displeasure, but he allayed

her fears and, indicating Hephaistion, remarked: "he too is Alexander.”
The anecdote serves two purposes: to show the magnanimity of Alexander,
the great conqueror who allowed even the defeated enemy to retain his
former dignity, and to demonstrate that the bond of friendship between

the two was so strong that Alexander publicly acknowledged”Hephaistion

23 Bt sicut aetate par erat regi, ita corporis habitu praestabat

(Curt. 3.12.1); cf. statura et forma praestabat (Val. Max. 4.7
ext 2); and 8tL uelZwv égdvn éuetvog (Arr. 2.12.6). The scene

is depicted in a painting of Veronese at the National Gallery,
Londen; Similar references to Hephaistion's youthful appearance .
are made by Curtius (7.9.19) and Justin (12.12,11). Accofding

to Pliny (NH 34.64), Lysippos (or, as some said, Polykileitos

[the younger]) produced a statue of Hephaistion; see H. Rackham's
note in Pliny: Natural History, Loeb Classical Library, Jeidb 9,
Cambridge, Mass., 1938, 174, note b; cf., Franklin P. Johnson,
Lysippos, Durham, North Carolina, 1927, 25, 230; K. Gebauer,
"Alexanderbildnis und Alexandertypus (D19)," Mitteilungen des
deutschen archologischen Instituts (Athenische Abteilung) 63-

64 (1938-1939) 67-69, believes he can identify this. He was also
portrayed in ABtion's painting of the marriage of Alexander and
Rhoxane, where he was the best man (vvugaywyds), standing te
Alexander's right and holding a torch; the description given by
Loukian (48tion 5) is followed closely by the painting on the
north wall of the Farnesina in Rome by "Il Sodoma'; see R.H.
Hobart Cust, Giovanni Antonio Bazzi, The Man and the Painter,
1477-1549, London, 1906, 135-147; see also A. Hayum, Giovanmni
Antonio Bazai - "Il Sodoma," Diss. Harvard, 1968, publ. New York,
1976, 30ff. and 74-75.
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as his alter ego.2

The story that Alexander bestowed upon Hephaistion the
singular honour of choosing a king for the Sidonians also de-
rives from the vulgate. The details of the story need not be
repeated,25 for it suffices to say that in this instance Alexander,
apparently motivated by his affection for Hephaistion, granted him
the honour of creating a king.

From Tyre Hephaistion conducted the fleet to Gaza, a re-
latively minor command now that Alexander controlled the seas.
But perhaps the most important reference to Hephaistion's early
activities dates to the year 331, when Alexander had moved outoof
Egypt. The lexicographer Harpokration quotes the historian Marsyas
of Pella27 as saying that a young man of Samian or Plataian origin

(so Diy110828) was sent by Demosthenes to Alexander for the purpose

24 nat ydp nol odtog ~AA€EavSpds €oTuv (Diod. 17.37.6; cf. Val.

Max, 4.7.ext 2; Arr. 2.12.7; Suda s.v. ‘HepaivotCwv; Curt. 3.12.17).
Schachermeyr, Alexander der Grosse 512, takes this one step fur-
ther and sees Alexander as continually striving to bestow honours
upon Hephaistion. '"Alexander, der in seiner Neigung flir Hephaistion
niemals genug zu tun glaubte...."

25 Curt. 4.1.15-25; Plut. Mor. 340C-D; Diod. 17.47ff., who incorrectly

says it happened at Tyre. See Berve 2.3, no. 1, s.v. 'ABSoAdvuuos;
cf. D. Sohlberg, "Zu Kleitarch," Historia 21 (1972) 758-759, with
additional literature.

26 Curt. 4.5.10. This must be the Phoenician and Kypriot fleet, which

went over to Alexander after Issos. The Greek contingents were still
in the north with Amphoteros and Hegelochos. See H. Hauben, "The Ex-
pansion of Macedonian Sea-Power under Alexander the Great," Ane. Soc.
7 (1976) 82ff.

27 .
FGrHist 135 F2 = Harpokration p.43.8, s.v. 'ApLotluwv.

28 peppist 73 F2.



49

of effecting a reconciliation. The young man, Aristion,29 gained
access to Alexander through Hephaistion. The arrival is dated by
an Athenian embassy, which reported his presence at Alexander's
Court, to the year 331; Aischines appears to corroborate Marsyas®
testimony, but it is possible that Marsyas used Aischines as one
of his sources.30 This should not detract from Marsyas' evidence,
however, for he proves, upon close examination, to have been a

. . 31 . . .
historian of some worth, And it was Marsyas, not Aischines, who

29 See Berve 2.63, no. 120, s.v. “Aprotlwv; J. Kirchner, RE II.1

(1895) 900, s.v. "Aristion (12)."

30 Note the close similarity between Aischines, In Ctesiphontem

160 and 162, and Marsyas, FGrHist 135 F2, 3, which are pre-
served by Harpokration.

3L por Marsyas see F. Ritschl, De Marsyis rerum scriptoribus,

Breslau, 1836, later published under the same title as no.

XVI of Opuscula Philologica, vol. 1, Leipzig, 1866, 449-470;

C. Miller, Fragmenta Seriptorum de rebus Alexandri Magni, ap-
pended to Fr. Dibner's edition of Arrianus, Paris, 1846, 40-

46; H. Sauppe, "Die neuen Bruchstlicke des Hyper#dés," Philol.

3 (1848) 647, for the date of Aristion's mission; Fr. Kampe,
"Jahresberichte Uber griechische Historiker," Philol. 4 (1849)
130-134; A. Hecker, "Epistola Critica," Philol. 5 (1850) 452;

R. Stiehle, "Zu den Fragmenten der griechischen Historiker,"
Philol. 9 (1854) 465-466; H. Diels and W. Schubart, Didymos:
Kommentar zu Demosthenes (Papyrus 9780), Berliner Klassiker-
texte I, Berlin, 1904; F. StHhelin, "Die griechischen Historiker-
fragmente bei Didymos," KlZo 5 (1905) 150-151; O. Hoffmann, Die
Makedonen 66, 90-92, 210 and passim; P. Foucart, "Etude sur
Didymos," Mem. de l'acad. des Inscript. et Belles-Lettres 38
(1909) 138-145; Berve 2.247-248, no. 489, s.v. Mopodag; Jacoby,
FGrHist IIB, no. 135 and IID 480-484; R. Laqueur, RE XIV.2 (1930)
1995-1999, s.v. "Marsyas (8-9)"; C.A. Robinson Jr. (ed.),

The History of Alexander the Great, vol. 1 (Brown University
Studies XVI), Providence, R.I., 1953, 166-171, for a translation
of the fragments; Pearson, LHA 253-254,
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provided the additional information that Demosthenes sent Aristion
to Hephaistion in particular. As the brother of Antigonos Monophthalmos
and of Pellaian origin, Marsyas very likely knew Hephaistion and was
in a position to assess his relationship with Alexander; Marsyas was
himself, according to the Suda, a syntrophos of Alexander. 32 But
again this is not conclusive evidence for Alexander's devotion to
Hephaistion, who may merely have been acting in his capacity as
somatophylax.33
Certainly,~ontthe basis of the existing evidence,wwe shall never
know the truth about the immortal friendship. We know simply that it
came about, undoubtedly at an early date. Tarn's major objection,
that Plutarch's list of companions omitted to mention Hephaistion,
is not in itself damning. The list is also given by Arrian (3.6.5)
and his source appears to be Ptolemy, whose failure to give his
political ri¥als just representation in his account is generally
acknowledged By scholars.34 But Ptolemy had nothing to fear from
Hephaistion and there is no trace of friction between the two while
Hephaistion lived. Yet it is curious that Ptolemy consistently failed

to mention Hephaistion's rank as somatophylax (a rank that he certainly

2 . . R
3 Suda s.v. Moapoldag. There are two other references to his life:

Plut. Mor. 182C mentions a legal-dispute in which he was involved
(we do not know of what sort, or of the outcome) and Diod. 20.50.
4 says he held a naval command in the battle at Salamis (Kypros).

33 Although Hephaistion may have brought Aristdon to Alexander,

Goldstein, The Letters of Demosthenes, 1968, 43, n.33, must be
correct to reject Badian's proposal that he was Demosthenes'
"powerful protector at Court," which is surely to read too much
into one fragment of Marsyas (Badian, "Harpalus," JHS 81 [1961]
34 = Griffith, Main Problems 224).

34 See n.36 below.
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held), while in no:way detracting from Hephaistion's im.portance.35
With Perdikkas Ptolemy the historian was ruthless; this has been
amply demonstrated by Schwahn and Errington.36 Nor is there any
mention 6f the heroism of Aristonous in India, though Ptolemy claims
to have been absent when the battle against the Malloi took place
(see Appendix 1). But, if Ptolemy was deliberately silent about

the role of Hephaistion - and of the lesser somatophylakes, Peithon,
Aristonous, Lysimachos -, then the account of the historian-king,

in Wwhom Arrian placed so much faith,’37 becomes very sinister indeed.
Ptolemy named Nearchos, Erigyios, Laomedon, Harpalos and himself as
those who were exiled "when Philip dishonoured Olym.pias."v38 The
first three were Greeks, and there was a limit to what they could
expect to accomplishein a world dominated by the Macedonian nobility;

we need rthink only of the unspectacular career of Eumenes under Alexander.39

35 See R.M. Errington, "Bias in Ptolemy's History of Alexander," C@ n.s..

19 (1969) 237-238; H. Strasburger, Ptolemaios und Alexander, Leipzig,
1934, 51.

36 W. Schwahn, '"Die Nachfolge Alexanders des Grossen," KlZo 23.(1930)

211-238; Errington, op. cit., 233-242; Strasburger, op. cit., 47,
52-54 does not develop the idea fully.

37 Arr. Anab. proem. 2.

38 Plut. Alex. 10.4 places the exile after the Pixodaros-affair, which

is probably more accurate, Hamilton, PA 27 is probably right to assume
that Arrian is giving "a general indication of time, sufficient for his
purpose"; Schaefer's (Demosthenes und seine Zeit II1.65-66, n.2) pre-
ference for Arrian is not compélling.

39 See Berve 2,156-158, no. 317, s.v. EOuévng; cf. Vezin, Eumenes von

Kardia 12-17; H.D. Westlake, "Eumenes of Cardia," Essays on the

Greek Historians and Greek History, London, 1969, 319-321, believes
that the claim (which he thinks derives from Hieronymos) that Eumenes
suffered a disadvantage by being Greek is unjustified. His arguments
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For Harpalos Ptolemy appears to have had some compassion: the
details of his first flight are Vague;40 the account of his
famous defection to Athens has, unfortunately, been devoured
by an inopportune lacuna in the text of Arrian.41 Whether
Hephaistion was deliberately omitted from the list of Alexander's
friends cammot be determined. It should be added, however, that
Philip did not exile aqll Alexander's friends.

It becomes clear that there is no firm evidence for the view
that Hephaistion and Alexander were intimate as youths (though this
does not mean that they were not); Tarn was at least right in questioning
the value of the evidence on which this assumption was based. And,
while it seems impossible - indeed foolish - to deny that this friend-
ship developed at an early date, it is certain that the intensity
of this friendship was embellished by the romantic tradition, which
transposed theidevotion that the two shared in their last years to

the early years of the campaign.

are unconvincing, for he uses the examples of Alexander's

Greek friends, and their careers show, quite clearly, that,

in spite of their connexions with Alexander, they could not
attain high office; cf. Badian, TAPA 91 (1960) 337; 'Nearchus
the Cretan," YCS 24 (1975) 147-170. Against Westlakedls view
that Lysimachos was a Greek who rose to power (320) see Huner-
wadel, Forschungen zur Geschichte KBnigs Lysimachos von Thrakien,
Diss., ZUrich, 1910, 13.

40 Arr. 3.6.4-7. See Berve 2.75-80, no. 143, s.v. “Apmodog, esp.

p.76; Badian, "The First Flight of Harpalus," Historia 9 (1960)
245-246; against this W, Heckel, "The Flight of Harpales and
Tauriskos,'" CP 72 (1977) 133-135.

41 Arr., 7.12.7 breaks off with an account of Antipatros' troubles

with Olympias and resumes with Hephaistion's quarrels with Eumenes.
But at this point Photios' epitome of the Anabasis (91, p.68b, .20)
reads: év To¥ty nal “Aprnolog BacLiuxd AaBdv fxeto pedywv xpfuata.
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IT

A review of Hephaistion's career after the battle at
Gaugamela42 illuminates his debt to his relationship with
Alexander. The events of the Philotas-affair and afterward
show that he was not only the chief beneficiary of Alexander's
goodwill, but also the skilful manipulator of the King's power
of command.

Hephaistion's was, in fact, an unusual career: until the

1

death of Philotas, he held no major military command;43 the
majority of his commands were of a predominantly non-military

nature, and those that did involve military skill were often

L

’ -
conducted in cooperation with a more experienced commander;’
and, as it becomes apparent, he owed his promotion more to his

relationship with Alexander than to his own ability.44 It is

42 He was wounded in the armyat Gaugamela: Arr. 3.15.2; Diod. 17.61.3;

Curtius 4.16.32. For the problem involving t@v cwuatoguAiduwyv nyoduevog
see Appendix 1.

43 Polyainos 4.3.27 records that Hephaistion and Philotas (in this case

apparently the son of Parmenion) commanded the forces directly opposed
to Ariobarzanes (though Polyainos incorrectly has Phrasaortes [see
Berve 2.60-61, 400, nos. 115, 813, s.vv.  AptoBopidvng, %pacadptngl),
while Alexander led the encircling forces at the Persian Gates. But
both Arrian (3.18.4, 7-8) and Curtius (5.4.14-15, 29) relate that
Krateros commanded the main forcej; Diod. 17.68 does not understand

the strategy (see further *Chapter 3: Krateros™). No other source
mentions Hephaistion in this context, and his appearance with Philotas
looks very suspicious. Philotas, son of Parmenion, does not appear

to have been left behind with the main force. Arr. 3.18.6 is surely
speaking of the taxiarch (Berve, no. 803); Curt. 5.4.20, 30 confuses
him with the cavalry-officer; on his identity see R.,D., Milns, "Alexander's
Seventh Phalanx Battalion," GRBS 7 (1966) 159-160; against this A.B.
Bosworth, "AZGETAIPOI" CQ n.s, 23 (1973) 252-253.

b4 So C.B. Welles, Alexander and the Hellenistic World 47; against

Hamilton, PA 145; Berve 2.173; Kornemann, Die Alexandergeschichte 242.
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the last of these points that merits first consideration, for
nowhere is Hephaistion's influence more evident than in the
Philotas~affair.

The intricacies of the affair I have already discussed in
the Introduction: Dimnos' plot was the catalyst that allowed
Alexander's younger commanders to work for the elimination of
Philotas. And surely it would be nafve to suppose that his
destruction and the sudden unprecedented rise of Hephaistion were
in no way related. In part, Philotas had himself to blame: he
was arrogant. He disparaged the achievements of Alexander, claiming
that the Macedonian victories were the work of Parmenion; no less
a Maceddnian than Kleitos, he did not make light of his own con-
tribution. But his overbearing and impulsive nature was inclined
to arouse the hostility not so much of Alexander as of his younger
Companions. The Hetairoi represented the Macedonian nobility,
from whom the King drew his generals and governors, and Alexander's
closest associates belonged to this body; they were young and.eager
for promotion, and consequently jealous of another's success,
Thus, while success came easily to the son of Philip's general,
it was not without odium. Alexander's friends had no love for
Parmenion's son; Plutarch says they had long hated Philotas (Alex.

49.8). Their hostility can be traced, certainly, to Philotas'

45 For the Hetairoi see Tarn 2.135ff.; Berve 1.30-37; G. Plaumann,

RE VITI.2 (1913) 1374-1380, s.v. ‘Etolpot; G.S. Stagakis, "Obze
servations on the ‘EtaCpot of Alexander the Great," Ancient
Macedonia, Thessaloniki, 1970, 86-102.
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first rumblings of discontent in Egypt,4§ although Philotas'
role in the Pixodaros-affair may have been the cause of con-
siderable unpopularity.47 At the time of the Egyptian epi~
boule, Parmenion's influence had saved Philotas from charges

of treason, but Parmenion's power was waning and his retirement
became more and more imminent with each success of the ambitious
Krateros.48 At the time of Dimmos' plot, Philotas was at the

mercy of his political enemies: his father was at Ekbatana, his

[}

brothers were dead, he was isolated within the Macedonian army.
Command of the Companions was urddoubtedly a coveted position, and
it is not surprising that Hephaistion, who was by now the first
among Alexander's friends, should cherish the hope of becomiiig
his foremost commander; and no unit was used more effectively
after Gaugamela than the Macedonian cavalry. The record of

Hephaistion's dealings with other individuals shows that he was

4 pilut. Alewx. 48.3-49.2; Mor. 339D-F; Arr. 3.26.1.

47 Plut. Alex. 10.3. Philip IT used Philotas as an example of good

conduct in a manner interided to shame Alexander. Hamilton (PA
26, repeating his views of "Alexander's Early Life," G & R 12
[1965] 121, with n.4) may be correct, however, to take moapoaraBdv
to mean ''taking as witness' and to assume that Philotas reported
Alexander's intrigues with Pixodaros to Philip. 1In either case,
Philotas' role was not one that would win Alexander's friendship.
Plutarch's (Mor. 339F) claim that Alexander had hated Philotas
for seven years thus deserves setrious consideration (so Hamilton,
PA 134); those who were exiled on Philotas' account (if he did in
fact betray their dealings with Pixodaros) will have hated him
even more.

48 See ‘Chapter 3: Krateros. '

49 .
Parmenion sent to Ekbatana: Arr. 3.19.7; Hektor's death: Curt.

4,8.7-9; Nikanor's death: Arr. 3.25.4; Curt. 6.6.18-19,
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a particulary quarrelsome nature and not above maligning

others to Alexander, even when this afforded no obvious personal

gain.51 Philotas was to be the first victim of Hephaistion's

animosity.

But neither Hephaistion's hatred of Philotas nor§his:in—

fluence with Alexander was sufficient in itself to dislodge

Philotas from his command; he was a high-ranking officer, descended

from a noble Macedonian family. Nor had Parmenion failed to win

considerable popularity and a large following in the army. Yet

Philotas' foolish handling of the news of Dimnos' conspiracy

gave his political adversaries the perfect opportunity to secure

his elimination. That Philotas' guilt amounted in fact to little

more than negligence seems virtually certain. Alexander, it appears,

was still favourably disposed toward him, and he might well have

shown clemency a second time had not Philotas' enemies intervened.

50

51

52

Plut. Alex. 47.11-12; Mor. 337A; Arr. 7.13.1; 7.14.9; Plut.
Eumenes 2.1-3. Berve 2.173 aptly describes his behaviour as
""das Behehmen eines verzogenen Kindes." Cf. Badian, ''The
Eunuch Bagoas: A Study in Method," (@ m.s. 8 (1958) 150: "E¥en
the character and intrigues of the sinister Hephaistion are not
illuminated by Arrian-Ptolemy."

Plut. Alex. 55.1: Hephaistion said that Kallisthenes had pro-
mised to do proskynesis but went back on his word. Some scholars
believe that Hephaistion lied "to save his own skin" (so T.S.
Brown, '"Callisthenes and Alexander,”" AJP 70 [1949] 244 = Griffith,
Main Problems 49); cf. Schachermeyr, Alexander der Grosse 384;
Hamilton, PA 153.

Alexander says to Philotas: Faventem habes iudicem, si,qquod ad-
mitti non potuit, saltem negari potest, Curt. 6.7.32. This sug-
gests that Alexander was willing to forgive Philotas, if only he
could deny complicity. Philotas could not absolve himself entirely,
but he did claim that his crime was one of negligence, rather than

of conspiracy. Alexander was tossome extent satisfied (or at least
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As before in Egypt, Krateros was his most vigorous opponent,
and his benefit from the destruction of Philotas and Parmenion
is clear; but he had already superseded Parmenion, and his success
as a commander was based on his ability. What then of Hephaistion's
role, which cannot be passed over lightly? How he influenced
Alexander's thinking in private we cannot say; undoubtedly Alexander
discussed the matter with him, and we may suppose that Hephaistion
was not loathe to speak ill of Phiiotas.53 Certainly Hephaistion
was part of the consilium amicorum, which Alexander called after
his initial meeting with Philotas, when he may still have inclined
toward leniency.54 Curtius portgays Krateros as the chief spokes-
man on this occasion, but Hephaistion was among those who voiced
the opinion that Philotas must have been guilty of participating
in Dimnos' conspiracy (nec ceteri dubitabant, quin coniurationis
indiciun suppressurus non fuisset nisi auctor aut particeps: 6.8.10)
and that he should be forced to reveal the names of his co-conspira-
tors under torture (ommes igitur quaestionem de €o, ut participes
sceleris indicare cogeretur, habendam esse decernunt: 6.8.15). There-

after, Hephaistion comes to the fore. Once it is decided to take

he was temporarily reconciled with Philotas), though Curtius
6.7.35 was in doubt about Alexander's true feelings: haud

facile dixerim credideritne ei rex, an altius iram suppresserit.
Nevertheless, it is clear from 6.7.1ff. that a lengthydenunciation
of Philotas by the generals played no small part in influencing
Alexander's decision.

>3 Plut. Mor.339F claims that Alexander did not confide in Hephaistion

on the matter of Philotas; this is surely incorrect.

>4 See n.52 supra.
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action against Philotas, Hephaistion is especially active. His
name heads the list of those who came to Alexander's tent during
the second watch on the night of Philotas' arrest: cum paucis in
regiam coeunt Hephaestion et Craterus et Coenus et Erigyius, hi
ex amicis, ex armigeris autem Perdiccas et Leomnatus (6.8.17).

In the actual Philotasprozess, the trial before the army,
Hephaistion is not mentioned; Koinos and Amyntas were outspoken,
both eager to repudiate their ties with Philotas.55 There was
alse Alexander, won over by Philotas' enemies. Hephaistion's in-
fluence, we may suspect, was on a personal level, and his popularity
with the army cannot have been great. True to his nature, he re-
appears as the foremost of Philotas' tormentors. The Macedonians
demanded that Philotas be executed by stoning, but Hephaistion and
his associates persuaded that he be tortured first: Hephaestio autem
et Craterus et Coenos tormentis veritatem exprimendam esse dixerunt
(6.11.10). From Curtius' account (6.11.10-18) we gain a picture of
the deep-rooted enmity between Philotas and Krateros - the latter
appears to have been actively campaigning against him since the dis-

affection in Egypt56 -, but we also see an unfavourable side of

> Koinos was Philotas' brother-in-law (Curt. 6.9.30; cf. Arr. 1.24.1;
1.29.4; Dittenberger, Syll. I3 332; see further my Introduction, n.1l).
Amyntas and his brothers had been friends of Philotas (Curt. 7.1.11);
Amyntas himself had been named by Dimnos as a conspirator (Curt.6.7.
15; 11.38; see W. Heckel, "Amyntas, Son of Andromenes," GRBS 16
[1975] 393-398; Badian, ""The Death of Parmenio," TAPA 91 [1960]

334, n.30); Polemon fled from the camp after Philotas' arrest (Arr.
3.27.1-3; Curt. 7.1.10ff.). See also Granier, Die makedonische
Heeresversammlung 42-46; recently R. Lock, "The Macedonian Army
Assembly in the Time of Alexander the Great," CP 72 (1977) 101-102.

26 See ‘Chapter 3: Krateros, '
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Hephaistion; this is corroborated to some extent by the testimony
of Plutarch (4lex. 49.12), who refers to Philotas' tormentors as
toCg mept 1oV Hoarotlwvo. In view of Hephaistion's later dealings
with rivals, and of his obvioué gain from Philotas' downfall, we
must assume that he was a most formidable opponent and no less re-
sponsible for Philotas' demise than Krateros.

One of the blackest chapters in the history of Alexander
closed with the execution of Philotas and, in fearful haste, the
murder of Parmenion. For Hephaistion a new chapter in his career
began with his appointment as hipparch of one-half of the Companions,

a direct consequence of his rele in the Philotas-affair.
IIT

Arrian relates (3.27.4) that, following the execution of Philotas,
the command of the Companion cavalry was divided between Hephaistion
and Kleitos the Black, son of Dropides,57 since Alexander no longer
thought it wise to entrust so important a command to any one persomn.
This may indeed have been the case, but the appointment of Kleitos
had its political and military reasons. The popular view that the
appointment of Kleitos was a counter-balance to the elevation of
unpopular Hephaistion is entirely acceptable; for it was necessary
to placate the "old-line'" Macedonians, who did nottlook favourably

>7 See Berve 2.206-208, no. 427, s.v. Kiettog; W. Kroll, RE XI.1

(1921) 666, s.v. "Kleitos (9)."
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upon the treatment of Parmenion and his son.>58 But the dual
appointment made good military. sense as well. Aleiander‘re—
alised that Hephaistion, whose loyalty could certainly not be
called into question, was not equal to the task of commanding

the entire Companions; nor is it likely that he would have failed
to recognise that the army might resent this appointment, which '
was so obviously based on nepotism.

How this division of the cavalry worked in practice is un-
known, owing to the lamentably vague nature of the evidence. 0f
Kléitos' activities as hipparch, from his appointment to the time
of his death, we know nothing.60 At the time of his death; Kleitos
had been offered the satrapy of Baktria; but it is unlikely that
Alexander appointed him originally with the intention of replacing
him by means of a further révision of the 'cavalry.-61 The sources

are misleading. Two years of warfare separate Kleitos' promotion

>8 For the formation of the ataktoil, a dissident faction that

disapproved of the treatment of Parmenion and Philotas, see
Diod. 17.80.4; Justin 12,5.4ff,; Curt. 7.2.35ff. Cf. Curt.
8.1.52; Arr. 4.14.2.

>9 See Schachermeyr, AZexander der Grosse 363; Fox 311.

60 The poem of Pranichos (Berve, no. 657), if it refers to a historical

incident (so Hamilton, PA 141), such as the defeat at the Polytimetos
River (Arr. 4.3.7; 4.5.2-6.2; Curt. 7.6.24; 7.7.30ff.), cannot mean
that Kleitos took part in the affairs at Marakanda or at the Poly-
timetos, as is suggested by J. Benoist-Méchin, Alexander the Great:
The Meeting of East and West, Mary Ilford tr., New York, 1966, 81-82.

61 See especially P.A. Brunt, "Alexander's Macedénian Cavalry," JHS 83

(1963) 27-46; G.T. Griffith, "A Note on the Hipparchies of Alexander,"
_JHg 83 (1963) 68-76; Berve 1.104-112; Tarn 2.154-167; cf. also Beloch.
GG®3,2,322-352, XXXII "Das Heer Alexanders."
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from his death, yet there is no mention of his participation in
the campaigns from 330 to 328 B.C. Some scholars attribute his
absence to a wound sustained in battle or to illness, though there
is no hint of this in the sources.62 Possibly an explanation #5
to be found in the structure of the extant histories of Alexander:
the Kleitos-episode is related out 0f 1ts historical context by.Plutarch
and Arrian in order that the three great catastrophes (Philotas,
Klteitos, Kallisthenes) may be recorded in a sequence.63 Perhaps
this format can be traced to the primary sources and, if so, these
sources will have begun to conceive of Kleitos as dead, hence omitting
him from their accounts of events in which he must certainly have
taken part.

Hephaistion's own role also requires an explanation. Never
do we hear of his commanding the half of the Companions that had
been assigned to him; in fact, in the year 329, when the cavalry
was Alexander's main striking force in Sogdiana, Artian makes no
mention of Hephaistion,64 while Curtius records only that he was
one of the counsellors who came to Alexander's tent before the
battle with the Skythians at the Iaxartes River.65 During this
year it appears that the cavalry was either directly under Alexander's

command or, ,assin the case of the attempted relief of Marakanda and

Suggested most recently by Fox 311. A previous illness of Kleites
was recorded by Arrian (3.19.8).

3 Kornemann, Die Alexandergeschichte 138, assumes that "die Ver-
koppelung der beiden Katastrophen [Z.e., Kleitos, Kallisthenes]
in der Umgebung Alexanders erst von der Vulgata und ihr folgend
von Arrian vollzogen worden ist."

64 Cf. Berve 2.171.

65 Curt. 7.7.9.
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the battle at the Polytimetos River,66 divided into small de-

tachments under minor commanders.

What we learn of Hephaistion's later career as a cavalry-

officer confirms our suspicions that his promotion to hipparch

was owed more to his friendship with Alexander than to his

military genius.67 In the spiing of 328, Alexander moved out

of his winter—quarters in Baktria, re-crossed the Oxos River and

conducted a "sweep-campaign" against the rebellious Sogdiani.

The forces were divided into five parts, with Hephaistion com-

. 68
manding one contingent, But the project appears to have

accomplished little more than to win back several small fortresses

to which the rebellious natives had fled; the most important action

. . . 69
was fought, in that season, by Krateros against the Massagetai.

66

67

68

69

Arr. 4.5,2-6,2; Curt., 7.7.31ff., for a different version. This
should not lead us to C. Bradford Welles' conclusion (Alexander
and the Hellenistic World 40) that Alexander, fearing powerful
rivals, sent "incompetents' against Spitamenes.

For the fallacy that Hephaistion commanded the somatophylakes,
as Diod. 17.61.3 implies, see Appendix 1. On the significance
of the rank of somatophylax (and similar positions) see Badian's
note, TAPA 91 (1960) 328, n.14. '

Arr. 4.16.2. The other contingents were commanded by Perdikkas,
Ptolemy and Alexander, while Koinos and Artabazos held a.joint
command; Curt. 8.1.1 speaks of three divisions under Alexander,
Hephaistion and Koinos; Curt. 8.1.10 says Artabazos accompanied
Hephaistion. Arr. speaks of stratia, implying that the entire

force was divided into five parts, but a large portion of the army
(the infantry-taxeis of Polyperchon, Attalos, Gorgias, Meleagros

and Krateros, who commanded them, Arr. 4.16.1; 17.1; Curt. 8.1.6)
were in Baktria. The main striking force in Sogdiana was the cavalry.

Krateros against the Massagetai: Arr. 4.16.2-3; Curt. 8.1.6-7; Arr.
4.17.1,
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When the columns reunited at Marakanda in the summer of
328, Hephaistion's functions began to be adapted to suit his
talents. There is no reason to suppose that he had any extra-
ordinary abilities as a general; his previous military record
precludes this, and his later role as a "utility-man" leads to
the same conclusion. His first mission in Sogdiana was to syn-
oecize the local settlements,70 an assignment that was to
guarantee the loyalty of the native population by means of the
establishment of garrisons, while it provided Alexander with a
network of communications in the region. The repeated use that
Alexander made of Hephaistion in this (non-military) capacity -
perhaps these were activities that Hephaistion himself enjoyed -
becomes apparent from this point onward. in fact, it is the
founding of cities, the building of bridges, and the securing
of communications that constitute Hephaistion's major contribution
to Alexander's expedition.71

Apart from the synoecisms in Sogdiana, little else is known
of Hephaistion's actdivities before the army moved into India.
Curtius (8.2.13) tells us that he was responsible for acquiring
provisions for the winter of 328/7; this task Curtius dates to

ten days after Kleitos' murder. The remainder of the campaign,

70 Arr. 4.16.3.

71 . . .
R.D. Milnsl11ll2 credits Hephaistion with bridging the river (in

two places) at Thapsakos, which is interesting in view of his
later activities (e.g., bridging the Indus) but is not documented,
as far as I canatell, by the ancient sources.
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which saw the death of Spitamenes and the capture of the Rock of
Chorienes, does not include another reference to Hephaistion.72
When the expedition set out for India at the end of spring
327, Hephaistion and Perdikkas were sent ahead with a substantial
force to act as an advance guard, fo subdue the area around
Péukelaotis, and to build a boat-bridge on the Indus.73 Berve
poses the question, who had the imperium maius in this venture?74
Nominally, it appears that Hephaistion had it, for Curtius'
account of the dealings with Omphi§, son of Taxiles, makes no
mention of Perdikkas, who must certainly have been present; the

details of this are not given by Arrian.75‘ It appears, however,

2 . . e . .
7 There is no mention of Hephaistion's role in the marriage of

Alexander and Rhoxane, painted by A¥tion and described by
Loukian, A€tion 53 cf. n.23 supra.

/3 Arr. 4.22.7-8; 23.1; 30395:543:5; Curt. 8,10.2-3; 12.4, 15;

Metz Epit. 48. See V. Smith, EHI 53 and 63, who follows the
suggestion of M. Foucher, Sur la Frontiére Indo-Afghane, Paris,
1901, 46, that the crossing took place at Ohind or Und, six-
teen miles north of Attock (Atak), which was formerly thought
to be the location of Hephaistion's bridge.

74 Berve 2:171; cf. 2.314, where Berve suggests ''das P. die Fuss-

truppen, Hephaistion die Reiter kommandierte." This is not con-
vincing; Perdikkas no longer commanded pezhetairoi, his tawxis
had been giventto his brother Alketas (Berve 2.22, no. 45, s.v.
"AAuétog). Perdikkas was himself a hipparch and, if one hipp-
archia was inferior to another (as was the case in the last
years of Alexander's reign; cf. Arr. 7.14.10; Diod. 18.3.4; App.
Syr. 57; Plut. Eum. 1.5), then Perdikkas was possibly inferior
to Hephaistion in this venture.

75

Curtius, who last mentions Perdikkas at 8.10.2, leaves him in limbo,

failing to mention him in connexion with Omphis (Curt. 8.12.6; cf.
Metz Epit. 48: magnumque commeatum ab Hephaestione comparaltum in]
venit [sc. Alexander]; Curt. 8.12.15). For Omphis (Metz Epit. 49
has Mophis) see Berve 2.369-371, no. 739, s.v. ToaElAng. Berve is
not properly cross-indexed, thus nelther Omphls or Mophis appears
in the alphabetical llstlng. He"'i% 1~ fact the Indian Ambhi, cf.
V. Smith, FHI 63ff.
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Perdikkas' presence in this, Hephaistion's first major in-
dependent command, can be attributed to the need for a com-
petent military man, and to their apparent compatibility.
In the late stages of the campaigns, both Hephaistion and
Perdikkas had developed strong personal ties with Alekander,
and it is not surprising that Perdikkas replaced the dead
Hephaistion as Alexander's most trusted general and friend;
for the two seem to have been sympathetic toward Alexander's
Verschmelzungspolitik.76

Together with Perdikkas, Hephaistion advanced to the Indus
along the Kabul River-valley, subduing some natives who resisted
but winning the majority over by negotiation and show of force.
At Peukelaotis, however, they found the local ruler, Astes, un-
willing to submit, and only after thirty<days of siege did they
take the city; Astes himself was killed.77 By the time that
Alexander reached the Indus, Hephaistion had built the boat-
bridge and acquired provisions, chiefly from Omphis (Taxiles),

for the bulk of the army.78

76 See '"Chapter 4: Perdikkas." For his character see F. Miltner,

"Die staatsrechlfiche Entwicklung des Alexanderreiches," Klio
26 (1933) 52; Schachermeyr, Alexander in Babylon 16.

7 Arr. 4.,22.8; cf. Berve 2.89-90, no. 174, s.v. "Aotng. Cf.

B. Breloer, Alexanders Bund mit Poros: Indien von Dareios
- au Sandrokottos, Leipzig, 1941, 108-110.

/8 Arr. 5.3.5; Curt. 8.10.2-3; 12.4; 6, 15; Metz Epit. 48; Fuller,

Generalship 126-127; Breloer, Alexanders Kampf gegen Poros (Ein
Beitrag zur indischen Geschichte), Bonner drientalistische Studien,
Heft 3, Stuttgart, 1933, 22.
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In the battle with Poros, Hephaistion and Perdikkas both

commanded cavalry and were directly under Alexander's control

on

the left Wing;79 more precise information is lacking. His

next mission, against the rebellious cousin of the recently

defeated king, the "bad Poros" (lldpos 0 nandg), was conducted

in

assoé¢iation with another hipparch, Demetrios.

In India, as in Baktria-Sogdiana, Hephaistion's duties con-

tinued to be primarily non-military. Together with Perdikkas

he

had founded the city of Orobatis en route to the Indus81

(which he bridged), and gathered provisions from Omphis. After

subjugating the "bad Poros," he synoecized a city between the

Hydraotes and Akesines Rivers;82 later he founded settlements

at

79

80

81

82

83

Pattala and in the land of the Oreitai.83 The latter, naméd

Arr. 5.12.2; Curt. 8.14.15, For the battle in general see

R. Schubert, "Die Porus-Schlacht," Rh. Mus. 56 (1901) 543-

562; G. Veith, "Der Kavalleriekampf in der Schlacht am Hydaspes,"
Klio 8 (1908) 131-153; Tarn' 2.190-198; Hamilton, "The Cavalry
Battle at the Hydaspes," JHS 76 (1956) 26-31.- See also Breloer,
Kampf gegen Poros (n.78 supra) 51; Fuller, Generalship 180-199;
esp.- 186-187.-

Arr. 5.21.5; Diod. 17.91.2; see Berve 2.134, 345, nos. 256,
684, s.vv. Anudtpros, N@pog. The incident is referred to briefly
by Breloer, Bund mit Poros (n.77 supra) 125, n.2.

Arr. 4.28.5.
Arr. 5.29.3.

Arr. 6.21.5,
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Alexandreia, may in fact have been the synoecism of Rhambakia,
which Leonnatos completed.84

In 326 Hephaistion came to the fore. The army had mutinied
at the Hyphasis, no longer willing to proceed ever eastward.
Alexander may have felt that Koinos, the spokesman for the war-
weary troops, had betrayed him..85 Koinos soon died of illness,
but Alexander, retracing his steps only grudgingly came to rely
more heavily on his bosom-firiend, Hephaistion.86 On his return
to the Hydaspes he found the city that Hephaistion had synoecized
on the western banks of the Akesines, though Hephaistion had com-
pleted the task and rejoined Alexander before the mutiny at the
Hyphasis.87 From this settlement the army returned to the
Hydaspes, where Hephaistion is next named in Nearchos' list of
trierarchoi, the men responsible for meeting the expenses of
Alexander's Indus—fleet.88 Certainly he did not command a ship

himself, for, as the army began its descent of the Indus River-

84 See “Chapter 2: Leonnatos'; al&o Hamilton, "Alexander among

the Oreitae," Historia 21 (1972) 603-608.

85 For Koinos' speech: Arr. 5.27.2-9; Curt. 9.2.20; Alexander's

reaction, Arr. 5.28.1.

86 Koinos' death: Arr. 6.2.1; Curt. 9.2.20. Badian is suspicious

of his sudden death: JHS 81 (1961) 22; Studies in Greek and

Roman History, Oxford, 1964, 200. E.D. Carney, Macedonian
APigtocracy, believes that Alexander now came to regard Krateros

as "potentially dangerous" (216) and that "he did not fear [Hephai-
stion] as he did Krateros" (220); but see my discussion of their
relationship below.

87 Diod. 17.93.1; Curt. 9.1.35.

8 Nearchos, FGrHist 133 Fl = Arr. Ind. 18.3.
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system, with Alexander sailing with the fleet, the main forces
were divided into two parts: Hephaistion, with the larger por-
tion of the army and two hundred elephants, marched down the
eastern bank, while Krateros with the smaller force descended
on the west.89 It was Alexander's custom to divide his forces
whenever possible in order to subjugate enemy territory more
effectively, but this separation of Hephaistion and Krateros
had its personal reasons. There had long been rivalries among
Alexander's dearest friends, especially between Krateros and
Hephaistion, and these frictions erupted into open hand-to-hand
combat at some point in the Indian campaign.90 Now it had
ceased to be a personal affair, for the supporters of each man
were on the verge of coming to blows. It seemed that the only
way to ease the situatiqn was to keep the two commanders apart
as much as possible.

The Indus proved useful. The rivals were given instructions
to proceed downstream, egch on his side of the river, and to await
the fleet, which would join them three days' sail from the point
of departure.gl Two days after Alexa;:lder's arrival at the pre-
destined location, Hephaistion continued south toward the junction
of the Hydaspes and Akesines,‘toward the territory of the peoples
allied to the Malloi, who had prepared to resist the invader.92
89 Arr. 6.2.2; Arr. Ind. 19.1-3; Diod. 17.96;1.

20 Plut. Alex. 47.11-12; cf. Ddod. 17.114.1-2.

9 Arr. Ind. 19.3; Arr. 6.4.1; &f. R.D. Milns.227.

92 Arr. 6.4.1.
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By the time Hephaistion arrived, he found that Alexander (who
had sailed ahead) héd subdued the tribes of that region and was
preparing to march directly against the Malloi; these lived between
the Hydraotes and Akesines Rivers.

In order to deal with the Malloi, Alexander devised the
following strategy. First the slower troops, the infantry-
taxis of Polyperchon and the elephants, were transferred to
the western bank and placed under Krateros' command, as were the
hippotoxotai and the force with which Philippos (the brother of
Harpalos, the Treasurer) had followed the course of the Akesines
River.93 Hephaistion and the troops that remained with him were
to march five days in advance toward the confluence of the Ake-
sines and Hydraotes. Nearchos was to sail down the Akesines with
the fleet, and Ptolemy was to follow Hephaistion's route after a
delay of three days. Alexander meanwhile crossed the desert region
between the rivers with the intention of taking the Malloi off
guard. He hoped that those of the Malloi who escaped southward
would be driven into the arms of Hephaistion, while Ptolemy would
lie in wait for those who attempted to escape to the West.94 The

elaborate strategy proved unnecessary, for Alexander took the Malloi

23 Arr. 6.5.5. A good discussion of Alexander's activities against

the Malloi is given by Breloer, Bund mit Roros (n.77 supra) 29-
56; Fuller, Gemeralship 259-263; V. Smith, EHI 94ff.

94 Arr. 6.5.6,
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completely by surprise. They had not expected that the
enemy would arrive from the west, through the waterless
region. Thoseuwho retreated to their chief city, where
Alexander was critically wounded, were slaughtered, while
those of another town, if they did not find refuge in the
marshes, were butchered by the forces of Perdikkas.95

The army continued southward, both Hephaistion and
Krateros now occupying the eastern bank, since the terrain
on the western side proved too difficult for Krateros' troops.96
But before the army reached Pattala news came of unrest in the
west. Thus Krateros was despatched with the elephants, such
Macedonians as were unfit for service (&ndﬁaxou) and the taxeis
of Attalos, Meleagros and Antigenes, having been given instructions
to police the regions of Arachosia, Drangiana and finally Karmania,
where he was to rejoin Alexander.97 For Hephaistion it must have
been welcome news that Krateros, his most powerful rival, had
been sent to the west; for he now became, undisputedly, Alexander's
second-in-command.

At Pattala Alexander made good use of Hephaistion's organisational
skills, instructing him to fortify the place whi}e he himself sailed

to the mouth of the Indus via the west arm of the river.98 On his

95 Arr. 6.6,6,

96 Arr. 6.15.4.

97 Arr. 6.17.3; on the error at 6.15.5 see Bosworth, "Errors in

Arrian,”" CQ n.s. 26 (1976) 127ff.

98 Arr. 6.18.1.
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return, he found the task completed and he assigned to
Hephaistion the work of fortifying the harbour and building
the dockyards at the city, while he himself sailed to the
Ocean along the eastern arm of the Indus.99 Hephaistion
appears to have completed this work by the time of Alexander's
return, although it is possible that Pattala harbour, which be-
came the base for Nearchos' Ocean-fleet, was setiin final order
by Nearchos himself.100

Hephaistion, however, accompanied Alexander to the west.
At the Arabios River, Alexander left him behind with the main
force, while he, Leonnatos ana Ptolemy ravaged the land of the
Oreitai in three columns.101 Hephaistion, it appears, had been
instructed to lead his forces to the borders of the Oreitai, where
all the contingents reunited.102 In the land of the Oreitai,
Hephaistion made preparations for the synoecism of Rhambakia,
while Alexander attended to military matters on the frontiers
of Gedrosia. But Hephaistion was soon replaced by Leonnatos and
sent to joimn Alexander, ﬁho now prepared to take the army through
the Gedrosian desert.103 Leonnatos remained behind, for a time,
with the satrap Apollophanes, in order to settle affairs among
the Oreitai, complete the synoecism of Rhambakia, and prepare

for the needs of Nearchos, who would be stopping there en route

9 Arr. 6.20.1.

100 r7:4.

0L rr. 6.21.3; Curt. 9.10.6.

102y . 6.21.5.

103 Arr. 6.21.5; 6.22,3.
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to the Persian Gulf.104

Of Hephaistion's part in the Gedrosian expedition we know
nothing, except that he accompanied Alexander. After the ordeal
and a rest in Karmania, Hephaistion led the slower troops and the
baggage~trains into Persia along theccoastal route (mopd %&Aacoav).
Alexander took the lighter troops through the mountains to Perse-
polis and through the Persian Gates; Hephaistion must have followed,
for the last portion of his march, the waggon-road (&uafutds) that
by-passed the Gates, which Parmenion had used in the winter of 331/0,
when he led a similar force.105 On the road to Sousa, the forces
were reunited. And it was at Sousa that Hephaistion reached the

pinnacle of his career.
v

From his role in the Philotas-affair, we gain a picture of
Hephaistion as an unpleasant, jealous individual.106 Perhaps en-

couraged by his success against the rival Philotas, Hephaistion

104 Arr. 6.22.3; Ind. 23.5-8; Curt. 9.10.7; Diod. 17.104.5-6;

105.8; Pliny, VH 6.97; cf. "Chapter 2: Leonnatos'; cf. Hamilton,
"Alexander among the Oreitae," Historia 21 (1972) 603-608.

105 Arr. 6.28.7; for Parmenion's route around the Persian Gates

Arr. 3.18.1; Curt. 5.3.16.

106 E.D. Carney, Macedonian Aristocracy 221: "One forms a picture of

Alexander's closest friend which is not attractive. Yet it is easy
to see why such a man would be both useful and attractive to Alexander:
he was attractive to no one else, and therefore to Alexander alone."
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continued to be at odds with leading figures in Alexander's
entourage: Kallisthenes, Eumenes, Krateros. Toward the end

of his career, as we have seen, there was conflict between
Hephaistion and Krateros, who was equally ambitious but more
capable. Yet Krateros' meteoric rise was somewhat retarded,
reaching a plateau in India, when Hephaistion became a power-
ful and dangerous rival. There had been friction; and Adlexander
appears to have kept them apart deliberately. But, while the
King professed to love them both dearly,lo7 some of the blame
for Krateros' less-than-spectacular career after 326 must be

attached to Hephaistion's influence and to Alexander's willing-

. 108
ness to promote the latter's interests. 0

Hephaistion's dealings with individuals reveal that he was

quarrelsome, deliberately incompatible.109 We do not know the

exact nature of his quarrel with Kallisthenes, or why he maligned

him. Perhaps Kallisthenes' way of life did not appeal to Hephaistion,110

107 For Alexander's devotion to Hephaistion: Curt. 3.12,.15; Plut.

Alex. 47.9-10; Diod. 17.114.1-3; cf. Arr. 1.12.1; Ailian, VH
12.7; Loukian, dial. mort. 12.4 (397)..  Krateros: carus in paucts,
Curt. 6.8.2; 6vtiva Coov tff €avtod negarf] dyeu, Arr. 7.12.3; cf.
Plut. Alex. 47.9-10; Mor. 181D; Diod. 17.114.1-2.

108 o . .
Carney, Mdéedonian Aristocracy, suspects Alexander's motives:

"...Alexander was careful to balance the duties and honours of
Krateros with those of other top men, especially with Hephaistion"
(214). "Alexander carefully monitored his activities and consciously
played him off against others, Krateros was potentially dangerous...
and had to be watched closely" (216).

109 Carney, n.106 supra.

1
10 Arr. 4.10; Plut. Alex. 53. Hephaistion shared many of the sentiments

of Alexander's flatterers, who contributed to Kallisthenes' ruin.
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who showed an enthusiastic preference for Alexander's orientalisms

and was himself given to the same immoderation that attimes agfflicted
the King.111 Plutarch tells us that Hephaistion was sympathetic to
Alexander's Verschmelaungspolitik - which Alexander, no doubt, ex-
plained to him and won his support for - and that he was used by
Alexander in his dealings with the Persians.112 Perhaps this

attitude toward the oriéntals earned him the disfavour of both
Macedonians and Greeks, though his rise to power through Alexander's
favouritism was a major cause of hostility; there will have been

a number of his contemporaries who encouraged rumours that Hephaistion
Qas Alexander's minion.113 Perhaps he organised the unpopular
prosiynesis-affair, as modern scholarship likes to assume, 114
though Chares of Mytilene, whom Schachermeyr regards as Alexander's

"Chef der Kanzlei," would be a more suitable candidate for such

1
work, 15 At any rate, Kallisthenes had promised Hephaistion that

111 Cf. Ephippos of Olynthos and his work nepl Tfic ' Ale&dvSpov nal

‘Hpauotlwvos terevtiis (or toofis), FGrHist 126, which doubtless
exaggerated their vices.

112 pyut. Alex. 47.9-10.

113 Ailian, VH 12.7; Justin 12,.12,11; Loukian, dial. mort. 12.4 (397);

Diod. 17.114.3; cf. Tarn 2.319-326, Appendix 18: "Alexander's
Attitude to Sex," esp. 321.

. 114 Droysen, Hellenismus 1.312; Berve 2.171; Schachermeyr, Alexander

der Grosse 383; Hamilton, Alexander the Great 105; PA 153; Wilcken
169; Welles, Alexander and the Hellenistic World 41; Green 375-376.

115 Schachermeyr, Alexander in Babylon 17-18; 34.
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he would perform proskynesis - or so, at least, the latter claimed -
but went back on his word. Hephaistion wasted no time in maligning

Kallisthenes, once the sycophant, Demetrios, son of Pythonax, had

brought Kallisthenes' défiance to Alexander's attention.116 We

cannot say to what extent he carried his hostility, but he will
scarcely have done anything to enhance Kallisthenes' already de-
clining popularity. Kallisthenes, however, made little or no effort
to redeem himself.

The accounts of Hephaistion's quarrels with Eumenes are lost

from the manuscripts of Arrian and Curtius.117 Plutarch, in his

Life of Eumenes, speaks of two separate occasions on which they
disagreed. The first instance involved the allotment of living-
quarters: Hephaistion gave the quarters previously assigned to

: 118 .
Eumenes to the flute-player Euios. This was clearly an arrogant
gesture on Hephaistion's part and an affront to the Greek Eumenes,
a man of no mean station. This incident is presumably one that is

lost from Arrian's manuscript, for it took place at Ekbatana, pre-

cisely the historical context in which the Zacuna occurs.119 The

116 Plut. Alex. 55.1. For Demetrios, son of Pythonax, see Arr. 4.12.5;

see also Berve 2.,134-135, no. 258, 8.v. AnurtpLos. See Ham#lton,
PA 153,

117 Arr. 7.12.7 breaks off with the quarréls of Antipatros and Olympias,

and resumes with the reconciliation. of Hephaistion and Eumenes (todty

% Adyw vnomntdgavta ‘Heorotlwva cuvarrayfivar Eduevel, odx €éxdvta €udvti);
the actual quarrel itself is lost. Curt. 10.4.3 breaks off at Opis

and resumes withtthe account of Alexander's death, 10.5.1ff,

118 Plut. Eum. 2.1; cf. Berve 2,155-156, no. 315, s.v. Eltog. Euios

was himself a source of trouble, for he quarrelled with Kassandros
over the boy Python (Berve 2.339, no. 678, s.v. M¥dwv), so Plut.
Mor. 180F.

115 See n.117 supra.
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second quarrel, again the result 6f a relatively minor issue,
involved a gift or a prize (mepl bSwpeds TLvog); Plutarch does
not give the details.120 The quarrels evoked Alexander's anger,
first against Hephaistion (who appears to have instigated them)
and later against Eumenes, and it appears that ever since the
first incident the two were at odds with one aneother; for the
cause of the enmity must be sought in the struggle for power with-
in the army, and in the unpleasant nature of Hephaistion. Fortunately
for Eumeneé, the animosity and Hephaistion were short-lived; never-
theless, Eumenes was careful to avert any suspicion that he favoured
Hephaistion's death by proposing that honours be granted to him
posthumously.121

Most revealing, however, are the accounts of Hephaistion's
stormy relations with Krateros. The two had worked together against
Philotas, a common enemy; nowmdmbition for power and Alexander's
favour led inevitably to jealous rivalry. 1In the early stages of
the campaign there had been less conflict: Krateros had béen steadily
proving himself the most likely man to replace Parmenion,122 Hephaistion
was busily ingratiating himself with Alexander.Béth:were dear to the
King, and he used them according to their abilities: Krateros for im-

portant military assignments and for dealings with Greeks and Macedonians

120 Plut. Eum. 2.4. Cf. Vezin, EFumenes von Kardia 16-17; Berve 2.156-

158, no. 317, s.v. EVpévng; Kaerst, RE VI 1083-1084; for his later
career see H.D. Westlake, "Eumenes of Cardia," Essays on the Greek
Historians and Greek History, New York, 1969, 313-330.

121 Arr. 7.14.9; cf. Diod. 17.115.1.

122 See Chapter 3: Krateros.
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(for he was very "traditional" in his thinking), Hephaistion for

organisational work, both in conquered territory and at the Court.

But, as Hephaistion's aspirations extended to higher commands in

the army, jealousy erupted into open hand-to-hand fighting, with

the supporters of each ready to join in the fray.123 Undoubtedly

this accounts for the fact that Hephaistion and Krateros were sel-

dom in the same camp together (for any length of time) after 326.
The incident in India, where Hephaistion and Krateros came

to blows, is instructive. We are told that Alexander rode up and

openly reproached Hephaistion, calling him a madman if he did not

know that "without Alexander he would be nothing."124 This was

not the case with Krateros, whom Alexander chided in private; for

Krateros was not one to be dishonoured before his own troops,

and before the Hetairoi. Alexander recognised the value of Krateros

to the King and to the army, and, undoubtedly, he was pained by the

friction between Krateros and Hephaistion. His relationship with

the latter, on the other hand, was a much more personal one; fuffled

feathers could be smoothed over in private. And probably he under-

stood that Hephaistion's nature was largely to blame. Nowtwo in-

dividuals are more aptly characterised than are Hephaistion and

Krateros by the epithets gLAaAdEZavdpog and quoBucukeﬁg.le

123 Plut. Alex. 47.11.

124 9 ;) » .\ 3 i ) rd i ) ~.
Plut. Alex. 47.11: "AMéEavbpog €roL8dpeL TOV Hoavotlwva govepis,
EUTANUTOV . #aABY noal mparvduevov, el . ph ouvlnouv &g, &€dv TLS adTod
v ~AX€EovSpov do€AnTaL, undév eoTLv.

125

Plut. Alex. 47.9-10; Mor. 181D; Diod. 17.114.2,
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In view of Hephaistion's rivalry with Krateros and the
previous downfalls of Philotas and Kallisthenes, the somewhat
unspectacular last years of Krateros under Alexander suggest
that Hephaistion's influence with Alexander had again been at
work. We cannot say what would have happened had Krateros
actually become Regent of Macedonia in Antipatros' place. But,
for Hephaistion in Asia, the base of Alexander's integrated
empire, Krateros' departure for Europe left him without a serious

. R 12
rival as Alexander's dearest friend and foremost general.

Sousa in the spring of 324 saw not only the clearest mani-
festation of Alexander's Verschmelzungspolitik in the mass-marriages
between the Iranian and Macedonian nobilitifes, but also the cul-
mination of Hephaistion's unusual career. Already he had become
the army's most important officer, for he commanded the first
chiliarchia of the Companions.127 Very soon he would be crowned
for his exploits on the campaign, along with the other members of
the Staff (the somatophylakes).lz8 But now he received, at the
mass-marriages, what must be regarded as the greatest honour of

his career, no less than a share in the empire.

126 For Krateros' departure see Arr. 7.12.3-4; cf. Chapter 3:
Krateros. The ambitious and somewhat unscrupulous Perdikkas,
however, lurked in the shadows.

127 See Appendix 2. Arr. 7.14.10.

128

Arr. 7.5.6.
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For Alexander the marriage to Rhoxane, in spite of the

strong romantic tradition that it had been a love-match, had

been the first experiment in political marriage; Philip II

had

exploited political marriages to their fullest, and now

Alexander secured the goodwill of the stubborn Sogdiani by

marrying one of their race.129 In 324, firmly established

on the throne of the Great King, Alexander sought to legitimise

his

own position by marrying the Achaimenid Stateira, daughter
130

of Dareios III, To Krateros he gave Amastris, daughter of

129

130

Alexander had given his first thoughts to political marriage
in 337, at the time of the ill-advised communications with
Pixodaros (Plut. Alex. 10). At .the Iaxartes River, some
two years before his marriage to Rhoxane, he rejected a union
with the daughter of the Skythian king (Arr. 4.15.1-5). For
the marriage to Rhoxane see Arr. 4.19.4-20.4; Plut. Alex. 47.7;
Mor. 332E, 338D; Curt. 8.4.21-30; Metz Epit. 28-29; Zon. 4.12,
p.296, 6; Strabo 11.517. For the political motives Rlut. Alex.
47.8; cf. Curt. 8.4.25. See Hamilton, PA 129-130; on the marriage
M. Renard and J. Servals, 'A; propos.-dusmariaged' Alexandre et de
Roxane," Antiquité Classique 24 (1955) 29- 50 Tarn 2.326; but
see Schachermeyr, Alexander in Babylon 22: "man gewinnt den Ein-
druck, als ob sich Roxane im Liebesleben Alexanders gegenliber
den neuen, aus StaatsrHson geschlossenen Ehen recht wohl zu
behaupten wusste." See Berve 2.346-347, no. 688, s.v. ‘PwEdvn.
Alexander held both her father and brother in great honour, see
Berve 2.292-293, no. 587, s.v.’ Ofuvdptng; 2.186, no. 392, s.v.
"Itdvns. Rhoxane was, one might add, with the exception of
Alexander's mistress Barsine (whose son Herakles is now accepted
by P.A. Brunt, "Alexander, Barsine and Heracles," Riv. di FiL.
103 [1975] 22-34, against Tarn, "Heracles, Son of Barsine," JHS
41 [1921] lef,,and 2,330-337; cf. Berve 2 102-104, 2.168, no.
353, s.v. ‘Hpaudfis, who accepts his existence), the only woman:fo bear
children by Alexander; that is to omit his fictitious children by
the Indian queen Kleophis (Berve, no.435) and Thalestris the Amazon.

Plut. Alex. 70.3; Mor. 329E-F; Diod. 17.107.6; Justin 12.10.9-10;

Arr. 7.4.4 (from Aristoboulos) mistakenly calls her Barsine. Berve
2.363-364, no. 722, §.v. Itdtetpoa. Tarn 2.334, n.4, followed by
Hamilton, PA 195, thinks Barsine was her official and correct name
(against Berve, Zoc. ctt.); this view is shared by Schachermeyr, .
AZexandér in Babylon 22 (though not repeated in Alexander der Grosse)
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Dareios' brother, Oxyathres, a bride worthy of the King's most
capable commander.131 But to Hephaistion he wedded Drypetis,
the sister of his own bride Stateira, for, according to Arrian,

"he wished his children to be the first-cousins of Hephaistion's

n132

children. By marrying Stateira, Alexander had strengthened

his claim to the rule over Asia - and clearly the marriage must

have had great popular appeal for the Persians, who hoped to see

1
the grandsons of Dareios on the throne 33 -, but he also conferred

upon Hephaistion, who married his new sister-in-law, more than
just the honour of relationship by marriage: this was a legitimate,
though lesser, claim to a share in the empire.

Whatever the exact nature of Alexander's plans for Hephaistion -

and it is doubtful that these included making him chiliarchos in

the Persian sense of hazarapatislB4 - they were never fully realised.

131 See Arr. 7.4.5; Memon, FGrHist 434 F4. Berve 2.24, no. 50,

s.v. "Anooctpusy Wilcken, RE I.2 (1894) 1750, s.v. "Amastris
(7)." Berve 2.291-292, no. 586, s.v. 'OfudSpng. See also
Macurdy, Hellenistic Queens 60, 107.

132 Arr. 7.4.5: ['AréEav6pov] €9€heLv ydp 6L dvedLods TV ol 6@V

yevéodaL tods ‘Hoarotlwvog maldag. For Drypetis see Arr. Zoc.
cit.; Diod. 17.107.6; cf. Curt. 10.5.20. Berve 2.148, no. 290,
8.V, ApurnfiTLgs. For her death (along with her sister) at the
hands of Rhoxane and Perdikkas Plut. AZex. 77.6.

1 )
33 Alexander strengthened this claim by marrying also Parysatis,

daughter of Artaxerxes III Ochos, who had ruled Persia before
Dareios III. See Berve 2,306, no. 607, s.v. lapdooatis. Arr.
7.4.4. For the family-connexions see 0. Neuhaus, "Der Vater
der Sisygambis (und das Verwandschaft&verhYltniss des Dareios
ITI Kodomannos zu Artaxerxes II und III)," Fh. Mus. 57 (1902)
610-623.

134 ,
3 See Appendix 2; also P.J. Junge, "Hazarapatis," XiZo 33 (1940).

13-38; E. Benveniste, Titres et Noms Propres en Iranien Ancien,
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The only honours that Arrian claims were accorded to him were
the crowning (along with the other somatophylakes) and the dis-
tinguished marriage to Drypetis, both at Sousa. From Sousa
Hephaistion led the bulk of the infantry to the Persian Gulf,
while Alexander sailed down the Eulaios River to the'coast.135
From the mouth of the Eulaios he followed the shoreline of the
Persian Gulf and turned upstream into the Tigris to the place
where Hephaistion had taken the army; it was Hephaistion's last
command.136 Together they proceeded to Opis, and from Opis to
Ekbatana; it was now autumm 324 B.C.

At Ekbatana Alexander offered sacrifice and celebrated
athletic and literary contests.l.37 There were bouts of heavy
drinking, and shortly thereafter Hephaistion fell ill with a
fever.l38 We do not know the precise nature of his ailment; even

Plutarch, who gives the most detail, is vagﬁe.139 Invariably,

Paris, 1966, 51-71. Schachermeyr, Alexander in Babylony31-37;

I find his conclusion somewhat unconvincing: "Der Unterschied

zum Reichsverierat des persischen hazarapatis lag also darin,
dass der Chiliarch Alexanders Uberhaupt keine dauernden und fixen
Befugnisse zu eigen hatte, dass er nichts war, solange ihm der
Herrscher keinen Auftrag gab, dass er aber als vollwertiger alter
ego des Herrschers auftreten konnte, sobald ihn dieser mit einem
diesbezliglichen Auftrag und einer diesbezliglichen Vertretung be-
traute" (36).

135 Arr., 7.7.1.
136 Arr. 7.7.6.
137

Plut. Alex. 72.1 says that some 3000 artists had arrived from Greece;}
cf. Arr. 7.14.1; Diod. 17.110.8 (dramatic contests only).

138 The heavy drinking was exaggerated by Ephippos of Olynthos, FGrHist

126, and played down by Aristoboulos, 139 F62 = Arr. 7.29.4.

139 Plut., Alex. 72.1-2.
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Hephaistion's death is linkéd with heavy drinking: Arrian implies

that the drinking-bouts were the cause of Hephaistion's illness,
Diodoros is more explicit, but Plutarch does not specify the cause

of Hephaistion's fever, only that immoderate eating and drinking

were the proximate cause of his death.140 Ephippos of Olynthos,

in his scandalous pamphlet nepl tfis 'AleEdvépouv xol ‘Hearotlwvoc
tedevtiis, will have attributed it solely to barbaric drinking—habits.141
At any rate, it was on the seventh day of his illness that Hephaistion
died (so Arr. 7.14.1). The only other details are suppliéd by
Plutarch, according to whom, Hephaistion disregarded the strict

diet imposed by his doctor Glaukos (Glaukias in Arr. 7.14.4), who

had gone off to the theatre.142 Eating a boiled fowl and drinking

a great quantity of wine, Hephaistion heightened his fever and died;143
news of his deteriorating condition reached Alexander at the stadium,
where he was watching the boySJ,races, but he returned too late and

found Hephaistion already dead.144

140 For the accounts of his death: Arr. 7.14.1ff.; Diod. 17.110.8;

Polyainos 4.3.31 (incorrectly, it happened at Babylon!); Justin
12.12.11; Arr. 7.18.2-3; Epiktetos 2.22,17; Plut. Alex. 72; Pelopidas
34.2; Nepos, Fumenes 2.2; Appian, BC 2.152.

141 For Ephippos of Olynthos see Jacoby, FGrHist no. 126, and IID 437-

439.

142 Plut. Alex. 72.2. See Berve 2,112, no. 228, s.v. Pkduuﬁug.

143 pyut. Alex. 72.2.

144 Arr., 7.14.1.



83

From the accounts of what follewed it is virtually im-
possible to separate fact from fiction. Arrian provides a
catalogue of Aeydueva, but his criteria for discerning what
is reliable and what is not - when indeed he does make such
an attempt - amount to little more than accepting what is
honourable in a king's behaviour and rejecting what is not;
in this respect he recalls the rather nalfve basis for his
trust in Ptolemy's History, which he related in the pro-
oemium.145 Alexander's grief was excessive; on this point
all the sources concur, but there were some who thought it

noble that he should display his sorrow, others who found it

145 Arr. 7.14.2-10. In the prooemium Arrian says that he

based his history on the works of Aristoboulos and Ptolemy,

whom he judged to be the most reliable of the historians of
Alexander 'because Aristoboulos had accompanied Alexander

on the expedition, and Ptolemy, in addition to campaigning

with him, was a King himself, and it would have been more
despicable for him to lie than for anyone else! (proocem. 2).
Arrian did not ignore Alexander's faults, it is true, but

he coupled his ctiticisms of his hero with whole-hearted

(often excessive) praise not only of his virtues but of his
readiness to repent of his crimes (e.g. 4.19.6; 4.9.1). On

the whole there is a reluctance to accept stories that cast
Alexander in a bad light, and the attitude prevails that, if

we are to judge Alexander's character, we must base this on

all the evidence, not on a portion of it: Jotis 68 nanlZer
"AréEavbpov, uhi udvov.doa dELo nanlrecdal toti mpogepduevog
narlZétw, AN Edumavta Td AreEdvSpou elg £v xwplov Euvayaydv
...(7.30.1). For a useful discussion of Arrian's attitude to

his subject see J.R. Hamilton's "Introduction'" in Aubrey de
Sélincourt's Penguin-translation, Arrian: The Campaigns of
Alexander, Harmondsworth, 1971, 17-34, though Hamilton's comment
(Alexander the Great 20) that Arrian, "a Stoic himself, i..avoided
the doctrinaire condemnation of Alexander popular in Stoic circles,"
falls short of expressing Arrian's willingness to:make excuses for
Alexander (or, at least, to overlook what is unpleasant).
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unfitting for Alexander or for any other king. Those who saw
in Alexander's grief an emulation of Achilles reported that he
shaved the manes of his horses and his mules, tore down city-

walls, and lay upon the corpse of his Patroklos, refusing food

and water; the last point is at least typical of Alexander.146

Magnificent, indeed ostentatious, were the funeral arrangements,

some of which were later cancelled at the instigation of Per-

dikkas, who conveyed Hephaistion's body to Babylon.147 In his

role as Great King, he ordered that the sacred fire of Persia

be extinguished until such time as Hephaistion's last rites had

been taken care of.148 Such were the honours accorded the dead

146 For Alexander's excessive grief and the agreement of the

sources see Arr. 7.14,2; for different attitudes toward the
display of emotion, Arr. 7.14.,3. The emulation of Achilles:

Arr. 7.14.4 (he also cut his own hair); Aitian, VH 7.8; Plut.
Pelop. 34.2 (horses' manes, demolished walls), cf. Alex. 72.3.
For his refusal of food and drink, Arr. 7.14.8. Cf. Alexander's
behaviour after Kleitos' death, Arr. 4.9.1ff.; Plut. Alex. 51.10-
52.1; Curt. 8.2.1ff.

147 For the funeral pyre: Justin 12.12.12; Diod. 17.115.5 (both

put the cost at 12,000 talents); Arr. 7.14.8 (10,000). Diod.
17.115.6 speaks of the slaughter of 10,000 sacrificial victims;
for the cancellation of Hephaistion's monument see Diéd. 18.

4.2 (who wrongly calls it the pyre, whichwhad already been com-
pleted; see Diddorus of Sicily, vol. 9, Loeb Classical Library,
Cambridge, Mass., 1935, R.M. Geer tr., 21, n.1l); cf. Badian,

"A King's Notebooks," HSCP 74 (1967) 200-201. According to

Plut. Alex. 72.5 the work was to be undertaken by Stasikrates
(Deinokrates? see Berve, nos. 249, 720), who had offered to

shape Mt. Athos into a giant likeness of Alexander. See Hamilton,
PA 202. For Perdikkas' instructions to take the body to Babylon,
Diod. 17.110.8; it is not mentioned by Arrian.

148 For the sacred fire see Diod. 17.110.8. Schachermeyr, Alexander

in Babylon, "Das persische KBnigsfeuer am HofeAlexanders," 38-48,
esp. 47.
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Hephaistion. But there were stories of Alexander's anger.
Blame was cast on Glaukias the physician - though Alexander
had earlier trusted with his own life the doctor, Philip of
Akarnania149 - and on the healing-god Asklepios: Glaukias

was cruelly executed, and the temple of Asklepios at Ekbatana

rased.150 On the Kossaians too, a barbaric people to the west

of Ekbatana, Alexander vented his anger.lSl And, not sur-

prisingly, history was quick to discover prophesies of Hephaistion's

149 The story of Philip of Akarnania is a popular one, and part

of the hostile portrait of Parmenion: Arr. 2.4.9-10 = Aristo-
boulos, FGrHist 139 F8; Curt. 3.6.1-13; 6.10.34-35; Justin
11.8.5-9; Diod. 17.31.4-6; Plut. Alex. 19; Val. Max. 3.8 ext
6; Seneca, de Ira 2.23.2; Itiner. 28-30; Ps.-Kall. 2.8; Jul.
Val. 2.24; Zon. 4.9 p.289, 3. See Hamilton, PA 49-50; Berve
2.388-389, no. 788, s.v. dCAimTos.

150 According to Arrian 7.14.4, Glaukias was hanged, though Plut.

Alex. 72.3 claims he was crucified (apparently confused by
Berve 2.112: "Er wurde nach [Hephaistions] Tode auf Al.s Be-
fehl. gekreuzigt, wie Arrian...berichtet"; unless Arrian uses
énpfuaoce to mean . "crucified" [see LSJ s.v. wmpeudvvuur], Plut-
arch's verb &vactaupdw is normally used of crucifixion. Arrian
claims that Glaukias was executed for giving bad medicine,
which may be the "official version," so Berve, loc. cit., and
Hamilton, PA 200. That Alexander did in fact execute Glaukias
does not seem unlikely, for he was known to interfere in the
business of physicians (cf. his advice to Pausanias the doctor
of Krateros on how to treat his patient with hellebore [Plut.
Alex. 41.7], or his letter to Peukestas' doctor, Alexippos,
congratulating him on his healing talents [Plut. Alex. 41.6];
and it is not surprising that we know the names of several
other doctors in Alexander's entourage, see Berve 1.79-80).
For the temple of Asklepios see.Epiktetos 2 22.17; but cf

Arr, . 7 14 6: odu EKLELMNQ néxpnrub pou &’ Aonknnbog, oV odoag
pou TOvV £Tafpov GvTLva Coov T €uavTod HeQOAf Ayov.

L1 Arr. 7.15.1ff.; Diod. 17.111.4ff.; Polyainos 4.3.31.
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152
death, > The "Son of Ammon" sent envoys to Siwah to in-

quire if Hephaistion should be worshipped as a god; the

prudent father replied that he should be revered as a hero.153

152 Arr. 7.18.2 = Aristoboulos, FGrHist 139 F54, The seer Peith-

agoras prophesied the deaths of both Alexander and Hephaistion
(cf. Appian, BC 2.152). The prophesy was given to Apollodoros,
his brother, who feared both Hephaistion and Alexander. Had
he also found Hephaistion difficult to deal with?

153 Arr, 7.14.7: envoys are sent to Ammon. Arr. 7.23.6: the response

comes that he should be revered as a hero; cf. Plut. Alex. 72.3,
but incorrectly that he should be deified Diod. 17.115.6; Justin
12.12.12: eumque post mortem coli ut dewnm iussit; Loukian, Cal.
17. The hero-cult of Hephaistion is alluded to by Hypereides
6.21: nal C[tlods . todtiwv« oluétos Uomep Mpwag Tuudv., CF. P.
Treves, "Hyperides and the Cult of Hephaestion," CR 53 (1939)
56-57; E. Bickerman, "Sur un Passage d' Hypétide," Athenaeum

41 (1963) 70-85; C. Habicht, Gottmenschentum und griechische
Stldte, Munich, 1956, 28-36. But P.M. Fraser, in his review

of Habicht, CR n.s. 8 (1958) 153f.,does not think the allusion
to Hephaistioniis so obvious. See Hamilton's comments, PA 200-
201, where these views are summarised; the notion that Alexander
sought to introduce his own deification by means of Hephaistion's
hero-cult antedates Habicht, see Kornemann, "Zur Geschichte der
antiken Herrscherkulte," KlZo 1 (1901) 65, who makes a good case
for this. Arr. 7.23.6-8 relates that Alexander was willing to
forgive Kleomenes (Berve, no. 431) his crimes in Egypt if he saw
to a hero's shrine there.

For small likenesses of Hephaistion made by the Hetairoi see
Diod. 17.115.1. The lion»6f Hamadan (Ekbatana) may be the one
surviving monument to Hephaistion; for this see H. Luschey, '"Der
LBwe von Ekbatana," Archaeologische Mitteilungen aus Iran 1 (1968)
115-122, esp. 121-122. Cf. Fox (435): "centuries later, when
Hephaistion had long been forgotten, the ladies of Hamadan would
smear the nose of their lion with jam, hoping for children and
easy childbirth. Hephaistion ended his fame as a symbol of fertility."
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Chapter 2

LEONNATOS: eT¢ tiv étaﬁpwvl

Leonnatos, according to the testimony of the Suda, was
a relative of Eurydike, the mother of Philip II, hence an ad-
herent of the Lynkestian royal house;2 he was a syntrophos
of Alexander and his Pellaian origin is corroborated by Arrian
(Anab. 6.28.4; Ind. 18.3). His father's name is not certain,

. . 3
though there is a tendency to favour the twice-attested Anteas.

See Berve 2.232-235, no. 466, s.v. Acovvdtog, to which I
suggest the following revisions: p.232 (first line) for

Arr. IV,28,4 read 6.28.4; p.233 Hegesias (Miller, FHG, fr.

3) is now Jacoby, FGrHist 142 F5 = Dion. Hal. de Comp. Verb.
18 p.123-126R; p.234 "vgl. Onesicr. frg. 26" is now FGrHist
134 F28 = Pliny, NH 6.97; add Arr. Ind. 23.8; for Leonnatos'
crowningat Sousa, add Arr. Ind. 23.6 and 42.9; Ailian, VH 9.3
makes Leonnatos fond of hunting (not, as Berve states, fond
of wrestling); for his extravagant importing of sand, or more
precisely powdery dust, for wrestling add Pliny, NH 35.167-
168; Athen. 12.539D (from Phylarchos or Agatharchides of
Knidos) = FGrHist 81 F41 and/or 86 F3; Leonnatos is not named
by Ps.-Kall. 3.31, but rather Jul. Val. 2.3 (Leontas) may re-
fer to Leonnatos (cf. Berve 2.233, n.3 "Ps. Call. 1I,2"?);
p.235 Curt. X,7,9 should read 10.7.8; his satrapy of Helles-
pontine Phrygia is more accurately derived from Arr. Sucec.
Ia.6 and Ib.2. For the name see Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 168-
170, who. holds that the proparoxytone accentuation (Z.e.,
Aedvvatog) is preferable etymologically. See also F. Geyer,
RE XITI.2 (1925) 2035-2038, s.v. 'Leonnatos (1)."

Suda s.v. Aedvvoatog = Arr. Suce. fr.12; cf. Curt. 10.7.8:
stirpe regia genitus. For Eurydike's connexions with. the
Lynkestian royal house see G. Macurdy, Hellenistic Queens
17; A.B. Bosworth, "Philip II and Upper Macedonia," (Q p.g
21 (1971) 99-101; see also Geyer (n.l supra) 2035.

So Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 170; Geyer 2035 passes over the
problem; Berve 2,232 is non-committal.
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But there is no way of determining which of three forms is
correct; for each of these appears to derive from a different
primary source. Ail forms are found in Arrian: Anab. 6.28.4
(Aristoboulos, FGrHist 139 F50) gives the patronymic as 'Avt€ov,
which has the support of "AvSous in Suce. Ia.2 (= Photios,
Bibliotheke cod. 92, p.69, originally from Hieronymos or perhaps
Diyllos4); Anab. 3.5.5 (certainly Ptolemys) reads 'Ovdoov; Indike
18.3 (Nearchos, FGrHist 133 Fl) Eﬁvou.6 It was on account of

his upbringing, his family-background, his size and his beauty,
the Suda claims, that Leonnatos reached a position of honour.
Certainly his family-ties will have made him eligible for the
company of the Hetairoi, who Tarn assumes were drawn primarily
from the ranks of the Macedonian aristocracy.7 In this respect
Leonnatos is of interest, for he represents a man who accompanied

Alexander, in the first instance, as elg THV £talpwy.

"AvToug is given by Berve 2.232 and Hoffmann, Die Makedonen

170; A.G. Roos' Teubner text (Leipzig, 1967) has “Av%oug.

Douris is also a possible source for Arrian's 714 petd  AA€EavSpov,
but, on the uncertainty of source-criticism.in this case, see
Bosworth's brief remarks ("The Death of Alexander the Great: Rumour
and Propaganda," €@ n.s. 21 [1971] 129-130).

So Kornemann, Die Alexandergeschichte 128, 137, 252; Strasburger,
Ptolemaios und Alexander 34.

Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 170: "dann mlisste aber in der Indike
E¥vo0 aus der ionischen Dialektform 'Avt€w oder 'Avidew ver—
derbt sein, und das ist nicht gerade wahrscheinlich."

Tarn 2.138.

Arr. 2.12.5; Curt. 3.12.7 (ex purpuratis; cf. Arr. 4.12.2).
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The first historical record of Leonnatos dates to the
time of the death of Philip.II: he is named, along with Per-
dikkas and Attalos (apparently the son of Andromenes), among
the somatophylakes who pursued the assassin Pausanias. Berve
is certainly correct to assume that the somatophylakes here are
intended to be the hypaspists,10 for the elite group of somato-
phylakes, vwho.' numbered seven in 325 (and were presumably seven
throughout the campaignll), did not include either Leonnatos or
Perdikkas from the start,12 nor was anyone by the name of Attalos
ever known to have been a member of that unit; the son of Andro-
menes certainly was not.13 On the other hand, Droysen's suggestion
that the basilikoi paides are meant is rejected by Geyer.14
Perdikkas was certainly too old,,as was Leonnatos himself, to
belong to the Pages; it is doubtful that any one of them commanded

that unit.15

? Diod. 16.94.4.

10 Berve 2.233, n.l.

1 Cf. Berve 1.26; for a full discussion see Appendix 1.

12 See Appendix 1; Leonnatos was appointed somatophylax in 332/1;

Perdikkas was one by the time of the Philotas-affair (330).

13 See Berve 1.27 for a complete list; cf. Berve 2.92, no. 181,

s.v. "ATtalog.

14 Droysen, Hellenismus 1.70; Geyer, RE XIT.2 (1925) 2035.

15 For the basilikol paides see Berve 1.37-39, "c) Die kBniglichen

Pagen"; cf. Arr. 4.13.1; Ailian, VH 14.48; Curt. 5.1.42; Diod.
17.65.1.
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Under Alexander, Leonnatos does not appear until the
year 333. After the battle at Issos, Alexander captured
the women of Dareios III, including his wife and his mother.16
These women had been misled by rumours and believed that
Dareios was dead. 1In order to frge them from unnecessary
sorrow, Alexander prepared to send to them a certain Mithrenes,
the former satrap of Sardeis, who spoke Persian.17 But he
quickly changed his mind and sent instead Leonnatos, fearing
lest the sight of a traitbr would only further increase the
women's anguish.18 Undoubtedly the sensation created by Leon-
natos' arrival was not unlike that described by Curtius (3.12.
9-12), with the terrified women supposing that the appearance
of armed men at their tent meant certain death, but the story,

which was related in (we may suppose) a less elaborate fashion

by Aristoboulos and Ptolemy, has been embellished considerably

16 Arr. 2.12.4-5; Curt. 3.12.4ff.; Diod. 17.37.3; Plut. Alex.

21.2. See Berve 2.356-357, .no. 711, s.v. ItoUyauBrg (Dareios'
mother; Diod. 17.37, IiodyyauBpug); 2.362-363, no. 721, s.v.
ZtdteLpa (sister and wife of Dareios). For the family-back-

ground of Sisygambis see 0. Neuhaus, "Der Vater der Sisygambis

(und das VerwandschaftsverhHltniss ‘des Dareios III Kodomannos
zu Artaxerxes II und III)," Rh. Mus. 57 (1902) 610-623.

17 Curt. 3.12.6-7; See Berve 2.262-263, no. 524, s.v. Mu¥pruns.

Sée A. Baumbach, Kleinasien unter Alexander dem Grossen, Diss.
Jena, publ. Weida, 1911, 39-40; on his later career as satrap
of Armenia,under Alexander see P. Julien, Zur Verwaltung der
Satrapien unter Alexander dem Grossen, Diss. Leipzig, publ.
Weida, 1914, 27-28.

18 Curt. 3.12.7-12.
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by Curtius.19 Quite possibly Curtius based his version on
that of Kleitarchos, who recorded Hephaistion's visit to

the Persian Queen20 and likely related Leonnatos' activities
as well. At any rate, Leonnatos achieved his purpose, assuring
the women that Dareios lived and that Alexander would attend
to them personally. Perliaps Alexander deliberately chose an
important member of the company of the Hetairoi for such a
mission of diplomacy; perhaps, however, the incident reflects
something of Leonnatos' character - which the sources have
otherwise left somewhat colourless - and his ability to handle
such situations.

Curtius' description (3.12.7) of Leonnatos as ex purpuratis
must be the equivalent of &va fmv éf&ﬁpwv,Zl but he is said to
have arrived cum paucis armigeris (Curt. loc. cit.), and these
must be explained. They are described as armati (Curt. 3.12.8,
hence "armed bodyguards"), which suggests that they were hypaspists.
If this is so, then Leonnatos, who apparently held no independent
command in the early stages of the campaign, may have held roughly

the same rank that he held in the summer of 336, that is, a lesser

19 FGrHist 138 F7; 139 F10; Strasburger, Ptolematos und Alexander 29;

Kornemann, Die Alexandergeschichte 114.

20 Arr. 2.12.6-8; Kornemann, Die Alexandergeschichte 114, 124; Jacoby

ITD 503; but Strasburger, Ptolemaios und Alexander 29, thinks 'per-
haps Aristoboulos.'

21 Berve 2.233.



92

commission in the hypaspists.22 In that case, those who
accompanied Alexander as Hetairoi most likely did not fight
as a unit - there is only one instance in which they may have
done so, and this is wvaguely defined23 - or constitute a for-
mal body, as Tarn suggests,24 but were distributed throughout
the ranks as officers of higher and lower rank. Perdikkas
by now commanded his own taxis of pezhetairoi,zs but Attalos,
who only later became a taxiarch, may also have been a lesser
officer in the hypaspists at this time; Attalos must certainly
have belonged to the Hetairoi.26

That Leonnatos and Philotas (Parmenion's son) took part

in the capture of Batis at Gaza is doubtful. The Batis-episode

22 Berve 2.233, with n.1.

23 Arr. 1.6.5; though these are possibly the Companion Cavalry,

just as the somatophylakes in this instance may refer to the
hypaspists.

24 Tarn 2.138.

25 See ‘Chapter 4: Perdikkas™; cf. Berve 2.313-316, no. 627, s.v.

TepsCunag, esp. 313. He was already a taxriarch in Alexander's
Triballian campaign of 335 (Arr. 1.6.9).

26 Attalos: see n.12 supra. He was Perdikkas' brother-in-law

(though the marriage could belong to the time of the succession

of 323), see Berve 2.90, no. 177, s.v. 'AtoAdvin. For his mem-
bership in the ranks of the hypaspists see Berve 2.92, n.3; for

the likelfhood of his being onecof the Hetairoi [Amyntas, his
brother,certainly was] see Berve 1.3l. If my theory is correct

in the cases of Attalos and Leonnatos, this would make Nearchos'
rank as chiliarch of the Hypaspists more plausible (Nearchos was
also an Hetairos); this is doubted by Badian, "Nearchus the Cretan,"
YCs 24 (1975) 150-151.
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(Hegesias via Dionysios of Halikarnassos27) is notoriously un-
reliable and has been convincingly rejected as fiction by Tarn
and B. Perrin.2

Leonnatos became somatophylax in Egypt in 332/1, replacing
Arhybbas, who had died.29 He is the first recorded appointee
to the office, though it is likely that Hephaistion replaced
Ptolemaios (Berve, no. 672, see Appendix 1), who died at
Halikarnassos.in the firét year of the campaign. How his ap-
pointment to the somatophylakes affected his status as a member
of the hypaspists can only be surmised; probably he ceased to
be a member of that unit, for he will not likely have held the
high:.rank of somatophylax and yet have been inferior in~authority
to Nikanor, the commander of the hypaspists.30 The somatophylakes,
we may suppose, fought in the immediate vicinity of the King -
this, at least, their name and origin imply - unless they were
given special commands in another sector. Hence Leonnatos, who
held no independent command before the campaign in Sogdiana, is

not mentioned by the sources, except in non-military situations.

27 Hegesias, FGrHist 142 F5 = Dion. Hal. de Comp. Verb. 18 p.123-

126R.

28 B. Perrin, "Genesis and Growth of an Alexander-myth," TAPA 26

(1895) 59-68; Tarn 2.265-270, Appendix 11: "The Death of Batis."

23 Arr. 3.5.5, who gives the form 'AppdBas; see Berve 2.85, no.

156, s.v. 'ApUBBog; for the name, which is. Epeirot, see Hoffmann,
Die Makedonen 176-177, who prefers 'ApYBBog on the basis of in-
scriptional evidence. See also Appendix 1.

30 Berve 2.275, no. 554, s.v; Nbu&va.
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In the affairs of Philotas, Kleitos and Kallisthenes,
therefére, we see the non-military activities of the somato-
phylax Leonnatos. In Curtius' account of the Philotas-affair,
he accompanies Perdikkas, Krateros, Hephaistion, Koinos and
Efigyios (and some others, unnamed) to Alexandérls tent shortly
before Philotas' arrest.31 Probably he was one of Philotas'
vigorous opponents, who conspired against him once the news of
Dimnos' treachery became known, but we cannot say if he was one
of Philotas' tormentors; certainly he was not one of the obvious
beneficiaries of the affair. He is not heard of again until the
Kleitos-episode, again in the account given by Curtius.

Leonnatos' role in the struggle that resulted in Kleitos'
death, as described by Curtius, has caused some difficulties.
According to Curtius, when Alexander assailed Kleitos, Perdikkas
and Ptolemy attempted to restrain him, while Lysimachos and Leon-
natos took away his spear; all appear to have acted in their
capacities as somatophylakes. But Curtius' version appears to be
vitiated by the testimony of Plutarch (from Chares of Mytilene33),
3 Ccure. 6.8.17.

32 cure. 8.1.46.

33 Schachermeyr, Alexander der Grosse 364. Athen. 7.277A = FGrHist

125 F9 informs us that, according to Chares, Alexander was fond

of apples. The throwing of apples in the version of Plutarch
argues at least for an eye-witness source. Chares gave information
of this sort (Z.e., from daily Court-life), and the detail about
the apples (though hardly a firm basis for evaluation) may suggest
him as a source. See Kornemann, Die Alexandergeschichte 249; R.
Schubert, "Der Tod des Kleitos," Rh. Mus’ 53 (1898) 98-120; T.S.
Brown, '""Callisthenes and Alexander," AJP 70 (1949) 240, isdlates
Kallisthenes but does not recognise Chares. Cf. Pearson, LHA 50-
61.
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which is preferred by most modern scholars.34 According to
Plutarch, it was a certain Aristophanes, termed owﬂdTowﬁkdE,

who disarmed Alexander (though the weapon in this case was a
dagger” *AAéEav6p0S. .. TS éyxeLpldLov érfTer. Thv 68 cwﬁaTo¢UA&u@v
év5g ’ApL0To¢dvoug ¢9doavtos voeAfodor, Alex. 51.5-6). Now

it is a matter of some dispute who this somatophylax was, for

there was no known member of the elite corps named Aristophanes.
The name was emended by Palmerius to read "Aristonous'" (a known
member of the somatophylakes35), and it is a simple and sensible
emendation. Berve's rejection of it.as "nicht nur reine Willklr,
sondern auch sachlich falsch"36 in favour of an actual Aristophanes,
who was a member of the hypaspists (to whom the term somatophylakes

was at times applied37), has been shown to be incorrect by K. Ziegler.38

34 Brown, AJP 70 (1949) 237; Hamilton, PA 139; Schachermeyr,

Alexander der Grosse 362ff.; Berve 2.207-208; Kornemann,
Die Alexandergeschichte 248-251. But Schubert, Rh. Mus.
53 (1898) 99, points out "eine Verschmelzung von zwei ver-
schiedenen Originalberichten.,"

3 gerve 2.69, no. 133, s.v. 'Aptotdvouvg; for the names see

Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 171; also Kaerst, RE II.1 (1895)

967-968, s.v. "Aristonous (7)." Cf. W. HUnerwadel, Forschungen
3ur Geschichte Kbnigs Lysimachos von Thrakien, Diss. ZUrich, 1910,
10. See also Hamilton, PA 143,

36 Berve 2.69, n.2; cf. 2.74, no. 136, s.v.  ApuoTtogdvns.

37 Berve 1.28,an.1; Tarn 2.135-142; see Appendix 1.

38 K. Ziegler, "Plutarchstudien," Fh. Mus. 84 (1935) 379-380.



96

He pointed out that in the very sentence in which Aristophanes
is described as somatophylax Plutarch speaks of the hypaspistar,
whom Alexander summoned; it is doubtful that Plutarch used two
different terms to apply to the same unit within the same sentence.
According to the ''corrected" version of Plutarch, therefore, it
was Aristonous the Bodyguard, and not Lysimachos and Leonnatos,
who disarmed the King. But is this actually the case?

To determine who did what is such a chaotic instance is
not possible. But it also is not true that Curtius' wversion
is vitiated by that of Plutarch. Plutarch's version involves
the removal of Alexander's own dagger, which was the first weapon
that he might be expected to reach for, if he carried it on his
person. The wording of the Greek in this case makes it unlikely
that this was a case of Aristonous taking the dagger from Alexander;
indeed, it would have been a rather comic scene. Plutarch says that
Alexander searched for hisdgggek(écﬁfeb), but Aristonous had anti-
cipated the events (¢%&cdvfog) and removed'(ﬁwekéo%db) it. Now,
unless we are to imagine Alexander groping in vain at his waist
for the weapon, which Aristonous, like some light-fingered thief,
had dexterously snatched away, we must assume that the dagger lay
nearby and that Aristonous, with forethought, had taken it out of
harm's way. Quite different, and in no way contradictory, is the
account given by Curtius, in which Alexander, in need of a weapon,
snatches a spear from one of the bodyguards (Adlexander rapta lancea
ex manibus armigeri: 8.1.45). This then is the weapon that Leon-
natos and Lysimachos wrested from Alexander, who was now incensed

by the insolence of Kleitos. Certainly all the somatophylakes were


http://somatophyZ.dk.es
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present at the banquet, as Plutarch implies, and as we should
expect.39 Very likely each one attempted, in his own way, to
avert the disaster, but we are not in a position to say who did
what.

Leonnatos, according to Arrian (4.12.2), ridiculed the
abortive attempt to introduce proskynesis at the Macedonian
Court. Arrian writes: &XAd qu&ﬁé y&p stoﬂévné ént Tolg deoug
&vacr&vrag Tepolv TOVS npecBUT&Toﬁé Egekfis mpoonuvelv. Aeovv&fov
&€, Eva TV éfdﬁpwv, éneLd TLg €6dueL T Tepodv aﬁf@ 00U €V
udoﬁ@ TpooHLVAoAL , oy 62 émL#éA&odL f@ oxﬁﬁdtb‘roﬁ Mepood be
TaneLvg*  nal Todf@ xarendvovto zéte ’Akégdvépov guvdkxdyﬁvau
od8Lg. Berve believes that the man in question is not Leonnatos
the Bodyguard (though Arr. 2.12.5 calls him Evo TV etalpwv),
since Arrian refers to him in all other instances (where he is
specifically identified) as 6 cwﬁaTomdkdg (e.g., 4.21.4;5 4,24,10;
6.9.3; 6.22.3), once he has related that Leonnatos became a Body-
guard (3.5.5). Therefore, Berve éoncludes, this Leonnatos is the
son of Antipatros of Aigai, the same Leonnatos whom Nearchos named
as one of the trierarchoi at the Hydaspes River.40 I find Berve's
equating of this Leonnatos with the one of Arrian's proskynesis-

episode unconvincing.

39 Plut. Alex..51.11.

0 Berve 2.235, no. 467, s.v. Aeovvdtog. Cf. Arr. Ind. 18.6
= Nearchos, FGrHist 133 Fl.- He is not the son of Antipatros
the Regent, who was from Palduraa
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Berve's argument is too dogmatic .and over-simplifies
Arrian's use of terminology: '"Dass es sich nicht um den gleich-
namigen Somatophylax...handelt..., zeigt deutlich [my emphagis]
der erklHrende Zusatz Arrians...&vo fmv éfuﬁpwv."4l But there
can be no talk of consistent or inconsistent usages in Arrian:
Arrian does not apply the epithet o cwﬂdTowﬁkdE to Leonnatos
until 4.21.4 (that is, after heshas related the proskynesis-
episode), nor does this epithet derive from the same source
as the phrase €vo Tiv €talpwv. Both passages in which Leonnatos
is described as a member of the Hetairoi derive from writers
other than Ptolemy, who is clearly responsible for the designation
of him as somatophylax.42 Thus it is perfectly reasonable to
find Leonnatos referred to as a member of the Hetairoi at 4.12.2,
even though he became somatophylax at 3.5.5 (one does not exclude
the other).43 Furthermore, if we are to confine the argument to
what is, and what is nof, explicitly stated in the sources, we
€an’ . not say with certainty that Antipatros' son, Leonnatos, was
a member of the Hetairoi; Berve's guess that he was may be correct,

but that is implicit.44

1 Berve 2.235.

42 For the sources of Arr. 2.12.5 see notes 19 and 20 supra.

For Arr. 4.12.2 see Kornemann, Die Alexandergeschichte 142,
who thinks chapters 10-12 comprise "Einlagen...aus anderen’
Quellen"; cf. Strasburger, Ptolemaios wund Alexander 40, who
categorises chapters 10-12 as Aeydueva.

43 The somatophylakes were all hetairoi, though only seven hetairoi

were somatophylakes. G.S. Stagakis, "Observations on the ETAIPOI
of Alexander the Great," Ancient Macedonia, Thessaloniki, 1970, 86-
102, exaggerates the difficulty.

4 Berve 1.31.
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More important is the historical situation. The man
who laughed at the spectacle of Persians grovelling before
Alexander was a man of rank, to whom the act of prostration
was abhorrent and who must certainly have regarded the Mace-
donian king as primus inter pares aﬁd Persians as inferiors.
This will have been true of Leonnatos the Bodyguard, who was
of the highest nobility. Alexander's anger was short—lived,
as we are told; he might have dealt more severely with a lesser
individual. Now none of these points rules out Leonnatos, son
of Antipatroes, but he must be regarded as the less likely can-
didate. Arrian's use of the phrase évd f&v éfdﬁpwv, which does
not rule out Leomnatos the Bodyguard, will more likely refer
to him than to the obscure and once-attested son of Antipatros.
The latter's temporary disfavour with Alexander would scarcely
be significant.

The same story is told by Curtius (Kléitarchos?) about
Polyperchon, though in a more sensational form,45 while Plutarch
substitutes the name of KaSsandros, the eldest son of Antipatros
the Regent.46 Curtius is certainly wrong, on the basis of his
-own testimony. Polyperchon was not present when the proskynesis
scene took place. Arrian tells..us that Polyperchon, Attalos and
Alketas were left behind with Krateros in Sogdiana to complete the

subjugation of Paraitakene, while Alexander moved south into Baktriaj;

45 curt. 8.5.22.

46 Plut. Alex. 74.2-5; cf. Hamilton, PA 206. See Berve 2,201-202,

s.v. Kdooavépog.
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it was in Baktria that the conspiracy of the Pages was un-
covered (Arr. 4.22,1-2). Since Attalos, Alketas and Krateros,
with whom Polyperchon had left Alexander's camp, were informed
of the Pages' conspiracy by letter (Plut. Alex. 55.6) and since
their departure from the main camp is dated by Curtius (8.5.2)
to before the proskynesis-episode, it appears that Polyperchon
was not present when Alexander attempted to introduce proskynesis
and could not have ridiculed it.47 Plutarch's failure to men-
tion Polyperchon among those who were informed by letter is per-
haps explained by Polyperchon's separate mission to Bubacene, of
which only Curtius speaks.48 Polyperchon, therefore, should not
be connected with this incident; Curtius has confused him with
Leonnatos, who certainly was present. As for Kassandros, son
of Antipatros, his participation in the affair must be the pro-
duct of later writers, influenced by the antipathy of Kassandros
and Polyperchon, and by the tradition that Alexander was hostile
to Antipatros and his sons.49

Thus, while Leonnatos, son of Antipatros of Aigai, is re-
motely possible as the man named by Arrian in the proskynesis-

episode, he is unlikely; there is no reason to suppose that this

7 Berve 2,326 believes that '"die Tatsache [Z.e., Polyperchon
ridiculing the Persians] selbst ist nicht zu bezweifeln, zumal
sie zu dem starr makedonischen Charakter des P, stimmt...."
See 'Chapter 3: Krateros, ' n.75.

48 Curt. 8.5.2.

4 » ) s » ) 3 -~ \' ..~ - .
? Plut. Alex. 74.2: MdALcTOo. & AvtCnatpov €goBelTo nal Toug matdag,

&v "Idrag udv dpxrorvoxdos Av, 0 68 Kdoavspos &gtuTo uEV vewotl....
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is not the somatophylax, to whom Arrian refers in all other
cases.‘50 AHe incurred Ale%ander's displeasure, though only
briefly, as Arrian implies and as we may deduce from Leonnatos'
career.51 Badian (followed by Hamiltonsz) speaks of this in-
cident as "retard[ing] his advancement" and believes that
Leonnatos "rehabilitated himself by outstanding courage,"
whereby Badian must refer to the heroism against the Malloi.53
But Alexander's anger must have been very short-lived, for
Leonnatos' military career, which had only begun in the spring
of 327 (Z.e., just before the experiment with proskynesis),
suffered nothing adverse when the army set out for India at

the end of spring of that same year.

50 Arrian mentions no other Leonnatos in the Anabasis. The name

is only twice attested in this period, but it is known in later
times; cf. Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 168-169, n.75. See also
Badian, TAPA 91 (1960) 337, n.34, who rejects Berve's identi-
fication with Leonnatos no.467.

o1 In the case of Polyperchon, Curtius says that his disfavour

lasted some time: Polyperconti quidem postea castigato diu
ignovity 8.6.1.

o2 Hamilton, PA 54.

>3 Badian, TAPA 91 (1960) 337: "...Leonnatus. seems to have in-

curred the king's displeasure by contributing to the ridicule
that killed the attempt to introduce proskynesis among the
Macedonians. This must have retarded his advancement. When
he rehabilitated himself by outstanding courage and loyalty,
his rise was rapid, culminating in the great honor he received
at Susa."

54 s
The affair of the Pages, and the arrest of Kallisthenes, occurred

in Baktria in 327 (Arr. 4.22.2); the proskynesis-episode must have
been shortly before this, and after the marriage of Alexander.and

Rhoxane., Cf. Berve 2.346-347; '"Die Verschmelzungspolitik Alexanders

des Grossen," KlZio 31 (1938) 152-153 = Griffith, Main Problems 120~
121; Brown, AJP 70 (1949) = Griffith, Main Problems 49; Fox 320ff.
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If we are to single out any event that may have won
back the King's favour for Leonnatos; we might consider his
part in the affair of the Pages. According to Curtius, Eury-
lochos, the brother of Charikles, brought the news of the Pages'.
conspiracy to Alexander/through the agency of Ptolemy, son of
Lagos, and Leonnatos.55 Arrian does not mention Leonnatos, only
Ptolemy, who was doubtless eager to win for himself sole credit
for the disclosure.56 We knownnothing further of his activities
in this connexions

Leonnatos' first military command dates to the spring of
327 and, therefore, chronologically before éhe conspiracy of
the Pages. This amounted to the leadership of the forces that
besieged the "Rock of Chorienes" by night, a task that Leonnatos
fulfilled in rotation with his fellow-somatophylakes, Perdikkas
and Ptolemy.57 We know nothing else about this command, but it
marks (as far as we can tell) Leonnatos' entry into the military
sphere. When the army left Baktria for India,iwith Hephaistion

and Perdikkas sent to the Indus,58 Leonnatos and Ptolemy emerged

3 Curt. 8.6.22. See Berve 2.159, 407, nos. 322, 824, g.vv. EdpS-.

Aoxog, XapuuAfic; cf. T.S. Brown, AJP 70 (1949) 240ff.; J. Seibert,
Untersuchungen zur Geschichte Ptolemaios I. (Milnchener Beitrlge

- Bur Papyrusférschung und antiken Rechtsgeschichte, Heft 56)
Munich, 1969, 18-19,

56 Arr. 4.13.7. Cf. Berve 2.152-153, 191-199, nos. 305, 408, s.vv.

‘Epudraos, Kariio9évng. See Seibert, loe. cit.; Strasburger,
Ptolemaios und Alexander 40; Kornemann, Die Alexandergeschichie 143.

27 prr. 4,21.4, Cf. F. von Schwarz, Alexander des Grossen Feldzlige in

Turkestan, Munich, 1893, 21-23, 83ff.; Fuller, Generalship 244-245.

>8 Arr. 4.22.7; 30.9; 5.3.5; Curt. 8.10.2-3; Metz Epit. 48; V. Smith,

EHI 53, 63.
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as prominent commanders of that segment of the army under
Aleéander's personal leadership. Both were wounded in the
territory around the Choes River,59 though not seriously,
for each commanded one~third of Alexander's forces in the
campaign that drove the Aspasians into the hills; Leonnatos'
forces included the taxeis of pezhetairoi under the command
of Attalos, son of Andromenes, and Bélakros.60 While Ptolemy
relates the activities of his own division in some detail,
we know little about Leonnatos' forces other than that they
were equally successful in driving the Aspasians from their
positions in the hills and bringing about their defeat.61
Leonnatos had, at least, proved himself a competent commander.
At the Hydaspes River, Aleiander faced Poros with his en-
tire force and, since he had more experienced military men at
his disposal, he used Leonnatos in a lesser capacity. Curtius
names Leonnatos as an infantry-commander, together with Anti-

2 _ . ,
~ genes and Tauron,6 and says that he crossed the Hydaspes some

39 Arr. 4.23.3.

60 Arr. 4.24.10. Cf. Berve .2. 101, no. 201 ‘8.v. Bakuupog Kaerst,

RE TII.2 (1896) 2816, 's.v, "Balakros (4). v

61 Arr. 4.25.3.

62 Curt{.8 14,15, Cf. Berve 2.41, 371-372, nos. 83, -741, s.vv.

Avrbyévng, Taupwv.
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distance upstream from the main camp that faced Poros' army.

But Berve has correctly maintained that a comparison of the

texts of Arrian and Curtius reveals that Curtius has mistaken

Leonnatos for Seleukos, and that the company of infantry in

question are, in fact, the hypaspists.63 Other than this, there

is no mention of Leonnatos in the battle against Poros.

Presumably his activities were similar to those of Ptolemy,

with whom he shared the rank of somatophylax and whose earlier

fq . 64 . . .
military career was somewhat similar. But this is of little

help, for we know only that the somatophylakes, Perdikkas, Ptolemy

and Lysimachos, crossed the Hydaspes in the same triakonter as

Alexander;65 of the other somatophylakes Arrian says nothing,

though Hephaistion, as Aipparch, certainly crossed the river

. 66 . . .
at the same time. Curtius, on the other hand, is of little

use, for he greatly exaggerates the role and importance of Ptolemy

in

63

64

65

66

67

this battle.67 We must assume that, as somatophylax, Leonnatos

Arr. 5.12.1ff. Berve 2.233.

Berve 2,329-335, no. 668, s.v. Nltorepafog. Seibert, Unter-
suchungen zur Geschichte Ptolemaios (n.55 supra), omits this

part of Ptolemy's career entirely. Leonnatos and Ptolemy appear
together in a number of instances during these years: Curt. 8.1.46;
Arr. 4.21.43 Curt. 8.6.22; Arr. 4.23.3; 4.24.10; 4.25.3; Curt.
8.14.15; Plut. Mor. 344D; Arr. 6.28.4.

Arr. 5.13.1. But cf. Berve 2.172, n.1l.

For a discussion of the battle in general see the literature cited
in "Chapter 1: Hephaistion,'' n.79.

Curt. 8.13.17-27.
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accompanied Alexander when he crossed the Hydaspes and that he
fought among the troops that were directly under Alexander's

control, namely, the cavalry-units of Hephaistion and Perdikkas

and the ile basilike.®®

In the march to the Hyphasis and back we hear nothing of
Leonnatos. His name reappears in the list of some thirty
trierarchoi at the Hydaspes River in late 326, some three or
four months after the battle with Poros.69 These thirty were
given trierarchies of the Attic type, that is, they were respon-
sible for meeting the expenses of fitting out a triereme.70 But
he did not command a ship; this is clear from the roles of some
of the other trierarchoi = and from Leonnatos' activities near
Pattala.71 Since he was among the forces that habitually ac-

companied the King, he very likely sailed down-river with him

68 Arr. 5.16; Curt. 8.14.15.

69 Arr. Ind. 18.3-10 = Nearchos, FGrHist 133 Fl. For a discussion

of the chronology of Alexander's expedition see Beloch 1112 2,304~
322, "Die Chronologie der Feldzlige Alexanders," esp. 320. The
departure of the fleet and the land-forces is dated by Strabo 15.
692 (= Aristoboulos, FGrHist 139 F35) to "a few days before the
setting of the Pleiddes" (npd S6Voewc mAerddog ol moAialg nudparc).

70 See most recently H, Hauben, "The Expansion of Macedonian Sg&a-

Power under Alexander the Great," Ane. Soe. 7 (1976) 91; U.
Wilcken (188) suggested that this had a further consideration:
"to give a personal interest in the enterprise to his immediate
followers." See also Berve 1.165-166.

1 E.g., Hephaistion and Krateros, who commanded the land-forces

in the descent of the Indus. TFor Leonnatos' activities see below.
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as far as the confluence of the Hydaspes and the Akesines and
later accompanied him by land in the campaign against the Malloi,
who lived between the Akesines and Hydraotgs Rivers.72

It was in this campaign against the Malloi that Leonnatos
played one of his most noteworthy - though again disputed - parts.
Alexander had taken the Malloi by surprise, marching through the
desert that lay between the rivers, rather than marching north,
as the Indians themselves anticipated, from the junction of the
rivers.73 When the Malloi withdrew to their main city and Alexander
sought to inspire his war-weary Macedonians by being the first to
scale the city-walls, near-disaster struck. Very few of the
Macedonians managed to join Alexander at the top before the
ladders gave way, and Alexander, seeing that he was cut off
from his troops, leapt from the walls inside the city, where
he was wounded by an enemy missile.74 Several of his followers
rushed to his aid, though it is not clear from the sources e#actly
who these were. One is certain: Peukestas, who was made an eighth

somatophylax for his part in saving the King's life.75 The others

2 Arr. 6.2.3ff.; Curt. 9.3.24.

/3 Arr. 6.4, esp. 6.4.3; Curt. 9.4.15ff. is ignorant of Alexanderis

strategy. See Fuller, Generalship 259-263; Wilcken 190; Hamiilton,
PA 1763 V., Smith, EHT 98ff.; Breloer, Alexanders Bund mit Poros:
Indien von Dareios zu Sandrokottos, Leipzig, 1941, 29ff,

74 Arr. 6.8.4-13.5 for a full account of Alexander's activities;

cf. Curt. 9.4.26-5.30; Diod. 17.98-100.1; Plut. Alex. 63; Mor.
327B; 341C; 343D; 344C-D; Strabo 15.701; Justin 12.9.3-13; Oros.
3.19.6-10; Itiner. 115-116; Metz Epit. 76-77; Ps.-Kall. 3.4,12-
15; Zon. 4.13, p.299, 16; Iulian. conv. 331A; cf. Hamilton, PA
176ff.; Kornemann, Die Alexandergeschichte 82-85.

> Berve 2,318-319, no. 634, s.v. NeOndoras; Hoffmann, Die Makedonen

177-178; Arr. 6.28.3-4.
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pose problems. Aristonous and Ptolemy are named, but the for-
mer is mentioned only by Curtius, while Ptolemy himself (against
the testimony of Kleitarchos) said that he was not present at the

7 . . \ .
battle. 6 Three others are named in connexion with the incident:

Habréas and Limnaios (= Timaeus), who were both killed,77 and

Leonﬁatos, who for his heroism was crowned at Sousa by Alekander.78
Both Habreas and Leonnatos are disputed, as Arrian tells-us:

UTEP Aeovv&Tou 5¢ oﬁnéfu guﬁmépodeL o06e UnEp “ARp€ou foﬁ 6LﬁoppCTou

(6.11.7). But this does not mean, as Berve suggests, that "[Limnaios]

wird von einem Teil der Uberlieferung (Plut. 63; de fort. Alex. 1.2

P.327B; II.13 p. 344D) an Stelle des auch nicht sicher bezeugten

Leonnatos (nr. 466; Arr. VI,11,7) beim Kampf um die Mallerstadt ge-

nannt."79 Plutarch (Alex. 63; Mor. 327B) does fail to mention

6 curt. 9.5.21: Ptolomaeum, qui postea regnavit, huic pugnae ad-
fuisse auctor est Clitarchus et Timagenes; sed ipse, scilicet
~gloriae suae non refragatus afuisse se, missum in expeditionem,
memoriae tradidit. Cf. Arr. 6.11.8; 6.5.6-7; Kornemann, Die
Alexandergeschichte 82-85. See also R.M. Errington, "Bias in
Ptolemy's History of Alexander," CQ n.s: 19 (1969) 235, 239,

77 Berve 2.5-6, no. 6, s.v. ‘ABpfac; Kirchner, RE I.1 (1893) 110,

s.v. "Abreas"; Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 222; he is named only by
Arrian, whom Droysen, Hellenismus 1.368-369, follows; cf. Schacher-
meyr, Alexander der Grosse 455; Kornemann, Die Alexandergeschichte
254. Limnaios (Plut.), Timaeus (Curt.), see Berve 2.237, no. 474,
s.v. Acuvoalog; Niese 1.143; n.3; Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 147.

78 Curt. 9.5.15, 17 (with Peukestas, Aristonous, Timaeus); Plut.

Mor. 344D (with Ptolemy, Limnaios); not mentioned by Mor. 327B
(only Ptolemy and Limnaios); Arr. Ind.19.8 = Nearchos, FGrHist
133 F1 (with Peukestas); Arr. 6.9.3; 6.10.1-2 (with Peukestas,
Habreas); 6.11.7 (his role is not attested by all sources),

And cf. Arr. Ind. 23.6; Arr. 7.5.5, where he is crowned, in part
for saving Alexander's life.

9 Berve 2,237,
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Leonnatos, but he does not substitute Limnaios for Leonnatos
(in fact, they appear‘together in Mor. 344D). What does happen
instead is that Limnaios-Timaeus of Plutarch-Curtius replaces
Habreas, who is known only to Arrian (Ptolemy and/or Aristoboulos).80
But, when Arrian says that there was no agreement on the matter of
Leonnatos (Unep Aeovvdtou 68 oﬁnéfu Euﬁmépovrab), he must mean that
Leonnatos was not named by every work that he consulted; this is
indeed true of the extant authors. If the extant records reflect
accurately their primary sources, then this means that Arrian's
sources were not unanimous on the subject of Leonnatos among the
Malloi. If there was a dispute about individuals, it involved
Limnaios and Habreas, both of whom were killed in the battle. Cer-
tainly, it will have been easier to confuse the names of the ob-
scure dead than of a wounded, but living, hero.81

From the city of the Malloi to the junction of the Akesines
and Hydraotes, and thence to Pattala, Leonnatos accompanied
Alexander by ship. In the first instance,.this will have been
on account of his wounds, in the second, because he belonged to
eos..., qui comitari eum [sc. Alexandrum] solebant, whom Curtius
speaks of as accompanying Alexander by shipls2 At Pattala, Leon-

natos, now recovered from his wounds, led a force of one thousand

80'See n./77 supra for references. For the confusion of Habreas

and Limnaios (Timaeus) see myxgroupings in n.78 supra, where
it is clear that there is no confusion of Limmaios for Leon-
natos (against Berve 2.237).

81
For the dispute concerning Ptolemy see n.76 supra.

82 Curt. 9.8.3.
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cavalry and eight thousand hoplites and psiloi along the
shore of the island (which formed the delta of the Indus)
while Alexander took the fleet to the Ocean via the western
arm of the river.83 With Alexander returning upstream, Leon-
natos now retraced his. steps to Pattala., From there he ac-
companied the King, by land, along the eastern arm of the
river as far as a great lake, where he remained in charge
of his own troops and those ships with their crews  that
Alexander left behind as he took a smaller detachment to
the Ocean.84 When Alexander returned, Leonnatos, it seems,
led the land forces back to Pattala.

Having reached the Ocean, Alexander now gave thought to
returning to the West. Presumably his native informants had
told him that the region to the west lacked water, and so he
sent Leonnatos ahead to dig wells along therroute that the
army was to féllow.85 When he had completed this task, Leon-
natos awaited Alexander on the borders of the land of the Oreitai;
this was late in the summer of 325.86 Reaching the Arabios River,
Alexander left the bulk of the army under the commarnd of Hephaistion
and, dividing therrest of the army into three parts (as he had done
against the Aspasiéns.two years earlier), under the command of

Ptolemy, Leonnatos and himself, he moved south of the Arabios into

83 arr. 6.18.3.

84 Arr. 6.20.3,

85 curt. 9.10.2.

® Beloch TIIZ 2.320.
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the territory of the Oreitai, who had not submitted to him.

By means of a vigorous "sweep-programme," like the one he had
employed in Sogdiana in 329, Alexander ravaged the land and

subdued the Oreitai.87 The columns of Ptolemy and Leonnatos
reunited farst with Alexander and then with Hephaistion's

tropps. In one body they proceeded to Rhambakia, where Hephaistion
was left to settle the city, while Alexander took a force to the
Gedrosian border, where the Oreitai and the Gedrosians were pre-
paring to resist.88 When these had been overcome without much
difficulty, Alexander sent Leonnatos, together with Apollophanes,
whom he had appointed satrap of the area, to Rhabakia, presumably
with instructions to send Hephaistion ahead to Gedrosia. But
Leonnatos, with the Agrianes, some archers and cavalry, and a force
of mercenary cavalry and infantry, was ordered to remain in the
land of the Oreitai (év "onug),sg with the following instructions:
fd Te vdufbuav VROUEVELY o1’ 5y tepLAedon fﬁv xépdv wol Thv méALv
EuvoLrtZeLy Hol TO ¥ATA ToUg ’QpeCfug noouetv (Arr. 6.22.3).

Hamilton  has argued convincingly that not only does év "Qpoug

87 Curt. 9.10.6-7; Diod. 17.104.5-6; cf.tthessimilar strategy in

Sogdiana, Arr. 4.,16.,1-3; Curt. 8.1.1ff.

88 prr. 6.21.5-22.2.
83 Arr. 6.22.3.
90

J.R. Hamilton, "Alexander among the Oreitae," Historia 21 (1972)
605-606.
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mean "among the Oreitai" but the use of the definite article in
fﬁv 1ALy Euvourltely refers to the city mentioned previously
(i.e., Rhambakia, which Hephaistion had begun to synoecizegl),
and not another city, as was formerly thought.92

Sometime between Alexander's departure and the arrival of
Nearchos with the fleet, Leonnatos won an impressive victory
over the Oreitai, who had risen against him. According to the
partisan account of Nearchos, he inflicted upon the enemy heavy
casualties: "he killed six thousand of them, and all their 1eaders."93
And of his own forces Leonnatos lost only fifteen cavalrymen and
a handful of infantry; Apollophanes the satrap fell in the battle.94
When Nearchos arrived at the shore near hazlmbakia,g5 Leonnatos had
prepared provisions for his Ocean-voyage. He also exchanged troops

with Nearchos taking with him those men who, on account of their

laziness, had caused or might cause disciplinary problems on the

fleet.96 After Nearchos' departure, Leonnatos put everything in
o Arr, 6.21.5.
92

Wilcken 199; see also the literature cited by Hamilton, op. ctit.,
603, n.1, though I am baffled by the reference to Droysen III.2,
P-233 (I find that Droysen, Hellenismus 1.391, appears to agree
with Hamilton that Leonnatos finished Hephaistion's work at Rham-
bakia: '""die Kolonisation der neuen Stadt zu vollendesd").

93 Arr. Ind. 23.5 = Nearchos, FGrHist 133 Fl.

94 Ibid. On the fate of Apollophanes see Badian, "Harpalus," JHS 81

(1961) 21,

9> Arr. 6.22.3; cf. Ind. 23 = 133 F1.

6 - ‘ ~ ) L4 1 » ~ ” . v ) 3 . ’
2 Ind. 23.8: nat t@v voutéwy Goou év T Epyy BranedeLv épaLvovTo Nedpxw.
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order among the Oreitai (as he had been instructed) and set out
for Gedrosia by land. The news ofihis exploits had already reached
Aleéander by letter,97 but it is uncertain where Leonnatos himself
rejoined Alexander; perhaps it was in Karmania, though possibly
only at Sousa.
Sousa marked the high-point in Leonnatos' career under
Alexander. He was awarded a golden crown in honour of his
courage in India and his victory oVer the Oreitai.98 Pre-
sumably he took a Bersian bride in the marriage-ceremony at
Sousa, though we have no record of this; nor is there any mention
of his bride. Whoever she was, she was doubéless repudiated by
Leonnatos shortly afterward, and, unlike Amastris, the Persian
bride of Krateros, she had no known history under the Diadochi.gg
When Alexander died suddenly in Babylon, Leonnatos emerged
as one of the strong-men of the succession-crisis: together with

Perdikkas and Ptolemy, he belonged to ol up€yLotol T@v (nndwv nal

TGV Nyeudvwv, as opposed to those lesser lights, [ol] pet’ éuelvouc.

97 Curt. 9.10.19.

% Arr. Ind. 23.6; 42.9; Anab. 7.5.5. It is doubtful that he was

crowned a second time when "Hephaistion and the other somato-
phylakes" were crowned (7.5.6).

99 Berve 2.24, no. 50, s.v. "Apactpus; cf. Wilcken, RE I.2 (1894)

1750, s.v. "Amastris (7); and also my Chapter 3: Krateros.

100 Arr. Suce. Ia.2.

100
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In the debate that followed, in which the supporters of Perdikkas
proposed that Rhoxane's as-yet-unborn child (if indeed a son was

born) should inherit the kiﬁgdom, it was suggested by Peithon, one

of the Bodyguard, that Leonnatos share with Perdikkas the guardian-
ship of the child, on the ground that both were of royal stock (stirpe
regia genitos: Curt. 10.7.8).101 But when the common soldiery, in-
cited by Meleagros, declared for the feeble Arrhidaios, whom they
hailed as King under the title Philip III, Leonnatos led the cavalry,
the backbone of Perdikkas' support, outside the city of Babylon,

while Perdikkas himself remained within the city in the hope of win-
ning over the infantry. But Perdikkas' stay was brief, owing to the
hostility of Meleagros, who had convinced the confused Arrhidaios

that Perdikkas must be killed, and he soon rejoined Leonnatos and

the cavalry.102 At this point our knowledge of Leonnatos' activities
in the struggle for power at Babylon breaks off, for his cause was
essentially that of Perdikkas, who dominates the ancient sources.103
But, whatever Leonnatos' hopes were - and his earlier naming as a
guardian together with Perdikkas (whose ambitious designs Leonnatos

was intended to keep in check) suggests that he could have hoped for

considerable power -, he must have been disappointed by the outcome.

101 Cf. Justin 13.2.13-14.
102 ¢urt. 10.7.20; 10.8.4.
103

That Leonnatos whole-heartedly supported Perdikkas' regency is
doubtful, but the high-ranking officers will have been unanimous
in their opposition to Meleagros and Philip Arrhidaios. For a
full discussion, with the modern literature, see Chapter 4: Per-
dikkas.
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Perdikkas, once he had overcome Meleégros, became the de facto
ruler of the Asian empire, for he had both the figure-head,
Philip Arrhidaios, and the royal armies firmly under his control;
there was no further talk of special authority for Leonnatos once
the cavalry and infantry had been reconciled.

In the settlement of 323 (the much-debated Reichsordnung of
Babylon), Leonnatos was left somewhat out in the cold. A strong
supporter of Perdikkas (at least in the struggle with Meleagros),
he must have been dissatisfied with the satrapy of Hellespontine
Phrygia, despite its strategic location?'04 Did Perdikkas, in fact,
think that Leonnatos would act in his interests? If so, he was
quickly disappointed, for Léonnatos began immediately to intrigue
against Perdikkas and-the marshals of the empire. He had been
contacted by the sister of Alexander,.the widow of Alexandros of
Epéiros, Kleoﬁatra, through whom he hoped to gain power; for she
had offered her hand in marriage, perhaps at Olympias' instigationm,
and such a marriage carried with it a serious - possibly "legiti-

mate'" - claim to the throne of Macedon.105

104 Arr. Suce. Ia.6; Ib.2; Curt. 10.10.2; Diod. 18.3.1; and 18.12.1

“(where "Philotas'" is written instead of Leonnatos); Justin 13.4.
16. Consider R.M. Errington's remarks: "Leonnatus acquired a
crucial satrapy in exchange - which Perdiccas could scarcely
deny him - but his subsequent career shows his thwarted ambition,

and his later disloyalty to Perdiccas may have originated in this

rebuff" ("From Babylon to Triparadeisos: 323-320 B.C.," JHS 90
[1970] 57).

105 Plut. Fumenes.3.8-9. TFor Kleopatra see Bérve 2.212-213, no. 433,

s.v. Kieondtpa; StHhelin, RE XI.1 (1921) 735-738, s.v. "Kleopatra
(13)." See also Macurdy, Hellenistic Queens 30ff., esp. 36-37;
Droysen, Hellenismus 2.37; Geyer, RE XII.2 (1925) 2037; Errington,
op. cit. 60.
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Leonnatos certainly was not content to play 'second fiddle"
to Perdikkas. When he received orders to aid Eumenes in wresting
his satrapy of Kappadokia from Ariarathes, he had already formulated
his plan to overthrow Perdikkas.106 Undoubtedly he was encouraged
by the insubordination of Antigonos, satrap of Phrygia, who refused
Perdikkas' instructions that he also should support Eumenes; nor
will he have failed to recognise that Perdikkas did not have the
strong backing of the generals. Peithon, Ptolemy, Philotas, Anti-
gonos, all were seditious.107 But with Eumenes Leonnatos miscal-
culated, thinking that he would find in him a willing ally. It is
difficult to say whether Eumenes was loyal to Perdikkas from the
start or if he was forced into his camp by the circumstances.

Renewed turmoil in Greece offered Leonnatos his pretext for
crossing the Hellespont and seeking the throne; for Antipatros,
blockaded at Lamia in Thessaly by Leosthenes and his forces, sent
Hekataios of Kardia to summon both Krateros and Leonnatos to Greece.
Now, it appears, Leonnatos made a serious error, for he attempted to
persuade Eumenes to cross into Europe with him, ostensibly in aid

of Antipatros, in reality to win the Macedonian throne for himself.

106 Plut. Eumenes 3,4-5,

107 For Peithon's designs in the upper satrapies see Diod. 18.4.8; 18.

7.1-9. Ptolemy's opposition to Perdikkas' regency can be seen in
the succession-debate, Curt. 10.6.13-16; Justin 13.2.11-12; for his
fear of Perdikkas' intentions Diod. 18.14.1-2. Philotas was removed
from his satrapy (Justin 13.6.16) on account of his loyalty to
Krateros (Arr. Suce. 24.9-11). For Antigonos' insubordination see
Plut. Fumenes 3.4-5.

108 Plut. E4m. 3.6; Diod. 18.12.1 (see n.104 supra); 18.14.4-5; Justin

13.5.14-15.
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He revealed to Eumenes the details of his correspondence with
Kleopatra, but in this matter he misjudged Eumenes; who had no
intention of joining forces with him on account of his arch-
rival Hekataios. While Alexander lived, Eumenes had denounced
Hekataios, urging the King to depose him and restore eleutheria
to the Kardians. Now he feared that Antipatros would kill him

in order to please Hekataios.lo9 Therefore, during the night,

Eumenes and his forces slipped away from Leonnatos, bringing the
news of Leonnatos' designs to Perdikkas.110 Disappointed in his
hopes of winning Eumenes' support, Leonnatos crossed into Europe
without awaiting Krateros; but fortune was not with him. He fell

on the battlefield at Krannon in Thessaly, as did his Greek opponent

Leosthenes.111 Antipatros may indeed, as Justin claims, have wel-

comed the death of Leonnatos.112

109 Plut. Eumenes 3.8-10. Vezin, Eumenes von Kardia 27-28, argues

that Eumenes, as a Greek, was not eager to assist in suppressing
this most recent Greek uprising. Vezin (28)..suggests that "Leon-
nats Ubereilte Offenheit ihn nicht als dennMann erwies, solch eine
Absicht zu verwirklichen." Macurdy, Hellenistic Queens 36-37,
describes Leonnatos as "impetuous and easily carried away by en-
thusiasm," but he did have the support of Olympias and her
daughter (the family of Alexander still counted for something),
.and he was himself related to the royal house; thus his bid for
power could not be taken lightly.

110 Plut. Eum. 3.10; Nepos, Fum. 2,4-5, claims that Leonnatos planned

to kill Eumenes when he could not persuade him. Perhaps it was
from Eumenes' report that Perdikkas first gave thought to marrying
Kleopatra for political advantage.

WL p1ut. Phokion 25.5; Arr. Suce. 1.9; Diod. 18.15.3; Strabo 9.434;

Justin 13.5.14. Cf. Berve 2,236-237, no. 471, s.v. Aeswo9€évng.

On the Lamian War see A. Schaefer, Demosthenes wnd seine Zeit
III.359ff.

112 .
Justin 13.5.15.
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"Kurz, aber gl¥nzend ist die Rolle, welche L[eonnatos]
unter Al[exander] spielt, und sie stellt ihn in die Reihe der
ersten Heerfllhrer seiner Zeit." Thus Berve (2.235) summarises
Leonnatos' career. He was a potential unfulfilled. For the
Successors of Alexander the Great his death was perhaps a
timely one: there were already too many such men of ambition
and ability. As a personality, Leonnatos (as he is depicted
by the sources) lacks colour. Those who took the trouble to
record such things relate that he was fénd of wrestling and
gymnastics; others ascribe to him a passion for the hunt.113
If he was opposed to the oriental practice of proskynesis,
which he regarded as demeaning, he was not equally contemptuous
of Persian luxury and ostentation, though this extravagance was
most visible in his pursuit of sport and warfare. Basically,
he was a soldier and a man of action, about whom the Suda aptly
says: '"he attained a share of honour (fbﬁﬁ) in accordance with
his upbringing, his family-background, and the beauty and stature

of his body."114

113 Plut. Alex. 40.1; Pliny, NH.35.167-168 (wrestling and gymnastics);

Athen. 12.539D = Phylarchos, FGrHist 81 F4l and/or Agatharchides
of Knidos, 86.F3; Ailian, VH 9.3- (hdinting); cf. n.l supra. See
also Hamilton, P4 106.

114 Suda, s.v. Aeovvdtog. Cf. Hamilton, loc. cit.
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CHAPTER 3

‘ .1
KRATEROS: ¢LAoBooLAEVS

Krateros was a soldier and a patriot, loyal to his King,
faithful to his Macedonian origins.2 Throughout Alexander's
reign he won the respect and devotion both of the King and the
army;through an unusual combination of ability and loyalty.

Yet he did not attain greatness, even when the moment presented
itself. As a personality he appears to have been somewhat un-

inspired, and his reluctance to make a bid for supreme power
after Alexander's death may well betray a certain unsuitability
for statesmanship. But he gained quickly a reputation as a
soldier, and, among Alexander's new commanders, he was undoubtedly

the best.

. Information on Krateros can be found in the following sources:
F. Geyer, RE Supplbd IV (1924) 1038-1048, s.v. "Krateros (la)";
Berve 2.220-227, no. 446, s.v. Kpdtepog, though the accent should
be oxytone (Kpatepds); cf. Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 155. I sug-
gest the following revisions to Berve's article: p.220 read
Curt. 3.9.8 instead of 1I11,9,7; p.222 Plut. Alex. 48 is more
precisely 48.7; for Curt. VI,8,3ff. read 6.8.2ff.; Arr. IV,4,3
should read 4.3.3; Plut. 55 is Alex. 55.6 (and cf. Arr. 4.22.2
for the date); add Arr. 5.12.1; p.224 for Arr. Ind. 19 read.
Ind. 19.1, 3; add Diod. 17.96.1; Arr. VI,5,5 should read 6.5.7;
for "Hie" read "Hier"; p.226 Curt. VIII,8,2 should be 6.8.2; also
the following more precise references to Plutarch's Alexander,
p.226, line 6, 47.9; line 13, 41.5-7 and 47.10, line 19, 47.11-
12; line 29, 41.5; line 30, 40.4-5; also p.226, line 17, Eumenes
6.3. For Krateros in Arrian-Ptolemy see Kornemann, Die Alexander-
~geschichte 245-246.

2 Plut. Alex. 47.9-10.
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Krateros, son of Alexandros, came from the mountainous
canton of Orestis.3 Of his family-background very little is
known: his mother's name was Aristopatra,4 Amphoteros (later
Alexander's admiral) was his brother.5 Presumably the family
belonged to the high nobility of Upper Macedonia, for Krateros
was one of the most influential members of the Hetairoi.6 But,
since we do not know the names of any other relatives - by
blood or by marriage -, it is impossible to determine anything
further about the position of Krateros' family in relation to the
other noble houses of Orestis and Macedonia.

Neither Berve nor Geyer suggests a date for Krateros' birth,

though Berve rightly considers Amphoteros the younger brothef.7

For his father's name: Arr. Ind. -18.5; Arr. 1.25.9; cf. also
P. Perdrizet, "Venatio Alexandri," JHS 19 (1899) 274.. For
Orestis Arr. Ind. 18.5.

4 Strabo 15.702 = FGrHist 153 F2 (a letter from Krateros to his
mother).

> For Amphoteros see Berve 2.32-33, no. 68, s.v.  Augotepdbs;
Kaerst, RE 1.2 (1894) 1977, s.v. "Amphoteros (4)." ‘

® Curt. 6.8.2ff.; 6.8.17; 6.11.10; 9.6.6. On the Hetairot,
G.S. Stagakis, "Observations on the Hetairoi of Alexander the
Great," Ancient Macedonia, Thessaloniki, 1970, 86-102, creates
more problems than it solves. Krateros did not become somato-
phylax, and this may imply that his family was of lesser im-
portance . (cf. Berve's comments 1.25-26)'; certainly three of
the somatophylakes created by Alexander had connexions with

- royal houses: Perdikkas, Leonnatos, Ptolemy.

/ Berve 2.32.
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This can be reasonably inferred from Krateros' rank. And;
while it is hazardous to guess when Krateros was born; it
appears that he was considerably younger than the foremost’
generals of Philip II: Attalos; Parmenion; Antipatroé.
Krateros' promotion was quick and steady; and  this suggests -
that he was a younger man With'ability; rather than a middle- -
aged man whose career prospered only when Alexander came to
the'thrbne;' Perhaps he was born,after337oiB:C: ‘Later cases -
of i1l health will be ascribable to the effects:of wounds and
hard campaigning rafher’than toold_agev.r9

Krateros' story is predominantly military;~and4it is :full
of aCCOmplishment;' We hear nothing of him befbré,334;2nor is it
possible to determine if he took part in.Alekander's‘European ,
Campaigns; But he must have commanded. from the very start of
the'Asi;ticrexpedition his own]f&gﬂg;Of‘mecéfdbpou;'probably :

. . . : . .. 10
. comprising troops recruited from the region of Orestis.”  He

Berve 2.94, no. 182, 's.v. "Attolog, born ca 380, but perhaps
earlier; see my "Introduction."” 2.298-306,.no. 606, :s.v.. .
Napueviwv, born 400 B.C.; 2.46=51, no. 94, s.v. ' Aytluotpos,
born 398. R

Krateros' wounds: Plut. Alex. 41.5; Arr. 4.3.3; ill health:
Plut. Alex. 41.6-7; Arr. 7.12.4..

lQ The evidence for Krateros' tdiug (pdrayg):- Arr. 1.14.2-3;.

likely Arr. 2.8.4 and Curt.' 3.9.8; Arr. 3.11.10; Diod. 17.
' 57.3: Curt. 4.13.29, in error; Arr. 3.18.4; Curt. 5.4.14;
6.4.2; Arr. 3.23.2; 4.22.1.
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first appears as taxiarch at the Granikos River, where he is
stationed on the left side with the infantry-battalions of Philip-
pos and MEleagros.ll By the following year, Krateros had gained
in authority, commanding all the infantry on the left wing at the

battle of Issos; but even so he was subordinate to Parmenion, who

had supreme command over all the forces on the left.12

Early in 332, during the protracted siege of Tyre, Krateros
and Perdikkas were entrusted with the command of the besieging
forces in Alexander's absence;13 Polyainos records one instance

. , . . 1
when a Tyrian sortie was effectively countered by Krateros' troops. 4

1 Krateros' battalion appears twice in Arrian's description of

the battle-array at the Granikos (1.14.2,-3). A.B. Bosworth,
"Errors in Arrian," CQ . -~ 26 (1976) 126, is probably right
to suppose that Ptolemy and Aristoboulos gave conflicting
accounts and that "Arrian has absorbed both versions without
reconc111ng the contradiction." According to Arr. 1.14.2,
Krateros' battalion was placed between Koinos' and Amyntas'
on the right side;;1.14.3 places him on the left side with
Philippos and Meleagros, which is more 11ke1y (cf. Roos'
Teubner text, Leipzig, 1967, 32; R. Kbpke, Jahrblicher flir

- el. PhﬁZoZogze 99 [1869] 263 J.G. Droysen, Kleine Schriften

zur alten Geschichte, Leipzig, 1894, 2.222-223 = "Alexanders
des Grossen Armee," Hermes 12 [1877] 242),

12 Arr. 2.8.4; Curt. 3.9.8. Krateros is regulary on the left

side, and this points in favour of Kdpke's and Droysen's (n.1l1
supra) preference for Krateros' position on the left side at
the Granikos (Arr. 1.14.3), as opposed to the right (1.14.2).
He commands the left with the fleet at Tyre, Arr. 2.20.6; Curt.:
4.3.11; and with the land forces at Gaugamela, Arr. 3.11.10;
Curt. 4.13.29; Diod. 17.57.3.

13 Curt. 4.3.1. Arr. 2.20.4 does not mention this, but that is

hardly surprising since the command was held jointly by Krateros
and Perdikkas, the latter a victim of Ptolemy's bias. See R.M.
Errington, "Blas in Ptolemy's History of Alexander," CQ n.s. 19
(1969) 237, though he thinks this may "conceivably be an omission
of Arrian's.

L4 Polyainos 4.13; cf. Berve 2.220.
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When Alexander had prepared a formidable fleet, Krateros and
the Kypriot king, Pnytagoras, commanded the left wing in the
naval assault on Tyre.15 In the military sphere, there is no
further mention of Krateros until 331 and the battle of Gauga-
mela, where, as at Issos, he led the infantry-divisions on the
left wing but Was_again.subérdinate tO‘Parmenion.l6

After Gaugamela Krateros' advancement was steady and
rapid. On the road from Sousa to Persepolis, in the.land of
the Ouxians, Krateros was given his first independent command
over a portion (i;e;;.other'than his own taxis) of the'army;
When the Ouxians refused to allow Aleiander'passage through
their territory, he took a picked force along one of the lesser-
known roadscand fell upon them; as they were unprepared for an
attack from that quarter. He had sent Krateros ahead to occupy
the heights, to which he'assumed'the'Ourians would flee. They
did in fact retreat to the hills and large numbers of them were
butchered by Krateros' troops.'17 From this point onward, Aleiander

regularly divided his forces, usually entrusting the larger, and

15 prr. 2.20.65 Curt. 4.3.11.

16 Arr. 3.11.10; Diod. 17.57.3; but Curt. 4.13.29 is in error:

in laevo Craterus Peloponnesium equites habebat Achaeorum
et Locrensium et Malieon turmis sibi. adiwnctis; cf. Berve 2.221,
n.l, this is an error for Philoxenos (no. 442).

17 gee Arr. 3. 17 LEF. 5 Dlod 7. 67 and- Curt. 5 3 1-16 make no mention

of Krateros' role.” Cf. J.F.C. Fuller, Generalship 226-228; A.T.
Olmstead, History of the Persion Empire, Chicago, 1948, 519 Sir
Aurel Stein, "An Archaeological Journey in Western Iran," Gbog.

Journal 92 (1938) 313ff. Cf. also Strabo 11.13.6 (C524); 15.3.6

(C729).
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slower, portion of the army to Krateros.18 Later in the
campaigns, when Hephaistion, Perdikkas, Ptolemy and Leonnatos
acquired more importance, they also held independent commands;
nevertheless, those tasks that involved the greatest risk
and responsibility wefe, for the most part, reserved for
Krateros.19

Some five days after the defeat of the Ouxians, Alexander's
army reached the Persian Gates, where they found the road barred

2
by Artabazos' son Ariobarzanes, satrap of Persis. 0 Since he had

18 For Krateros' independent commands: Metz Epit. 35, 59, 60;

Polyainos 4.13; Curt. 4.3.1; Arr. 3.17.4ff.; Curt. 5.4.14-16,
29, 33-34; 5.6.11; Arr. 3.21.2; Curt. 6.4.2, 23-24; Arr. 3.25.
6, 8; Curt. 6.6.25, 33; Arr. 4.2.2; Curt. 7.6.16, 19; 7.9.20-
22; Arr. 4.17.1; Curt. 8.1.6; 8.5.2; Arr. 4.18.1; 4.22.1-2;
4.23.5; Curt. 8.10.4; Arr. 4.24.6-7; 4.28.7; 5.12.1;5.18.1;
5.21.4; Diod. 17.96.1; Arr. 6.2.2; 6.4.1; 6.5.5, 7; Arr. Ind.
19.1, 3; Curt. 9.8.3; 9.10.19; Arr. 6.15.5, 7; 6.17.3; 6.27.3;
7.12, 3-4,

19 Against the Ouxians: Arr. 3.17.4ff.; against Ariobarzanes:

Arr. 3.18.4ff.; Curt. 5.4.14ff.; against the Massagetai :in .
Baktria: Curt. 8.1.6; Arr. 4.17.1; at the Hydaspes: Arr. 5.12.1;
Curt. fails to mention Krateros' -important role; policing the
satrapies to the west: Arr. 6.17.3; cf. Curt. 9.10.19.

20 For the time-interval see Diod. 17.68.1; cf. Curt. 5.3.17,

with an apparent textual problem, since Curtius says that
Alexander entered Persis on the third day, but reached the
"Gates" on the fifth; see F. Schmieder's notes, Quinti Curtii
Rufi: De Rebus Gestis Alexandri Magni, vol. 2, London, 1825,
1089. Complete accounts of the battle at the Persian Gates:
Arr. 3.18.1-9; Curt. 5.3.16-5.34; Diod. 17.68.1-69.2; Poly-
ainos 4.3.27; the beginning of an account is given by Plut.
Alex. 37.1-2 (cf. Hamilton, PA 96-97); also Strabo 15.3.6
(C729). See Sir Aurel Stein, op. cit. n.l1l7; Olmstead, loec.
ett. n.17; Fuller, Generalship 228-234. TFor Ariobarzanes see
Berve 2.60-61, no. 115, s.v. "ApuoBopldvns; Polyainos mistakenly
has ®pacadptng (Berve 2.400, no. 813, s.v.), the later satrap
of Persis; cf. Kaerst, RE II.1 (1895) 833, s.v. "Ariobarzanes
(4) ."
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with him a considerable force and since Alexander had been
unable to take the pass on the initial assault, inquiries
were made concerning an alternate route.21 There was, of
course, the waggon-road through the plain, by which Parmenion
was leading the baggage-trains and the heavily-armed troops
into Persia, but it was longer and Alexander feared that a
delay would allow the Persians sufficient time to remove the
treasures from Persepolis, which lay beyond the "Gates'" and
the Araxes River.22 Therefore, learning of a difficult en-
circling path, Alexander led a chosen force to Ariobarzanes'
rear and left the rest of his troops at the foot of the "Gates"

. . 23 . . .
under the direction of Krateros. He had been given instructions

21'The figures vary: Curt. 5.3.17 has 25,000 infantry with Ario-

barzanes; Diod. 17.68.1, 25,000 infantry -and 300 cavalry; Arr.
3.18.2 has 40,000 infantry and 700 horse. Curt. 5.3.22-23 is
over-dramatic about Alexander's setback (tunc haesitabat de-
prehensa felicitas, nec aliud remedium erat, quam reverti qua
venerat), but this springs from a tendency to see this event
as the Persian Thermopylai (cf. A.R. Burn, Alexander the Great
and the Middle East, Harmondsworth, 1973, 121-122).

22 Arr. 3.18.1; Curt. 5.3.16. According to Curt, 5.5.2 and Diod.

17.69.1, Alexander learned of the treasure after he had cleared
the "Gates." Surely his choice of the shorter mountainous route
suggests that he hastened to Persepolis. for the very purpose of
capturing the treasure (so Schachermeyr, Alexander der Grosse 286y
Olmstead, op. cit. n.17, 519ff.; cf. Droysen, Hellenismus 1.227,
who gives equal emphasis to Alexander's pursuit of Dareios).

23 Arr. 3.18.4 says the information came from prisoners; Plut. Alex.

37.1-2; Diod. 17.68.5-6; Polyainos 4.3.27; Curt. 5.4.10-13 speak

of a Lykian boukolos, a Persian Ephialtes, part of the Thermopylai-
" motif. Curt. 5.4.14; Arr. 3.18.4, for the battle. Diod. 17.68 has

misunderstood the strategy completely or so greatly compressed his

account as to make Alexander's purpose impossible to understand;

Polyainos (4.3.27) must be wrong to say the camp was left under the

command of Hephaistion and Philotas.
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to attack Ariobarzanes if he turned to deal with Alexander's
force. If, however, Alexander reached the rear of Ariobarzanes'
position undetected, Krateros was to await the trumpet-signal,
whereafter both divisions of the army would attack the "Gates"
simultaneously.24 This is in fact what happened, and Ariobarzanes”
men, hemmed in by the cliffs, were virtually annihilated.25 The
road to Persepolis lay open for Alexander; Krateros brought up
the rest of the troops through forced marches.26

Persepolis fell. Looting and slaughter exceeded the norm.
It was not much later that Alexander conducted a thirteen-day
campaign into the interior of Persia, leaving the bulk of the
army behind with Parmenion and Krateros.27 Probably it was their
task to set in order the ravaged city and to arrange for the re-
moval of the  treasures; Persepolis had not yet endured the final

outrage at the hands of Alexander and the Athenian courtesan Thais.28

24 Arr. 3.18.4-5; Curt. 5.4.14-16.

25'Arr. 3.18.9 says that Ariobarzanes and a few horsemen escaped;

Curt. 5.4.33-34 says that he was killed before Persepolis (which
is contradicted also by Arr. 3.23.7; cf. Berve 2.61, n.3); if he
was not killed, it is curious that he received no honours from
Alexander, who held his father, Artabazos, in high esteem.

26 The Araxes River (Curt. 5.5.3; Strabo 15.3.6 [C729]): it was

bridged by Koinos, Amyntas and Philotas (Berve, no. 803), while
the battle was being fought with Ariobarzanes, so Arr. 3.18.6, not
later by Alexander himself as Curt. 5.5.3-4 and Diod. 17.69.2 say.
For Krateros' forced marches to Persepolis see Curt. 5.4.34.

27 curt. 5.6.11.

28”Curt.'5.7.2—10;.Diod.‘17.72; Plut.ﬂAZex;'38;2£f.;uAthen.v13.576D-E
= Kleitarchos, FGrHist 137 Fll; cf. Strabo 15.730. Tarn 2.47-48
rejects the Thals-story as a fiction; for a more critical discussion
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It is doubtful, however, that Krateros took part in the actual
transporting of the treasures to Ekbatana, a task given to Par-
menion. 2 Some units of the pezhetairoi did remain behind to
guard the treasure,30 but Krateros' taxis likely did not. Krateros
appears to have set out with Alexander from Ekbatana toward the
Kaspian Gates and, when Alexander hastened after Dareios and his
captors, Krateros led the slower forces eastward from the Kaspian
Gates and awaited the return of Koinos and his party, who had been
on a foraging mission.31 Parmenion's orders to march north into
Hyrkania, through the territory of the Kadousians, once he had
brought the treasures to Ekbatana, were apparently rescinded,

and the divisions of the army that had served as Parmenion's escort

see E.N. Borza, "Fire from Heaven: Alexander at Persepolis," CP
67 (1972) 233-245; for a discussion of Persepolis in relation to
Greek politics see.Badian, "Agis IIL," Hermes 95 (1967) 170-192;
cf. G. Wirth, "Alexander zwischen Gaugamela und Persepolis,"
Historia 20 (1971) 617-632; '"Dareios und Alexander," Chiron 1
(1971) 149-150; Schachermeyr, Alexander der Grosse 289-290, with
literature cited in notes 334 and 336; Hamilton, Alexander the
Great 89 and P4 99-101; Fox, 236; P. Green 3l8ff., borders on
fantasy. See also Berve 2. 175 no. 359, s.v. @uug, Fiehn, FE
VA.1 (1934) 1184-1185, s.v. "Thals.

29 Arr. 3.19.7; cf. Berve 2.304. Berve 2.221 assumes that he helped

Parmenion convey the treasures to Ekbatana.

30

Alexander left Ekbatana, taking with him tfv wulayya ™ Maueﬁovbnnv

€Ew Tiv énl Tolg Ypriuaol Tox¥€vtwv, Arr. 3.20.1.

31

Koinos' foraging party:Arr. 3.20.4; 21.2.. Krateros.took the slower

troops without forced marches (ufi wanpds 680ds &yovta, Arr. 3.21.2).
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returned to Alexander under the command of Kleitos, who had
recovered from illness in Sousa.

The campaign in the north-east saw Krateros emerge as
Alexander's foremost general, and for some three years he had
no serious rivals. While Alexander hurried after Bessos and
his accomplices, the murderers of Dareios, Krateros and Erigyios
commanded one-third of the army each. But Erigyios' task was
merely to lead the baggage-trains along the easiest path to
Hyrkania, while Krateros took the taxis of Amyntas, son of
Andromenes, the archers and some of the cavalry against the
Tapourians.33 Curtius claims that Krateros was left behind
to guard Parthiene against invaders (ut ab incursione barbarorum
Parthienem tuervetur, 6.4.2), but this is misleading; Krateros'
mission was clearly to patrol and set in order Parthiene, since
Alexander had no time to deal with the natives en route. Thus
Krateros and Erigyios reunite with Alekander at Zadrakarta in
Hyrkania, Krateros bringing with him Autophradates, satrap of
the Tapourians, whose fate .is: to be decided by Alexander.34

When news came that Satibarzanes, satrap of Areia, had

32 .
Parmenion's orders: Arr. 3.19.7; cf. Hamilton, Alexander the

Great 903 Schachermeyr, Alexander der Grosse 295; Berve 2,304
Droysen, Hellenismus 1.237; Niese, 99f. There is, at least,
no evidence that Parmenion carried out these orders. For
Kleitos' instructions see Arr. 3.19.8; see also Berve 2.206,
no. 427, s.v. KieCtog. He had rejoined Alexander by the time
of the Philotas-affair, Arr. 3.27.4.

33 Arr. 3.23.2; cf. Curt. 6.4.2.

34
Arr. 2.23.6; Curt., 6.4.23-24 has "Phradates'; see Berve.2.,221; 2,96-97,

no. 189, s.v. Adtogpaddtng; Kaerst, RE II.2 (1896) 2608, s.v.
"Autophradates (2)." Arr. 3.24.3, he surrendered of his own accord;
this must have been a direct consequence of Krateros' activities.
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gone over to Bessos, who had now assumed the tiara and the title
of Artaxerxes, Alexander hastened to deal with him.35 But Krateros'
role is difficult to ascertain, owing to the conflicting accounts
of Arrian and Curtius, the only extant sources to treat the matter.
According to Curtius, Krateros was left behind at Artakoana, which
he besieged in Alexander's absence, but which he allowed Alexander
the honour of taking.36 In Arrian, it is Alexander who arrives

at Artakoana first, while Krateros.again brings up the rest of

the army at a slower pace.'37 The ﬁersion of Arrian is, in all
probability, more reliable, since Artakoana lay a great distance
to the east of Zadrakarta and Alexander's more mobile troops will
have reached the city some time before Krateros and the rest of

the army arrived.

IT

It was at this point that problems developed within Alexander's

camp. Nikanor, son of Parmenion and commander of the hypaspists,

3> Hans-Werner Ritter, Diadem und Kdn@gsherrschaf% Untersuchungen

zu. Zeremonien und Rechtsgrundlagen des Herrschaf%santrztts beti -
den Persern, bei Alexander dem Grossen wund im Hellenismus, Munich,
1965, 27-28.

36 curt. 6.6.24, 33.

37 Arr. 3.25. 6, 8; Berve 2.221-222 prefers Arrian, as does'Geyer

op. citt. nsl, 1039 Cf. Droysen, Hellenismus 1.262; Niese 1.110;
Schachermeyr, Alexander der Grosse 313; Hamilton, AZexander the
Great 93.
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had died of illness in Areia.38 Parmenion himself had been
left behind at Ekbatana, and the family, which had had so much
influence in the Macedonian army, had suffered a great decline.
But it was worse than that: Philotas, the commander of the Com-
panions, had feolishly become involved in the abortive con-

spiracy of a rather obscure Macedonian named Dimnos.39 For

Krateros this was welcome news; for the brother of Dimnos'
associate (and lover) had given daming testimony against Philotas,
whom Krateros had hounded and hated since Egypt.40 Krateros
was by now the King's strong right hand, and protecting the
King from treason - for this is how he interpreted Philotas'
role - had its personai advantages.

In Egypt Philotas had voiced his opinions rather loudly,
and tactlessly, especially his annoyance at Alexander's recent
Ammonssohnschaft. This had been the cause of Hegelochos' bitter-

ness, who may in fact have aroused latent hostilities within Philotas.41

38 Arr. 3.25.43 Curt. 6.6.18-19. See Berve 2.275, no. 554,

s.v. Nundvwp.

39 Berve 2.142-143, no. 269, s.v. ACuvog. For the literature on

Dimnos' conspiracy see "Introduction (ii) The Fall of Parmenion's
Faction."

40 Kebalinos, whose brother Nikomachos was Dimnos' lover. See

Berve 2.203, 279-280, nos. 418, 569, s.vv. KeBailvog, Nunduaxos.
For the disclosure see Curt. 6.7.21ff.

41 Arr. 3.26.1; cf. Plut., Alex. 48.4-49.2. TFor Hegelochos' conspiracy

see Curt.-6.11.22-29, On the authenticity of the affair see "Intro-
duction (i) The Family of Kleopatra-Eurydike"; against this view

Badian, TAPA 91 (1960) 332; J. Rufus Fears, Athenaeum 53 (1975) 133,
n.77; for the Egyptian epiboule see also F. Cauer, '"Philotas, Kleitos,
Kallisthenes," Jahrb. f. kl. Philologie, Supplbd 20 (1894) B8ff.
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Arrian does mention Philotas' epiboule in Egypt (3.26.1), and,
while his intrigues with Hegelochos went undetected, they were
part of '"treasonous activity'" to which Krateros and those loyal

to Alexander objected. Arrian gives no details of this Egyptian
conspiracy but it appears that it is identical with the affair
described in some detail by Plutarch in his Life of Alexander

and the De fortuna AZexandri.42 Among the spoils taken by
Parmenion at Damaskos was a young Macedonian girl named Anti-
gone.43 She became Philotas' mistress and to her Philotas un-
wisely expressed his opinions, claiming that Alekander's victories

had been won through his efforts and those of Parmenion, that the

Ammonssohnschaft was an insult to the Macedonian nobility.44 But

those things that Philotas had told her, by way of bragging or
complaining, Antigone entrusted to a friend and, ultimately, the

news reached the ears of Krateros.45 He wasted no time in bringing

42 Plut. Alex. 48.4-49.2; de fort. Al. 2.7 = Mor. 339D-F.

43 For references to Parmenion at Damaskos see Berve 2.301. For

Antigone's capture at Damaskos: Plut. Alex. 48.4 (where it is
stated that she was originally from Pydna); Mor.339D (from Pella).
According to the latter version, she had crossed from Pella to
Samothrake (for the worship of the Kabeiroi? see’ Hamilton, PA
2; Kern, RE X.2 [1919] 1399ff., esp. 1423-1437, s.vv. '"Kabeiros
. und Kabeiroi (1)"), where she was captured by Autophradates (Berve
2.96, no. 188). Antigone: the name occurs among the Macedonian
nobility, so Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 216, who does not mention the
hetaira; see Berve 2.42, no. 86, s.v.  Avtuydvn (Mor. 339D-F has
"Avtuydva);. U. Wilcken, RE I.2 (1894) 2404, s.v. "Antigone (7)";
A. Wiedersich, Prosopographie der Griechen beim Perserkbnige, Diss.
Breslau, 1922, no. 19a (only the abstract is available); Hamilton,
PA 133.
44‘Plut. Alex. 48.5; Mor. 339D; Beloch IV2 2.290-306,7follows up these
arguments with very little success.

45 Plut. Alex. 48.6; Mor. 339E-F.
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the matter, and Antigone, to the King's attention. And,
while Alexander forgave Philotas his outspokenness, Krateros
remained suspicious of him and kept him under surveillance,
using the girl as his informant.46 How long this "prolonged
espionage"47 lasted is unkown, though it undoubtedly did not
span the years between the disaffection in Egypt and the Dimmos-
affair; indeed, Antigone's information, which cannot have revealed
much that was not already known about Philotas, may well have
disappointed Krateros' hopes of building a case against his
rival. But, when the opportunity presented itself, Krateros
and his associates were quick to press their advantage.

The conspiracy of Dimnos had been exposed by Kebalinos.
But Dimnos could not be taken alive, and he could not be used
to indict Philotas.48 Alexander, it appears, had made no firm
decision on how he would deal with Philotas' negligence; for
clearly negligence was all that could be proved.49 The real

decision on how theumatter of Philotas' involvement in the affair

46 Plut. Alex. 48.7-49.1. For this conspiracy against Philotas

(6 uev odv duLAdtag émLBouvreuduevos oVtws Ayvdel xal cuviv Ti
"Avtiydvn, 49.1), in which Badian (op. cit., 326) attempts
to find support for his arguments concerning Dimmos' con-
spiracy, see Hamilton, PA 135.

47 Badian's phrase (op. c¢it., 331), but he regards this as part

of Alexander's conspiracy against Philotas.

48 Badian, op. cit., 331: "Dimus conveniently killed himself (or

was killed while resisting arrest)...."

49 This was in fact .the one charge to which Philotas admitted his

guilt (...culpam, silentii tamen, non facti ullius..., Curt.
6.7.34).
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was to be handled must have been the one forced by Aleiander's
friends when a council was held to discuss it. Krateros spoke
first and most effectively, for he was dear to Alexander and
exceedingly hostile to Philotas.50 Whether or not Krateros was
attempting to disguise his ill-will toward Philotas with a show
of piety, as Curtius claims, is debatable; for Krateros had al-
ready gained in power and importance as a result of Parmenion's
relegation to Ekbatana.51 He was, most likely, sincere in both
motives: he earnestly desired to protect Alexander from insidious
elements and he sought to ruin Philotas on account of a genuine
personal hatred. Perhaps friction had developed between the two
when it became clear that Krateros was rapidly developing into
Parmenion's successor but, by the time of the Philotas-affair,
Krateros had little to fear from Philotas or Parmenion. In this
respect, his role in the affair is much less complicated and less
sinister than that of the unaccomplished Hephaistion.52
Krateros': speech was to the point and; from the standpoint
of the younger commanders, who owed so much to Aleéander's favour,

perfectly reasonable. Alexander could not go on excusing Philotas

>0 For his relationship with Alexander: Arr. 7.12.3; Plut. Alex.

47.9-10; Diod. 17.114.1-2; and in this instance Curt. 6.8.2.

> Cure. 6.8.2: Erat Craterus regi carus in paucis, et eo Philotae

ob aemulationem dignitatis adversus.... 6.8.4: Non aliam premendi
inimici occasionem aptiorem futuram ratus odio suo pietatis prae-
ferens spectiem. .

)2 See ‘Chapter 1l: Hephaistion."
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forever, nor would Philotas cease to plot against Alexander.
Beware the enemy within, warned Krateros; And he had not for-
gotten the threat of Parmenion: the father would not endure the
son's execution.53 Clearly Krateros understood what was at
stake, what could be gained by Philotas' removal. But his
condemnation of Philotas served better the wishes of his
accomplices in the conspiracy against Philotas. All were hostile
and unyielding. By the time that Philotas' enemies met, during
the second watch on the night of his arrést, Alexander had been
strongly influenced, by Hephaistion in frivate, by Krateros in
public.54 An unusual unanimity prevailed among Alexander's young
commanders, united against a common enemy. To Alexander and to
the army they denounced Philotas. Koinos and Amyntas repudiated
their earlier ties: it was as much a personal defense as a pro-
secution of Philotas.55 The whole affair is aptly summed up by
Philotas' bitter pronouncement: viceit...bonitatem tuam, rex, inimicorum

meorum acerbitas. =

15T

For the next two years Krateros was unchallenged as the fore-

most of Alexander;s»generals: Hephaistion had only begun his rise

>3 Curt. 6.8.7.

o4 See "Chapter 1: Hephaistion:'

>3 See my comments in "Amyntas, Son of Andromenes,'" GRBS 16 (1975)

397: "salvation clearly fay in the repudiation of his relationship
with Philotas."

>6 Curt. 6.8.22; cf. Plut. Alex. 49.8.
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to power with his promotion to Aipparch, Parmenion, who had
already ceased to be an obstacle before his death, had been
eliminated as a consequence of the Philotasprozess.57 In
Baktria-Sogdiana, as earlier in Hyrkania and Areia, Kraterﬁs

had supreme authority over the army while Alexander led smaller
detachments on special missions. Thus, while Alexander subdued
the rebellious outposts along the Iaxartes River, Krateros began
besieging the largest of these, Kyroupolis. When Alexander had
dealt with the other six cities, he returned to Kyroupolis and

found the siege-work well underway; under the King's leadership

the city was taken, though both Alexander and Krateros were wounded.58

In the brief skirmish with the Skythians, who lived north of the
Taxartes, we know nothing of Krateros' role. He is named by Curtius

as one of the counsellors who came to Alexander's tent before the

battle,59 but he is not mentioned in the accounts of the actual

37 Hephaistion's promotion: Arr. 3.27.4. Parmenion's death: Arr.

3.26.4; Curt. 7.2.11ff.; Diod. 17.80.1, 3; Plut. Alex. 49.13;
Justin. 12.5.3; Strabo 15.2.10 (= C724); cf. Justin 12.6.14;
Arr. 4.14.2; Curt. 8.1.33, 52; 8.7.4.

58 Kyroupolis: Arr. 4.2.2; Curt. 7.6.16 (Krateros' siege); Arr. 4.3.1;

Curt. 7.6.20 (founded by Kyros the Great); Arr. 4.3.1-4; Curt. 7.6.
19-21 (captured by Alexander). For Krateros' wounding by an arrow
see Arr. 4.3.3; Alexander is seriously wounded, Arr. 4.3.3; Plut,
Mor. 341B incorrectly places it in Hyrkania; Curt. 7.6.22 says
Alexander was wounded at the town of the Memaceni (after the fall
of Kyroupolis). For Kyroupolis see Wm. Geiger, Alexanders Feld-
zlige in Sogdiana, Programm der K. Studienamstalt zu Neustadt,
Schuljahr 1883-1884, 21-23; Fr. v. Schwarz, Alexander des Grossen
Feldallge in Turkestan, Munich 1893, 10-12; 51-54; W.W. Tarn, The
Greeks -in Bactria and India, Cambridge, 1938 (2nd ed. 1951), 476;
Fuller, Generalship 234-236.

5 .
2 Together with Erigyios and Hephaistion, Curt. 7.7.9-10.
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battle.60 It seems likely rhat he remained with the bulk of the
army on the south bank of the Iaiartes; while Alerander with a
select force crossed the river to deal with the Skythians.

When the force that had been sent to relieve Marakanda met
with unexpected disaster at the Polytimetos River,61 Alexander
was forced to hurry south in order to deal with Spitamenes;
Krateros followed with the remainder of the army at a more re—
strained pace (modicis itineribus).62 It was not a glorioué role,
but Alexander was not one to grant his commanders such opportunities
for glory.63 Nevertheless, whgn'the occasion arose; Krateros proved
his worth. |

In the spring of 328, Alexander moved out of his winter-
quarters at Baktra and crossedlthe Oios River, leaving behind
the taxeis of Polyperchon, Attalos, Gorgias and Meleagros, all
under the command of Krateros.64 Their instructions were to pre-

vent further defection among the Baktrians and to crush those who'

60'Arr. 4.4,1-9; quite different is the account of Curt. 7.8.6-9.17;

for an analysis see Fuller, Generalship 237-241.

61 Arr. 4.3.6-7;.4.5.2-6.2; Curt. 7.7.30-39;.cf. 7.6.24,. See Berve

2 38, 200- 201 256, 380 381 .mnos. 75, 412, 504 . 768, s.vv.
Avépouaxog, Kapavog, Meveénuog, @apvouxng

62 Curt. 7.9.20. For Alexander s relief of Marakanda: Arr. 4, 5 3 6 5

Curt. 7.9.20-21; Itiner. 39; Metz Epit. 13. Krateros arrives with
the rest of the army, Curt. 7.9.22..

63 E. D Carney, Macedonian Aristocracy 216, is perhaps overly suspicious

in believing that "Alexander carefully monitored [Krateros'] activities"
because K. was "a potentially dangerous leader of opposition and had to
be watched closely."

64

that he was supreme commander; this is corroborated by Curt. 8.1.6.

Arr. 4.16.1 does not mention Krateros, though it is clear from Arr. 4.17.1
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had already rebelled.65 But, while Alexander and the mobile
troops conducted a sweep—campaignAin Sogdiana, the rebel Spita-
menes, supported by the horsemen. of the Massagetai, attacked the
smaller Macedonian garrisons in Baktria.66 Learning of this,

Krateros and his troops pursued the Massagetai to the edge of the

desert, and there defeated them with fairly heavy casualties.67

We do not know exactly what Krateros accomplished in Baktria
after this battle, only that he remained in the region for quite
some time. He was not present at Aléxander's camp when Kleitos
was murdered, for this took place at Marakanda in late summer or

early autumn 328; Krateros did not return to Sogdiana until Alexander

65 TOUTOLS uew nupnyyebkev [se. Akegavépog] mifv Te xwpuv év ¢uAanﬁ

exeuv, we . uf . TL vewrepCowoLy of Tod Ty BdpBapoL, nal TOUS- 1o
doeotnudtag adTiv éEaupetv, Arr. 4.16.1.

66 On the phrourarchos Attinas (Curt. 8.1.3-5; cf. Arr. 4.16.4-5,

who does not mention his name); on Zariaspa-Baktra, where the
sick were left behind, including Peithon, son of Sosikles,and

the harpist Aristonikos (Arr. 4.16.6-7). See Berve 2.95, no. -
185, s.v. 'ATtLvds, though Berve's conclusion about Attinas

is over-cautious: "Sein weiteres Schicksal ist nicht bekannt."

He must have been killed: . Arr. 4.16.5 says that he was taken
prisone¥, Curt. 8.1.5 says that he was killed in battle. Even
if he was captured first, it is likely that he was killed; cf.
Berve's conclusion on Peithon's fate (below). See Berve 2.68,

no. 132, s.v. “Aptotdvinos (to which add the omitted reference
Plut. Mor. 334E-F); cf. Kaerst, RE II.2 (1895) 961, s.v. "Aristo-
nikos (4)"; see also Berve 2.311-312, no. 622, s.v. le(%wv; Berve,
RE XIX.1 (1937) 222, s.v. "Peithon (5)"; Berve 2,359-361, no. 717,
Znvtapévng; Kahrstedt, RE IITA.2 (1929) 1815, s.v. 'Spitamenes."

67 Arr. 4.17.1-2 says 150 casualties out of a total of 1000; .Curt..

- 8.1.6 claims that the Massagetai fled but that Krateros slew 1000 "
of the Dahai. There is some confusion in .Curtius betweén the
victories of Krateros and Koinos; see n.70 below.’
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had moved to Nautaka, and then only at the height of winter.68
Shortly after Kleitos' death, Koinos led Amyntas, son of Nikolaos,
into Baktria, establishing him as satrap there; the position had
been assigned previously to Kleitos, Artabazos having relinquished
it on account of old age.69 But Koinos did not replace Krateros

as director ofcaffairs in the region. Probably he met with Krateros
and, on Alexander's instructions, took under his command Meleagros'
taxis of infantry, with which he waged a decisive campaign against
the Massagetai and caused wide-spread disaffection among the followers
of Spitamenes.70 From Koinos Krateros will have learned the details
of the Kleitos-episode, though we cannot say how he reacted to the
news. Both Koinos and Krateros maintained the traditional values

of Macedon, that is, they shared Kleitos' sentiments, but, while

Koinos later became the spokesman for the Macedonian soldiery at

68 Arr. 4.18.1-2; this is corroborated by Curt. 8.4.1, who says

that when Alexander moved out of his winter—-quarters in spring
(cf. Arr. 4.18.4) he had stayed there only a little over two
months: tertio mense ex hibernis movit exercitum. Cf. Beloch
ITI2 2.319.

69 Curt. 8.1.19; 8.2.14; Arr. 4.17.3 (who does not mention Kleitos'

appointment); cf. Berve 2.82-84, no. 152, s.v. 'AptdBaZog; Judeich,
RE II.1 (1895) 1299-1300, s.v. "Artabazos (3)"; Beloch IIIZ 2,
147-149, with stemma on 151. Berve 2.30, no. 60, s.v.  Audvtos;
Kaerst, RE I.2 (1894) 2007, s.v. "Amyntas (18)." Berve 2.206-

208, no. 427, s.v. KxeCtog; Kroll, RE XI.1l (1921) 666, s.v.
"Kleitos (9)"; cf. Cauer, op. cit. n.4l, 46-47, 57 (regarding
Kleitos' appointment as genuine, cf. Berve 2.206); Droysen,
Hellenigmus 1.299; R. Schubert, '"Der Tod des Kleitos," Fh. Mus.:

53 (1898) 119; Schachermeyr, Alexander der Grosse 364.

70 Arr. 4,17.6-7; Curt. 8.1.6, who does not mention Koinos' victory

but claims that Krateros crushed all resistance in Baktria (quorum
clade totius regionis finita defectio est); apparently the two
victories have been compressed into a single event.
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the Hyphasis River, we have no evidence that Krateros ever

took a stand in opposition to the King.7l Of Krateros' role
after his meeting with Koinos we know nothing, only that he

and Koinos rejoined Alexander at the winter—-quarters at Nautaka
(Sogdiana) in very late 328 or early 327 B.C.

In early 327 B.C.,72 Krateros remained with Alexander in
Sogdiana, witnessing the marriage to Rhoxane (of which he doubt-
less disapproved in private) and the capture of the Rock of
Chorienes; in the latter campaign, Krateros possibly directed
affairs under Alexander's leadership during the day, while
Perdiﬁkas, Ptolemy and Leonnatos supervised the night-operations.
But, when Alexander moved south into Baktria, Krateros remained
behind with the téxeis of Polyperchon, Attalos and Alketas (Per-
dikkas' brother) in order to deal with Haustanes and Katanes,
whd continued the resistance in Paraitakene; Haustanes was cap-

tured, Katanes killed, Polyperchon sent on to subdue the region

1 Kleitos was "altmakedonisch gesinnt," so Schachermeyr, Alexander

der Grosse 363; cf. Arr. 4.8.4ff.; Curt. 8.1.22ff.; Plut. Alex.
50-51: -Badianis .suspicious of:Koines"':.sudden death,

which followed so closely his opposition to Alexander: 'Alexander
the Great and the Loneliness of Power,'" Studies in Greek and Roman
History, Oxford, 1964, 200; "Harpalus," JHS 81l (1961) 22 = Griffith,
Main Problems 212; cf, "The Death of Parmenio," TAPA 91 (1960) 338,
n.37. Similar instances of ill-advised opposition to Alexander:
Arr. 4.12.2 (Leonnatos, see n.75 below); Curt. 8.12,17 (Meleagros).
On Krateros' traditional attitudes: Plut. Alex. 47.9; see also E.D.
Carney, Macedonian Aristocracy 216.

72 2

Arr. 4.18.4; Curt. 8.4.1; Beloch III“” 2.319.

73 Arr. 4.21.4.
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that Curtius calls "Bubacene."74 In their absence, Alexander
failed in his attempt to introduce proskynesis and, shortly
thereafter, "uncovered" the conspiracy of the Pages, the de-
tails of which were reported to Krateros, Attalos and Alketas
by 1etter.75 Some time after the conspiracy, Krateros and his
troops rejoined Alexander in Baktria, whencelithe army set out
for India.

At the beginning of spring 327, Krateros accompanied Alexander
to Alexandreia of the Kaukasos and thence to Nikaia and the Kophen.76
When Hephaistion and Perdikkas led the advance force to the Indus,
Krateros first remained with Alexander as the main army followed the
course of the Choes River. But the heavy infantry and the siege-

equipment crossed the river with great difficulty and made slow

74 Curt. 8.5.2; this mission is not mentioned by Arrian.

75 Curt. 8.5.22., That Polyperchon ridiculed the proskynesis-

affair is incorrect (against Berve 2.326: "die Tatsache selbst
ist nicht zu bezweifeln, zumal sie zu dem starr makedonischen
Charakter des P, stimmt..."). Arr. 4.12.2 contradicts this,
naming Leonnatos (cf. Geyer, REF XII.2 [1925] 2035, and Badian,
TAPA 91 [1960] 337, n.34, who identify him as the somatophylax,
against Berve 2.235, no. 467, s.v. Aeovvdtog). On Curtius' own
testimony (8.5.3), Polyperchon was absent, for he left with
Krateros, Attalos and Alketas (details given by Arr. 4.22.1).
The news of the Pages' conspiracy (Z.e., after the proskynesis-
episode) was sent by letter to Krateros, Attalos and Alketas
(so Plut, Alex. 55.6); was the failure to mention Polyperchon
merely anaoversight, or does this mean that he was absent in
Bubacene at the time (Curt. 8.5.2)?

76 arr. 4.22.3: &&duovtos Abn Tol fpos. Cf. Beloch ITIZ 2,3i9.

They reached Alexandreia in ten days (Arr. 4.22.4); Nikaia
and the Kophen (4.22.6).
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progress through the mountains, and Alexander left them behind

to follow at a slower pace, presumably under Krateros' command.77
Probably they did not reunite with Alexander until they reached
Andaka, where Krateros was left with instructions to subdue
those neighbouring cities that had not submitted voluntarily;
his main force will have consisted of infantry, though the ranks

of the peszhetairoi were depleted, Alexander taking with him the
taxeis of Attalos and Koinos, whilé those of Kleitos, Meleagros

and Gorgias had accompanied the advance force to the Indus.78

From Aridaka Krateros led his division to Argaion, where Alexander
again left him behindg this time with instructions t; fortify the
main wall, to settle those of the neighbouring peoples who so wished
in the city, and to leave behind also such Macedonians as were un-
fit for service (&nduuxou).79 Having done this, Krateros led his
troops and the siege-equipment into the land of the Assakenians,

where he rejoined Alexander.80 From here he appears to have re-

mained with Alexander until the army reached Embolimaj which lay

7 For Alexander's route along the Choes and through the mountains

see Arr, 4,23.2. His dividing of forces at this point must cor-
respond to Curt. 8.10.4 (Cratero cum phalange iusso sequi), which
appears to refer to the time before Alexander's arrival at Andaka.

78 Andaka: Arr. 4.23.5; Curt. 8.10.5 (?): Iam supervenerat Craterus.

Ttaque, ut principio terrorem incuteret genti nondum arma Macedonum
expertae, praecipit ne cui parcervetur, munimentis .urbis quam obsidebat
incensis. The description appears to suit Andaka. For Koinos and
Attalos see Arr. 4.24.1; for Kleitos,iMéleagros and Gorgias Arr. 4.
22.7. For the "Swat Campaign" see Fuller, Generalship 245ff.; Sir
Aurel Stein, On Alexander's Track to the Indus, London, 1929, 41ff.

19 prr. 4.24.6-7.

80 Arr. 4.25.5.
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near Aornos. Here Krateros was left with a portion of the

army and instructions to gather provisions at Embolima, which

Alexander intended to use as his base of operations against

81

the Rock.

From Aornos, where Krateros is unattested, the main force

advanced to the Indus, which Perdikkas and Hephaistion had

bridged, and thence to the Hydaspes, where Poros awaited the

Macedonians with a sizable force. 1In the battle with Poros

-zAlexander's last great battle - Krateros' role was similar

to that at the Persian Gates. He was to hold the attention of

Poros and his troops while Alexander attempted an encircling

manoeuvre; if Poros turned to deal with Alexander, Krateros was

to cross the river and attack his rear, if Poros remained in

place, Krateros was to join battle after Alexander had engaged

the enemy.82 In these simplified terms, Krateros appears to

have played 'an unspectacular part; it was not, however, one with-

out responsibility, and this is perhaps why it was entrusted to

him and not to someone else.

One is tempted to see in the battle the beginnings of Krateros'

. 83 .. . s . s
decline, but this is to deny the importance of Krateros' division

81

82

Arr. 4.28.7.

Arr. 5.12.1, 18.1. Curtius does not mention Krateros, but his
account is highly unsatisfactory. For an analysis of Krateros'
position see Fuller, Generalship 189; on the Hydaspes-battle in
general see the literature cited in Chapter 1l: Hephaistion, n.79.

Carney, Macedonian Aristocracy 214: "...we see that Alexander never
gave him a prominent role to play in battle once Krateros had dis-
tinguished himself...against Spitamenes' rebels...."
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to the success of Alexander's battle-plan. Nevertheless, there

is a noticeable decline in Krateros' importance after the defeat

of Poros: we hear of the fortification of Nikaia and Boukephala,84
of a foraging expedition conducted with Koinos near the Hydraotes,85
and of open conflict with Hephaistion.86 Hephaistion, fond of
Alexander (philalexandros); here surely is the explanation for

the sudden check to Krateros'

brilliant career. The struggle

for power and Alexander's affection had led inevitably to rivalry,
and this manifested itself in the form of hand-to-hand combat some
time after the Battle at the Hydaspes. Alexander himself was forced
to intervene. Soon he found it necessary to keep them on opposite
banks of the Indus, but the advantage appears to have shifted to
Hephaistion, who commanded the larger force.87 On either side

of the river, they descended the Indus in stages, but it was
Hephaistion who figured in Alexander's elaborate strategy against

the Malloi;88 a year earlier the task might have been entrusted

to Krateros. In the accounts of the Mallian:.campaign Krateros

84 Arr. 5.20.2.

85 Arr. 5.21.4.

86 Plut. Alex. 47.11-12. For a full discussion see Chapter 1:

Hephaistion. See also Plut. Mor. 337A.

87 Arr. 6.2.2; Ind. 19.1.

88 For the descent of the Indus river-system see Arr. 6.2.2, 4.1, 5.5,

5.7; Ind. 19.1, 3; Diod. 17.96.1. See also B. Breloer, Alexanders
Bund mit Poros: Indien von Dareios . gu Sandrokottos, Leipzig, 1941,
29-56, for the Malliand campaign; cf.-Fuller, Generalship 259-263;
Chapter 2: Leonnatos. R.D. Milns 227,
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is not named, though Curtius relates that, when Alexander re-
turned critically wounded to the junction of the Akesines and
Hydraotes Rivers, it was Krateros who acted as the spokesman of

the Hetairoi, begging him not to risk his life unnecessarily.89

But the power that Krateros had lost in the main army he never
regained. His last recorded mission in India was the fortification
of the capital city of King Mousikanos, whereafter he was sent
westward through Arachosia and Drangiana with instructions to

. .9
police the satrapies and rejoin Alexander in Karmania.

89 Curt. 9.6.6-14; he continued downstream, 9.8.3.

20 There is a textual problem at Arr. 6.15.5, where Arrian writes

nat Kpatepdv. uev éunéuner oddug EVv Tf otpati§ 6LA ThAs ~ApaxwTdv

not Apayy®v yfis. This precedes the account of Krateros' activities
in the kingdom of Mousikanos (6.15.7), whereafter it is reported

a second time that Krateros was sent out (6.17.3). F. Schmieder,

in his edition of Arrian (Leipzig, 1798), bracketed the words 6Ld
s “ApaxwT®v xal Apayydv yfis, believing them to be an intrusive
scribal gloss; subsequent editors (notably C.G. Krlger, Berlin,
1835; F. DUbner, Paris, 1846; A.G. Roes, Leipzig, 1967) have
fdéllowed suit. Bosworth, "Errors in Arrian," CQ n.s. 26 (1976)
127-129, challenges Schmieder's interpretation and suggests in-
stead that the first reference to Krateros'udeparture is a doublet
taken from another source. Presumably Arrian failed to reconcile
the incongruities of the accounts of Aristoboulos and Ptélemy, for
which Bosworth argued cogently (Zbid. 125) in the case of the error
at 1.14.1-3. The first departure has the support of Justin 12.10.1-2,
though this does not mean that Krateros' departure should be placed
before his fortification of Mousikanos' capital; in that event we
should be forced to posit another error in Arrian in order to ex-
plain away this one. Arr. 6:15.4 says that Krateros' forces were
transferred to the left bank of the Indus, the right bank being too
difficult for the troops to follow; does eéunéumneL addis (6.15.5)
mean that they were sent back to the right side of the river (this
would be the sense provided by Schmieder's deletion)? Or does it
mean nothing if no destination follows the verb (so Bosworth 129)?
Bosworth's. suggestion is at least equally plausible: "That a doublet
existsscan hardly now be doubted. Schmieder's sarcastic question,
'who would believe that Arrian after so few words forgot what he had
just written?', is easily answered. The man who could place Craterus'
battalion in different positions of the battle line, in consecutive
paragraphs of his narrative of the Granicus, was perfectly capable
of an inept doublet of Craterus' mission through Arachosia" (129).
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Iv

Thus Krateros, with the tazeis of Attalos, Meleagros and
Antigenes, some of the archers, all the elephants and the apo-
machoi, moved westward, policing Arachosia and Drangiana, which

. .91 .
were reported to be in a state of unrest.9 The ring-leaders
of the uprising - Arrian names Ordanes,92 Curtius has Ozines and

. 93 . . . . v
Zariaspes - were ‘arrested and brought in chains to Alexander,

. . s . .94 .
who was by this time in Karmania. Stasanor, satrap of Areia

and Drangiana, may very well have been summoned to Karmania by

N prr. 6.17. 3; cf. Justin 12.10.1: Itaque ex magna desperatione

tandem saluti redditus Polyperconta cum exercitu Babylontam
- mittit, ipse cum lectissima manu navibus-conscensis Oceant
litora peragrat. There are inaccuracies, but Justin appears
to be SPeaking of Krateros' mission to Karmania, on which Pély-
perchon may also-have gone. Polyperchon had accompanled'Krateros
in the past (Arr. 4. 16 1; 17.1; 22.1; cf. Curt. 8.5.2) and did
again in 324 (Arr. 7.12. 4 Justln 12.12.8-9, cf. Bosworth, "Errors
in Arrlan," CQ n.s. 26 El976] 129, n.65). For Polyperchon with
Attalos (possibly his relative, so Berve 2.235 and Hoffmann, Die
Makedonen,156, n.59) Arr. 4.16.1 (where Meleagros is also named);
with Amyntas, brother of Attalos, Curt. 5.4.20, 30. With Antigenes,
Justin 12.12.8-9. See further Berve 2.235-236, no. 654, s.v. Ilolvu-
n€pxwv. News of the revolt was probably brought to. Alexander by
his father-in-law (Arr. 6.15.3; see Berve 2.292-293, no. 587, s.v.
"0Evdptng).

92 Berve '2.293-294, no. 590, s.v. 'Opddvng. Arr. 6.27.3.

93 Curt. 9.10.19; for Ozines see Berve 2.282, no. 579, s.v. '0zlvng,

who Berve believes should not be identified with Arrian's Ordanes
(n.92 supra); Droysen, Hellenismus 1.377, prefers Arrian's testi-
mony; Badian, "Harpalus," JHS 81 (1961) 19, wonders if they were
in fact different people. For Zariaspes see Berve 2.162-163, no.
335, s.v. Zoptdonns. For their fates see Curt. 10.1.9.

94 Arr. 6.27.3: n6n &6 elg Kapuaviav nuovtog  AreEdvépov. CE. Strabo

15.2.11 (C725). I have not been able to see Anton Miller's "Der
Rickzug des Krateros aus Indien," Festgabe flr L. v. Spendel, Wlirz-
burg, cited by Berve 2.227 (no date).
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95
Krateros en route.

After Karmania there were further honours, but Krateros
never fulfilled the promise that his early career had held out.
At Sousa he wed Amastris, daughter of Dareios' brother, Oxyathres.96
She was indeed a worthy bride, but of lesser importance than
Drypetis, Alexander's new sister-in-law, who was given to the
rival Hephaistion.97 There is, however, no record of a crown at
Sousa.

Then, from Opis, Alexander sent home the veterans, 10,000
in number, under the leadership of Krateros, to whom he gave
instructions to assume the regeney of Macedon in place of Anti-
patros; the latter was to report to Alexander in Babylon with

reinforcements. This move has vexed historians, who suspect a

95 Arr. 6.27.3. For Stasanor see Berve 2.361-362, no. 719, s.v.

Ztaodvwp. Badian, op. c¢it. (n.93) 18, incorrectly maintains
that he was detained at Alexander's Court. Arr. 6.29.1 says
that he was sent home shortly afterward; cf. A.B. Bosworth,
"The Death of Alexander the Great: Rumour and Propaganda," C§
n.§. 21 (1971) 123, n.3.

26 Arr. 7.4.5, who has 'Apactplvn (for this form cf. Steph. Byz.

8.v.). See Berve 2.24, no. 50, s.v. TAuoaotprs ("Aunotpig in
Polyainos 6.12); U. Wilcken, RE 1.2 (1894) 1750, s.v. "Amastris
(7)"; for her later career see Macurdy, Hellenistic Queens 107ff.
See also Berve 2.291-292, no. 586, s.v. '0&ud9png; cf. Strabo
12.3.10 (C544).

97 For Drypetis see Berve 2.148, no. 290, s.v. Apunfitvg; cf.

Chapter 1: Hephaistion.

98 This does not coincide wéll with Geyer's observation: "Der beste

Beweis fllr das unbedingte Vertrauen, das der grosse KBnig zu.Kw.
gehabt hat, ist wohl der Befehl, eine bedeutende Truppenmacht mit

den Kampfunflhigen und die Elefanten vom Indos...nach Karmanien zu

flhren, und gldnzend hat K. dieses Vertrauen gerechtfertigt" (RE
Supplbd IV (1924) 104€).
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sinister motive on Alexander's part and are troubled by the

slow progress of Krateros' return-march: by the time of Alexander's
death, some nine months later, Krateros' forces had not advanced
beyond Kilikia. But an explanation for this can be found in the
account given by Arrian, which I quote in full: Kpatepd 6€ TodtoUS

te dyeuv énérevoe nal dnoyaydvtu Manedovias te nal 8pdung nal Bet-
Tariv €Enyelodol wal tév ‘EAAfvev 1hs éAreuvdeplag. ’Avtlmnatpoy 68
dLaddyous Tolg amomeunopévors dyeuv Maneddvag &V Anpozéviwv Ex€Aevoev.
€oteLAe 6€ ual Moiunépyxovto opod T Kpatepd, Sedtepov 6€ &nd Kpatepod

€ ) Id ¢ ” - 4 ~ d tr - ~ -
nyeuova, wg et TL xatd mopeCav KpaTepd oupmlnToL, OTL HAL HOAAHDS TO

- . ~ , 9
obua Exovta anénepnev avtdv, ui modfcal otpatnydv Tods Cévtag (7.12.4).

The reason for Krateros' tardiness is spelled out by Arrian:
he was ill - critically ill, we may say -, and Alexander himself
had misgivings about whether Krateros would survive the march to
. 100 . . '
Macedonia. For this reason he designated Polyperchon as Krateros
successor in the event that Krateros should die before reaching his
destination. And what was.true of the physical state of Krateros

will have applied, to a lesser or greater extent, to his veterans;

99 Cf. Justin 12.12.8-9 (he was accompanied by Kleitos, Gorgias,

Polydamas, and Antigenes; also included is the obscure Amadas,
Berve 2.24, no.49, s.v.). See also Curt. 10.10.15; according

to Plut. Phokion 18.5, Krateros was to offer Phokion the revenues
from one of four Asian towns; Berve 2.403.

100 Niese 1.69; Droysen 1.419; Berve 2.225 draw attention to Krateros'

illness, but the notion that this accounts for the slow progress
of Krateros' veterans is only developed fully by Hamilton,
Alexander the Great 144-145, who argues most effectively for

a less sensational explanation of Krateros' journey to Kilikia.
Undoubtedly, Krateros followed a comfortable route, that leading
along the coast. Cf. R. Lane Fox 429.

9
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they will have been in no mood for forced marches. Thus the
march-rate of Krateros and his veterans could be expected to

be considerably slower than that of the slowest division of

the army under normal circumstances. There was also the matter

of periodic delays caused by Krateros' condition, and the possi-

s : . . . . 101
bility that they remained for some time in winter-—quarters. 0

Thus, when Alexander died in the summer of 323, Krateros and
his troops had not advanced beyond Kilikia; but they were not
lingering there, crippled by indecision.102 This was only the
case once Alexander had died and the fate of the empire, and of

Krateros himself, hung in the balance.

101 (e Hamilton, Alexander the Great:145l "Cf. Berve 2.225.

102 padian, "Harpalus," JHS 81 (1961) 34ff. = Griffith, Main Problems

224ff., believes that Alexander feared the power of Antipatros
‘and sought. to depose him. Krateros lingered in Kilikia because
he was unwilling to bring the matter to a head and challenge
Antipatros' position. Griffith, '"Alexander and Antipater in

323 B.C.," PACA 8 (1965) 12-17, concludes that Krateros had
orders not to enter Macedonia until Antipatros had left, for
Alexander felt that the disgruntled veterans would have an
adverse effect on the new recruits. It does not seem likely,
however, that Alexander would leave Macedonia, even temporarily,
without a leader (especially in this politically turbulent time).
P. Green, always eager for a novel interpretation, is at his
best and worst in his discussion of Krateros' mission: I find
utterly fantastic the notion that "it is very probable that at
some point in his journey he [ Kassandrosl met. Craterus and did

a private deal with him, since when Alexander died, a year later,
the veterans were still no nearer home than Cilicia" (460); he
may be correct, however, in suggesting that Krateros' mission
may have had propaganda-value for Alexander: a new political pro-
gramme for Greece under new leadership (hence the emphasis on

n v ‘EAMfvwv édevdeplo, Arr. 7.12.4), see Green 459. Slightly
different is the belief that Krateros' regency was to mark a
shift away from Antipatros' oligarchic tendenéies, so Wilcken
222. 1If Alexander did have hostile intentions toward Antipatros,
it is unusual that he sent to Macedonia men who were hostile to
himself (Z.e., the disgruntled veterans) and leaders who carried
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When -Alexander died suddenly in Babylon, Krateros was left
in political limbo: by the King's orders he was the designated
successor of Antipatros as regent of Macedonia. But Antipatros'
replacement, whether it was prompted by Alexander's fear of his
growing power in Europe or by Antipatros' old age, was a delicate
matter even while the King lived. With Alexander dead, Krateros
was trapped between theory and reality, or, to use Schachermeyr's
apt terminology, between Staatsrecht and Faustrecht.103 Antipatros,
if anyone, was secure in his position; Krateros knew that. For
the moment, there was some hope in Babylon, but this was quickly
dispelled.

A.B. Bosworth quite rightly labels the matter of Krateros'
enigmatic prostasia 'one of the most vexed questi#ons of Hellenistic
scholarship."lo4 Indeed, modern interpretations of it cover the

whole spectrum of possibilities, from the view that it was the

on the old Macedonian tradition (Krateros, Polyperchon, Gor-
gias, Kleitos the White). And why did they linger in Kilikia,
of all places? Curtius' claim that Krateros had orders to

put Antipatros to death (ecredebant etiam Craterum cum veterum
militum manu ad interficiendum eum missum, 10.10.15) is un-
founded and forms part of the rumour that Antipatros, fearing
for his life, was responsible for Alexander's death. See
Bosworth, "The Death of Alexander the Great: Rumour and Pro-
paganda,'" (@ n.s. 21 (1971) 112-136, who provides some good
arguments concerning the purpose of the Ephemerides. But the
general lack of preparation for the succession-problems suggests
that Alexander's generals were not party to a plot against the-
King. Krateros certainly gained nothing from it.

103 Schachermeyr, Alexander in Babylon 149ff.

104 Bosworth, op. cit. (n.102) 129.
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highest honour in the empire to utter disbelief in its existence.105

As an academic exercise, the so-called "

succession-problem' holds
a certain fascination, and it does not want for innovative solutions.
But it is merely an academic exercise, and there has been a.tendency
to overlook one fundamental point: the prostasia was never realised,
. . 106 A .

nor was it ever intended to be. For our purposes, it is of little
consequence what the prostasia was meant to represent in legal terms;
though it is quite clear that, if Perdikkas remained in control of
Hephaistion's chiliarchia and took no additional (higher) office,
Krateros, as the guardian of the inept King Arrhidaios, was Perdikkas'

, . 107 ' .
superior de iure. But Krateros' rank of prostates was nothing
more than an office demanded by the phalanx, which the cavalry were
prepared — or, at least, so they indicated - to accept. In order
to understand Perdikkas' relationship to Krateros, and Krateros'

role in the succession-struggle, we need to be, as Badian says,

"less concerned with the legal cloak than with the naked political

reality."108

105 . . ey . . .
See Appendix 2: Hephaistion's Chiliarchia.

106 Recognised by Errington, JHS 90 (1970) 55: "...we can readily
assume that the Perdiccans did not intend Craterus ever to
adopt this newly created post, for in the final. settlement
after Meleagerk death they reverted to their original arrange-
ment of making him share Europe with Antipater: and there is no
doubt that the Perdiccans were responsible for that arrangement."

107 See Appendix 2.

108

Badian, Studies in Greek and Roman History, Oxford, 1964, 267.
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It would be rash, however, to suggest that the prostasia
a fiction, that it was not part of the compromise at Bayblon.

evidence points to an office, created in theory but never

allowed to exist. The phalanx had demanded that the cavalry

accept Arrhidaios as King; disillusioned with the impetuous

Meleagros, they longed for their trusted commander, Krateros,

109

to protect Arrhidaios' interests. Quite understandably the

office was associated with Arrhidaios, whom the conservative

infantry revered as the last male descendant of Philip II, and

with Macedonia.110 And it is not surprising that Perdikkas should

agree to such an arrangement, at least_ for the moment: Krateros

was

absent in Kilikia, Arrhidaios in Perdikkas' control. Faustrecht

prevailed in Babylon. The commander of Hephaistion's chiliarchia

was

supreme commander of the army, and Perdikkas used his position

to crush the insidious. Arrhidaios proved a convenient pawn in

109

110

So W. Schur, '"Das Alexanderreich nach Alexanders Tode," Rh. Mus.
83 (1934) 140;1Who defines the prostates as '"der Vertreter und
HlUter der Rechte und Interessen eines mlindigen Individuums."

F. Miltner, "Die staatsrechtliche Entwicklung des Alexanderreiches,"
Klio 26 (1933) 48, believes that the sole mention of Arrhidaios
means that Krateros' office applied only to one half of the empire

- the old Macedonian homeland -, and not to the Asiatic realm, which
was marked out for Alexander IV. This conclusion is unnecessary.

At the time of the compromise, Arrhidaios was the only living can-
didate for the kingship, Alexander IV being as yet unborn. For
Meleagros' acclaiming of Arrhidaios see Curt. 10.7.7ff.; Justin
13:3.1£ff.; Appr Syr. 52 (n6%@ o0 -dLALnneou yévous); Diod. 18.2.4;
Arr. Suce. Ia.l. Perdikkas' power in Krateros' absence is brought
out by Nepos, Eumenes 2.2: aberat enim Craterus et Antipater, qui
antecedere hunc videbantur, mortuus erat Hephaestio.... For the
prostasza Arr.Suce. 1a.3, 7; Ib.4; cf. Justin. 13 4.5: regiae
pecuniae custodia Cratero tradttur.
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Perdikkas' hands; and there was no more talk about the prostasia.
For the time, there was nothing for Krateros to do.but wait

in Kilikia. He had already recognised the futility of attempting

to wrest Macedonia~from Antipatros now that Alexander was dead.

Perdikkas, meanwhile, had made himself de facto ruler of the Asiatic

sphere, and Krateros' discharged veterans, we may be sure, were in

no mood to return to Babylon in order to decide the issue.lll And

even now Perdikkas dealt the crippling blow by revoking, with the

assent of the army, the orders that Krateros should replace Anti-

patros in Macedonia.112

. Krateros might well have remained an outsider, had not the
outbreak of the Lamian war ©1 the Greek mainland forced Antipatros

11 .
to summon both Leonnatos and Krateros to Greece. 3 Antipatros'

111 Krateros likely heard the details of the settlement at Babylon

from Philotas, who had been sent out as satrap of Kilikia, and
his arrival there (perhaps in the companyi.of the other satraps
bound for the west) was only shortly before Antipatros' appeal.
for help. From Philotas he learned of thel phalanx's wish-that he
assume the prostasia of Arrhidaios, but also the details of

the cancellation of Alexander's instructions, including Krateros'
mission to Macedonia (¢nfra). Erringtonm, JHS 90 (1970) 61, sug-
gests that the '"Macedonian veterans would be unlikely to oppose
the chosen representative of the sons of Philip and Alexander in
civil war." It is surely rather a case of war-weariness on the
part of the veterans than of a reluctance to favour Krateros ever
Perdikkas. Schur, Rh. Mus. 83 (1934) 145, somewhat unfairly
deprecates the Kleinmut of Krateros. But Krateros was not an
adventurer, rather a conservative, over=cautious individual.

112 Demonstrated convincingly by Badlan, "A King's Noétebooks," HSCP

72 (1967) 201-204.

113 Diod. 18.12.1, where Philotas is incorrectly named as the satrap

of Hellespontine Phrygia (cf. 18.14.4, where the message is brought
by Hekataiosof Kardia to Leonnatos); Diodoros, who was speaking of

Kilikia earlier, wrote Philotas by mistake. Cf. Plut. Eum. 3.6.



152

appeal included, in all probability, an offer of marriage to his-

eldest daughter Phila, a woman now in her early thirties but of

exceptional qualities.114 This is suggested by the fact that,

before his return to Macedonia, Krateros took pains to find a

suitable husband for his bride of Sousa, the Persian Amastris.115

From what we know of Krateros' character, it is not surprising

that he should willingly repudiate Amastris, but he did find a worthy

husband for her in Dionysios, tyrant of Herakleia in the Pontus.ll6

114 J. Seibert, Historische Beitrlge zu den dynastischen Verbindungen

in hellenistischen Zeit (Historia Einzelschriften, Heft 10) Wies-
baden, 1967, 12, n.6, who notes that a similar offer was made

when Antipatros summoned Leonnatos (Diod. 18.12.1). See Berve

2.382, no. 772, s.v. ®Aa, who assumes that she was born before

350, since she had a younger sister who married Lynkestian

Alexandros in 337/6 (Curt. 7.1.7; Justin 11,7.1; 12.14.1; cf.

Diod. 17.80.2). Beloch, GG2 4.2.126-127, thinks that Alexandros'
daughter was. older than Phila (an unknown, by name, fourth daughter);
according to Diod. 18.18.7, Phila was older than both Edkydike and
Nikaia (Berve nos. 321, 552). By Diodoros' description, unless
Alexandros' wife had died, Sheatoo was younger than Phila (cf.

Plut. Demetrios 14, 27, for Phila's age). I see no reason, how-

ever, to postulate a fourth daughter; Alexandros' wife could have
been Nikaia. Phila, according to Antonios Diogenes (ap. Photios,
Bibliotheke 111B), had been the wife of Balakros (Berve 2.100, no.’
200); this is rejected, for no good reason,by Beloch, GG2 4.2.127, n.3.
Seé ‘fuither ,Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 221; Macurdy, Hellenistic Queens
58-69, esp. 60; and also Tarn's eulogy in Antigonos Gonatas, Oxford,
1913, 17-18; also Droysen, Héllenismus 2.51; Kaerst, Hellenismus 2.19.

115 For details on Amastris see n.96 supra. For the date of her union

with Dionysios of Herakleia see Seibert, op. cit. 12-13.

116 girabo 12.3.10 (C544); cf. Diod. 20.109.6; Berve 2.144-145, no.

276, s.p. Avovddrog.
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I see no evidence (contra Badianll7) that Krateros was de-

liberately slow in responding to Antipatros' call. It must have

taken a considerable time for the message to reach Krateros in.

Kilikia, and when it came it was already well into winter. Like

Leonnatos, Krateros departed for Europe some time in the spring,

and

he had considerably farther to travel.118 Over the winter

he appears to have augmented his forces, for, in addition to

the

and

who

a fleet, perhaps also in accordance with Antipatros' instructioms.

10,000 veterans, Krateros brought to Europe 1000 Persian archers

slingers, and 1500 horse.119 It is also likely that Kleitos,
had until this time been in Krateros' camp, set about organising

120

Leonnatos' ‘arrival in Greece belongs to late spring or early

summer, and it was shortly after Leonnatos' death (O Cyy 8¢ VOTEPOV

xpévy, Plut. Phokion 26.1) that Krateros joined Antipatros in Macedonia.

117

118

119

120

121

Badian, HSCP-72 (1967) 202: "for a time Craterus refused to come
to the aid of the hard-pressed Antipater in Thessaly.'" More mis-
leading is the version given in 'Harpalus," JHS 81 (1961) 41 =

Griffith, Main Problems 231: "Yet Craterus hesitated. For several

months, even after the outbreak of the Lamian War and the desperate
plight to which it soon reduced Antipater, he did nothing to help
him, leaving Leonnatus to go to his-death."

Diod. 18.14.4-5. 1f we may use Leonnatos' case for comparison,
Antipatros' messenger may not have arrived until spring 322; unless
we are to assume that Leonnatos was also reluctant to come to Anti-
patros' aid and had to be summoned a second time (Diod. 18.12.1).

Diod. 18.16.4.

For Kleitos' activities see Diod. 18.15.8;Plut. Demetrios 1l.4;
Droysen, Hellenmismus 2{39-40; Beloch, GGZ 4.1.75; cf. Berve 2.209,
no. 428, s.v. Kielrosg.

For the chronological problems see Chapter 4: Perdikkas.

121
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There he may have been formally engaged to Phila, as Niese

suggests, though there is no evidence for this.122 The advent

of Krateros greatly augmented the Macedonian fighting force,

but Krateros willingly yielded the supreme command of the troops

to A.ntipatros.123 Together with those who had originally been

with Leonnatos, the Macedonian forces numbered 40,000 infantry,

5000 cavalry and 3000 archers and slingers.124 With this force,
Krateros and Antipatros won a decisive victory at Krannon, and
thereafter broke the Greek ailiance by taking the Thessalian

cities one by one, thus forcing widespread defection from the
Hellenic cause and peace-treaties with individual cities (1&g

nar§ ALY 6LdA60€LS).125 The army moved as far south as Boiotia,
where negotiations took place between Antipatros and the Athenians.
According to Plutarch's Life of Phokion, Krateros favoured invading
Attica on the ground that the Macedonian forces were being maintained
at the expense of the Boiotian allies, while the Athenian enemy had
it territory untouched. But Antipatros, for the sake of Phokion,

122 Niese 1.207.

2 ~ 4 I d < rd B4 ’ 3
123 ol 100 mpwrelov mapaxwprioag énovalwe Avtinatpy, Diod. 18.16.5.

124 For Krateros' forces see Diod. 18.4.1 (cf. Diod. 17.109.1; Arr. 7.12.3);

Diod. 18.12.1; 18.16.4; more generally Plut. Phokion 26.1 (uetd moAAfig
duvduens); for Leonnatos' troops see Diod. 18.14.4-5 (20,000 infantry,
1500 cavalry); for all the forces combined Diod. 18.16.5.

125 Diod. 18.17.7; for the victory at Krannon see Arr. Suce. 1.12; Plut.

Demosth. 28.2; Phokion 26.1; Diod. 18.17. For the Lamian (Hellenic)

war in general see Droysen, Hellenismus 2.26-52; Kaerst, Hellenismus
2.14-19; Niese '1.200-212; Beloch, GG2 4.1.68-78; Schaefer, Demosthenes .
3.351ff.; Tarn, CAH 6.454-460; Cloché&, La Dislocation 20ff.; and Hans-
Joachim Gehrke, Phokion:’Studien zur Erfassung seiner historischen Gestalt
(Zetemata, Heft 64) Munich, 1976, 77ff.
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overruled him.126 Munychia was, nevertheless, garrisoned on the
twentieth day of Boédromion (Sept. 17, 322 B.C., so Beloch, 6Ge
4.1.76).127 Thereafter Antipatros and Krateros returned to
Macedonia, where they cecelebrated the latter's wedding to Phila;
Antipatros is said to have heaped honours and gifts upon Krateros

and prepared for his ''return to Asia" (thv elg 'Aclav éndvodov
ouyuuTeouedaoav).lzs But Diodoros may be in error at this point,

for Krateros and Antipatros soon left to deal with the Aitolianms,

the only participants of the Lamian war that remained unconquered.129
The campaign against the Aitolians does not appear to have been a
reaction to an unexpected emergency, but rather a deliberate act of
- policy by Antipatros. Therefore, it is doubtful that he planned to
send Krateros back to Asia shortly after his wedding. For what
purpose? He had not yet learned of Perdikkas' intrigues, and he
believed that he had secured his goodwill through the marriage-

alliance with Nikaia.130 There was no place for Krateros in Asia

that would not be a source of trouble.

126 Plut. Phokion 26.4; Gehrke (n.l25 supra) 87-88.

127 Plut. Phokion 28.2-3; Demosth. 28.1; Camillus 19.10. Cf. Schaefer,

Demosthenes *3.391 (16. Sept.); see also Berve 2.259, no. 513, s.v.
Mévuidog; cf. Diod. 18.18.5.

128 Diod. 18.18.7. It is hard to believe that Antipatros, who now

seemed to be on friendly terms with Perdikkas - he had not yet
heard of his intentions to marry Kleopatra, the sister of Alexander
the Great -, was encouraging Krateros to claim the prostasia of
Arrhidaios' kingdom. This position, if anything, appears to be
closely linked with Macedonia rather than Asia (cf. Arr. Suce. Ib.4;
Ia.7; Curt. 10.7.9). '

129 piod. 18.24-25.

130 Berve 2.274, no.552, s.v. Nuxoloj; cf. Chapter 4: Perdikkas.
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From the account given by Diodoros (18.25) it appears
- and it is certainly likely - that Krateros was the chief
prosecutor of the war against the Aitolians; undoubtedly he
employed experience gained in the east with Alexander to his
advantage. It was now the height of winter, and Krateros
had built shelters for his troops, forcing the Aitolians, who
had foresaken their cities for the highlands, to hold out
against the elements and a shortage of food; for it appears
that Krateros controlled the lines of communication.131 But
events in Asia were to extricate the Aitolians from this grave
situation and to lead Krateros to his doom.

Antigonos Monophthalmos, satrap of Phrygia, alarmed by the
growing power of the ambitious Perdikkas, contrived the latter's
ruin byvbringing news of his intrigues with Kleopatra. For
Perdikkas, who had earlier secured Antipatros' friendship by
marrying (or at least summoning to Asia for the purpose of
marriage) the regenf's daughter, Nikaia, now aspired to the
throné of Macedon itself. And he hoped to achieve his purpose
by marrying Alexander's sister.132 Such was the news that Antigonos
bore to Antipatros and Krateros in Aitolia, and it was seasoned
with a vivid account of the senseless murder of Kynanne by Per-

dikkas' brother, Alketas.133 Events in ASia took precedence over

131 Diod. 18.25.1.
132 See Chapter 4: Perdikkas.-
133

Arr. Suce. 1.24: &ved(60E€ te wnal 10 thg Kuvdvng extpaypdioas nddog.
Cf. Arr. Suce. 1.22-23; though the incident is not mentioned by Diodoros.
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the punishment of the Aitolians. Peace was made and attention
re-directed toward the east.134

Krateros departed from Macedonia for thellast time in the
spring of 321, leaving behind Phila, who now carried the son he
was not destined to know.135 Crossing the Hellespont, he found
that Eumenes' army stood between him and the Perdikkan forces;
who were making their way to Egypt and Ptolemy. Neoptolemos,
hostile to Eumenes,; under whose authority Perdikkas had placed
him, soon deserted to Krateros, an auspicious beginning.136 But,
while Neoptolemos may have judged rightly the mood of Eumenes'
troops and their devotion to Krateros, he sadly under-estimated

the generalship and psychology of the Greek; for Eumenes had no

intention of revealing to his forces with whom the issue was to

134 Peace with the Aitolians: Déod. 18.25.5; Justin 13.6.9 less

precise (facta cum Atheniensibus pace), adding that Pélyperchon
was.left in charge of Europe; he dealt effectively with the

Aitolians, Diod. 18.38.7. For the decision to go to war.againmst
Perdikkas see Arr. Suce. 1.24; also an alliance was made with

Ptolemy (Diod. 18.25.4; cf. 18.14.2). Cf. Seibert, Untersuchungen

zur Geschichte Ptolemaios' I. (Mlinchener Beitrlge zur Papyrus-
forschung und antiken Rechtsgeschichte, Heft 56), Munich, 1969,
96ff.

135 Also called Krateres, born after his father's death (perhaps

in June or July 321, so Seibert, Beitrlge zu den dynastischen
Verbindungen [n.ll4 supral 13, n.7). See Berve 2.226; Tarn,
Antigonos Gonatas, Oxford, 1913, passim; H. Pope, Foreigners
in Attie Inscriptions, Philadelphia, 1947, 107.

136 Berve 2.273, no. 548, s.v. NeontdAieuos. He may have been a

relative of the Epeirot royal house, cf. Hoffmann, Die Makedonen
202, n.119. See Diod. 29.1-30.3; Arr. Succ. 1.26 says that he
was. lured away; Plut. Eumenes 5.
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be decided.137 Sooner Krateros gasped out his life on the

battlefield, the victim of a nameless Thracian or of his own

138

horse's hoofs. That the much-glorified Eumenes found him

semi-animous defies credulity, and it conjures up the image

of Alexander's tender, but utterly fictitious, moments with

the

dying Persian king.139 One can see the hand of Douris of

Samos at work, and what makes the scene more unlikely is that

Eumenes had only shortly before overcome his arch-rival Neo-

137

138

139

Nepos, Eum. 3.5-6; Plut. Eum. 6.7 (Eumenes had told his

troops that they would be fighting against Neoptolemos

and a certain Pigres, perhaps a local dynast); Arr. Sucec.

1.27. See Vezin, Eumenes von Kardia 43ff. Schubert,

Quellen zur Geschichte der Diadochenzeit, Leipzig, 1914,
139ff., following the account of Diodoros (18.29-32, from
Hieronymos), disbelieves the version that Eumenes was

afraid that his troops would desert if they learned that

they were fighting Krateros, ascribing it to Douris. Schubert
goes to great lengths to disprove the claims of Krateros'
popularity with the army.  But Krateros could not have failed
to develop a reputation, through his own successes and his con-
nexions with Alexander. Certainly both Neoptolemos and Alketas
were reluctant to aid Eumenes - Alketas not even joining the
army of Eumenes, Plut. Eum. 5.3 -, and both, significantly,
were commanders of Macedonian infantry. See below for Neo-
ptolemos' desertion. For Plutarch's version (Fum. 6.8-11)

of Eumenes' dream about the aid of Demeter see Vezin (130),
who thinks it is a late element, and Schubert (167-170),who
traces it to Hieronymos.

Plut. Eum. 7.5-6 claims he was wounded in the side by a Thracian
and fell from his horse; Arr. Succ. 1.27 says a Paphlygonian;
Nepos, Fum. 4.3-4, does not specify. Diod. 18.30.5 alone dis-
sents, saying that he was thrown by his horse and trampled.
Nevertheless he perished unrecognised (&yvondetlc S¢ Av ouvenatidon
nal 1dv Bfov dradyws natéotpedev); perhaps Hieronymos attempted

to make Krateros responsible for his own death, absolving Eumenes
of blame. Plutarch says that a certain Gorgias (Berve 2.114, no.
235) recognised the fallen commander.

Recognised by U. KBhler, '"Ueber die Diadochengeschichte Arrian's,"
Sitzb. d. Akademie der Wissenschaften, Berlin, 1890, 584; Schubert,
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ptolemos in a bloody hand-to-hand encounter.140 That he was

remorseful and treated Krateros' body with respect is another

matter.

140

141

141

Quellen zur Geschichte der Diadochenzett, Leipzig, 1914, 142.

Nepos, Eum. 4.2: ab hoc aliquot plagis Eumenes vulneratur;
éf. Justin 13.7.8: mutuis vulneribus acceptis; Plut. Eum.

7.7-12; Diod. 18.31. Justin 13.7.5, 7 writes Polyperchon
where Krateros is clearly meant.

Plut. Eum. 7.13; Suda s.v. Kpatepds = Arr. Suce. fr. 26;

Nepos, Eum. 4.4: -amplo funere extulit ossaque in Macedoniam
uxori eius ac liberis remisit. Thus Macurdy comments: ""[Phila]
was then hurried...into another marriage so speedily that when
the body of Craterus, sent to her by Eumenes for burial, arrived,
she was already married to a youth of barely eighteen years"
(Hellenistic Queens 61). But Diod. 19.59.3 states that Eumenes
kept the bones of Krateros and only when he was on the point

of dying gave them to Ariston to convey to Phila (316/5 B.C.).
But Schubert, Quellen zur Geschichte der Diadochenzeit, Leipzig,
1914, 141, who wishes to deny that Hieronymos recorded any
honours accorded to Krateros by Eumenes, says that this was
done at Antigonos' behest, since Phila was now his daughter-
in-law. At any rate, the fact that Eumenes took some care to
preserve Krateros' remains must be regarded as significant,
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Chapter 4

PERDIKKAS: Successor and Failurel

"...es konnte gewiss mit Recht gesagt werden, dass nur

in Alexander die Einheit des Reiches gewesen, dass sie
ohne ihn oder einen grYsseren als ihn unmBglich sei....
- Droysen, Hellenismus 2.6.

"

"In Perdikkas hat Alexander eine PersBnlichkeit erkannt,

die ihm an Temperament, Begabung und Ehrgeiz, wie Uber-

haupt an Format, irgendwie noch am nYichsten zu stehen

schien." - Schachermeyr, Alexander in
Babylon 16.

"Perdikkas, dessen besondere Vertrauensstellung bei
Alexander uns GewBhr sein darf, dass er Alexanders Ab-
sichten verstand und teilte, hatte zuerst in Babylon ver-
sucht, die vBllige Reichseinheit...zu gewHhrleisten...."
- F. Miltner, Klio 26 (1933) 52.

"Perdiccas, of the princely line of Orestis, was brave

and a good soldier; he was probably loyal to Alexander's

house, and meant to keep the empire together; but he saw

that someone must exercise the actual power, and he meant

it to be himself. He was, moreover, unconciliatory and

inordinately proud, and probably difficult to work with."
- W.W. Tarn, CAH 6. 462,

History has not made it easy for us to understand Perdikkas.
To a great extent this is due to the enmity of Ptolemy, son of
Lagos, and Perdikkas' unsuccessful campaign against him. But, if Per-

dikkas had won, the course of history could not have remained un-

1 For Perdikkas' career until 323 see Berve 2.313-316, no. 627,
s.v. Mepdlunag. I suggest the following revisions: p.313, for
Plut. 15 read Plut. Alex. 15.4-5; de f. Al. II, 11 p.341E should
read (de fort. Al.) Mor. 342D-E; and for the discussion of Per-
dikkas' role at Myndos and Halikarnassos add Arr. 1.21.1 and Diod.
17.25.5; Diod. 94.4 is a reference to 16.94.4. On p.314 add Curt.
8.1.48 and 8.14.5; Arr. V,12,1 should read 5.12.2, On p.315 read
Plut. Eum. 1.5 and add Appian, Syr. 57, for Hephaistion's hipparchy.
On p.316 ~add Plut. Fwm. 2.2 and Nepos, Eum. 2.1. See also F. Geyer,
RE XIX.1 (1937) 604-614, s.v. "Perdikkas (4)." Cf. Kornemann, Die
Alexandergeschichte 247; Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 153, 168.
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changed.

Perdikkas, son of Orontes, like his later rival Krateros,
came from Orestis;2 according to the testimony of Curtius he
was an adherent of the Orestian royal house.3 Two other mem—
bers of his immediate family are known: a brother, Alketas,
who became taxiarch, probably of the battalion that Perdikkas
had commanded,4 and a sister, Atalante, who marriedAAttalos,
son of Andromenes.5 By virtue of his aristocratic descent he
belonged to the company of the Hetairoi and was later enrolled

in the elite corps of the somatophylakes.6

2 Son of Orontes: Arr. 3.11.9; 6.28.4; Ind. 18.5. From Orestis:
Arr. 6.28.4; Diod. 17.57.2 (implied by: Thv Thv 'Opectiv nal
Avyrnotiv TdELV..., llepdCurou THV oTpatnyCov £XovTos); Arr.
Ind. 18.5 (who says that Krateros was also from Orestis).

Curt. 10.7.8: stirpe regia genitlus]. See F. Geyer, Makedonien

bis zur Thronbesteigung Philipps II., Munich and Berlin, 1930,

82-83; Droysen, Hellenismus 1.62. Meleagros' remark about Per-
dikkas (Curt. 10.6.20) can only be intended as an insult: Nihil
dico de nobilioribus quam hic [sc. Perdiccal est.

Berve 2.22-23, no. 45, s.v. 'Ainétag; Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 153;
Kaerst, rEl 1 (1894) 1514-1515, s.v. "Alketas (5)." For his command
of Perdikkas' taxis Droysen, Hellenismus 1.62 (cf. Berve 2.22); but
Berve 2.209, n.2, holds Anspach's view (De Alexandri Magni Expeditione
Indica, Progr. Duisburg 1901-3, 2.11.141), that Kleitos the White
commanded Perdikkas' battalion, as "mBglich, aber nicht zu erweisen."

Berve 2.90, no. 177, s.v. ’A'rako'c\)rrg_n% Kaerst, REL II (1896) 1894-1895,
s.v. "Atalante (5)"; cf. Kaerst, REL{ II (1896) 2158, s.v. "Attalos (5)."

For the Hetairoi see Plut. Alex. 15.3-4; for the somatophylakes
Appendix 1.
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Perdikkas is first mentioned by the historians as a somato-
phylax on the day of the assassination of Philip II (summer 336);
together with Leonnatos and Attalos he pursues and kills Pausanias,
Philip's assassin.7 But, as we have seen in the case of Leonnatos,
these somatophylakes were most likely the hypaspists and not the
seven-man elite; Welles' suggestion that they were Alexander's per-
sonal Bodyguard, and not Philip's, is unconvincing.8 The proponents
of the theory that Alexander himself contrived the assassination of
his father have attempted to see in Perdikkas, Leonnatos and Attalos
agents of the Crown Prince, who killed Pausanias in order to ensure
his silence; but we do not know the exact nature of their relation-

. , 9 s . .
ships with Alexander,” nor is it certain that Pausanias was actually

7 Diod. 16.94.4. See most recently J. Rufus Fears, "Pausanias, The

Assassin of Philip II," Athenaewn 53 (1975) 111-135. Cf. Berve
2.308-309, no. 614, s.v. Novoavlag.

8 See Chapter 2: Leonnatos. For the view that these. sSomatophylakes
were hypaspists see Berve 2.92, n.3; 2.233, n.1l; 2.308; 2.313;
confused by Errington, CQ n.s. 19 (1969) 236. See also Appendix
1. That they were Alexander's Bodyguard: C. Bradford Welles, Dio-
dorus of Sicily, vol. 8, Loeb Classical Library, Cambridge, Mass.,
1968, 101, n.2, But cf. Schachermeyr, Alexander der Grosse 100, n.8l.

9 Hamilton, "Alexander's Early Life," G & R 12 (1965) 122: Pausanias
was killed, "significantly, by three close friends of Alexander.
The prince was taking no chances; Pausanias knew too much.'" Cf.
Welles, Zoc. cit. and Alexander and the Hellenistic World 15; Green
108: "The three young noblemen*who pursued and killed Pausanias...
were all close and trusted friends of Alexander." We cannot be
sure of this. Pausanias, Leonnatos, Perdikkas were not all from
Orestis, as is often repeated (most recently Green 108); Leonnatos
was Lynkestian (so Geyer, FE XII.2 [1925].2035; wrongly called
Orestian by Berve 2,.232; recognised by Fox 505). Leonnatos was
a syntrophos of Alexander (Suda, s.v. Aeovvdtos) but he was related
to Philip II. We do not know when Perdikkas became a close friend

~ (but Plut. Alex. 15.3-4 may support this; I downot see why Fox 505
supposes that Perdikkas may have been ''middle-aged"); as for Attalos,
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killed while attempting to escape.10 One is tempted to draw
inferences: Perdikkas was a young man, presumably in his early
twenties,11 at the time of Philip's death; he appears in the
next year as a taxis-commander in the Illyrian campaign against
Kleitos and Glaukias.12 But rapid promotion need not always
beva cause for suspiéion, only when it appears to be unwarranted.
And Perdikkas was never anything short of able, though Ptolemy's
History endeavoured to make it seem otherwise.

Modern Scholarship has only recently become sufficiently

sceptical of Arrian's faith in Ptolemy as a historian. In the

it is fairly safe to assume that he was the son of Andromenes,

but we cannot date his marriage to Atalante with any certainty.

If Perdikkas and Attalos were already brothers-in-law at this

time — which I doubt -, then we might suppose that they belonged
to the opposing faction, since Attalos' brother, Amyntas, was
known to be a close friend of Parmenion's son, Philotas. Further-
more, these close friends of distinguished background make it
difficult to credit the notion of Badian et al., that Alexander
was ''isolated" at Court by the banishment of his comrades as a
result of the Pixodaros-affair.

10 P. Oxy. 1798 = FGrHist 148 appears to say that Pausanias (?) was

arrested and executed, so Wilcken, Sitzungsb. der iissenschaftliche
Akademie, Berlin, 1923, 151-157. Rejected by Welles, op. ctit.,

101, n.2. It was revived by Bosworth, "Philip II and Upper Macedonia,"
€9 n.s. 21 (1971) 94: "...the papyrus then is unreliable evidence,

but that does not maan that Diodorus' account of Pausanias' death
should be taken without question." Against Bosworth see Green 524,
n.65: "he [Paus.] is not in fact named in this text, and the person
referred to could equally well be a brother of Alexander the Lyn-
cestian.,"

11 . . . .
Berve 2,313; cf. "unter Al. erscheint er in seiner frischesten

Manneskraft." K. Kraft, Der "rationale" Alexander (Frankfurter
- Althistorische Studien, Heft 5) 1971, 35.

12 Arr. 1.6.9.
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1930s W. Schwahn and H. Strasburger adumbrated the matter of
Ptolemy's bias,13 particularly against Perdikkas, but the era

of W.W. Tarn and C.A. Robinson Jr. took comfort in the apologetic
tone of the "official version,'" and Arrian (Ptolemy) was preferred
at all costs; only with the publication of R.M. Errington's im-
portant article, "Bias in Ptolemy's History of Alexander," has

Ptolemy's method of denigrating Perdikkas (and his supporter

Aristonous) been fully recognised.14

13 W. Schwahn, "Die Nachfolge Alexanders des Grossen," Klio 23

(1930) 228-229; Strasburger, Ptolematos und Alexander 47:
"die wohlliberlegte Verschwigung dieser Tatsache [Z.e., Per-
dikkas' assumption of the Chiliarchy of Hephaistion3J...."

14 Errington, CQ n.s. 19 (1969) 233-242. Arrian's failure to

mention that Perdikkas was a "Bodyguard" of Philip II is in-
conclusive (as Errington admits, 236), though this is not

a reference to the elite somatophylakes. Errington isolates
other instances of Ptolemy's bias. At Thebes it is alleged
that Perdikkas' lack of control over his troops led to the
attack on Thebes; thus the responsibility for Thebes' fate

was Perdikkas'. There is no mention in Arrian of Perdikkas'
command at Tyre, or of his wounding at Gaugamela. Nor does
Arrian tell us when Perdikkas became somatophylax (see Ap-
pendix 1). The most obvious distortions are Arrian-Ptolemy's
failure to mention that Alexander gave his signet-ring to
Perdikkas and the claim that no one replaced Hephaistion

as commander of his Chiliarchy. The cumulative effect of

this evidence is overwhelming, and Errington is undoubtedly
correct, but I make some suggestions concerning some smaller
points. For the ultimate fate of Thebes, the responsibility
was still Alexander's; in fact, Arrian attempted to pass it
off as a decision of Alexander's Greek allies (1.9.9). For
the i1l discipline of Perdikkas' troops see Arrian's account
of the battle at Halikarnassos (1.21.1), which has the support
of Diodoros 17.25.5. And, in some cases, Arrian-Ptolemy is
our only source for the activities of Perdikkas in the later
stages of the campaign: 3.18.5 against Ariobarzanes; 4.16.2,
he commanded one of five divisions of the army (Curt. 8.1.1
says there were only three units, commanded by Koinos, Hephaistion
and Alexander); 4.21.4 at the Rock of Chorienes; and, most notably,
Perdikkas' independent mission against the Malloi, 6.6.4-6.
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To determine the truth about Perdikkas' early career is,
therefore, no easy task. But the reader who has guarded him-
self against Ptolemy's distortions discovers in Perdikkas an
active and capable commander. In the battle with the Illyrian
chiefs, Glaukias and Kleitos, Perdikkas perhaps exercised his
first command over pezhetairoi from Orestis and Lynkestis.l

His part in the capture of Thebes has doubtless been dis-
torted by Ptolemy (see n.l4 supra), who claimed, contrary to
the testimony of Diodoros, that Perdikkas' troops acted with-
out Alexander's orders.16 Perdikkas' role, as described by
Arrian, appears to have been somewhat heroic, nor was Amyntas,
son of Andromenes, reluctant to.bring up his Tymphaian tawxis in
support of the Orestians and their leader, who was critically
wounded in the battle.17 Whatever the truth be concerning the
action taken by Perdikkas' troops, it is clear that Alexander
took no disciplinary measures against him, for Perdikkas continued
to command his taxis when Alexander crossed into Asia. At the
Granikos River he was stationed between the hypaspists of Nikanor
and the battalion of Koinos,18 roughly the same position that he

occupied at Issos and Gaugamela.19

15 Arr. 1.6.9; for the make-up of the taxis, Diod. 17.57.2.

16 Arr. 1.8.1-3; Diod. 17.12.3.
17 ' . '
For Amyntas' support see Arr. 1.8.2; Perdikkas' wound 1.8.3.
18 prr. 1.14.2.
19

Arr. 2.8.3; Curt. 3.9.7 (Issos); Arr. 3.11.9; Curt, 4.13.28: post
eum Csc. Coenonl Orestae Lyncestaeque sunt positi (Gaugamela).

The battalions of Koinos and Perdikkas have changed position.
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After a relatively easy victory at the Granikos, Alexander
encountered stubborn defenders at Halikarnassos. In an abortive
attempt on Myndos he took with him the infantry-battalions of
Perdikkas, Amyntas and Meleagros; but the place could not be taken
in the initial assault and Alexander, having brought no siege en-
gines or ladders, was forced to withdraw.20 Perdikkas is mentioned
a second time in connexion with Halikarnassos: two of Perdikkas'
men, motivated by drunkeqnessand philotimia, led an unauthorised
assault on the city-walls. Soon the Macedonian forces became em-
broiled in the struggle but, unlike Thebes, Halikarnassos did not
fall on this occasion. The failure of this assault was explained
by thé historians in part by thé drunkennessof Perdikkas' men, but
also by the fact that Perdikkas and not Alexander was responsible
for it.21

During the siege of Tyre, Alexander conducted a raid on some
neighbouring Arabs, leaving the siege-operations under the joint
command of Krateros and Perdikkas; only Curtius relates this.22
Krateros' role is corroborated by Polyainos, and it is likely
therefore that Arrian's failure to mention the joint command is
again ascribable to Ptolemy's bias.

20 Arr. 1.20.5; Fuller, Generalship 202.

21 Arr. 1.21.1-3; cf. Diod. 17.25.5; Fuller, Generalship 200-206.

See the comments of C. Bradford Welles, Diodorus of Sicily, Loeb
Classical Library, vol. 8, Cambridge, Mass., 1963, 189, n.2.

22 curt. 4.3.1.

23 Polyainos 4.13. Cf. Errington, CQ n.s. 19 (1969) 237. See also

Fuller, Generalship 206-216.
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Whether acting on Alexander's orders or on his own initiative,
Perdikkas had a tendency to come to the fore. When the army de-
parted for Asia, Perdikkas was said by Plutarch to have declined
Alexander's gifts, preferring to share the King's fortune;24 this
he.did, in some respects perhaps more than any man. Thus, in
success as in adversity, he is conspicuous, inuspite of Ptolemy's
calculated omissions. At Gaugamela he seems to have fhrown him-
self whole=heartedly into the fray and was wounded.25 Then, in

the beginning of 330 B.C., his Ztaxis was the only one that Alexander

. s . . ' . 26
took with him in the encircling manoeuvre at the Persian Gates.

24 Plut. Alex. 15.4-5; cf. Mor. 341E.

25 Curt. 4.16.32 (along with Koinos and Menidas); Diod. 17.61.3

(with Hephaistion and Koinos); Arrian 3.15.2 mentions Hephaistion,
Menidas and Koinos, but does not name Perdikkas. See Errington,
loe. cit. n.23 supra.

26 Arr. 3.18.5. Ptolemy is certainly the source of this passage,

as the emphasis given to his role (3.18.9) in capturing the
wall (found only in Arrian) indicates. But see J. Seibert,
Untersuchungen zur Geschichte Ptolemaios I. (Minchener BeitrHge
- aur Papyrusforschung und antiken Rechtsgeschichte, Heft 56),
Munich, 1969, 8-10, who debates the issue and argues that there
is no good reason to ddentify the Ptolemy of this passage with
the son of Lagos (against Berve 2.330). Ptolemy is not identified
by patronymic, but Seibert's conelusion must be regarded as short-
sighted, especially in view of the fact that only Arrian gave this
is information in which a certain Ptolemy distinguishes himself.
That Perdikkas had not yet given up his taxis is clear; cf. R.D.
Milns, "Alexander's Seventh Phalanx Battalion," GRBS 7 (1966)159,
against Tarn 2.143. Of the other taxiarchs, Krateros and Meleagros
had remained at the foot of the "Gates" (Arr. 3.18.4), while
Polyperchon (Curt. 5.4.20, 30), Amyntas, Koinos and Philotas
(not the son of Parmenion, so Milns, loe. cit.; Berve 2.397; contra
Bosworth, AXBETAIPOI; CQ n.s. 23 [ 19731 252-253) were bridging
the Araxes River,
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What part Perdikkas played in the controversial affair of
Philotas must be deduced from Curtius, the only author to men-
tion him. According to this source, Perdikkas came to Alexander's
tent on the night of Philotas' arrest in order to discuss what
was to be done; he accompanied Hephaistion, Krateros, Koinos,
Erigyios and Leonnatos.27 Likely, he was part of the consilium
amicorum, which had met with Alexander earlier that day and had
urged that Philotas not be spared: in Short, he was a party to
the conspiracy against Philotas.28 The advantages that Philotas'
downfall brought to Hephaistion are visible in his sudden rise
from obscurity; Krateros' activities and benefits are clearly
documented, as is Koinos' hostility toward his brother—in—law.29
But what of Perdikkas? Unlike Ptolemy, he did not become somato-
phylax as a result of the affair; for Curtius makes it clear that
he was already a member of the Bodyguard-elite at the time of
Philotas' arrest.30 He did not become hipparch és»did Kleitos and"

Hephaistion (Arr. 3.27.4), but continued as taxiarch for a time;31

27 curt. 6.8.17.

28 Curt. 6.8.1ff. See Chapters 1 and 3 for more detailed dis-

cussions. See also fly article, "The Conspiracy against Philotas,"
Phoenix 31 (1977) 9-21, and its substantially revised form in the
Introduction.

2
9 For Hephaistion's career see Chapter 1. For Krateros see especially

the versions of Plutarch and Curtius (for details see Chapter 3); for
Koinos' hostility see Curt. 6.8.17; 6.9.30-31.

30 For Ptolemy's promotion to somatophylax see Arr. 3.27.5; for Perdikkas,

who appears to have replaced Menes (Arr. 3.16.9, cf. Appendix 1), Curt.
6.8.17: ex armigeris autem Perdiccas.

31 This apﬁears to be his rank at Curt. 7.6.19, 21.
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nor did he enjoy the great influence that Krateros exercised
for almost three years after the deaths of Philotas and Par-
menion. But Perdikkas must have gained in power just as his’
colleagues (or, rather, co-conspirators) had, for, when Hephai-
stion died, Perdikkas came to the fore and was, both:before and
after Alexander's death,.the most influential of his generals,
He had gained steadily in authority but his development has
been obscured by the pre-eminence of Hephaistion and Krateros,
and by Ptolemy's sinister "official history."

He had become somatophylax shortly after the battle at
Gaugamela, following Menes' appointment as hyparchos of Kilikia
and Phoinikia (see Appendix 1), but continued, for a timé,to
command his infantry-taxis. Thus he was both taxiarch and somato-
phylax at the Persian Gates and in the first campaigning season
in Sogdiana (329 B.C.). In Sogdiana, the taxiarchs Meleagros
and Perdikkas besieged one of the seven fortresses that had been
established along the Iaxartes River by Kyros the Great; Krateros
was performing a similar task at Kyroupolis.32 But in the
following season Perdikkas was promoted to hipparch, leading
one of five divisions that swept through Sogdiana; the peszhetairoi
of Orestis and Lynkestis were entrusted to his younger brother, A_lketas.33
32 Curt. 7.6.19, 21 (Perdikkas, Meleagros); Arr. 4.2.2 (Krateros).

33 Arr. 4.16.2 (the other four divisions were commanded by Alexander,

Hephaistion, Ptolemy and Koinos-Artabazos); Alketas first appears
as taxiarch at Arr. 4.22.1; see n.4 supra.
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As somatophylax, on the other hand, he occupied a seat near
the King at the fateful banquet at Marakanda in late summer
328. Together with Ptolemy, he attempted to restrain the
King, who was incensed by Kleitos' frankness; they were aided,
in vain, by Lysimachos and Leonnatos.34 In the military sphere,
three of these somatophylakes - Ptolemy, Leonnatos, Perdikkas -
conducted the night-operations against the Rock of Chorienes
early in the spring of 327 B.C.35

As the army set out for India, Perdikkas was overshadowed
by Hephaistion, who had acquired prestige and authority rapidly
ever since he contributed to Philotas' demise. Together with
Hephaistion, Perdikkas was sent with an advance force to the
Indus, which they were to bridge.36 It appears that Hephaistion
was, at least, the nominal commander of this force, though quite
clearly Perdikkas was the more experienced military man. If we
may judge from Alexander's selection of Rerdikkas as Hephaistion's
successor and from ﬁhe lack of friction between the two, it seems
that Perdikkas and'Hephaistion shared Alexander's attitudes and
were generally compatible. For this reason, and because Hephaistion
needed the support of a competent commander, Perdikkas accompanied

him to the Indus.37 En route they won over the natives and subdued

34 Curt. 8.1.45, 48; for Lysimachos and Leonnatos see 8.1.46. TFor

the reliability of Curtius' version see Chapter 2: Leonnatos.

35 Arr, 4.21.4; cf. Fuller, Generalship 243-245.

36 Avr. 4.22.7; Curt. 8.10.2.

37 See the discussion in Chapter 1l: Hephaistion.
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Peukelaotis, whose ruler Astes held out stubbornly.38 By
the time Alexander arrived at the Indus, Perdikkas and Hephai-
stion had brought the natives under Alexander's sway, gathered
provisions from Omphis (Taxiles),39 and bridged the river by
means of what clearly was a boat—bridge.40 On their way they
had also fortified a city called Orobatis, in which they left
an armed guard.41

From the Indus, Perdikkas appears to have accompanied
Alexander and the main force to the Hydaspes, where, when the
battle with Poros took place, he crossed the river in the same
triakonter as Alexander, Lysimachos, Ptolemy and Seleukos.42 In
the actual battle he commanded one of the hipparchies directly

under Alexander's control, the main striking force against Poros.

38 Arr. 4.22.8. See Berve 2.89-90, no. 174, s.v. %Actng.

39 Curt. 8.12.6; 8.12.15; Metz Epit. 48. Only Hephaistion is

named, but Perdikkas must have been present. For details on
Omphis see Berve 2.369-371, no. 739, s.v. ToECAng; V. Smith,
FHI 63ff. and Chapter 1: Hephaistion, p.64, mn.75.

40 See Curt. 8.10.2 for a description. Arr. 5.7.122 relates that

Aristoboulos and Ptolemy did not explain in what manner the river

was bridged, but Arrian supposes that boats were tied together to
form a bridge.

41 Arr. 4,28.5.
42 prr. 5.13.1.
43

Arr. 5.12.2 (cf. 5.13.1); Curt. 8.14.,15. See Fuller, General-

ship 180-199, esp. 186-187; B. Breloer, Alexanders Kampf gegen

Poros (Ein Beitrag zur indischen Geschichte), Bonner orientalistische
Studien, Heft 3, Stuttgart, 1933. For further bibliography see
Chapter 1: Hephaistion, p.66, n.79.
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After his victory at the Hydaspes, Alexander turned
his attention to the Kathaioi at Sangala, where he entrusted
the left wing to Perdikkas, who commanded his own hipparchia
and the taxeis of the pezhetairol; but Arrian, who reports
Perdikkas' battle-position, tells us only what Alexander did
on the right and says nothing further about the left.44 The
Sangala-campaign was a particularly bloody one, and the num-
bers of Alexander's wounded were high, among them the somato-
phy lax Lysimachos;45 it must have been detrimental to the morale
of the troops, who had undergone hardships in the recent battle
with Poros. But Perdikkas, who escaped being wounded, was sent
out with a light-armed force to ravage the region around Sangala.46
We hear nothing further of Perdikkas until after the mutiny
at the Hyphasis, which was in part a direct consequence of the
bloody campaigning of 326. Shortly thereafter Koinos, who had
been the spokesman for the disgruntled soldiery, died of illness
at the Hydaspes{47 Many of Alexander's original commanders had
died by this time: Parmenion and his sons, Amyntas, son of Andro-

menes, Erigyios, Kleitos, and now Koinos. And even the more con-

44 Arr. 5.22.6. For an analysis of the campaign see Fuller,

Generalship 255-258; cf. B. Breloer, Alexanders Bund mit
Poros: Indien von Daretos zu Sandrokottos, Leipzig, 1941,
75ff. and 223.

45 Arr. 5.24.5.

46 Curt. 9.1.19.

47 Arr. 6.2.1; Curt. 9.3.20 says that he died near the Akesines.

For his career see Berve 2,215-218, no. 439, s.v. KoCvosg.
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servative leaders began to decline, as Alexander turned to
his most trusted friend Hephaistion. No doubt it was fhrough
Hephaistion's urging that Alexander gave less authority to
Krateros,.to whom he joined the traditionally minded Polyperchon,
Gorgias, Kleitos the White and Attalos, the mainstays of the
phalanx.48 New leaders emerged, notably Ptolemy and Leonnatos,
and to a lesser extent Lysimachos.49 But quite clearly Alexander
placed greater faith than before in the steady and loyal Perdikkas.
In the campaign against the Mallo#j Perdikkas accompanied
Alexander through the waterless region between the Akesines and
Hydraotis Rivers and then took a special force against one of
the Mallian towns. This town he captured, killing those in-
habitants who did not manage to escape into the marshes.50 When
he reunited with Alexander in the assault on the main Mallian
stronghold, he commanded a portion of the army, which Arrian (Ptolemy)
implies was, through its sluggishness, responsible for Alexander's

R , 5
critical wounding there. 1 The near-fatal wound that Alexander

48 This group will also have included Meleagros, later the mouth-

piece of the short-sighted phalanx in the succession-debate.
For the missions of Krateros, Polyperchon, Gorgias and Attalos
see my groups in Chapter 3: Krateros, 144,%n.91.i.

49 For Leonnatos see Chapter 2: Leonnatos, 102ff.; for Ptolemy see

Berve 2.329-335, no. 668, s.v. Ntodenatos; J. Seibert, Untersuchungen

3ur Geschichte Ptolemaios' I. (Mlinchener BeitrHige zur Popyrusforschung
wund antiken Rechtsgeschichte, Heft 56), Munich, 1969 is of limited
use. For their commands in India see Breloer, op. cit. n.44 supra,
220-221. See Appendix 1 for the career of Lysimachos.

>0 Arr. 6.6.4, 6.

o1 Arr. 6.9.1-2,
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sustained against the Malloi can scarcely have been Perdikkas'
responsibility, though it may well reflect the increasing re-
luctance of Alexander's troops to emulate his daring and reck-
lessness; and, if this is a case of Ptolemy detracting from
Perdikkas' reputation, it does not deserve serious considera-
tion, for Ptolemy, by his own admission, was not present at
the battle.52 According to one branch of the tradition - Arrian
does not name his sources in this case -, it was Perdikkas who
cut the arrow from Alexander's body; others say it was Kritoboulos,
a doctor from Kos.53 The truth of this matter can not be known,
but what is important is that, after Alexander was taken down-
stream by ship to the junction of the rivers, Perdikkas completed
the subjugation of the region before rejoining the main force{54
Curiously, this is where our information for Perdikkas'
military career under Alexander breaks off. Although he became,

with the departure of Krateros, Polyperchon,zAttalos and Meleagros

o2 Curt. 9.5.21; Arr. 6.5.6-7; 6.11.8. See Errington, Cf n.s.

19 (1969) 239; Kornemann, Die Alexandergeschichte 82-85; and
Breloer, Bund mit Poros (n.44 supra) 29-56.

33 Arr. 6.11.1, the sources are not named (ol uév...ol.-6¢). For

Kritoboulos see Curt. 9.5.25; Arrian has Kritodemos, which is
surely an:‘error. Both are said to have come from Kos (which
in itself suggests a confusion of names), but Kritodemos is
unattested, while Kritoboulos is known from other sources. Ac-
cording to Arrian, Indike 18.7, he was a trierarchos.at the.
Hydaspes. See Berve 2.228, nos. 452, 453, s.vv. KputdBoulos,
Kot1ddnuos, though Berve regards Arrian's version as correct.
But Arrian must certainly be wrong; Kritodemos did not exist.

>4 Arr. 6.15.1; he subdued the Abastanoi. See Smith, EHI 104;

Breloer, Bund mit Poros (n.h4) 48, 223-224.
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for the west, the second most influential man after Hephaistion,
there is not further record of his activities. Smaller operations
were entrusted to Ptolemy and Leonnatos, larger ones to Hephai-
stion. Yet, when Hephaistion died and Alexander soon afterward,

there was no one more powerful in Asia than Perdikkas himself.
IT

At Sousa in 324 Perdikkas wedded: the daughter of Atropates,
satrap of Media, as part of Alexander's mass-marriage between
the Macedonian and Iranian nobilities'.55 At Sousa also he was
crowned, along with the other'SomatophyZakes.56 But his greatest
honours came later in the year, when Hephaistion drank himself
to death at Ekbatana., Hephaistion indeed was irreplacable,
owing to the personal nature of his relationship with Alexander,
but the King found in Perdikkas at least some of those qualities
tﬁat he valued in Hephaistion: undoubtedly there was a strong
personal bond, but Perdikkas' later!striVing to maintain the
unity of the empire suggests that he also understood Alexander's

policy of fusion.”’ Thus, it was to Perdikkas that Alexander en-

' 553Arr;'7;4;5.v Her name is not given. See Berve 2.91-92, no. 180,

s.v. 'Atpomdtng. Cf. Justin 13.4.13.

36 Arr. 7.5.6.

27 See Schachermeyr, Alexander in Babylon 16; F. Miltner, "Die

staatsrechtliche Entwicklung des Alexanderreiches," Klto 26
(1933) 52. For Hephaistion's attitude toward the Persians -
see Plut. Alexz. 47.9-10.
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trusted Hephaistion's corpse, which he was.instructed to convey
to Babylon and prepare for burial.s8 It is significant that
Arrian-Ptolemy, who mentions the funeral-pyre of Hephaistion,
says nothing of Perdikkas' role.59 And there was more Lhan just
this honour: Perdikkas was advanced to Hephaistion's command,
to the first hipparchia or chiliarchia of the Hetairic cavalry,
though the unit, out of reverence to the dead Hephaistion, re-
tained the name '"Hephaistion's Chiliarchy" even when Perdikkas
commanded it.60 It was more than a mere cavalry-command, for
it implied a position as Alexander's second-in-command; hence,
when the office was later conferred upon Seleukos by Perdikkas,
Justin writes: summus castrorum tribunatus.Seleuco, Antiochi
filzo, cessit.6l

Then Alexander died. The army in general was not prepared

for this disaster; to this the confusion of the subsequent years

bears ample testimony.62 But Perdikkas himself could scarcely

>8 Diod. 17.110.8. For Hephaistion's death see Chapter 1, esp.

81-86.

29 Arr. 7.14.8 speaks.of the pyre at Babylon. For the suppression

of this information see Errington, "Bias in Ptolemy's History of
Alexander," CQ 19 (1969) 239.

60 Arr. 7.14.10 = E1 in Appendix 2, where other testimonia-are re-

corded. It was called "Hephaistion's Chiliarchy" in order to
"distinguish it from other chiliarchies," so G.T. Griffith, "A
Note on the Hipparchies of Alexander,'" JHS 83 (1963) 74, n.l17.

61 Justin’ 13.4.17; cf. earlier where Perdikkas as chiliarchos and

Meleagros as hyparchos are described as follows: castrorum et
exercitus et regum cura Meleagro et Perdiccae adsignatur (13.4.5).

62 Against Bosworth, CQ n.s. 21 (1971) 112-136, esp. 134-136.
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have hoped for a better position: since Hephaistion's death

he had become Alexander's closest personal friend; he was by

far the most influential of the generals63 and of the somato-
phylakes, who had by this time developed into a powerful clique;64
supreme military power was his by virtue of his chiliarchia.

His prestige was further enhanced by the significant gesture of
Alexander, who on his death-bed and in the presence of the other
generals handed to Perdikkas his signet-ring, a fact.that Ptolemy
the historian took pains to suppress.65 According to the Liber

de Morte, Alexander also entrusted to Perdikkés his wife, Rhoxane,

with instructions that he should marry her.66 Rhoxane's role at

63 Nepos, Eumenes 2.2, draws attention to the reason for Perdikkas'

ascendancy: aberat emim Craterus et Antipater qui antecedere hunc
videbantur; mortuus erat Hephaestio....

64 For the composition and development of the somatophylakes see

Appendix L: The Somatophylakes of Alexander. Note that the most
powerful men among the cavalry after Alexander's death were re-
ported by Arrian (Suce. Ia.2) as: Perdikkas, Leonnatos, Ptolemy,
Lysimachos, Aristonous, Peithon, Seleukos, Eumenes. Only the
last two were not somatophylakes, though Seleukos had commanded
the "foot-guard" (the hypaspists), while Eumenes was the ''chief
secretary."

6> Curt. 10.5.4; cf. 10.6.4-5; Justin 12.15.12; Diod. 17.117.3; 18.2.4;

Nepos, Eumenes 2.l; Metz Epit. 112. Ptolemy fails to mention not
only the ring, but also the care of Hephaistion's body, which was
entrusted to Perdikkas (see n.59 supra),and Rérdikkas' elevation
to Hephaistion's chiliarchia, which Ptolemy underhandedly denies,
Arr. 7.14.10. Cf. Strasburger, Ptolemaios und Alexander 47; W.
Schwahn, "Die Nachfolge Alexanders des Grossen,' KlZo 23 (1930)
223; Ertington, CQ n.s. 19 (1969) 239-240.

66 Metz Epit. 112, 118.
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the time of Alexander's death is heavily romanticised by the
Liber de Mbrte,67 but the suggestion that she marry Perdikkas
is in itself not entirely unlikely. It was only when the con-
servative phalanx violently opposed Rhoxane's child in parti-
cular and Alexander's policy of fusion in general that a union
with her ceased to be a viable means of gaining power. Still
she remained a valuable commodity; though it was.the unborn
child that mattered, not the woman.6

Droysen's claim that the empire could be maintained only
by an Alexander or by a greater man yet must certainly be cor-
rect.69’ And Perhaps it was Perdikkas' fatal error that he at-
tempted to follow Alexander's policy, the '"idealised" (by
ancient standards) state and the concept of Reichseinheit. 1In
this fespect, Ptolemy was more pragmatic and less an idealist,
but he was also less to be admired. But Perdikkas had mnot taken
full account of the conservative Macedonian phalanx and their
desire to return to the state of Philip II. They could not en-

dure a second Alexander, if indeed such a man was to be found,

67 Metz Epit. 101-102, 110 and especially 112: at Rhoxane magno

cum clamore capillos sibi ipsa scindens conata est ad Per-
diccae pedes se advolvere. hanc Holeias excepit et eam ad
Alexandrum adduxit. ille dentibus frendens cum se iam in ex-
tremo spiritu videret, eam complexus osculari coepit dexteram-
que eius tenens in dexteram Perdiccae indidit nutuque commen-
dationem fecit. deinde cum morte opprimeretur, oculos eius

Rhoxane oppressit animamque eius ore suo excepit. For Rhoxane's

Lkife see Berve 2.346-347, no. 688, s.v. ‘Pwidwn.

68 For her pregnancy: Curt. 10.6.9; Justin 13.2.5; cf. 12.15.9;

Arr. Suce. Ia.l; Ib.l. Metz Epit. 70 mentions an earlier son
of Alexander and Rhoxane, who died at the Hydaspes River.

69 Droysen, Hellenismus 2.6.
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and they showed their determination to return to the traditional

ways by demanding as their King a man whom no rational thinker

could have considered: Arrhidaios, a mentally deficient son of

Philip II by the Thessalian Philine. That his mother was a

dancing-girl, or a harlot, from Larissa is, almost certainly,

a fabrication; Arrhidaios' mental state was not.70 Fontana's

doubts are ill advised: Arrhidaios was present in Babylon at

the time of Alexander's death, and Perdikkas could scarcely

have overlooked him had he not been totally unfit to rule.7l
Things went wrong for Perdikkas from the beginning, though

everything appeared to be in his favour. He had the support of

70 For Philine (Philinna) see Satyros' account of Philip's wives,

FHG IIT (MUller) 161 = Athen. 13.557B-D; for her alleged lowly
birth see Justin 9.8.2 (saltatrix); 13.2.11 (scortum); Athen.
13.578A; Plut. Alex. 77.7 (&x yuvounds &68gou nal nouviis dLAlvung).
Beloch, GG2 3.2.69, followed by G.T. Griffith, "Philip of Macedon's
Early.Intérventiofis-iniThedsaly (358-352 B.C. )," CQ n.s. 20 (1970)
70-71 and Ellis, Philip IT 61, thinks she was clearly of a good
family, probably the Aleuadai. See also C. Ehrhardt, "Two Notes
on Philip of Macedon's Eirst Interventions in Thessaly," (@ n.s.

17 (1967) 297; W. Schwahn, "Die Nachfolge Alexanders des Grossen,
II," Xlio 24 (1931) 312; Niese 1.191, n.5. For Arrhidaios' ail-
ment see App. Syr. 52 (oun eu@pova) Justin 13.2.11; 14.5.2; Diod.
18.2.2 (Yuxiuols 6% madéoL ouvvexSuevov dviedtoLs);Plut. AZex 10.2;
77.7-8; Mor. 337D = de fort. AL. 2.5; Heidelberg Epit. 1 (ému-
AnnTbnég); Porphyr. Tyr., FGrHist 260 F2. According to Plutarch
(Alex. 77.8) his mental condition was induced by drugs given to
him, while he was still a child, by Olympias. Curt. 10.7.4-6:

the manner in which Peithon speaks of Arrhidaios suggests that

he was a pathetic character. See further Hamilton, PA 217;

Berve 2.385-386; no. 781, s.v. ®CAimnos 'Appuréatos; Hoffmann,

Die Makedonen 134.

71 Fontana, Le Lotte 128ff. and 128, n.20; cf. Badian's review

in Studies in Greek and Roman History, Oxford, 1964, 263-264;
Errington, JHS 90 (1970) 51, n.23.
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at least one of his fellow-somatophylakes, Aristonous. ' Peithon,
it appears, may also have been a supporter in the early going.73
But Perdikkas faced an unusual problem: he could not be acclaimed
King and rule securely as long as Rhoxane carried the potential
heir; he could not act as regent for a child as yet unborn;74 and
an interregnum was out of the question, owing to the mood of the
army.75. Whatever title Perdikkas was to take as ruler, he was

anxious that it should be sanctioned by the army. At the urging

2 Berve 2.69, no. 133, s.v. 'Apuotdvous; see also Appendix 1.
For his support of Perdikkas see Curt. 10.6.16-18. Like Per-
dikkas he was loyal to -the house of Alexander and, faithful
to the end, he perished in 316 (Diod. 18.50-51.1). Like Per-
dikkas he was the victim of Ptolemy's bias: see Errington,
"Bias in Ptolemy's History of Alexander," (@ n.s. 19 (1969)
235.

73 Berve 2.3I1; no. 621, s.v. Iel%wv. Although he was soon

among those who worked to undermine Perdikkas, he appears
to have supported him immediately after Alexander's death,

s though perhaps only on the condition that his power be limited
by attaching Leonnatos to him as his colleague. See Curt.
10.7.4-8; cf. W. Schur, 'Das Alexanderreich nach Alexanders
Tode," Rh. Mus. 83 (1934) 133, 139-140.

74 For Perdikkas' dilemma see Errington, "From Babylon to Tri-

paradeisos (323-320 B.C.)," JHS 90 (1970) 50, who points to
the "possibility of the child's exploitation by anyone un-
scrupulous enough among Perdiccas' opponents who was pre-
pared to depict Perdiccas as a usurper." In fact, according -
to Curtius 10.6.21, Perdikkas was accused by Meleagros of
planning to usurp power through the regency of Rhoxane's child.

7> The army had two main objections to Perdikkas' proposal that

the Macedonians should await the birth of Rhoxane's child: their
more immediate concern was for pay and discharge from duty (so
Schwahn, KZZo 24 [1931] 308; Errington, n.74 supra, 51), but

they were, at the same time, opposed not to Perdikkas' personal
ambition (Badian, n.71 supra, 263, rightly refuting Fontana, Le
Lotte 121: "Causa principale fu 1l'opposizione a Perdicca, ritenuto
colpevole di aspirare al trono; concause evidenti le gelosie per-—
sonali e il desiderio di dominio degli altri generali') but to
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of Aristonous, he was offered the kingship; who could deny
that Alexander had marked him out as his successor? But
Perdikkas unwisely put the army to the test, hoping that,
by feigning reluctance, he would have the crown virtually
forced upon him. This, at least, is Curtius' depiction,

which draws heavily on a Roman precedent.76 Again Perdikkas

Perdikkas' enthusiasm for Alexander's Verschmelzungspolitik.
To deny this fact is to make light of the inner resentment
of the troops, who mutinied at the Hyphasis River and at
Opis, for their King's orientalisms and for those who sup-
ported him in his designs.

76 Curt. 10.6.18: haerebat inter cupiditatem pudoremque et,

quo modestius quod spectabat appeteret, pervicacius ob-
laturos esse credebat. The date of Curtius has been a
subject of debate. Most recently J. Rufis Fears has at-
tempted to challenge the terminus post quem non of 224 or

227 A.D. (that is, the fall of the Parthian empire),

"Silius Italicus, Cataphracti, and the date of Q. Curtius
Rufus, CP 71 (1976) 214-223 (see also his extensive biblio-
graphy, 215, n.7). D. Korzeniewski, Die Zeit des Quintus
Curtius Rufus, Diss. KB1ln, 1959, argues for a date in the
early empire, during the reign of Augustus. Between these
two works fall numerous discussions of the problem (see

the bibliographies of E.I. McQueen, '"Quintus Curtius Rufus,”
in Latin Biography, ed. T.A. Dorey, London, 1967; J. Seibert,
Alexander der Grosse, Ertrlge der Forschung, Darmstadt, 1972,
30-31, to which add A. Grilli, "Il 'Saeculum' di Curzio Rufo,"
La Parola del Pasato 168 [1976] 21.5-223, Vespasian), among
which is that of G.V. Sumner, "Curtius Rufus and the Historia
Alexandri,' AUMLA 15 (1961) 30-39. Sumner makes a convincing
case, suggesting that the author of the Historia Alexandri

is identical with the Curtius Rufus of Tacitus, 4dnnales
11.20~21, and the rhetorician named in the index. to Suetonius'
de Grammaticis et Rhetoribus, and that Curtius lived and
wrote during the reigns of Gaius (Caligula; hence the clever
word-play caliganti mundo, Curt. 10.9.4) and Claudius. But
Errington (JHS 90 [1970] 51, n.23) wonders if Curtius "might
have been . embarrassed to seem to echo in his book - which

the historian emperor might well read - contemporary rumours
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had miscalculated, for the hesitation encouraged only further
dissension. His opponents were quick to point out that Per-
dikkas sought the crown through Rhoxane's son, that he would
follow the example of the great Philip, who usurped the king-
ship from the legitimate heir, Amyntas Perdikka, his nephew.77

An illegitimate son of Alexander, Barsine's child Herakles,

was scorned by the army, as was Nearchos, who suggested him;78

Rhoxane's potential son was unpopular with the army, whether

of Claudius' own incapacity..., as well as the notoriously
similar way in which he became emperor." Perdikkas' re-
luctance to accept the crown is therefore reminiscent of
Tiberius' actions. If Curtius wrote before Tacitus, the
latter may have read and been influenced by him. Tarn 2.

92 says of Curtius disdainfully: "He can make epigrams
which might pass for Tacitus on a day when Tacitus was

not feeling quite at his best.'" Tarn quotes some examples
(2.92, n.l), but a most interesting line of Curtius is
quoted by Errington (57) without comment: nam et imnsociabile
est regnum (10.9.1), which is now recognised by Grilli (218)
as Tacitean: antiquas fratrum discordias et insociabile
regnum aestimantes (Annales 13.17).

"7 Gurt. 10.7.21. See Berve 2.30-31, no. 61, s.v. 'Audvias.

For Philip's usurpation see Ellis, Philip II 45ff. and 250,
rn.10, also "Amyntas Perdikka, Philip II and Alexander the
Great (A Study in Comspiracy)," JHS 91 (1971) 15-24.

/8 Curt. 10.6.10-12; he is mentioned as a possible candidate by

Justin 12.15.9. Justin 13.2.7 makes Meleagros bring Herakles
into the discussion; Nearchos is more likely, for he was a
relative, having married the daughter of Barsine and Mentor

(st¢ Arr. 7.4.6; Memnon should be read, Berve no.498). See
Berve 2.269-272, no. 544, s.v. Néapyos; cf. Lehmann-Haupt in
Papastavru's Amphipolis: Geschichte und Prosopographie (Klio,
Beiheft 37) Leipzig, 1936, 97-137, no.6l; W. Capelle, RE XVI.2
(1935) 2134; Badian, '"Nearchus the Cretan,'" YCS 24 (1975) 168-
169: "The army, reluctant to wait for the legitimate offspring
of Alexander's marriage to an.Oriental princess, was by no means
willing to consider the succession of a semi-Oriental bastard."
For Barsine see Berve 2.102-103, no. 206, s.v. Bapolvn; cf. also
Berve 2.168, no. 353, s.v. 'HpaxAfis. In favour of his existence,
see now P.A. Brunt, "Alexander Barsine and Heracles," Riv. di Fil.
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Perdikkas alonme or a college of guardians acted in his
interests.79 Then the unexpected happened: the common

soldier called out for Arrhidaios, for the family of

Philip II.80 And it was at this juncture that Perdikkas

lost control of the situation completely; for Meleagros,
a taxiarch from the beginning of Alexander's Asiatic
campaign, saw in the advocacy of the inept Arrhidaios a
means of acquiring power for himself.81 Undoubtedly,

Perdikkas also saw in Arrhidaios a useful pawn, but the

103 (1975) 22-34, and Badian (supra) 167, n.51, against
Tarn, "Heracles, Son of Barsine," JHS 41 (1921) 18ff.,
and 2.330-337.

79 The joint guardianship of Rhoxane's child is suggested

by Peithon, who realises that the army is now suspicious

of Perdikkas' designs and hopes to win the phalanx back

" to Perdikkas' policy by limiting his power. Thus Leon-
natos is proposed as co~guardian, while a similar arrange-
ment is sought for Europe (Antipatros and Krateros); Curt.
10.7.8-9; cf. Justin 13.2.14, who has Perdikkas, Leonnatos,
Krateros and Antipatros all acting as guardians for the
unborn child. See the comments of W. Schur, "Das Alexander-
reich nach Alexanders Tode,”" Rh. Mus. 83 (1934) 133, who
sees Leonnatos as "ein wirksames Gegengewicht."

80 Curt. 10.7.1: quidam...Macedonum ignotus ex infima plebe.

81 . . , .
In Curtius' version, Meleagros seems to be acting on his own

when he incites the army, but the accounts of Diod. 18.2.2-3
and Justin 13.3.1-2 (both drawing on Hieronymos) suggest that
Meleagros - Justin includes Attalos - was sent to the phalanx
by the cavalryyand that he betrayed the latter. This might
be an attemptito justify Meleagros' punishment, who, adcording
to Diod. '18.4.7, was charged with plotting against Perdikkas:
ws EnLBouAlv nat’ adtod [sc. Mepdiunou] memoinuévov énbrace.
Cf. Schachermeyr, Alexander in Babylon 113, 125; also G. Wirth,
"Zur Politik des*Perdikkas 323," Helikon 7 (1967) 291.
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initiative had unexpectedly been taken from him. Encouraged

by the phalanx, Meleagros had the support of its leaders, with
the exception of Perdikkas' brother, Alketas.82 A wave of ir-
rationality carried Meleagros to the fore, and he acted decisively,
challenging Perdikkas' supremacy with a show of arms. Perdikkas
withdrew to the chamber that housed Alexander's body, supported
by a mere six hundred men, but Meleagros had incited the mob,
who burst through the barricades and forced the Perdikkan party
to quit the city.83 The cavalry thus hastened from Babylon
under the leadership of Leonnatos, for Perdikkas remained within
the city, hoping to re-assert his authority over the infantry.84
He had been..a taxiarch himself, and his battalion of the.pez-
hetairoi was now led by Alketas; doubtless he had some followers
among the upper ranks of the phalanx. But Meleagros instigated
his assassination, acting in the name o0f King Philip Arrhidaios,

and Perdikkas, who foiled the attempt, now thought it wise to

82 Attalos, son of Andromenes; Philotas the taxiarch and later

satrap of Kilikia, Berve nos. 181 and 803 (= 804; they are
surely identical). For a full discussion of their roles
see Appendix 3.

83 Curt. 10.7.14: Meleagros assumes the initiative by becoming

self-appointed guardian of Arrhidaios; Curt. 10.7.16: Per-
dikkas withdraws with 600 followers; Curt. 10.7.17-20: the
cavalry are driven from the city and encamp on the plains
under the leadership of Leonnatos. This is followed closely,
but in abbreviated form,by Justin 13.3.3-6; cf. Diod. 18.2.
3-4.

84 Curt. 10.7.21; implied by Justin 13.3.7-8.
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abandon the city and rejoin Leonnatos.85

For the moement it looked as if Meleagros had conducted a
successful coup. But the army soon came to regard him as an
opportunist and a demagogue, and they regretted having risen
against the marshals of the empire; doubtless their enthusiasm
for Arrhidaios waned as they recognised in him a front for the
ambitions of Mele_agros.86 Furthermore, the cavalry now intended
to force the issue, cutting off the food-supply. Curtius' de-
scription of the resulting confusion among the townspeople and
" the deterioraﬁion of conditions in Babylon is more appropriate
to a protracted siege than to this stand-off of scarcely one
week; starvation was simply outof the question.87 Morale suf-
fered nevertheless. Disillusioned with Meleagros and the

pathetic Arrhidaios, they began to negotiate with the Perdikkans.

85 Curt. 10.8.1-4. Justin 13.3.7-8 mentions the assassination

bid, ascribing it to Attalos (see Appendix 3), but he does not
mention Perdikkas' flight from Babylon; instead Perdikkas

appears to win the phalanx over with a passionate appeal

and a denunciation of civil war (13.3.9-10); cf. 13.4.1:

haec cum pro singulari foacundia sua Perdicca perorasset,

adeo movit pedites, ut probato consilio eius dux ab ommi-

bus legeretur. See Wirth, Helikon 7 (1967) 291, without criti-

cal comment; but cf. Schachermeyr, Alexander in Babylon 125-

126: "So haben wir bei Iustin mit gewaltigen Klrzungen zu rechnen."

86 For their regrets and anger at Meleagros: Curt. 10.8.5-8;

for the disillusionment with Arrhidaios see Curt. 10.8.9:

et ex comparatione regis novi desiderium excitabatur amissi.

Cf. Curt. 10.7.5, where the army is said to favour Arrhidaios
out of pity. Appian's (Syr. 52) description also shows that

Arrhidaios' acclamation was an irrational and emotional act.

7 See Appendix 3, n.29.
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According to Plutarch's Life of Eumenes, it was Eumenes who

proved particularly effective in reconciling the feuding

. 88 .
factions, and, as a Greek, he may have acted as an "im-

partial"” go-between; though it is clear from Arrian's Suc-
cessors and from later events that he was far from a dis-
interested party.89 The actual liason between factions was
conducted by Pasas the Thessalian, Perilaos (= Perillos),

and Damis the Megalopolitan.90 To them Perdikkas responded
that he would accept the demands of the infantry - by which
we shall take the recognition of Philip Arrhidaios to be
meant - only on the condition that the phalanx surrender the
authors of the discord.91 That Perdikkas sought the sanction

of the phalanx for the elimination of Meleagros is clear,92

88 Plut. Eumenes 3.1; cf. Vezin, Bumenes von Kardia 20-21;

“Cloche, La Dislocation 12; see also the references cited
n.89 infra.

89 Plut. Eumenes 3.1 says that he favoured the cavalry but

remained impartial; Arr. Suce. Ia.2 names him among the
leading cavalry-officers. See also Droysen, Hellenismus
2.8; Niese 1.94; Vezin, loc. cit.

90 Berve 2.306-307, no. 608, s.v. Idoas; 2.317, no. 630, s.v.

" IépuAros (for the name see Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 212): ,
Curt. 10.8.15 reads Amissus, which Hedickecemended to Damyllus
in his Teubner edition (Leipzig, 1908); he is followed by
Rolfe, Quintus Curtius: History of Alexander, vol. 2, Loeb
Classical Library, Cambridge, Mass., 1956, 542-543. Amissus
is otherwise unknown (though Berve 2.25, no. 53, accepts him
as genuine); Damyllus is uinattested; but Damis is a more com—
mon name, and a known Megalopolitan. See Berve 2.115, no. 240,
8.v. AduLg. Perhaps Damis has been corrupted to Amissus here;
cf. Niése 1.245, n.3.

91 Curt. 10.8.15.

92

Niese 1.194, n.2: "die Auslieferung der EmpBrer, also auch des Meleager...."
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but Meleagros was himself actively involved in the negotiations
and understandably concerned for his own well-being. By this
time, Perdikkas (perhaps through the agency of Eumenes - if

we may assume co-operation between the two at this early time93)
had secured the goodwill of the ftawiarchs, most notably Attalos,
son of Andromenes.94 Their own distrust of Meleagros' ambitions
will have played no small part in causing them to realign them-
selves with the Perdikkan party. But Meleagros, sensing their
opposition, indicated a willingness to relinquish his "control"
over Arrhidaios to the more popular and respected Krateros -

if the prostasia is not, in fact, an invention of Douris of

Sam0595 -, though he demanded to be accepted as tertius dux.96

93 Droysen, Hellenismus 2.8: "Er [sc. Eumenes] begann mit dem

und jenem von den Flhrern anzuknlpfen und zum Frieden zu reden,"
by which he certainly means the taxiarchs, since the hipparchs
had abandoned the city. Cf. Cloche, La Dislocation 12: he
shared Perdikkas' loyalty to the Royal House.

94'For details see Appendix 3.

95 Schubert, Die Quellen zur Geschichte der Diadochenszeit, Leipzig,

1914, 139-149, traces the accounts of Krateros' overwhelming
popularity to Douris. Arrian's account of Krateros' death is
certainly from Douris (Succ.1?27; fr.26 = Suda s.v. Kpatepds),
and the mention of the prostasia (which is echoed by Justin
13.4.5: regiae pecuniae custodia Cratero traditur) may also
derive from Douris; see W. Schwahn, "Die Nachfolge Alexanders
des Grossen," KlZo 23 (1930) 229-230; also 235: "AuffHllig ist
bei Justin die vielfache Ubereinstimmung mit Arrian.... Sie
sind allein durch eine gemeinsame Quelle zu erklHren; diese
kann nur der vielgelesene und oft zitierte Duris sein, auf den
Arrian-direkt...zurllckgeht." -

%6 Curt. 10.8.22; Justin 13.4.5; Arr. Suce. Ila.3.
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For the moment, Perdikkas was willing Fo concede: there
was no difficulty in accepting Arrhidaios, who would easily
be manipulated once free of Meleagros' influence. As for
Krateros, his absence would give Perdikkas sufficient time
to secure his own position.97 More troublesome was the pre-
sence of Meleagros, now Perdikkas' lieutenant (5napxog).98
It is no accident that the final settlement at Babylon re-
sembled in no way the conditions of the compromise; for Per-
dikkas had no intention of acceding to the wishes of the
phalanx, beyond the recognition of Arrhidaios. He would
indeed be King, but Perdikkas meant to rule through him.

The decisive act would be the elimination of Meleagros, and
in this matter he must have the support of the taxiarchs.
Meleagros had been a bitter enemy in the days that preceded
the reconciliation, and he continued to be a threat; it is
not unlikely that Perdikkas encouraged rumours that Meleagros
was plotting against him.99 But Perdikkas was careful to
attach a show of legality to Meleagros' elimination, and he
called for a lustration of the army, in the name of Philip

Arrhidaios and on the pretext of punishing the seditious.100

97 See Chapter 3: Krateros.

98 Arr. Suce. la.3. -

9 Curt. 10.9.7: Perdicea unicam spem salutis suae in Meleagri

morte reponebat. For rumours of Meleagros' plotting: Diod.
18.4.7; cf. Curt. 10.9.8ff.

100 cure. 10.9.11Ff.; Justin 13.4.7; cf. Diod. 18.4.7..
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With the King and the army firmly in his grip, Perdikkas crushed
the ringleaders of the uprising; the taxiarchs acquiesced in the
liquidation of Meleagros; the army, thunderstruck by the show of _
power and, to an extent, satisfied with the recognition of Philip

Arrhidaios, accepted Meleagros' death as necessary for -the welfare

of the state: nam et imsociabile est regnum.lol Perdikkas had

taken the first step in recouping his losses. Power was now once

again securely in his hands.
I1I

In the name of the King, though doubtless in consultation

with the generals, Perdikkas allotted the satrapies.102 The

most important regions went, not surprisingly, to the most power-
ful of Perdikkas' "supporters." But there was another consider-
ation: Perdikkas found it desirable to remove from Babylon those

~generals with the greatest influence. It proved to be a futile

101 Curt. 10.9.1. For Meleagros' end see Curt. 10.9.20-21; Arr.

Suce. la.4-5; Justin 13.4.7-8 does not mention Meleagros''
death, but it is clear that his description of Perdikkas'
acting Zgnaro collega suggests that Meleagros' elimination
was part and parcel of the lustration of the army. Diod.
18.4.7 places his death after the allotment of the satrapies
and the cancellation of Krateros' orders, surely an error.

102 Diod. 18.3.1-3; Justin 13.4.10-23; Curt. 10.10.1-4; Arr. Sucec.
7.

Ia.5-7; Ib.2- See also Schachermeyr, Alexander in Babylon
142-144,
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exercise; for,while Perdikkas worked to establish a strong central
government, the generals made use of their regional resources to

plot a course of separatism - none more vigorously than Ptolemy

in_Egypt.lO3

At the Court, Perdikkas retained those men whom he felt he
could trust: Aristonous, the only somatophylax not awarded a satrapy,
Alketas, Perdikkas' brother, Attalos, son of Andromenes, to whom

he had betrothed his sister Atalante, and Seleukos, -son of Antiochos,

whom he now advanced to the command of the chiliarchia.104 Nor

had he forgotten Rhoxane, whose child - if male - was to be re-

cognised as symbasileus with Arrhidaios, ‘though the latter was

clearly intended to rule until the former came of‘age.105 In

accordance with Rhoxane's wishes, therefore, he stage-managed

s . . . . 1
the murder of the Achaimenid Stateira and her sister Drypetis.
Plutarch depicts it as an act of jealousy, but Rhoxane was educated

in the ways of court-intrigue and she meant to secure her own position

103 Ptolemy appears from the outset to have favoured a wide dis-

tribution of power, a policy that would lead inevitably: to

the disintegration of the empire; cf. Curt. 10.6.15; Justin
13.2.12. Paus. 1.6.2 portrays Ptolemy as the instigator of
the division of the satrapies, which suits both Ptolemy's
character and his policies as satrap; cf. 'Droysen's appraisal,
Hellenismus 2.13. See also Wirth, Helikon 7 (1967) 316ff. and
the rather sterile conclusion of Seibert, Untersuchungen zur
Geschichte Ptolemaios' I. 38, based on a rigid amalysis of the
sources.

104 For Aristonous see p.180, n.70 supra, for Alketas, Attalos and

Atalante Appendix 3, and Appendix 2 for Seleukos and the Chiliarchy.

105 See Badian, Studies in Greek and Roman History, Oxford, 1964, 264.

106 pyutarch, Alex. 77.6.
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and that of her unborn child: as long as Perdikkas chose to

pursue Alexander's policies of unity and fusion, she could

not allow Stateira or her sister to remain as potential rivals.lo7
That Perdikkas acted as her accomplice in this affair suggésts,
however, that he had not considered the Achaimenid women as
political tools, probably because he had already pinned his
hopes on the effective manipulation of Arrhidaios. Rhoxane's
child might prove useful - chiefly because of his paternity -,
and Perdikkas meant to keep him firmly in his control. But,
like Rhoxane, he waé content to eliminate any potential rivals,
or persons whom contenders for the throne might exploit in the
future.

Perdikkas' career is an unfortunate tale of lofty ideals
combined with excessive ambition and political short-sightedness.
He showed a determination to keep the empire intact, and for
this idealism - though it was motivated by a quest for personal
glory - he is to be admired. Yet his own ambitions blinded him
to the political reality and he failed largely through his mis-

management of vital issues. This will become evident.

107 For Stateira and Drypetis see p.80.supra and Berve 2.148,

no. 290, s.v. Oputfitus, 2.363-364, no. 722, s.v. LTATELPG.
The time of the incident is fixed by the fact that Rhoxane
had not yet given birth; she was seven months pregnant at

the time of Alexander's death (see Hamilton, PA 216).
According to Plutarch (4lex. 77.6), who attributes the act
'solely to Rhoxane's jealousy, Stateira and Drypetis were
summoned by means of a-forgedeletter( (éEnmatnoev adTHV.
€NLOTOAT) TLVL TemAaouévy rtapayevéodor), whereafter they

were murdered and their bodies thrown into a well and covered
over. Cf. Schachermeyr, Alexander in Babylon 22, n.33. There
is no mention of the fate of Parysatis, Alexander's other
royal bride.
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He had recovered his position as the guiding force in
Babylon, but only by compromising his ideals: had Alexander's
son been acceptable to the Macedonians, he might have ruled
as Rhoxane's husband, as the "King's" adoptive father. Never-
theless, he had made good the situation by wresting from Mele-
agros control of Arrhidaios; but here too he had incurred the
suspicion of his colleagues.lo8 These men he attempted to
appease by means of the satrapal allotments, in part a con-
cession, but also a plan to remove any threat from the Court.109
Here too he undermined his cause, for the division of the
satrapies led only to the disintegration of the empire; Alexander
had been careful to keep the provinces in the hands of lesser
men.llo For the time, at least, Perdikkas will have been happy
td see the debarture-of the generals from Babylon. He now turned
his attention to the consolidation of his own position. -

As a last-act of the Macedonian assembly, before the dis-
persal to the satrapies, Perdikkas freed himself of the burden-

of Alexander's plans, as they were set out,in the Hypomnemata.lll

108 Arr. Suce. Ia.5. -

109 see Seibert, Untersuchungen zur Geschichte Ptolemaios' I. 28. -

110 Badian, "Harpalus,'" JHS 81 (1961) 24: "It is worth noting that,

having dealt with his excessively formidable subordinates, the

King took care to see that their places were taken by unimportant
"

men.

111 For the authenticity of the Hypommemata and the plans contained

therein see most recently Badian, "A King's Notebooks," HSCP 72
(1967) 183ff., against Tarn 2.378-398, who believes they are a
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Therefore, he called the army together in order to cancel,

with a show of legality, Alexander's instructions. This

had a two-fold purpose: firstly, it freed Perdikkas of any

possible future charge of having failed to carry out Alexander's

final instructions and, secondly - what is more important -,

it cancelled Krateros' ordefs to replace Antipatros as regent

of Macedonia, orders that, according to Diodoros (18.4.1),.were

recorded in theﬂ'ypomnemata.ll2 Again there is a strong indication

that Eumenes had already allied himself with Perdikkas, for it was

Eumenes, as Royal Secretary, who had prepared the Hypommemata,

and he may well have revealed to Perdikkas the possibility of

negating Krateros' instructions by asking the army to reject the

"future plans" as a~whole; certainly the army-~was openly opposed

to these gxtravagances.113 Thus, in one vote, the army set aside

the grandiose plans for further conquest, extravagant buildings

and Hephaistion's pyre, and, with these, Krateros' orders to re-

place Antipatros.114 Perdikkas was now ready to seek an alliance

with the ruler of Macedonia.
late forgery. See also Schachermeyr, '"Die letzten PlHne
Alexanders des Grossen,' Jahreshefte des 8sterreichischen
archaeologischen Institutes 41 (1954) 118-140 (with pertiment
bibliography, 118-119) = Griffith, Main Problems 322-344, who
argues that the plans are genuine; against this view F. Hampl,
"Alexanders des:Grossen Hypommemata und letzte PlYne," Studies

Presented to D.M. Robinson, Washington University Publications,
1953, vol. 2, 816-829 = Griffith, Main Problems 307-321.

112 So Badian, HSCP 72 (1967) 201-204.
113 ' . . .

* For Eumenes' role see also Badian, ibid. 204.
114

Diod. 18.4.6.
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Having robbed Krateros of his legal designation as the
successor of Antipatros, Perdikkas now gave his attention to
securing the goodwill and support of the old regent of Macedon.
These negotiations are not recorded in their historical con-
text, but Diodoros gives us an insight into the circumstances
surrounding Antipatros' betrothal of his daughter Nikaia to
Perdikkas. He writes: o 6§’Hep66nnag tpdTepoV ugv;ﬁv neupgn@S?
novvorpaylav 'AvtindTpy na? GL& ToUTO Tﬁviuvnorefav ¢nenoflnTto
pfntw tiov xot’ abt§v5npayu&rwv BeBalws éotepewpdvuv* ég‘éé tapé-
AoBe 1ds TE Baoukuu&giévv&uets uaﬁltﬁvamv Bao L A£wv npootuc(av,
ueté€neoe roté Aoyiopols (18.23.2). From this passage it is
quite clear that Perdikkas entered into negotiations with Anti-
patros when his own position was not yet secure, before he had
taken control of the "royal armies and the prostasia of the Kings."
Now the reference to the "royal forces" cannot be accurate, for
it is certain -that Perdikkas commanded them from the start by
virtue of his chiliarchia.''® But the prostasia may well - and’
very likely does - refer to the time of the birth of Alexander
1V, Rhoxane's son; for Diodoros speaks of the prostasia of the.
"Kings'" (thv. tdv BaciAiéwv mpootaclav), not just of Arrhidaios,

with whom alone the enigmatic prostasia of Krateros is linked.116

115 Curt. 10.10.4; Justin 13.4.5; Diod. 18.3.1 (mapaiaBdv thv. Tdv

Sawv nyenwovlav). As chief commander he conducted the lustration
of the army: Justin 13.4.7ff.; Arr. Succ. la.4; Curt. 10.9.7ff.

116 See Chapter 3: Krateros, esp. 148-151 supra.
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At that point in time Perdikkas was formidable: he was epi-
meletes for Philip Arrhidaios, prostates (or guardian) for
Alexander 1V, and strategos of the imperial forces in Asia;

but Krateros' position had become weak indeed.l17 Before

the birth of Alexander's son, however, Perdikkas had iso-

lated Krateros in Kilikia and was himself in a precarious

state, having incurred the suspicion of the Macedonians in
Babylon through his treacherous elimination of Mele_agros.ll

But Antipatros too was prepared to‘dealz even if he had

favoured Kratero&) cause in Asia, he was in no position to

secure the prostasia forlhim; there was the matter of the

Lamian war, and he wanted Krateros in Europe. Thus he sanctioned
Perdikkas' supremacy in Asia and bound him to a political alliance
by promising his daughter Nikaia.

Perdikkas' negotiations with Antipatros must belong, there-
fore, to the period of instability at Babylon. One of those who
grought Nikaia to Perdikkas in the following year was lolaos,
the girl's brother, who had been present at Alexander's death.119
It is quite possible that Perdikkas, after the allotment of the

satrapies and the cancellation of Krateros' orders, sent Iolaos

to his father to report the developments in Babylon and to convey

117 See Errington, JHS 90 (1970) 61; cf. Schur, Rh. Mus. 83 (1934) 144ff.
118 Arr. Suce. la.b.
119

See Berve 2.184, no. 386, s.v. 'I8iaos; Arr. Succe. 1.21 has the
form 'IéiAag, for which see Hoffmann, Die Makedomen 207-208.
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his wish for a marriage-alliance.

Now there were additional problems in the empire: the upper
satrapies, where Alexander had settled the Greek mercenaries,
were in a state of revolt, a direct consequence of Alexander's
death.120 Accordingly, Perdikkas sent out Peithon, formerly one
of the somatophylakes, who had been allotted Media and now showed
the first signs of seditious intent. His army, augmented by con-
tributions from the other satraps (in accordance with Perdikkas'
instructions), overcame the Greek force partly by deceit.121
Whether the ensuing slaughter of the Greeks who had surrendered
was indeed ordered by Perdikkas at the outset of the campaign
is difficult to determine.122 In view of Perdikkas' growing
dependence on Eumenes, the annihilation of the Greek force was
scarcely good politics. It is possible, however, that Peithon's
troops got out of control and that the blame for the slaughter
devolved upon Perdikkas. This disturbance in the east.

120 Diod. 18.4.8; 18.7.1: z@vtos udv. 100U BaoLAéws Onéuevov 613

13v @8Bov, Terevthoavtos 6% &rnfotnoav. Tarn's attempt (CAH
6.455-456) to link the disturbances in.the east with the
Lamian war can be no more than speculation. The rebels, who
numbered 20,000 foot and 3000 horse, were led by Philon the
Ainianian (Diod. 18.7.2; cf. Berve 2.392, no. 798, s.v. @(Awv).

See also Beloch, GGe 4,1.67; Niese 1.199-200; Droysen, Hellenismus

2.24-26; Kaerst, Hellenismus 2.12-13.

121 Diod. 18.7.3. Perdikkas gave Peithon 3800 troops and sent

instructions to the eastern satraps to supply a further 10,000
infantry and 8000 cavalry. Peithon persuaded a certain Leto-
doros to desert, thereby throwing the Greeks into confusion
(Diod. 18.7.5-7). See Berve 2.237, no. 473, s.v. Antdéwpos
(though not "Grieche unbekannter Abkunft"; Diod. 18.7.5 calls
him an Ainianian); see also 2.311l, no. 621, s.v. lelSwv.

122 Diod. 18.7.5, 8-9. This version is generally accepted at its

face-value; see references n.120 supra. But see also Cloché,
La Dislocation 19-20.
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In the west, Antigonos and Leonnatos had been sent out
to their satrapies with instructions to aid Eumenes in con-
quering his satrapy of Kappadokia, which had been by-passed
by Alexander.123 Antigonos, hostile and suspicious from the
start, defected from the Perdikkan cause and refused aid to-
Eumenes. Leonnatos, on the other hand, bolstered his army
over the winter of 323/2.and joined Eumenes in the spring.lz4
At that point, however, Hekataios, tyrant of Kardia, arrived
with an urgent appeal from Antipatros, asking Leonnatos to
come with all haste to Europe; for he was besieged in Lamia
by the Hellenic forces under Leosthenes.125 For Leonnatos
it was the perfect pretext for seeking the throne. He had
already haa communications with Olympias, the unyielding foe-

of Antipatros, and had received from her daughter Kleopatra,

Alexander's sister, a promise of marriage.126 So much he confided

123 Plut. Eum. 3.4. For Ariarathes' independence in Kappadokia
during Alexander's lifetime Diod. 18.16.1. See Berve 2.59-
60, no. 113, s.v. 'Aprapddng; Vezin, Eumenes von Kardia 26ff.;
Briant, Antigone le Borgne 146ff. See also Chapter 2: Leon-
natos.

124 For Antigonos' refusal to give aid see Plut. Eum. 3.5; for
Leonnatos' dealings with Eumenes Plut. Eum. 3.5ff.

125 Hekataios' appeal: Diod. 18.14.4-5; Plut. Eum.3.6. See Berve
2.149, no. 294, s.v. 'Enatalos.

126

Plut. Eum. 3.9; cf. Macurdy, Hellenistic Queens 30ff.; for
further details see the references cited in Chapter 2:
Leonnatos, 114, n.105 supra. Also Seibert, Beitrlge zu-
dynastischen Verbindungen 20.
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to Eumenes, with whose support he hoped to gain the throme.:
But Eumenes, whether wary of Leonnatos' impetuosity or sin-
cerely devoted to the Perdikkan cause, rejected the appeal
on the:ground that he feared that Antipatros would betray him
to his arch—enemy Hekataios.127 Therefore, he slipped away
from Leonnatos’camp during éhe night, leaving Leonnatos to
take his chances in Europe.128

The -episode has great significance for Perdikkas, for
it was surely through Eumenes that he first came to regard
Kleopatra as a means of gaining supreme power. Eumenes, de-
serted by Antigonos and Leonnatos, appealed to Perdikkas for
help and divulged the details of Leonnatos' intrigues.  For
the moment, there was nothing to be done about him; but events
in Greece brought the matter to a speedy conclusion. Perdikkas
moved to join Eumenes for an invasion of Kappadokia; it was late
spring or early summer 322.129

The Kappadokian campaign would give Perdikkas an opportunity
to gain prestige: he would complete the conquest of Alexander's
empire and punish Ariarathes for his refusal to submit. As he
127 Plut.‘éum. 3.8. 1If this was in fact the reason given by
Eumenes to Leonnatos, it is surprising that Leonnatos did
not offer him support against Hekataios in order to win
his support against Antipatros. The knowledge of Leonnatos'
dealings with Kleopatra can only have come down to us through
Eumenes himself (via Hieronymos); Diodoros, however, says

nothing of this.

128

Plut. Eum. 3.10; cf. Nepos, Eum. 2.4-5, who claims that Leonnatos

planned to kill Eumenes when he failed to win his support.

;29 I.e., not long after Leonnatos' departure for Greece.
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moved westward, Krateros now also abandoned Kilikia in answer

to Antipatros' call; whether the two actions were in fact re-
. 130 . .

lated cannot be determined. In Kappadokia Perdikkas won a

decisive victory over Ariarathes, whom he captured and cruelly

punished.l3l Since there were only two decisive battles, Per-

dikkas will not have spent a great deal of time in Kappadokia.132

Thereafter, he instructed Eumenes to settle affairs in Armenia,
which had been thrown into confusion by Neoptolemos,133 while

he himself directed his attention to Pisidia.134 Here the

130 piod. 18.16.4. Errington, JHS 90 (1970) 61: "It is there-

fore difficult to believe that Perdiccas' approach to Cilicia

on his way against Ariarathes in Cappadocia was.not the final
<+ stimulus which drove Craterus into supporting Antipater.”

Cf. Schwahn, '"Die Nachfolge Alexanders des Grossen,'" Klio 24

(1931) 331-332; Badian, "Harpalus," JHS 81 (1961) 41.
131 piod. 18.16.1-3, according to whom. Ariarathes had 30,000
infantry and 15,000 cavalry; cf. 18.22.1; Appian, Mithr. 8;
Arr. Suce. 11; Justin 13.6.1-3, who conflates the Kappadokian
and Pisidian campaigns. Ariarathes was impaled (Arr. Succ.
11). along with his relatives (Diod. 18.16.3). See M. Cary,
A History.of the Greek World from 323 to 146 B.C. (2nd ed.),
London, 1951, 11. Plut. Eumenes 3.13 says only that he was
captured. Vezin, Eumenes von Kardia 29.

132 Arr. Suce. 11 (6vol vindoag updyars); Diod. 18.16.2 says that

4000 of Ariarathes' men were killed, more than 5000 captured.

133 Plut. Eum. 4.1; see also Berve 2.273, no. 548, s.v. NeontéAepos.

Perhaps Perdikkas was already distrustful of Neoptolemos; cf.
Droysen, Hellenismus 2.58.

134 Diod.e18.22.1. - Droysen, Hellenismus 2.57, is right to place

this campaign in the summer of 322, immediately after the
Kappadokian affair, and to regard it as a move on Perdikkas'
part toward Antigonos, who had been guilty of insubordination.
Errington's attempt to place the Pisidian campaign in 321 dis-
rupts the logical pattern of events (JHS 90 [1970] 77); nor

is it in any way convincing. See also Briant, Antigone le
Borgne 216ff.
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Isaurians and Larandians had risen against and killed Alexandér's
satrap Balakros, son of Nikanor.135 These cities Perdikkas took
without great difficulty, and they proved a source of'plunder
forlhissmenwev. Victoriousi in the field and offering lucrative

rewards to his soldiers, Perdikkas now enjoyed his greatest suc-

136
cess.

It was at this time that Antipatros' daughter Nikaia was

brought to Asia by Iolaos and Archias.137 But Perdikkas, who

had found a marriage-alliance with Antipatros' family desirable
in 323, now had second thoughts. To make matters worse, Kleo-
patra, Alexander's sister, had arrived in Sardeis, haVing been
sent out (no doubt) at the instigation of Olympias.138 Eumenes

may have had a hand in the affair: Leonnatos had opened his eyes

135 Diod. 18.22.1. This occurred shortly before Alexander's

death; cf. Berve 2.100; P. Julien, Zur Verwaltung der Satrapien
unter Alexander dem Grossen, Diss. Leipzig, publi'-Wéida; 1914,
20; A. Baumbach, Kleinasien unter Alexander dem Grossen, Diss.
Jena, publ. Weida, 1911. Berve 2.100-101, no. 200, s.v. Bdio-
#pos; he had been one of the somatophylakes of Alexander (see
Appendix 1). Not impossible is Berve's suggestion (2.100) that
he may have been married to Antipatros' daughter Phila (see
Chapter 3: Krateros, 152, n.114 supra).

136 Laranda was taken without difficulty (Diod. 18.22.2), though

Isaura held out for three days (18.22.4). For the self-im-
molation by fire of the Isaurians see Diod. 18.22.4-5; Justin
13.6.2-3. For the booty see Diod. 18.22.8, disagreeing with
Justin 13.6.1: victor nihil praemii praeter vulnera et pericula
rettulit.

137 Diod. 18.23.1; Arr. Suce. 21; Justin 13.6.4-6. 1Iolaos had per-

haps been sent to Macedonia for the purpose of bringing Nikaia
to Asia; see pp.195-196 supraq.

138 Arr. Suce. 21: aXxd ye nal 'OAvumilg n 'AreEdvépov phtne Emepnc

map’ abTdv nateyyvwudvn thy Suyatépa Kieondtpav. Cf. Justin 13.6.4.
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to Kleopatra's potential, and Eumenes, who urged Perdikkas to
marry her in place of Nikaia, may have corresponded with the
scheming Olympias, enéouragingvher to send out her daughter.139
Kleopatra would tempt Perdikkas to ruin. Already he had
begun to formulate a new policy, one that he hoped would win
for him the throne. With the "Kings" securely in his possession
and the army favourably disposed towards him on account of his
recent successes in Kappadokia and Pisidia, Perdikkas was pre-
pared to take two final steps to the kingship: union with Kleo-
patra and the ceremonious return of Alexander's body to Macedonia.
What army wéuld oppose the man returning to Macedonia with the
son of Philip II, the wife, son and sister - indeed, the very
body - of Alexander himself?140
But it was Perdikkas' fate that things should go drastically
wrong-at the critical moment: he was not destined to rule. The
almost contemporaneous arrivals of Nikaia and Kleopatra were most
inopportune. In fact, Nikaia's very presence was an indication of .
changing events: the Macedonians had been victorious in the Lamian

war, Antipatros' power restored. And he meant to achieve stability

by wedding Phila to Krateros, Nikaia to Perdikkas.141 By rejecting

139 On the basis of Arr. Suce. 21, the initiative is always' given

to Olympias, acting out of hatred for Antipatros.:

140 At this time Arrhidaios (Berve 2.80, no.- 145) was still preparlng

the funeral waggon with the intention of taking the body to Egypt.
See details infra.

141 It does not follow, however, as Errington (JHS 90 [1970] 61-62)

wishes to conclude, that "by being brought into a family connexion
with Antipater (and indirectly with Craterus) Perdiccas might
peacefully be made to accept a more equitable arrangement (in
Asia) for Craterus. G.M. Cohen, "The Marriage of Lysimachus and
Nicaea," Historia 22 (1973) 355, is rightly sceptical of the power
of such alliances.



Nikaia now, Perdikkas would certainly invite civil war.

But
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142

there was also the matter of the rebellious Antigonos,

satrap of Phrygia and friend of Antipatros.143 What Per-

dikkas needed was time, enough time to settle affairs in

Asia to his satisfaction.

144

Against Antigonos he attempted to use tactics similar

to those employed with great success against Meleagros: he

145

hoped to remove him under the guise of legality. But

Antigonos, who knew well the designs of Perdikkas, made  fio

142

143

144

145

Diod. 18.23.3; the sentiment at least is expressed by
Justin 13.6.5; see also Macurdy, Hellenistic Queens
37-38; Vezin, Eumenes von Kardia 39; cf. Beloch, GGa
4,1.83.

For Antigonos see Berve 2.42-44, no. 87, s.v. ’Avt(lyovocs.
He belonged to the older generation (born ca 380); cf.
Kaerst, FE I (1894) 2406, s.v. "Antigonos (3)." See
also Briant, Antigone le Borgne, Paris, 1973. -

To this time belongs the restoration of the Samian
exiles, a matter referred by Antipatros to the "Kings"
and carried out by Perdikkas in the name of Philip
Arrhidaios; Diod. 18.18.6, 9. Perhaps Perdikkas re-
ceived news of this from Iolaos and Archias, when they
brought out Nikaia. See also Chr. Habicht, "Samische"
Volksbeschllsse der hellenistischer Zeit," MDAI(A) 72
(1957) 152ff.; "Der Beitrag Spartas zur Restitution von
Samos wHhrend des Lamischen Krieges," Chiron 5 (1974) 45-
50; R.M. Errington, 'Samos and the Lamian War," Chiron 5
(1975) 51-57, who insists (unwisely) on his revised chrono-
logy, set out in JHS 90 (1970) 75-77; E. Badian, "A Comma
in the History of Samos," ZPE 23 (1976) 289-294,

Diod. 18.23.3-4.
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attempt to clear himself of the charges brought against him

- for clearly he was guilty of insubordination in the Kappa-

dokian affair - and fled from his satrapy.l46 He had, how-

ever, seen enough of Perdikkas' dealings with the Macedonian

women to know that Perdikkas' marriage to Nikaia was merely

a front, intended to keep Antipatros satisfied for the time.

Whatever Antigonos suspected about Perdikkas' designs he

presented to Antipatros and Krateros as fact, and he spiced

the information with a highly dramatised account of the fate

of Kynnane, which he had learned of en route to Europe.147
Kynnane indeed represented the unexpected, but Perdikkas

lost control of affairs when he failed to act decisively on

the matter of Nikaia and Kleopatra. After a brief hesitation,

which could not have failed to attract attention, he married.

Nikaia, hoping to forestall a confrontation with Antipatros.148

As for Antigonos, it proved difficult to mete out punishment, -

which he clearly deserved, without earning the suspicion and

resentment of the other satraps; on this matter the Meleagros-

146

Diod. 18.23.4; 18.25.3; Justin 13.6.7-9; Arr. Sucec. 24.

147‘For Perdikkas' designs see Droysen, Hellenismus 2.59:

"seine Absicht war, den Satrapen von Phrygien, dem aus
dem fernen Aegypten nicht so’bald Hilfe kommen konnte,

zu Uberrennen, sich dann durch VermHdhlung mit Kleopatra
offen als Gegner des Antipatros zu erklHren...." See
Briant, Antigone le Borgne,l145ff., esp. 153ff. For Anti-
gonos' dramatisation of the Kynnane-episode see Arr. Suce.
24 (Entpayydhooas).

148 jistin 13.6.6; Diod. 18.23.3; Arr. Suce. 21 says that Eumenes

urged him to marry Kleopatra, Alketas advocated Nikaia; Per-
dikkas chose Nikaia for the time.
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affair proved instructive.

The summer and autumn of 322 saw an.exodus of leading
Macedonian women from their homeland to the vicinity of Per-
dikkas and the royal army. Atalante, Perdikkas' sister, we
may. assume was the first, perhaps joining her brother and
her intended husband, Attalos, in Pisidia.149 Then, in early
autumn, Nikaia's departure was followed closely by that of
Kleopatra.150 Nor did the plans of Antipatros and Olympias
go unnoticed by another Macedonian princess, the daughter of
Philip II and the Illyrian Audata-Eurydike, Kynnane, a woman
of indomitable spirit.lSl She had been married by her father

to the innocuous Amyntas Perdikka; rightful heir to the Mace-

donian throne; but he had lived like an exile in his own land,

149

150

151

For the marriage of Attalos and Atalante see Appendix 3:
The Relationship of Attalos and Perdikkas.

For Nikaia and Kleopatra see Berve 2.274, no. 552, s.v.
Nixafloa (cf. Beloch, GGZ 4,2.127) and 2.212-213, no. 433,
S.v. Kieomdrpa. For Perdikkas' dealings with these women
see Macurdy, Hellenistic Queens 37-38; Cloch&, La Dis-
location 51-53; Seibert, Beitrdge zur dynastischen Ver-
bindungen 13-16 and 19ff.; Briant, Antigone le Borgne 174-
175; Errington, JHS 90 (1970) 63ff., who. accepts the date
given by the Babylonian Chronicle for Perdikkas' death (320
B.C.) and postpones Nikaia's arrival in Asia to summer 321.

Droysen's description is worth quoting: "Sie hatte das wilde
illyrische Blut ihrer Mutter; sie zog mit in die Kriege; Aben-
teuer und Kriegsfahrten waren ihre Lust, und mehr als einmal
nahm sie am Kampf persbnlich teil; in einem Kriege gegen die
Illyrer ersthlug sie mit eigener Hand deren K8nigin und trug
durch ihr wildes Eindringen in die Feinde nicht wenig zur Ent-
scheidung des Tages (Hellenismus 2.60). See Polyainos 8.60,
s.v. Kdvva. :
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deprived of his title and bound to allegiance by Kynnane,
who proved more than his match in character and in deed.
After Philip's death, Amyntas was executed on charges of
conspiracy; perhaps he had been incited by Kynnane, who,
though loyal to her father, will have preferred that her
husband rule in place of her half-brother Alexander.152 Now
in 322, as she saw Antipatros and Olympias intriguing with
Perdikkas, she was determined to exert her influence and se-
cure for herself and for her daughter Eurydike a share of
thé power.

Again Philip Arrhidaios proved to be Perdikkas' undoing.
Kynnane saw the futility of vying for a union with Perdikkas:
Antipatros could offer political advantages, and Kleopatra
had more prestige than her half—sister.153 Therefore, she
resolved to by-pass the negotiatinggparties and to undermine
their plans by wedding her daughter Eurydike to Arrhidaios.
Antipatros was not eager to see Kynnane leave Macedonia -
doubtless he was already troubled by the recent departure of
Kleopatra -, and he left a force to bar the Hellespont. But
the warrior-princess had surrounded herself with .a small but
efficient‘mercenary—force with which she broke through Anti-

patros' guard. When the word of her coming reached Perdikkas,

he sent Alketas with orders to dissuade her, by force if necéssary.

152 For Amyntas Perdikka see the Introduction; see also Arr. Suce.22.

153 Like Alexander, Kleopatra was.the child of both Philip and

Olympias.
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Kynnane was not one to be dissuaded; defiant,she was cut down

by Alketas' men in full view of the Macedonian.army. Surely

this was not how Perdikkas had envisioned Alketas' mission.154

The army mutinied and demanded that Kynnane's purpose be ful-

filled, that Eurydike be led to Arrhidaios.155 What support

Perdikkas had gained in the past year was now quickly eroding.

His officers grew increasingly suspicious of his aspirations,

the common soldier was alienated by his acts of barbarity.156

Now things began to deteriorate rapidly. Antigonos sought

refuge with Antipatros and Krateros, warning them of Perdikkas'

intention to march on Macedonia.157 Ptolemy, who had long feared

Perdikkan intervention in Egypt, made an alliance with the strategoi

in Europe, who now abandoned their Aitolian war in mid-winter 322/1

and prepared to cross into Asia.158 Polyperchon held Europe.159

154 It is generally held that Perdikkas instigated Kynnane's murder:

so Droysen, Hellenismus 2.61l; Niese 1.214; Vezin, Eumpnes von
Kardia 36; Cloch8, La DtsZocatton 55. Beloch, GGZ 471.83 even
has her murdered by Perdikkas himself; Welles, Alexander and the
Hellenistic World 53, thinks Perdikkas was incited by Kleopatra.
I prefer Macurdy's suggestion that "Perdiccas saw the fatal
stupidity of his brother's act..." (Hellenistic Queens 50).

155 For the Kynnane-episode: Polyainos 8.60; Arr. Suce. 1.22-24.

156 . .
> Meleagros, the Greek mercenaries, Ariarathes, now Kynnane.

157 piod. 18.23.4, 25.3-4; Justin 13.6.7-9; Arr. Suce. 1.24siCE.

Vezin, Eumenes von Kardia 37; Kaerst, Hellenismus 2.21, for
Perdikkas' intention to march on Macedonia.

138 Diod. 18.14.2; 18.25.4; Justin 13.6.9; Seibert, Untersuchungen

aur Geschzchte Ptolemazos I. 64ff.

159 justin 13.6.9.
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Perdikkas, meanwhile, abandoned Nikaia and openly
courted Kleopatra, sending Eumenes with gifts to Sardeis,
where she had taken up residence.160 Antigonos' defection

had been followed by that of ‘Asandros, the Karian satrap,

and now Menandros of Lydia also took flight.161 Perdikkas

knew that a confrontation with Antipatros and his allies was
inevitable, and he meant to bolster his position by marrying

Kleopatra before he took the field and marched on Macedonia.

160 Arr. Suce. 1.26; Eumenes' visit to Kleopatra follows

Polemon's attempt to retrieve Alexander's body (1.25),

but the phrase év 108ty shows that the events were con-
temporaneous. Perdikkas was still hoping to recover the
body and to march on Macedonia with both the funeral-car

and Kleopatra. See R. Engel, "Zur Chronologie von Per-
dikkas' Massnahmen am Vorabend des ersten Koalitionskrieges
321'v. Chx.," Rh. Mus. 115 (1972) 215-219. The "gifts" to
Kleopatra appear to have included turning over to her the
satrapy of Lydia, for Menandros is described as 6.’ 0Opyfis
Exwv Nepslunav §tv thv. v Eatpanelav fiv elxev adids Kieo-
ndtpg €nttetpdger (Afr. Suce. fr.25, séct. '2). Seibert,
Beitrdge zu: dynastischen Verbindungen 21, is too brief to
be useful; see, however, Vezin, Fumenes von Kardia 40-41.
Beloch, GG2 4.1.86, n.6, thinks the marriage did not take
place on account of Kleopatra's unwillingness; cf. Cary,

A History of the Greek World from 323 to 146 B.C. (2nd ed.),
London, 1951, 12: "...she was as good a wrecker as her mother,
and  preferred, like Queen Elizabeth, to have many lovers so
that she might disappoint them all." Droysen, Hellenismus
2.62, is probably right to say that she accepted Perdikkas'
proposition ("die KBnigin gab sofort ihre Zustimmung'); but-
there was not sufficient time for the marriage to take place.
She was favourably disposed toward the Perdikkans (Arr. Succ.
fr.25, sect. '6), though she repudiated her philia - for this
remained the extent of her relationship with Perdikkas - once
her intended husband had died in Egypt. (Arr. Suce. 1.40).

16l Arr. Suce. 1.26; fr.25, sect. 2; cf. Engel, op. cit. n.1l60

supra.
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But at this point the bottom fell out of Perdikkas' carefully
conceived scheme: Arrhidaios had completed the funeral-car in
Babylon and had begun to transport the King's body to Egypt.

It would be rash to deny that Alexander had requested

162

burial at the oasis of Ammon; on this point the sources concur.
But Arrhidaios (not the King), who spent almost two years over-
seeing the funeral-arrangements, was surely instructed by Per-

dikkas that there would be a change in plans: Alexander's body

would be taken to Macedonia, not Egypt.163 We can only assume,

162

163

Diod. 18.3.5; Justin 12.15.7; 13.4.6; Curt. 10.5.4. Paus.-
1.6.3 does say that the body was destined for Aigai, but this
was in accordance with Perdikkas' change of policy (Moxeddvwv
Tods. Taxdévtas Tdv. "AreEdvbpou vexpdv: &g Alyds noulzewv); ‘there
is no mention of ‘Alexander's wishes here. Cf. Arr. Suce. 1.25,
where Arrhidaios acts against Perdikkas' wishes (nup&'Yvéunv...
Tepdlunov); the matter is completely misinterpreted by R.M.
Geer, Diodorus of Sicily, Loeb Classical Library, vol. 9,
Cambridge, Mass., 1947, 19, n.4. Seibert, Untersuchungen

zur Geschichte Ptolemaios I. 110-111, also supposes that there
is a contradiction between Pausanias' account and the version
given by Diodoros, Justin and Curtius. For Perdikkas' change
of policy see Droysen, Hellenismus 2.67, n.2, placing Pausanias'
testimony in the proper light. The- most thorough discussion is
that of Schubert, Quellen zur Geschichte der Diadochenzeit,
Leipzig, 1914, chap. 13: "Der Streit um Alexanders Leiche,"
180-189; see also.Badian, "A King's Notebooks," HSCP 72 (1967)
185-189; Errington, JHS 90 (1970) 64-65; Beloch, GGZ2 4.1.86-87.
Tarn 2.355-356, predictably, disbelieves Alexander's wish to

be buried at Siwah, ascribing these reports to Ptolemy's
propaganda; less dogmatic is the account given in CAH 6.467.

For Arrhidaios see Berve 2.80, no. 145, s.v. 'Appibatos;
Kaerst, RE II (1896) 1249, s.v. "Arridaios (5)." He'is

not, as Justin 13.4.6 wrongly states, to be identified

with Philip Arrhidaios, but later one of the guardians of

the "Kings" (Arr. Suce. 31; Diod. 18.39); for the funeral-

car see Diod. 18.3.5; 18.26-29; Arr. Suce. 1.25. Diod. 18.
28.2 says that Arrhidaios' preparations took almost two years,
a fact that seriously undermines Errington's attempts to re-
vise the chronology of this period (JHS 90 [1970] 75-77).
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as Perdikkas himself'did, that there had been collusion between
Ptolemy and the satrap of Babylonia, Archon; it was symptomatic
of widespread disaffection among the officials of the empire.l64
News came to Perdikkas that Arrhidaios had turned southward and
was making for Egypt. Bdt a force headed by the sons of Andro-
menes, sent out to retrieve Alexander's body, proved inadequate;
for Ptolemy had marched out in full force to meet Arrhidaios'
procession and escort it to Egypt.l65 Significantly, none of
the satraps between Babylonia and Egypt made an effort to inter-
cede.

Robbed of his most valuable tool, Perdikkas abandoned all
thoughts of marching against Antipatros. The haste of Antipatros'
preparations had caught Perdikkas in an awkward situation: he had
not yet completed the prerequisites for his march on Europe; neither
Kleopatra or the King's body were in his possession. Thus he had
already turned his attention to Egypt, where Ptolemy had been in-
creasing steadily in power; news of the "body-snatching'" only

further emphasised his need to secure Asia first.166

164 See Arr. Suce. fr. 24, sect. 3. One would like to know where

the chiliarchos Seleukos and Peithon, satrap of Media, were
at this time and how they reacted to the incident.

165 Diod. 18.28.2ff.; Arr. Suce.  1.25; Paus. 1.6.4; cf. Curt.

10.10.20. For the sons of Andromenes see Arr. Suce. 1.25
(Polemon only) and fr. 24, sect, 1 (both Attalos and Polemon).
Cf. Badian, HSCP 72 (1967) 189, n.34.

166 Diod. 18.25.6; Justin 13.6,10-13; Arr. Succ. fr.24, sect. 1.

Seibert, Untersuchungen zur Geschichte Ptolemaios I. 110ff.
Perdikkas had other grievances against Ptolemy: his execution
of the hyparchos Kleomenes and his expansionist war against
Kyrene.
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Some realignments were made for the sake of security:
Philotas, a known supporter of Krateros, was deposed from
the satrapy of Kilikia as Perdikkas entered that territory;
there too provisions were made for the fleet, and Dokimos
was despaﬁched to Babylon with orders to replace Archon,
suspected of complicity in the Arrhidaios-affair.167 Eumenes

held the western front: his domain was enlarged to include

Lykia, Karia and Phrygia, which had been abandoned by Nearchos,168

Asandros and Antigonos respectively, and doubtless he kept a

167 For Philotas see Berve 2.397, nos 803 and 804, s.v. ¢u.Adtacg.

Berve, RE XX.1 (1939) 177-178, s.v. "Philotas (2)"; 179, nos
7-9; P.Schoch, 179-180, no. 10 and 180, no.l1ll; Arr. Suce. fr.
24, sect. 2: émiTiiderov Tols duel Kpatepdv. For Dokimos and
Archon see Arr. Succ. fr.24, sect. 4-5; cf. Berve 2.86-87, no.
165, s.v. "Apxwv; Kaerst, RE II (1896) 564, s.v. "Archon (5)";
Berve 2.147, no. 285, s.v. Aduiposy Kaerst, RE V (1905) 1274,
s.v. "Dokimos (4)."

168 Lykia was joined to Greater Phrygia after 330 and is usually

given to Antigonos in the satrapy-lists: Arr. Succ. la.6, Ib.2;
Curt. 10.10.2; Diod. 18.3.1; App. Syr. 53; though Justin 13.4.15
gives Lykia and Pamphylia to Nearchos, who had ruled it from

333 to 330. See Berve 1.276 opp.; Baumbach, Kleinasien unter
Alexander dem Grossem, Diss. Jena, publ. Weida, 1911, 57 and 57,
n.2, who believes that Justin is wrong concerning the satrapy in
323; Nearchos was later a supporter of Antigonos (Diod. 19.19;
cf. Polyainos 5.35), and he may have controlled Lykia under
Antigonos' direction; cf. Droysen, Hellenismus 2.16; Schachermeyr,
Alexander in Babylon 144, n.91. See also Julien, Zur Verwaltung
der Satrapien unter Alexander dem Grossen, Diss. Leipzig, publ.
Weida, 1914, 17; Berve 2.269-272, no. 544, s.v. Nfoapxos, esp.
271; Capelle, RE XVI.2 (1935) 2134; Niese 1.197, n.2; Badian,
"Nearchus the Cretan,'" YCS 24 (1975) 169, n.58; Lehmann-Haupt

in J. Papastavru, Amphipolis: Geschichte und Prosopographie
(Klio Beiheft 37) Leipzig, 1936, 137.

For Eumenes territory see Justin 13.6.14-15; Plut. Eum.
5.1-2; Nepos, Eum. 3.2; cf. Diod. 18.25.6; 18.29.1.
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watchful eye on Kleopatra in Lydia.169 Under his command
were placed also Neoptolemos, satrap of Armenia, and Alketas.170
From the coast of Kilikia, Perdikkas despatched Sosigenes the
Rhodian and Aristonous, his most faithful supporter throughout
the war, to Kypros in order to deal with Ptolemy's allies
there.l7l At the same time, Attalos, who had now married
Atalante, was ordered to accompany the army to Egypt with the
fieet; in the present turbulence, Perdikkas thought it best to
keep his sister in the camp.172

Dokimos secured Babylon without difficulty, defeating in
battle Archon, who soon died of a fatal wound.173 Meanwhile,
Perdikkas marched to Damaskos, where he probably replaced the
satrap of Syria, Laomedon, a boyhood friend of Alexander who

174

had gone over to Ptolemy, and awaited reinforcement (likely

headed by Peithon, satrap of Media). From here he made his

169'See 207, n.160 supra.

170 justin 13.4.15; Diod. 18.29.2; Arr. Suce. 1.26; Plut. Eum.
5.2-3.

171 ;

" Arr. Suce. 24, sect. 6. Aristonous was to be strategos;

Sosigenes nauarchos (Berve 2.369, no. 737, s.v. ZwoLY€vng);
Medios the Thessalian xenagos (Berve 2.261-262, no. 521, s.v.
Mi6L0g); and Amyntas hipparchos (Berve 2.26, no. 56, s.v. -
"Apdvtas; cf. Kaerst, RE I [1894] 2007, s.v. "Amyntas [20]").
The Kyprian allies of Ptolemy were Nikokles, Nikokreon, Androkles
and Pasikrates (Berve nos 567, 568, 73, 610).  See Briant, Antigone
le Borgne 205; Niese 1.219.

172 R . . . 2
Justin 13.6.16 incorrectly says Kleitos; cf. Beloc¢h, GG° 4.1.87, n.3.-
The women in camp included also Rhoxane and Hadea—Eugydike.

173 Arr. Succ. fr.24, sect. 5.

174

Berve 2.231-232, no. 464, s.v. Aaopédwv.
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assault on Egypt.

In the west Perdikkas experienced further difficulties.
Neoptolemos, long an enemy of Eumenes, abandoned the Perdikkan
forces and joined Krateros' army; Alketas, perhaps stinging
from a reproach over the manner in which he handled the affair
of Kynnane, refused to serve under Eumenes, protesting that his
Macedonians would not go into battle with the illustrious
Krateros.175 Nevertheless, Eumenes and his troops were victorious,
though Perdikkas was never to learn the news.176

The Egypt against which Perdikkas led his forces had been
carefully prepared for the confrontation by Ptolgmy, who realised
from the start that war with Perdikkas was a strong possibility;
he had spent the two years after the settlement at Babylon forti-
fying his satrapy and winning the loyalty of his followers.177
Perdikkas, if indeed he did try to win support among his generals
through gifts and promises (so Diod. 18.33.5), was less successful;
as Beloch rightly remarks, "Perdikkas hatte nie die Gabe besessen,
sich bei seinen Untergebenen beliebt zu machen" (GG2 4.1.88).

At first he made a daring assault on Kameldn Teichos ("The

Fort of the Camels"), but failed to take it by storm. The following

175 Plut. Eumenes 5.3; but see Schubert, Quellen zur Geschichte

der Diadochenzeit, Leipzig, 1914, 139-149, chap. 11: "Die
Berichte Uber Krateros."

176 Diod. 18.33.1 says that Perdikkas heard and was encouraged by

the news of Eumenes' victory. But this is contradicted by
Diod. 18.37.1 (cf. Plut. Eum. 8.2-3), who says the news arrived

in Egypt 2 days after Perdikkas' murder. See Chapter 3: Krateros,
157-159 supra.

Diod. 18.33.3-4.

t

177
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.night, he broke camp and marched upstream from Kamelon Teichos

to an island that lay opposite Memphis. But here Perdikkas

made a grave error, for, in éttempting to reach the island,

his troops were subjected- to great hardships and danger owing

to the unexpected swiftness and depth of the Nile at that point. -
Only a small number crossed to the island successfully, and the
bulk of the army found it an impossible feat; many were drowned
in the attempt. What made matters worse was that Perdikkas,

who had reached the opposite bank, had too few men to assault
Memphis and was forced to re-cross the treacherous river. 1In
all, according to Diodoros (18.36.1), some 2000 lives were lost,
including some prominent commanders (év otlg ua? TV €MLPavBY TLVES
nyeudvwy Unfipxov), though none of these is named. It was as much
as the army was willing to endure from Perdikkas, whom they held
responsible for their present miseries. He had failed for the
last time. The foremost of his generals, including Peithon and
Seleukos, conspired against him during the night and murdered

him as he slept.178 With him died the last hope for the empire

as Alexander had envisioned it.

178 For the account of Perdikkas' campaign against Ptolemy see

Diod. 18.33-37 (the only extensive account); also Arr. Sucec.

1.28; Plut. ‘Eum. 8.2-3; Justin 13.8.1-2; see Seibert, Unter-
suchungen zur Geschichte Ptolemaios I. 118-128 for an analysis

of the accounts. For his death: Arr. 7.18.5 (it was prophesied
by the seer Peithagoras); Nepos, Ewm. 5.1; Justin 13.8.10; 14.1.1;
14.4.11; 15.1.1; Diod. 18.36.3; Paus. 1.6.3; Suda s.v. llepdlunag;
Heidelberg Epit. 1; cf. G. Bauer, Die Heidelberger Epitome: Eine
Quelle zur Diadochengeschichte, Greifswald, 1914, 34-36.
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APPENDIX 1

The Somatophylakes of Alexander the Great®

W.W. Tarn introduced his discussion of "Alexander's
Macedonian Troops" with the follewing judgment on ‘Arrian's
primary source: "Ptolemy knew everything about it [Z.e., the
constitution of the army], but he knew it too well...and
evidently he mentioned various things without giving such
description or explanation of them a; would be‘needed by a
writer nearly 500 yearslater."2 As in most military matters,
Arrian's account, although generally recognised as the best
that we possess, is marked by an ambiguous'and.inconsistent
(often anachronistic) ﬁse of military terminology. The case
of Alexander's somatophylakes is notexception, for on this
point Ptolemy's history is of particular significance: he was
himself a member of the Bodyguard. But, while the unsatisfactory
and fragmentary nature of the extant souicés makes- a dogmatic
approach unwise, there is scope for a reconstruction of the list
of somatophylakes during the réign of Alexander.:

Arrian (6.28.4) gives the oniy complete list of,the'Bodyguard
in Alexander's lifetime: etvay 6% avt)h entd els tdte owpatopVranas,
Aeovvdtov "Avtéov, 'HwapOTvaa T§v&7Au6vTopos, Auo(uaxov "Ayadouréovg,

"Apiotdvouy Teroalou, to¥tous ndv: Meddalous, Mepdlunav 62 'Opdvtov &x

1 On the somatophylakes see H. Droysen, Heerwesen und Kriegflihrung
der Griechen, Freiburg, 1889, 116-117; F. Lammert, RE IIIA.1 (1927)
991-992; H.. Berve 1.25-30; Tarn 2.135-142, esp. 139-~142; Hoffmann,
Die Makedonen 167-179.

2 Tarn 2.135.
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tfic 'Opeotldog, NMToAeuafov &€ A&you nol Heﬁ%wvd Kp&fsﬁd ’Eopbaloug®
8yboov &€ mpooyevéodal avTols Hsunécrdv Tov ' AXeEdvSpou Onep—'
aonCoavto. The naming of all seven somatophylakes was occasioned
by the creation of the eighth, and special, office for Peukestas,
the man who saved Alexander's life in the battle with the Malloi
in India. It is unfortunate that this list, included in the ac-
count of the events of the year 325, has led some scholars to
assume that some members of the unit were appointed only shortly
before 325; this at least is held for Lysimachos, Peithon, A¥isto-
nous. An examination of the names and careers of all known somato-
phylakes suggests a somewhat different arrangement.

From the ancient sources Berve has collected a list of no
less than fourteen individuals who were thought to have held the
office during Alexander's lifetime,. Nevértheless; while the unit
underwent a number of changes in personnel, it consisted very likely
of seven members originally: this is suggested by the process of
replacing individuals who are no longer somatophylakes (thrice
attested in ArrianB) and by the creation of an exceptional eighth
office to accommodate the heroic Peukestas. Admittedly, there is
no formal list of the original seven Somatophylakes;'and Berve be-
lieves that the reconstruction of such a list of originals is seri-
ously hampered by "die Wahrscheinlichkeit; dass wir nicht einmal

die Namen sHmtlicher LeibwHchter in der ersten Zeit kennen'o";'4 that

Arr. 2.12.2, Menes replaces Balakros; 3.5.5, Leonnatos replaces
Arhybbas; 3.27.5, Ptolemy supersedes Demetrios.-

4 Berve 1.27.
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is, that the names of all originals have not been preserved
even in scatfered references. This is indeed a possibility -
Berve might more usefully have spoken of "eine MBglichkeit,"
since "Wahrscheinlichkeit" is unduly pessimistic - and it
must always remain in the foreground, but a list of probable
original members can, I think with some justification, be
drawn up from the existing evidence.

0f the fourteen names of individuals designated by the
sources as armiger, custos corporis; cwpoatoedrag and quaTowdxaE
Bacbkbnég,s three, clearly, cannot have held the office from
the beginning, while a fourth, very likely, did not hold it at
all. Menes, son of Dionysios,6 replaced Balakros, son of Nikanor,7
who had been appointed satrap of Kilikia in 333 B.C. (Arr. 2.12.2).
Leonnatos succeeded to the position left vacant by the death of
Arhybbas in Egypt in 332/1,8 and Ptolémy, son of Lagos, replaced

Demetrios, suspected of complicity in the so-called "conspiracy

The terms could apply to members of the '""Bodyguard-proper"
(the elite), but also to the larger group, the foot-guard
or hypaspistai, as Tarn (loec. cit.) and Berve (1.122ff.)
have shown. Diod. 16.94.4 and 17.61.3; Arr. 3.17.2 and
6.28.4 provide examples of the different usage.

See Berve 2.257, no. 507, s.v. Mévng; Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 171.
Berve 2.100, no. 200, s.v. Bdhonpoc; Hoffmann, Die Makedomen 175-176.

Berve 2.85, no. 156, s.v. 'ApYBBag; Arr. 3.5.5, mss. have ’AppiBag,
but for the name see Hoffmann, Die Makedonen 176-177. See also
"Chapter 2: Leonnatos.
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of Philotas" (Arr. 3.27.5).9 The fourth, Ptolemaios, son of
Seleukos,10 whom Arrian (1.24.1) calls €va T@v owﬁuromuxduwv TV
Buo@kuumv, must be, as K.J. Beloch suggests,11 so termed by con-
fusion with another Ptolemaios (patronymic unknown, Berve, no. 672),
who was killed during the taking of Halikarnassos and was called
cwpetogBral BacLAunds (Arr. 1.22.4). The two cannot have been
identical since Ptolemaios, son of Seleukos, did not die until

the battle of Issos, whereafter it is récorded that his successor
was a commander of a faxis, with no mention of the rank of somato-
phylax (Arr. 2.12.2).12 Of the three non—oéiginal members, only
two, Leonnatos and Ptolemy, retained their offices beyond 330 B.C.;

Menes was subsequently appointed hyparchos of Kilikia, Syria and

? Berve 2.329-335, no. 668, s.v. NItoAenafog. Arrian's comment
that Ptolemy was rewarded for his loyalty to Alexander (in the
flight from Philip's Court) by being appointed somatophylax
anticipates the events described at Arr. 3.26.1-27.5 (3.6.6).
For Demetrios see Berve 2.135, no. 260, s.v. Anuftprog; Hoffmann,
Die Makedonen 172-173.

10 Berve 2,335-336, no. 670, s.v. Htoleudtog;’Hoffmann, Die Makedonen

173-175.

11 Beloch IIIZ 2.327 (against Berve 2.335-336, n.3): "Verwechslung

mit dem Somatophylax Ptolemaeos, dessen Tod vor Halikarnassos
kkurz vorher berichtet wird...," -provides a sound reason for
assuming that Ptolemaios (670), especially in the light of his
later appearance as taxiarch, was not somatophylaxr. Less con-
vincing is Beloch's charge that 'es wlHre doch sehr merkwlirdig,
wenn es damals 2 Somatophylakes namens Ptolemaeos gegeben hHtte."
There were in fact two somatophylakes named Ptolemaios during the
course of the campaign.

12 It is not necessary to suppose, as R.D. Milns ("Alexander's Seventh

Phalanx Battalion," GRBS 7 [1966] 160, n.10) does, that Ptolemaios,
son of Seleukos, was both somatophylax and taxiarch.
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Phoinikia in 331 (Arr. 3.16.9).13

The early replacement of Arhybbas, Balakros and Demetrios,

along with the death of Ptolemaios (672), creates a strong pre-

sumption that these four were members of the somatophylakes from

the beginning of the expedition and, on account of their importance

deriving from their aristocratic affiliations rather than their

personal relationships with Alexander, they presumably held the

rank already in the time of Philip II.l4 Thus Berve observes:

13

14

A. Baumbach, Kleinasien unter Alexander dem Grossen, Diss.
Jena, publ. Wéida, 1911, 65, n.3; 72; P. Julien, Zur Ver-
waltung der Satrapien unter Alexander dem Grossen, Diss.
Leipzig, publ. Weida, 1914, 62, n.2; 67; see now A.B. Bos-
worth, "The Government of Syria under Alexander the Great,"
Cq n,s, 24 (1974) 53264,

We cannot say with any certainty what the roles of the somato-
phylakes were under Philip II; the importance of the unit under
Alexander appears to be owed, in part, to the historian Ptolemy,

who was himself a member of that unit. Likely, Philip's
somatophylakes developed out of thermachinery of the heroic

monarchy (cf. C.F. Edson, "Early Macedonia', 22, 30-31 and passim,

and G.S. Stagakis, "Observations on the ‘Etalpo. of Alexander the
Great," 86-102, in Ancient Macedonia, Thessaloniki, 1970). They

were a refinement of the "retinue of nobles who rode with the

king in battle" (Tarn 2.137) and, as such, they were undoubtedly
chosen on the basis of their family-backgrounds and the duties
performed by their fathers add forefathers. Tarn's suggestion

(2.141) that the term somatophylax to Arrian and Ptolemy "designate[d]
a few great officers, the so-called Bodyguards, who formed Alexander's
personal Staff" is not entirely appropriate to Alexander and cannot
be indicative of the rank in Philip's time. There can be no doubt
that the somatophylakes, who are mentioned in the earliest references
in Arrian, were inherited from Philip by Alexander (against Berve 1.26:
"der ganz persBnliche Charakter des Amtes verlangte eine freie Er-
nennung dur den KBnig, die dieser sichet alsbald nach seiner Thron-
besteigung vollzcg'). 1In theory the new king will have had the’
right to choose his own Bodyguard, but at Alexander's accession

he must have felt the need toJ maintain the goodwill of the nobility,
whom Philip's somatophylakes represented. But there can also be no
doubt that the somatophylakes owed their importance, as a unit, to
the importance of the men who held the office and to the history
written by one of their number.
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", ..dass nur Vertreter des hBchsten Adels diese Wurde erlangen
konnten, die zunYchst vielleicht bestimmten Geschlechtern vor-
behalten war und deshalb auch spiter eine feste, unverinderliche
Zahl ihrer Vertreter, also gleichsam einen‘numerus clausus auf-
wies (1.26)." And the particular attention that is given to the
changes in personnel in the early years of the campaign suggests
that no other changes were made in the constitution of the Body-
guard at this time involving the three as yet unidentified occubants
of the remaining positions. It is not impossible, therefore, that
three of the final seven regular Bodyguards were, in fact, originals
and, consequently, not promoted to that rank by Alexander.

Five individuals remain to be considered: Hephaistion, Per-
dikkas, Peithon, Aristonous and Lysimachos. Of these Hephaistion
is the most enigmatic; traditionally Alexander's dearest friend,
of his early rank and activities very little record survives (see
Chapter 1). The famed boyhood friendship derives primarily from
the vulgate;15 indeed, in the important list of friends who were
exiled on account of the Pixodaros-affair shortly after Philip's
marriage to Kleopatra-Eurydike, Hephaistion's name is conspicuously
absenﬁ.16 Furthermore, Tarn has correctly assigned the parallel that

15 Ps.-Kall. 1.18 and Jul. Val. 1.10 mention Hephaistion-and Alexander

sailing to Olympiastogether as teenagers; Diog. Laert. 5.1.27 (mis-
printed by Berve 2.169, n.3) mentions letters from Aristotle to
Hephaistion; Curt. 3.12.15 describes him as cum ipso [sc. Alexandro]
pariter educatus; two famous anecdotes concerning Sisygambis and the
election of a new king for Sidon are products of .the wvulgate.. For
complete references see Berve 2.169-175, no. 357, s.v. HgavotCwv
and my ‘Chapter 1: Hephaistion.'

16 Plut. Alex. 10.4; Arr. 3.6.5.
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made Hephaistion Patroklos to Alexander's Achilles to the
poetasters, Choirilos of Iasos and the 1ike,l7 for the parallel
was clearly more visible in the circumstances that surrounded
Hephaistion's death than in the early years of the campaign.18
Hence Arrian's Adyos (1.1211) that Hephaistion crowned the tomb
of Patroklos at Ilion merits little attention as evidence for
the early boyhood friendship.

Undoubtedly the friendship began at an early age (it is
difficult to say precisely when), but when Alexander acceded to
the throne, if the somatophylakes diid in fact number seven at
that time, all seven offices were already occupied by men of
Philip's choosing; if Hephaistion was Alexander's dearest friend
from childhood, it is unlikely that he belonged to Philip's
Bodyguard. Similarly, it is unlikely that he became intimate
with Alexander as a result of being somatophylax; his entire
career indicates that he derived his rank from his relations with
Alexander, not his friendship from his rank.19 Thus it is safe
to assume that Hephaistion's promotion to the somatophylakes could
have come only when one of the existing members needed to be re-

placed. Leonnatos' replacement of Arhybbas is the first one on

” Tarn 2.55¢f. and 78; Jacoby, FGr#ist 153 F10, 1l.

18 The ‘Achilles imitatio, Arr. 7.14.4. The entire Achilles-Alexander

element derives from the poetasters (Tarn, loc. ceit.) and hence also
the correlation of Hephaistion and Patroklos. Cf. B. Perrin, "Genesis
and Growth of an Alexander-myth," TAPA 26 (1895) 56-68,

19 Note particularly Plutarch (AlZex. 47.11), where Alexander reminds

Hephaistion that "without Alexander he would be nothing."’
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record, but it is not the first opportunity for such a re-
placement. Very early in the campaign the opportunity for
Hephaistion's appointment presented itself in the death of
Ptolemaios (672) at Halikarnassos. It is no coincidence that
shortly afterward Hephaistion makes his first entry into his-

tory that does not dérive from the poetasters. Two instances,

the visit to the captive Persian Queen after the battle at

Iésos and the alleged admitting of Aristion to Alexander's Court,20
cast Hephaistion in a role that befits both friend and Bodyguard.
Berve's suggestion that Hephaistion commanded the 'Leibhypaspisten
(auch cmﬁafo¢6kdue§ genannt)"21 seems a desperate solution to a
problem with armuch simpler answer. This view is based on the
assumption that, since Kleitos commanded the cavalry bodyguard,
the ¢Zembasilike, Hephaistion commanded the equivalent infantry-
division, the agema of the hypaspists. But it has been shown by
Tarn and Milns22 that there was no division of the hypaspists who
formed the Leibwache, rather the entire company of hypaspists were

Alexander's footguard, and these were commanded by Parmenion's son,

20 The story of Sisygambis and the mistaken identity: Arr. 2,12.6f.;

Diod. 17.37.5; 17.114.2; Curt. 3.12.15ff.; Val. Max. 4.7 ext 2;
Itiner. 37; Suda, s.v. ‘HeaiotCwv. Marsyas of Pella, FGrHist
135 F2, is the source of the story concerning Aristion. Cf.
Aischines 3.162. Badian's view that Hephaistion was Demosthenes'
"protector at court" is discussed and rejected by Goldstein, The
Letters of Demosthenes, 1968, 43, n.33.

21 Berve 2.170.

22 Tarn 2.148; R.D. Milns, "The Hypaspists of Alexander III - Some

Problems," Historia 20 (1970) 186-195.



246

Nikanor.23 I see no evidence to link Hephaistion with the
hypaspists at Gaugamela or at any other time;24' Diodoros" (17;~'
61.3) description of Hephaistion as %mv dwﬂdfomuk&uwv.ﬁYoﬁﬂ;voé
proves somewhat difficult. It appears unlikely that the Greek
can be taken to mean "fighting first among the bodyguards;"

which C, Bradford Welles ruled out for other reaSons;ZS' And;
since the somatophylakes in this case cannot be the'hypaspists;
Diodoros must have (mistakenly) supposed that Hephaistion com-
manded the seven-man Bodyguard-elite; that this unit had a leader;
or even fought as a formal division; seems improbable; But;‘if
Diodoros does refer to the seven-man unit; then his information
may verify my suggestion that Hephaistion was already a member of
the somatophylakes by the time of the battle of Gaugamela; Berve's
charge that "ausdrlcklich wird er von Curt. VI; 8; 17 unter den
Hetairoi, nicht unter den Somatophylakes'genannt"26'need'not pre—
sent unnecessary difficulties. The matter is resolved by J;C:
Rolfe's apt translation of ex amicis as "from the company of his

friends," for clearly Hephaistion's importance as one of Alexander's.

3 Pointed out by C. Bradford Welles, Diodorus of .Sicily, vol. 8,
Loeb Classical Library, Cambridge, Mass., 1962, 294-295, n.1.

24 . ., . . . .
Arrian's account of the battle with Ariebarzanes at the Persian

Gates (3.18) mentions a force commanded by Amyntas, Koinos and
Philotas (not Parmenion's son). When Polyainos (4.3.27) speaks

of Philotas and Hephaistion together.-in this battle, he appears -
to mean Philotas the cavalry-officer, implying that Hephaistion
also commanded cavalry. . The account is unreliable. Cf. Curt.
5.4.20, 30; Berve 2.170. The incident cannot refer to .the taxiarch
Philotas, or imply that Hephaistion commanded infantry.

25 Welles, loe. cit.

® Berve 2.170, n.2.
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friends and a member of the Hetairoi was greater than his rank as
somatophylax. 27
Perdikkas' appointment tolthe somatophylakes has at times
been debated, quite needlessly. He was not one of the Bodyguard-
proper from the begimmning, for whén Diodoros (16.94.4) speaks of
BV 68 cwUOTOQUAGHWY...&V otg Umfipxev xal Aeovv&Tog nal HepdCunag
ol "ATTalos he is certainly referring to the larger division of
somatophylakes, the hypaspists.28 The wording of this account
of the death of Pausanias reveals that these men were foremost
among a greater group that constituted only a portion of the
somatophylakes (ol uév attended to the body of Philip II, of 6&¢,
the group including Perdikkas, Leonnatos and Attalos, pursued the
assassin), not an appropriate description of the seven-man unit.
We know that Leonnatos did not become somatophylax until the death
of Arhybbas, while Attalos, presumably the son of Andromenes,29
never held the office at all. Perdikkas, like Leonnatos, attained
the rank during the course of the campaign, but, since he suffered
a partial dammatio memoriae at Ptolemy's hand, there is no exact
record of his appointment in Arrian,30 to whom alone of the extant

sources this information was of interest. The date of his promotion

21 J.C. Rolfe, Quintus Curtius, The History of Alexander, Loeb

Classical Library, Cambridge, Mass., 1962, 75.

28 Berve 2.92, n.3; 233, n.1l; 313.

29 Welles, op. cit., 101, n.2.

30 See R.M. Errington, "Bias in Ptolemy's History of Alexander," (@ mn.s..

19 (1969) 233-242; cf. W. Schwahn, "Die Nachfolge Alexanders des Grossen,"
Klio 23 (1930) 211-238 and Kornemann, Die Alexandergeschichte 247.
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is certainly fixed by the promotion of Menes. Diodoros (17.61,3)
speaks of Perdikkas as strategos at Gaugamela (Z.e., distinct from
Hephaistion who was already somdfophylax), while Curtius (6.8.17)
calls him armiger at the time of the Philotas-affair, linking him
in this office with Leonnatos, whose appointment ié dated by Arrian.
Between the two falls the appointment of Menes as hyparchos. Thus,
just as Menes had earlier succeeded Balakros as somatophylax, so
Perdikkas now succeeded Menes.

The dates of appointment of Lysimachos, Aristonous and Peithon
are unknown, though the general tendency, for no apparently com-
pelling reason, has been to